



#### RESEARCH ARTICLE

# Lipschitz graphs and currents in Heisenberg groups

Davide Vittone

Università di Padova, Dipartimento di Matematica 'T. Levi-Civita', via Trieste 63, 35121 Padova, Italy; E-mail: davide.vittone@unipd.it.

Received: 5 December 2020; Revised: 3 September 2021; Accepted: 19 December 2021

**2020** Mathematics Subject Classification: *Primary* – 49Q15, 53C17, 26A16; *Secondary* – 53C65, 22E30, 58C35

#### Abstract

The main result of the present article is a Rademacher-type theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of codimension  $k \leq n$  in sub-Riemannian Heisenberg groups  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . For the purpose of proving such a result, we settle several related questions pertaining both to the theory of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs and to the one of currents. First, we prove an extension result for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs as well as a uniform approximation theorem by means of smooth graphs: both of these results stem from a new definition (equivalent to the one introduced by B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano) of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs and are valid for a more general class of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Carnot groups. Second, our proof of Rademacher's theorem heavily uses the language of currents in Heisenberg groups: one key result is, for us, a version of the celebrated constancy theorem. Inasmuch as Heisenberg currents are defined in terms of Rumin's complex of differential forms, we also provide a convenient basis of Rumin's spaces. Eventually, we provide some applications of Rademacher's theorem including a Lusin-type result for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs, the equivalence between  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability and 'Lipschitz'  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability and an area formula for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups.

#### **Contents**

1	Introduction		2
	1.1	Heisenberg groups and intrinsic graphs	3
	1.2	Rademacher's theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs and consequences	4
	1.3	Equivalent definition, extension and approximation of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs	5
	1.4	Currents and the constancy theorem	6
	1.5	A basis for Rumin's spaces $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$	9
	1.6	Sketch of the proof of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1	10
	1.7	Structure of the article	11
2	Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Carnot groups: extension and approximation results		11
	2.1	Carnot groups: algebraic and metric preliminaries	11
	2.2	Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs	13
	2.3	A level set definition of co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz graphs	13
	2.4	Extension and smooth approximation of co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz maps	19
3	The Heisenberg group		22
	3.1	Multilinear algebra	23
	3.2	Differential forms and Rumin's complex	25
	3.3	H-linear maps	27

© The Author(s), 2022. Published by Cambridge University Press. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

#### 2 Davide Vittone

	3.4	A basis for Rumin's spaces	31
	3.5	Heisenberg currents	38
	3.6	Rank 1 connection and a property of tangent vectors to vertical planes	40
4	Intr	insic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups	42
	4.1	Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of low codimension	42
	4.2	Intrinsic differentiability and blow-ups of intrinsic Lipschitz maps	46
	4.3	Blow-ups of intrinsic Lipschitz maps are almost always <i>t</i> -invariant	48
	4.4	H-regular submanifolds and H-rectifiable sets	51
	4.5	Currents induced by $C^1$ intrinsic graphs	54
5	The	constancy theorem for Heisenberg currents	56
	5.1	A partial version of Theorem 1.7	56
	5.2	Proof of Theorem 1.8	63
	5.3	The constancy theorem in Heisenberg groups	65
6	Pro	of of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1	71
7	Applications		<b>76</b>
A	Pro	of of Proposition 3.38	87

#### 1. Introduction

The celebrated Rademacher's theorem [82] states that a Lipschitz continuous function  $f: \mathbb{R}^h \to \mathbb{R}^k$  is differentiable almost everywhere in  $\mathbb{R}^h$ ; in particular, the graph of f in  $\mathbb{R}^{h+k}$  has an h-dimensional tangent plane at almost all of its points. One of the consequences of Rademacher's theorem is the following Lusin-type result, which stems from Whitney's extension theorem [96]: for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $g \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^h, \mathbb{R}^k)$  that coincides with f out of a set of measure at most  $\varepsilon$ . From the viewpoint of geometric measure theory, this means that Lipschitz-regular objects (functions, submanifolds, etc.) are essentially as nice as  $C^1$ -smooth ones and has profound implications; for instance, in the theory of rectifiable sets and currents [42, 72, 90].

The present article aims to develop a similar theory for submanifolds with (intrinsic) Lipschitz regularity in sub-Riemannian Heisenberg groups. Before introducing our results, we feel the need to list them at least quickly. We believe that our main result is a Rademacher-type theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs, which was the main open problem since the beginning of this theory. Some applications namely, a Lusin-type result and an area formula for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs – are provided here as well; however, we believe that further consequences are yet to come concerning, for instance, rectifiability and minimal submanifolds in Heisenberg groups. Some of the tools we develop for proving our main result are worth mentioning; in fact, we prove an extension result for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs as well as the fact that they can be uniformly approximated by smooth graphs. Both results stem from what can be considered as another contribution of the present article; that is, a new definition of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs that is equivalent to the original one, introduced by B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano and now widely accepted. Recall, in fact, that intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups played a fundamental role in the recent proof by A. Naor and R. Young [79] of the 'vertical versus horizontal' isoperimetric inequality in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  that settled the longstanding question of determining the approximation ratio of the Goemans-Linial algorithm for the sparsest cut problem. Let us also say that our proof of Rademacher's theorem heavily uses the language of currents in Heisenberg groups; a key result is for us (a version of) the celebrated constancy theorem [42, 90, 65]. From the technical point of view, the use of currents constitutes the hardest part of the article; in fact, currents in Heisenberg groups are defined in terms of the complex of differential forms introduced by M. Rumin in [85, 86], which is not easy to handle. Among other things, we had to provide a convenient basis of Rumin's covectors that could be fruitfully employed in the computation of Rumin's exterior derivatives. We were surprised by the fact that the use of standard Young tableaux from combinatorics proved to be crucial in performing this task.

It is time to introduce and discuss our results more appropriately.

# 1.1. Heisenberg groups and intrinsic graphs

For  $n \ge 1$ , the Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is the connected, simply connected and nilpotent Lie group associated with the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  with 2n+1 generators  $X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n, T$ ; all Lie brackets between these generators are null except for

$$[X_j, Y_j] = T$$
 for every  $j = 1, \dots, n$ .

The algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  is stratified, as it can be decomposed as  $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{h}_2$  with  $\mathfrak{h}_1 := \operatorname{span}\{X_j, Y_j : j = 1, \dots, n\}$  and  $\mathfrak{h}_2 := \operatorname{span}\{T\}$ . The first layer  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  in the stratification is called *horizontal*.

It will often be convenient to identify  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with  $\mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$  by exponential coordinates

$$\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \ni (x, y, t) \longleftrightarrow \exp(x_1 X_1 + \dots + x_n X_n + y_1 Y_1 + \dots + y_n Y_n + tT) \in \mathbb{H}^n$$

where exp:  $\mathfrak{h} \to \mathbb{H}^n$  is the exponential map and 0 is the group identity. The Heisenberg group is a homogeneous group according to [43]; indeed, for  $\lambda > 0$  the maps  $\delta_{\lambda}(x,y,t) := (\lambda x, \lambda y, \lambda^2 t)$  determine a one-parameter family of group automorphisms of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  called *dilations*. We endow  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with a left-invariant and homogeneous distance d, so that

$$d(qp,qp') = d(p,p')$$
 and  $d(\delta_{\lambda}p,\delta_{\lambda}q) = \lambda d(p,q)$   $\forall p,p',q \in \mathbb{H}^n, \lambda > 0$ .

It will be convenient to assume that d is rotationally invariant; that is, that

$$||(x, y, t)||_{\mathbb{H}} = ||(x', y', t)||_{\mathbb{H}}$$
 whenever  $|(x, y)| = |(x', y')|$ ,

where we set  $||p||_{\mathbb{H}} := d(0, p)$  for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$ . Relevant examples of rotationally invariant distances are the well-known Carnot–Carathéodory and Korányi (or Cygan–Korányi) distances.

An intensive search for a robust intrinsic notion of  $C^1$  or Lipschitz regularity for submanifolds was conducted in the last two decades; in fact (see [3]), the Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^1$  is purely k-unrectifiable, in the sense of [42], for k=2,3,4. It can, however, be stated that the theory of  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds (i.e., submanifolds with intrinsic  $C^1$  regularity) is well-established; see, for instance, the beautiful paper [51]. It turns out that  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  of low dimension  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  are k-dimensional submanifolds of class  $C^1$  (in the Euclidean sense) that are tangent to the horizontal bundle  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ . On the contrary,  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds of low codimension  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  are more complicated: they are (locally) noncritical level sets of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ -valued maps on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with continuous horizontal derivatives (see Subsection 4.4 for precise definitions) and, as a matter of fact, they can have fractal Euclidean dimension [63].

A key tool for the study of  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds is provided by *intrinsic graphs*. Assume that  $\mathbb{V}$ ,  $\mathbb{W}$  are homogeneous complementary subgroups of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ; that is, that they are invariant under dilations,  $\mathbb{V} \cap \mathbb{W} = \{0\}$  and  $\mathbb{H}^n = \mathbb{W}\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{V}\mathbb{W}$ ; given  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and a map  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$ , the *intrinsic graph* of  $\phi$  is  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} := \{w\phi(w) : w \in A\} \subset \mathbb{H}^n$ . It is worth recalling that, if  $\mathbb{V}$ ,  $\mathbb{W}$  are homogeneous and complementary subgroups, then one of the two is necessarily horizontal (i.e., contained in  $\exp(\mathfrak{h}_1)$ ), abelian and of dimension  $k \leq n$ , while the other has dimension  $2n+1-k \geq n+1$ , is normal and contains the group center  $\exp(\mathfrak{h}_2)$ ; see [51, Remark 3.12]. The first appearance of intrinsic graphs is most likely to be attributed to the implicit function theorem of the fundamental paper [48], where the authors prove an  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability result for (boundaries of) sets with finite perimeter in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . As a matter of fact,  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds are locally intrinsic graphs whose properties have been studied in many papers (see, e.g., [4, 5, 6, 9, 17, 18, 29, 32, 33, 36, 35, 37, 51, 61, 70, 76]).

Intrinsic graphs also provide the language for introducing a theory of Lipschitz submanifolds in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . Observe that, while for the case of low-dimensional submanifolds one could simply consider Euclidean Lipschitz submanifolds that are almost everywhere (a.e.) tangent to the horizontal distribution, for submanifolds of low codimension there is no immediate way of modifying the 'level set definition' of  $\mathbb{H}$ -regularity into a Lipschitz one. Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  first appeared in [50]; their definition

is stated in terms of a suitable cone property. Given  $\alpha > 0$ , consider the homogeneous cone of axis  $\mathbb{V}$ and aperture  $\alpha$ ,

$$\mathcal{C}_{\alpha} := \{ wv \in \mathbb{H}^n : w \in \mathbb{W}, v \in \mathbb{V}, \|w\|_{\mathbb{H}} \le \alpha \|v\|_{\mathbb{H}} \}.$$

We say that a map  $\phi: A \subset \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is *intrinsic Lipschitz* if there exists  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap (p\mathscr{C}_{\alpha}) = \{p\}$$
 for every  $p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ .

Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs can be introduced in the more general framework of Carnot groups: apart from the elementary basics contained in Section 2, we refer to [53] for a beautiful introduction to the topic and to [16, 27, 30, 37, 38, 41, 44, 45, 80, 87, 88] for several facets of the theory.

#### 1.2. Rademacher's theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs and consequences

One of the main questions about intrinsic Lipschitz graphs concerns their almost everywhere 'intrinsic' differentiability. Consider an intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi: A \to \mathbb{V}$  defined on some relatively open subset  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ . If  $\mathbb{W}$  has low dimension  $k \leq n$ , then (see [8] or also [50, Remark 3.11], [53, Proposition 3.7]) gr<sub> $\phi$ </sub> is a k-dimensional submanifold with Euclidean Lipschitz regularity that is a.e. tangent to the horizontal bundle  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ ; therefore, the problem reduces to the case of H-regular graphs with low codimension  $k = \dim \mathbb{V} \le n$ . A positive answer ([52]) is known only for the case of codimension k = 1; in fact, in this case  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is (part of) the boundary of a set with finite  $\mathbb{H}$ -perimeter ([25, 46]) in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and one can use the rectifiability result [48] available for such sets. A Rademacher-type theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz functions of codimension 1 was proved in Carnot groups of type ★; see [44]. After a preliminary version of the present article was made public, it was found that the Rademacher theorem may dramatically fail for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of codimension 2 (or higher) even in certain Carnot groups of step 2; see [60]. In this article, we provide a full solution to the problem in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , as stated in our main result.

**Theorem 1.1.** If  $A \subset W$  is open and  $\phi : A \to V$  is intrinsic Lipschitz, then  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at almost every point of A.

In Theorem 1.1, 'almost every' must be understood with respect to a Haar measure on the subgroup W; for instance, the Hausdorff measure of dimension 2n + 2 - k. Concerning the notion of intrinsic differentiability (see Subsection 4.2), recall that left-translations and dilations of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs are intrinsic Lipschitz graphs; in particular, for every  $w \in A$  and every  $\lambda > 0$  there exists an intrinsic Lipschitz  $\phi_w^{\lambda}: B \to \mathbb{V}$ , defined on some open subset  $B \subset \mathbb{W}$ , such that

$$\delta_{\lambda}((w\phi(w))^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{w}^{\lambda}}.$$

One then says ([9, §3.3]) that  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at w if, as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ , the blow-ups  $\phi_w^{\lambda}$ converge locally uniformly on  $\mathbb W$  to an intrinsic linear map; that is, to a map  $\psi:\mathbb W\to\mathbb V$  such that  $\operatorname{gr}_\psi$  is a homogeneous subgroup of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with codimension k. This subgroup, which is necessarily vertical (i.e., it contains the center of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ) and normal, is called *tangent subgroup* to  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  at  $w\phi(w)$  and is denoted by  $\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(w\phi(w)).$ 

For the reader's convenience, the proof of Theorem 1.1 is sketched at the end of the Introduction. We are now going to introduce a few consequences of our main result: the first one is a Lusin-type theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs.

**Theorem 1.2.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  be an open set and  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  an intrinsic Lipschitz function. Then for every  $\varepsilon>0$  there exists an intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\psi:A\to\mathbb{V}$  such that  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  is a  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold and

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}((\operatorname{gr}_\phi \Delta \operatorname{gr}_\psi) \cup \{p \in \operatorname{gr}_\phi \cap \operatorname{gr}_\psi : \operatorname{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{\operatorname{gr}_\phi}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{\operatorname{gr}_\psi}(p)\}) < \varepsilon.$$

As is customary, the integer Q := 2n + 2 denotes the homogeneous dimension of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$  is the spherical Hausdorff measure of dimension Q - k; by  $A \Delta B := (A \setminus B) \cup (B \setminus A)$  we denote the symmetric difference of sets A, B. Theorem 1.2 is part of Theorem 7.2; the latter stems from the equivalent definition of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs provided by Theorem 1.4 and is proved by an adaptation of the classical argument of Whitney's extension theorem; see also [48, 49, 92, 94]. Theorem 1.2 implies that, as in the Euclidean case, the notion of  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability (Definition 4.22) can be equivalently defined in terms of either  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds or intrinsic Lipschitz graphs; see Corollary 7.4. We refer to [7, 19, 27, 28, 31, 37, 41, 73, 74, 75] for more about rectifiability in Heisenberg groups.

We stress the fact that Rademacher's Theorem 1.1 also allows defining a canonical *current*  $[\![gr_{\phi}]\!]$  carried by the graph of an intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$ . This current turns out to have zero boundary; see Proposition 7.5.

A further consequence of Theorem 1.2 is an area formula for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of low codimension. For  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds, area formulae are proved in [48, 51, 4] for submanifolds of codimension 1 and in [33] for higher codimension (see also [71]). For intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of low dimension, an area formula is proved in [8, Theorem 1.1]. Our area formula is stated in Theorem 1.3 and, once Lusin's Theorem 1.2 is available, it is a quite simple consequence of [33, Theorem 1.2], where a similar area formula is proved for intrinsic graphs that are also  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds. As in [33], the symbol  $J^{\phi}\phi(w)$  denotes the intrinsic Jacobian of  $\phi$  at w (see Definition 4.9), while  $C_{n,k}$  denotes a positive constant, depending only on n, k and the distance d, which will be introduced later in Proposition 1.9.

**Theorem 1.3.** Assume that the subgroups  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are orthogonal I and let  $\phi: A \to \mathbb{V}$  be an intrinsic Lipschitz map defined on some Borel subset  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ ; then for every Borel function  $h: \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \to [0, +\infty)$ , there holds

$$\int_{\operatorname{gr}_\phi} h\,d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} = C_{n,k} \int_A (h\circ\Phi) J^\phi \phi\,d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k},$$

where  $\Phi$  denotes the graph map  $\Phi(w) := w\phi(w)$ .

By abuse of notation,  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}$  denotes the Haar measure on  $\mathbb{W}$  associated with the canonical identification of  $\mathbb{W}$  with  $\mathbb{R}^{2n+1-k}$  induced by exponential coordinates. It is worth observing that Theorem 1.3 and Proposition 1.9 are the only points where we use the rotational invariance of the distance d. In case of general distances, area formulae for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs can be easily deduced using Theorem 1.2 and [33, Theorem 1.2], but they are slightly more complicated than ours, as they involve a certain *area factor* that depends on the tangent plane to the graph.

## 1.3. Equivalent definition, extension and approximation of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs

We now introduce two of the ingredients needed in the proof of Theorem 1.1 that are of independent interest: namely, an extension theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in the spirit of the classical McShane–Whitney theorem and an approximation result by means of smooth graphs. They are stated in Theorems 1.5 and 1.6 and are both based on a new, equivalent definition of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs (Theorem 1.4), which can be regarded as another contribution of this article.

Our alternative definition of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs appeared in [93] for graphs of codimension 1; it can be seen as a generalisation of the original level-set definition of  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds. Observe, however, that it is not immediate to give a level-set definition even for Lipschitz submanifolds of codimension 1 in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ; in fact, *every* closed set  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is the level set of some Lipschitz function; for instance, the distance from S. Anyway, we leave as an exercise to the reader the following observation, which was actually the starting point of [93]: a set  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n = \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}$  is (contained in) the graph of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>By *orthogonal* we mean that  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are orthogonal as linear subspaces of  $\mathbb{H}^n \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$ .

Lipschitz function  $\phi: \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}$  if and only if there exist  $\delta > 0$  and a Lipschitz function  $f: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $S \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) = 0\}$  and  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_n} \ge \delta$  a.e. on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Since their proofs present no extra difficulty with respect to the Heisenberg case, Theorems 1.4,

Since their proofs present no extra difficulty with respect to the Heisenberg case, Theorems 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6 are stated in the more general setting of a *Carnot group*  $\mathbb G$  where two homogeneous complementary subgroups  $\mathbb W$ ,  $\mathbb V$  are fixed with  $\mathbb V$  horizontal. This means that  $\mathbb V \subset \exp(\mathfrak g_1)$ , where  $\mathfrak g_1$  is the first layer in the stratification of the Lie algebra of  $\mathbb G$ . When  $\mathbb V$  is horizontal, we say that an intrinsic Lipschitz graph  $\phi: \mathbb W \to \mathbb V$  is *co-horizontal*; see [6]. Observe that  $\mathbb V$  is necessarily abelian and there exists a homogeneous isomorphism according to which we can identify  $\mathbb V$  with  $\mathbb R^k$ ; see (2.5). This identification is understood in the scalar product appearing in (1.2).

**Theorem 1.4.** Assume that a splitting  $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{WV}$  is fixed in such a way that the subgroup  $\mathbb{V}$  is horizontal; set  $k := \dim \mathbb{V}$ . If  $S \subset \mathbb{G}$  is not empty, then the following statements are equivalent:

- (a) there exist  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and an intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  such that  $S = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ ;
- (b) there exist  $\delta > 0$  and a Lipschitz map  $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}^k$  such that

$$S \subset \{x \in \mathbb{G} : f(x) = 0\} \tag{1.1}$$

and 
$$\langle f(xv) - f(x), v \rangle \ge \delta |v|^2$$
 for every  $v \in \mathbb{V}$  and  $x \in \mathbb{G}$ . (1.2)

It is worth remarking that, if  $X_1, \ldots, X_k \in \mathfrak{g}_1$  are such that  $\mathbb{V} = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_1, \ldots, X_k\})$ , then statement (1.2) is equivalent to the a.e. uniform ellipticity (a.k.a. coercivity) of the matrix col  $[X_1 f(x) | \ldots | X_k f(x)]$ ; see Remark 2.7. In case k = 1, Theorem 1.4 was proved in [93, Theorem 3.2].

Let us underline two of the most interesting features of this alternative definition. First, it allows for a definition of co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz submanifolds in the more general setting of Carnot–Carathéodory spaces, as in [93]. Second, it gives *gratis* an extension result for intrinsic Lipschitz maps; in fact (Remark 2.8), the level set  $\{x \in \mathbb{G} : f(x) = 0\}$  appearing in (1.1) is the graph of an intrinsic Lipschitz map that is defined on the whole  $\mathbb{W}$  and extends  $\phi$ . We can then state the following result.

**Theorem 1.5.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  be a co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz graph; then there exists an intrinsic Lipschitz extension  $\tilde{\phi} : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  of  $\phi$ . Moreover,  $\tilde{\phi}$  can be chosen in such a way that its intrinsic Lipschitz constant is controlled in terms of the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ .

Theorem 1.5 was proved in [93, Proposition 3.4] for the case of codimension k = 1; see also [52, 53, 79, 84].

In Proposition 2.10 we use a standard approximation argument based on group convolutions (see, e.g., [43, §1.B]) to show that the function f appearing in Theorem 1.4 can be chosen with the additional property that  $f \in C^{\infty}(\{x \in \mathbb{G} : f(x) \neq 0\})$ . This fact has the following consequence.

**Theorem 1.6.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  be a co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz graph. Then there exists a sequence  $(\phi_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  of  $C^{\infty}$ -regular and intrinsic Lipschitz maps  $\phi_i : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that

$$\phi_i \to \phi$$
 uniformly in A as  $i \to \infty$ .

Moreover, the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi_i$  is bounded, uniformly in i, in terms of the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ .

A similar result has been proved in [30] for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of codimension 1 in Heisenberg groups; see also [4, 6, 76, 93].

#### 1.4. Currents and the constancy theorem

As in the classical setting, currents in Heisenberg groups are defined in duality with spaces of smooth forms with compact support; here, however, the De Rham complex must be replaced by the complex

introduced by M. Rumin [85, 86] in the setting of contact manifolds. The construction of the spaces  $\Omega^m_{\mathbb{H}}$  of *Heisenberg differential m-forms* is detailed in Subsection 3.2; here we only recall that, for  $1 \le k \le n$ , Heisenberg forms of codimension k are smooth functions on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with values in a certain subspace  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  of (2n+1-k)-covectors. We denote by  $\mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  the (formal) dual of  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$ ; clearly, every (2n+1-k)-vector t canonically induces an element  $[t]_{\mathcal{J}} \in \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  defined by  $[t]_{\mathcal{J}}(\lambda) := \langle t \mid \lambda \rangle$ , where  $\langle \cdot \mid \cdot \rangle$  is the standard pairing vectors-covectors. See Subsection 3.1 and Subsection 3.2 for more details.

The starting point of the theory of Heisenberg currents is the existence of a linear second-order operator  $D: \Omega_{\mathbb{H}}^n \to \Omega_{\mathbb{H}}^{n+1}$  such that the sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{R} \to \Omega^0_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{d}{\to} \Omega^1_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{d}{\to} \dots \overset{d}{\to} \Omega^n_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{D}{\to} \Omega^{n+1}_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{d}{\to} \dots \overset{d}{\to} \Omega^{2n+1}_{\mathbb{H}} \to 0$$

is exact, where d is (the operator induced by) the standard exterior derivative. A *Heisenberg m-current* T is by definition a continuous linear functional on the space  $\mathcal{D}^m_{\mathbb{H}} \subset \Omega^m_{\mathbb{H}}$  of Heisenberg m-forms with compact support. The *boundary*  $\partial T$  of T is the Heisenberg (m-1)-current defined, for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{m-1}_{\mathbb{H}}$ , by

$$\partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) := \mathsf{T}(d\omega)$$
 if  $m \neq n+1$   
 $\partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) := \mathsf{T}(D\omega)$  if  $m = n+1$ .

We say that T is *locally normal* if both T and  $\partial$ T have locally finite mass; that is, if they have order 0 in the sense of distributions. Recall that, if T has locally finite mass, then there exist a Radon measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and a locally  $\mu$ -integrable function  $\tau$  with values in a suitable space of multivectors (which, for  $m \ge n + 1$ , is precisely  $\mathcal{J}_m$ ) such that  $T = \tau \mu$ , where

$$\tau\mu(\omega) := \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \langle \, \tau(p) \mid \omega(p) \, \rangle \, d\mu(p) \qquad \text{for every } \omega \in \mathcal{D}^m_{\mathbb{H}}.$$

One can also assume that  $|\tau| = 1$   $\mu$ -a.e., where  $|\cdot|$  denotes some fixed norm on multivectors<sup>2</sup>; in this case, we write  $\vec{T}$  and ||T|| in place of  $\tau$  and  $\mu$ , respectively.

Relevant examples of currents will be for us those concentrated on  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable sets of low codimension. Recall that a set  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is  $locally \mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable of codimension  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  if  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup R$  is locally finite and R can be covered by countably many  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds of codimension k plus a  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -negligible set. In this case, a (unit) approximate tangent (2n+1-k)-vector  $t_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$  to R can be defined at  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -a.e.  $p \in \mathbb{R}$ ; see Subsection 4.4. We denote by  $[\![R]\!]$  the Heisenberg current  $[t_R^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup R$  naturally associated with R.

A fundamental result in the classical theory of currents is the *constancy theorem* (see, e.g., [42, 4.1.7] and [90, Theorem 26.27]), which states that, if T is an *n*-dimensional current in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\partial T = 0$ , then T is constant; that is, there exists  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $T(\omega) = c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega$  for every smooth *n*-form  $\omega$  with compact support. A more general version of the constancy theorem can be proved for currents supported on an *m*-dimensional plane  $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ : if T is an *m*-current with support in  $\mathscr{P}$  and such that  $\partial T = 0$ , then there exists  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $T(\omega) = c \int_{\mathscr{P}} \omega$  for every smooth *m*-form  $\omega$  with compact support. For this statement, see, for example, [65, Proposition 7.3.5]. The following Theorem 1.7 can be considered as the Heisenberg analogue of this more general constancy theorem; besides its importance for the present article, Theorem 1.7 is a fundamental tool for the outcomes of the recent [62].

**Theorem 1.7.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$  be fixed and let T be a Heisenberg (2n + 1 - k)-current supported on a vertical plane  $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  of dimension 2n + 1 - k. Assume that  $\partial T = 0$ ; then there exists a constant  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $T = c [\![ \mathscr{P} ]\!]$ .

Using a procedure involving projection on planes (see [89, Theorem 4.2]; let us mention also [1, §5] and [2] for some related results), the (version on planes of the) constancy theorem in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  has the following

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>More precisely, when  $m \ge n + 1$ , one needs a norm on  $\mathcal{J}_m$ .

consequence: if  $R \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is an *m*-rectifiable set and  $T = \tau \mu$  is a normal *m*-current, where  $\mu$  is a Radon measure and  $\tau$  is a locally  $\mu$ -integrable m-vectorfield with  $\tau \neq 0$   $\mu$ -a.e., then

- (i)  $\mu \sqsubseteq R$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{H}^m \sqsubseteq R$  and
- (ii)  $\tau$  is tangent to R at  $\mu$ -almost every point of R.

A consequence of this fact, which might help explaining its geometric meaning, is the following one: if  $T = \tau \mu$  is a normal current concentrated<sup>3</sup> on a rectifiable set R, then  $\mu \ll \mathcal{H}^m \perp R$  and  $\tau$  is necessarily tangent to R  $\mu$ -almost everywhere.<sup>4</sup>

In our proof of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1, we will utilise the following result, which is the Heisenberg counterpart of the 'tangency' property (ii) above; we were not able to deduce any 'absolute continuity' statement analogous to (i) because no good notion of projection on planes is available in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . Notice, however, that, in the special case when T is concentrated on a vertical plane, Theorem 1.7 allows deducing a complete result including absolute continuity.

**Theorem 1.8.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$  and let a locally normal Heisenberg (2n + 1 - k)-current T and a locally  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable set  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  of codimension k be fixed. Then

$$\vec{\mathsf{T}}(p)$$
 is a multiple of  $[t_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}}$  for  $\|\mathsf{T}\|_a$ -a.e.  $p$ .

In Theorem 1.8 we decomposed  $\|T\| = \|T\|_a + \|T\|_s$  as the sum of the absolutely continuous and singular part of  $\|T\|$  with respect to  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \subseteq R$ . Observe that  $t_R^{\mathbb{H}}$  is defined only  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -almost everywhere on R; hence, it could be undefined on a set with positive  $\|T\|_{s}$ -measure. The geometric content of Theorem 1.8 is again clear: for a current T concentrated on R to be normal, it is necessary that  $\dot{T}$  is almost everywhere tangent to R.

The proof of Theorem 1.8 follows a blow-up strategy according to which one can prove that, at  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ a.e.  $p \in R$ , the current  $\vec{\mathsf{T}}(p)\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \mathsf{Tan}_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$  has zero boundary, where  $\mathsf{Tan}_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) = \exp(\mathsf{span}\,t_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p))$ is the approximate tangent plane to R at p. Proposition 5.3 shows that this is possible only if  $\vec{\mathsf{T}}(p)$  is a multiple of  $[t_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}}$ . Proposition 5.3 is essentially a simpler version of Theorem 1.7; its classical counterpart can be found, for instance, in [57, Lemma 1 in §3.3.2]. The proof of Proposition 5.35 consists in feeding the given boundaryless current with (the differential of) enough test forms in order to eventually deduce the desired 'tangency' property. Apart from the computational difficulties pertaining to the second-order operator D (at least in case k = n), one demanding task we had to face was the search for a convenient basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$ ; see Subsection 1.5.

We conclude this section with an important observation. Assume that S is an oriented submanifold of codimension k that is (Euclidean)  $C^1$ -regular; in particular, the tangent vector  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  is defined except at characteristic points of S, which, however, are  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -negligible [15, 69]. Then, on the one side, S induces the natural Heisenberg current  $[\![S]\!] = [t_S^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}} \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup S$ ; on the other side, associated to S is also the classical current (S) defined by (S)( $\omega$ ) :=  $\int_S \omega$  for every (2n+1-k)-form  $\omega$  with compact support. The following fact holds true provided the homogeneous distance d is rotationally invariant.

**Proposition 1.9.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ; then there exists a positive constant  $C_{n,k}$ , depending on n, k and the rotationally invariant distance d, such that for every  $C^1$ -regular submanifold  $S \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  of codimension k,

$$[\![S]\!](\omega) = C_{n,k}(S)(\omega) \qquad \text{for every } \omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n+1-k}_{\mathbb{H}}. \tag{1.3}$$

In particular, if S is a submanifold without boundary, then  $\partial \llbracket S \rrbracket = 0$  is a Heisenberg (2n - k)-current.

In other words, [S] and (S) coincide, as Heisenberg currents, up to a multiplicative constant. This is remarkable. The first part of the statement of Proposition 1.9 is proved in Lemma 3.31, while the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>By *concentrated* we mean that  $\mu(\mathbb{H}^n \setminus R) = 0$ .

Equivalently, there exists a  $\mathcal{H}^m \sqsubseteq R$ -measurable function  $f: R \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\mathsf{T}(\omega) = \int_R f \omega$ . It is worth pointing out that we cannot deduce Proposition 5.3 from Theorem 1.7; in fact, Proposition 5.3 is needed for proving Theorem 1.8, which in turn is needed for the proof of Theorem 1.7.

second one is a consequence of the fact that the operator D is the composition of the differential d with another operator; see Corollary 3.34. For the exact value of  $C_{n,k}$ , see Remark 4.21. Proposition 1.9 is crucial in the proof of our main result Theorem 1.1.

# 1.5. A basis for Rumin's spaces $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$

We believe it is worth introducing, at least quickly, the basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  that we use; we need some preliminary notation. Assume that the elements of a finite subset  $M \subset \mathbb{N}$  with cardinality |M| = m are arranged (each element of M appearing exactly once) in a tableau with two rows, the first row displaying  $\ell \geq \frac{m}{2}$  elements  $R_1^1, \ldots, R_{m-\ell}^1$ , and the second one displaying  $m-\ell \geq 0$  elements  $R_1^2, \ldots, R_{m-\ell}^2$ , as follows:

Such an R is called *Young tableau* (see, e.g., [55]). Clearly, R has to be read as a  $(2 \times \ell)$  rectangular tableau when  $\ell = m/2$  while, in case  $\ell = m$ , we agree that the second row is empty. Given such an R, define the  $2\ell$ -covector

$$\alpha_R := (dxy_{R_1^1} - dxy_{R_1^2}) \wedge (dxy_{R_2^1} - dxy_{R_2^2}) \wedge \cdots \wedge (dxy_{R_{m-\ell}^1} - dxy_{R_{m-\ell}^2}) \wedge dxy_{R_{m-\ell+1}^1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dxy_{R_{\ell}^1},$$

where for shortness we set  $dxy_i := dx_i \wedge dy_i$ ; when  $\ell = m$  (i.e., when the second row of R is empty), we agree that  $\alpha_R = dxy_{R_1^1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dxy_{R_\ell^1}$ . One key observation is the fact that

$$\alpha_R \wedge \sum_{i \in M} dx y_i = 0, \tag{1.4}$$

which is essentially a consequence of the equality  $(dxy_i - dxy_j) \wedge (dxy_i + dxy_j) = 0$ .

Before stating Proposition 1.10, we need some further notation. First, we say that R is a *standard Young tableau* when the elements in each row and each column of R are in increasing order; that is, when  $R^i_j < R^i_{j+1}$  and  $R^1_j < R^2_j$ . Second, given  $I = \{i_1, \ldots, i_{|I|}\} \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$  with  $i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_{|I|}$ , we write

$$dx_I := dx_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_{i_{|I|}}, \qquad dy_I := dy_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_{i_{|I|}}.$$

Eventually, we denote by  $\theta := dt + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i dx_i - x_i dy_i)$  the contact form on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , which is left-invariant and then can be thought of as a covector in  $\wedge^1 \mathfrak{h}$ . Observe that  $\theta$  vanishes on horizontal vectors.

**Proposition 1.10.** For every  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , a basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  is provided by the elements of the form  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta$ , where (I, J, R) ranges among those triples such that

- $\circ$  *I* ⊂ {1,...,*n*}, *J* ⊂ {1,...,*n*}, |*I*| + |*J*| ≤ *k* and *I* ∩ *J* =  $\emptyset$ ;
- $\circ$  R is a standard Young tableau containing the elements of  $\{1, \ldots, n\} \setminus (I \cup J)$  arranged in two rows of length, respectively, (2n k |I| |J|)/2 and (k |I| |J|)/2.

Proposition 1.10 follows from Corollary 3.22. Observe that the tableaux R appearing in the statement are rectangular exactly in case k=n. In this case, it might happen that  $I \cup J = \{1, \ldots, n\}$ ; that is, that R is the empty table. If so, we agree that  $\alpha_R = 1$ . It is also worth observing that the covectors  $\lambda_{I,J,R} = dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta$  appearing in Proposition 1.10 indeed belong to  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  because  $\lambda_{I,J,R} \wedge \theta = 0$  (by definition) and  $\lambda_{I,J,R} \wedge d\theta = 0$ , which comes as a consequence of (1.4) and the fact that  $d\theta = -\sum_{i=1}^n dxy_i$  is, up to a sign, the standard symplectic form.

During the preparation of this article, we became aware that a basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  is provided also in the paper [11]: however, the basis in [11] is presented by induction on n, while ours is given directly and is somewhat manageable in the computations we need.

# 1.6. Sketch of the proof of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1

For the reader's convenience, we provide a sketch of the proof of our main result. Let  $\phi: A \subset \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz; by Theorem 1.5 we can assume that  $A = \mathbb{W}$ . We now use Theorem 1.6 to produce a sequence of smooth maps  $\phi_i: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  converging uniformly to  $\phi$ : it can be easily proved that the associated Heisenberg currents  $[\![\mathbf{gr}_{\phi_i}]\!]$  converge (possibly up to a subsequence) to a current T supported on  $\mathbf{gr}_{\phi}$  and, actually, that  $\mathsf{T} = \tau \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \mathbf{gr}_{\phi}$  for some bounded function  $\tau: \mathbf{gr}_{\phi} \to \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k} \setminus \{0\}$ . Moreover, we have  $\partial [\![\mathbf{gr}_{\phi_i}]\!] = 0$  for every i because of Proposition 1.9; therefore, also  $\partial \mathsf{T} = 0$ . As we will see, this equality carries the relevant geometric information.

Our aim is to prove that, at a.e.  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ , the blow-up of  $\phi$  at w (i.e., the limit as  $r \to +\infty$  of  $\delta_r((w\phi(w))^{-1}\mathrm{gr}_{\phi})$ ) is the graph of an intrinsic linear map; a priori, however, there could exist many possible blow-up limits  $\psi$  associated with different diverging scaling sequences  $(r_j)_j$ . In Lemma 4.16 we prove the following: for a.e.  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W}$ , *all* of the possible blow-ups  $\psi$  of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  are t-invariant; that is,

$$\psi(w \exp(tT)) = \psi(w(0,0,t)) = \psi(w)$$
 for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}, w \in \mathbb{W}$ .

The proof of Lemma 4.16 makes use of Rademacher's theorem proved for the case of codimension 1 in [52].

Let then  $\bar{w}$  be such a point and fix a t-invariant blow-up  $\psi$  of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  associated with a scaling sequence  $(r_j)_j$ . It is a good point to notice that, being both intrinsic Lipschitz (because it is the limit of uniformly intrinsic Lipschitz maps) and t-invariant,  $\psi$  is necessarily Euclidean Lipschitz; see Lemma 4.15. Consider now the current  $T_{\infty}$  defined (up to passing to a subsequence) as the blow-up limit along  $(r_j)_j$  of T at  $\bar{p} := \bar{w}\phi(\bar{w}) \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ , namely,

$$\mathsf{T}_{\infty} := \lim_{j \to \infty} (\delta_{r_j} \circ L_{\bar{p}^{-1}})_{\#} \mathsf{T},$$

where  $L_{\bar{p}^{-1}}$  denotes left-translation by  $\bar{p}^{-1}$  and the subscript # denotes push-forward. If one assumes that  $\bar{p}$  is also a Lebesgue point (in a suitable sense) of the function  $\tau$ , then the following properties hold for  $T_{\infty}$ :

- $\circ \ \, \mathsf{T}_{\infty} = f \, \tau(\bar{p}) \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, \bot \, \mathsf{gr}_{\psi} \text{ for some positive and bounded function } f \text{ on } \mathsf{gr}_{\psi};$
- o  $gr_{tt}$  is locally Euclidean rectifiable and, in particular, it is locally  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable;
- o  $\partial T_{\infty} = 0$ , because  $T_{\infty}$  is limit of boundaryless currents.

We can then apply Theorem 1.8 to deduce that  $[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of  $\tau(\bar{p})$  for a.e.  $p \in \mathrm{gr}_{\psi}$ . By t-invariance, the unit tangent vector  $t_{\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}}(p)$  coincides with  $t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}}(p)$ . Summarising, we have a t-invariant Euclidean Lipschitz submanifold  $\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}$  whose unit tangent vector  $t_{\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}}$  is always vertical (i.e., of the form  $t_{\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}} = t' \wedge T$  for a suitable multivector t') and has the property that, for a.e. point p,  $[t_{\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of  $\tau(\bar{p}) \in \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k} \setminus \{0\}$ . If we could guarantee that there is a unique (up to a sign) unit simple vector  $\bar{t}$  that is vertical and such that  $[\bar{t}]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of  $\tau(\bar{p})$ , then we would conclude that  $\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}$  is always tangent to that particular  $\bar{t}$ ; that is, that  $\mathrm{gr}_{\psi}$  is a vertical plane  $\mathscr{P}$ . Since  $\bar{t}$  (and then  $\mathscr{P}$ ) depends only on  $\bar{p}$  and not on the particular sequence  $(r_{\bar{t}})_{\bar{t}}$ , the blow-up  $\mathscr{P}$  is unique and is the graph of an intrinsic linear map  $\psi$ : this would conclude the proof.

Unluckily, this is not always the case; in fact, in the second Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^2$  the unit simple vertical 3-vectors  $X_1 \wedge Y_1 \wedge T$  and  $-X_2 \wedge Y_2 \wedge T$  have the property that

$$[X_1 \wedge Y_1 \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}} = [-X_2 \wedge Y_2 \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}.$$

This, however, is basically the worst-case scenario. A key, technically demanding result is Proposition 3.38, where we prove that there exist at most two linearly independent unit simple vertical vectors  $\bar{t}_1, \bar{t}_2$  such that  $[\bar{t}_1]_{\mathcal{J}} = [\bar{t}_2]_{\mathcal{J}}$  are multiples of  $\tau(\bar{p})$ ; moreover, the planes  $\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2$  associated (respectively) with  $\pm \bar{t}_1, \pm \bar{t}_2$  are not *rank 1 connected*; that is, dim  $\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2$  has codimension at least 2 in  $\mathcal{P}_1$  (equivalently, in

 $\mathscr{P}_2$ ). This means that the vertical Euclidean Lipschitz submanifold  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  has at most two possible tangent planes  $\mathscr{P}_1, \mathscr{P}_2$ ; however (see, e.g., [14, Proposition 1] or [78, Proposition 2.1]), the fact that these two planes are not rank 1 connected forces  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  to be a plane (either  $\mathscr{P}_1$  or  $\mathscr{P}_2$ ) itself.

This is not the conclusion yet: we have for the moment proved that, for a.e.  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W}$ , all of the possible blow-ups of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  are either the map  $\psi_1$  parametrising  $\mathcal{P}_1$  or the map  $\psi_2$  parametrising  $\mathcal{P}_2$ ; both are determined by  $\tau(\bar{p})$  (i.e., by  $\bar{w}$ ) only. However, it is not difficult to observe that the family of all possible blow-ups of  $\phi$  at a fixed point must enjoy a suitable connectedness property; hence, it cannot consist of the two points  $\psi_1, \psi_2$  only. This proves the uniqueness of blow-ups and concludes the proof of our main result.

## 1.7. Structure of the article

In Section 2 we introduce intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Carnot groups and prove Theorems 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6. Heisenberg groups are introduced in Section 3, where we focus on the algebraic preliminary material, in particular, about multilinear algebra and Rumin's complex. We also provide the basis of Rumin's spaces of Proposition 1.10, introduce Heisenberg currents and prove Proposition 1.9. Eventually, we state Proposition 3.38, which we use in the proof of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1 and whose long and tedious proof is postponed to Appendix A. In Section 4 we deal with intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of low codimension; in particular, we define intrinsic differentiability and we prove the crucial Lemma 4.16. We also introduce  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds and  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable sets and we study (Euclidean)  $C^1$ -regular intrinsic graphs. Section 5 is devoted to the proof of the constancy-type Theorems 1.7 and 1.8. The proof of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1 is provided in Section 6. Section 7 contains the applications of our main result concerning Lusin's Theorem 1.2, the equivalence between  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability and 'Lipschitz'  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability (Corollary 7.4) and the area formula of Theorem 1.3.

#### 2. Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Carnot groups: extension and approximation results

In this section we introduce Carnot groups and intrinsic Lipschitz graphs; our goal is to prove the extension and approximation results stated in Theorems 1.5 and 1.6. These two results are used later in the article for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups; however, they can be proved with no extra effort in the wider setting of *Carnot groups*, and we will therefore operate in this framework, which also allows for some simplifications in the notation. The presentation of Carnot groups will be only minimal, and we refer to [43, 20, 58, 66, 88] for a more comprehensive treatment. The reader looking for a thorough account on intrinsic Lipschitz graphs might instead consult [53].

#### 2.1. Carnot groups: algebraic and metric preliminaries

A Carnot (or *stratified*) group is a connected, simply connected and nilpotent Lie group whose Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  is *stratified*; that is, it possesses a decomposition  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{g}_s$  such that

$$\forall j = 1, \dots, s-1 \quad \mathfrak{g}_{j+1} = [\mathfrak{g}_j, \mathfrak{g}_1], \qquad \mathfrak{g}_s \neq \{0\} \quad \text{and} \quad [\mathfrak{g}_s, \mathfrak{g}] = \{0\}.$$

We refer to the integer s as the *step* of  $\mathbb{G}$  and to  $m := \dim \mathfrak{g}_1$  as its rank; we also denote by d the topological dimension of  $\mathbb{G}$ . The group identity is denoted by 0 and, as is customary, we identify  $\mathfrak{g}$ ,  $T_0\mathbb{G}$  and the algebra of left-invariant vector fields on  $\mathbb{G}$ . The elements of  $\mathfrak{g}_1$  are referred to as *horizontal*.

The exponential map  $\exp : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}$  is a diffeomorphism and, given a basis  $X_1, \ldots, X_d$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , we will often identify  $\mathbb{G}$  with  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by means of exponential coordinates:

$$\mathbb{R}^d \ni x = (x_1, \dots, x_d) \longleftrightarrow \exp(x_1 X_1 + \dots + x_d X_d) \in \mathbb{G}.$$

We will also assume that the basis is adapted to the stratification; that is, that

$$X_1, \ldots, X_m$$
 is a basis of  $\mathfrak{g}_1$  and  $\forall j = 2, \ldots, s, \ X_{\dim(\mathfrak{g}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{j-1})+1}, \ldots, X_{\dim(\mathfrak{g}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{g}_j)}$  is a basis of  $\mathfrak{g}_j$ .

In these coordinates, one has

$$X_i(x) = \partial_{x_i} + \sum_{i=m+1}^d P_{i,j}(x)\partial_{x_j} \quad \text{for every } i = 1, \dots, m$$
 (2.1)

for suitable polynomial functions  $P_{i,j}$ . A one-parameter family  $\{\delta_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda}>0}$  of dilations  $\delta_{\lambda}: {\mathfrak g} \to {\mathfrak g}$  is defined by (linearly extending)

$$\delta_{\lambda}(X) := \lambda^{j} X \text{ for any } X \in \mathfrak{g}_{j};$$

notice that dilations are Lie algebra homomorphisms and  $\delta_{\lambda\mu} = \delta_{\lambda} \circ \delta_{\mu}$ . By composition with exp, one can then define a one-parameter family, for which we use the same symbol, of group isomorphisms  $\delta_{\lambda} : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{G}$ .

We fix a left-invariant homogeneous distance d on  $\mathbb{G}$ , so that

$$d(xy, xz) = d(y, z)$$
 and  $d(\delta_{\lambda}x, \delta_{\lambda}y) = \lambda d(x, y)$  for all  $x, y, z \in \mathbb{G}, \lambda > 0$ .

We use d to denote both the distance on  $\mathbb{G}$  and its topological dimension, but no confusion will ever arise. We denote by B(x,r) the open ball of center  $x \in \mathbb{G}$  and radius r > 0; it will also be convenient to denote by  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{G}}$  the homogeneous norm defined for  $x \in \mathbb{G}$  by  $\|x\|_{\mathbb{G}} := d(0,x)$ . Recall that  $\mathcal{L}^d$  is a Haar measure on  $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{R}^d$  and that the homogeneous dimension of  $\mathbb{G}$  is the integer  $Q := \sum_{i=1}^s j \dim \mathfrak{g}_j$ . One has

$$\mathcal{L}^d(B(x,r)) = r^Q \mathcal{L}^d(B(0,1)) \qquad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{G}, r > 0.$$

The number Q is always greater than d (apart from the Euclidean case s=1) and it coincides with the Hausdorff dimension of  $\mathbb{G}$ . Since the Hausdorff Q-dimensional measure is also a Haar measure, it coincides with  $\mathcal{L}^d$  up to a constant.

Given a measurable function  $f: \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$ , we denote by  $\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f = (X_1 f, \dots, X_m f)$  its horizontal derivatives in the sense of distributions. It is well-known that, if f is Lipschitz continuous, then it is *Pansu differentiable* almost everywhere [81] and, in particular, the pointwise horizontal gradient  $\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f$  exists almost everywhere on  $\mathbb{G}$ . Moreover (see, e.g., [47, 56]), we have

if 
$$f: \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$$
 is continuous, then f is Lipschitz if and only if  $\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{G})$  (2.2)

where Lipschitz continuity, of course, is meant with respect to the homogeneous distance d on  $\mathbb{G}$ . It is worth mentioning that the Lipschitz constant of f is bounded by  $\|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{G})}$ , apart from multiplicative constants that depend only on the distance d, both from below and from above.

We will need the following result later, proved in [93, Lemma 2.2], where we denote by  $\overrightarrow{\exp}(X)(x)$  the point reached in unit time by the integral curve of a vector field X starting at a point x.

**Lemma 2.1.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous function and let Y be a smooth vector field in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Assume that  $Yf \ge \delta$  holds, in the sense of distributions, on an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and for a suitable  $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$ . If  $x \in U$  and T > 0 are such that  $\overrightarrow{\exp}(hY)(x) \in U$  for every  $h \in [0,T)$ , then

$$f(\overrightarrow{\exp}(tY)(x)) \ge f(x) + \delta t$$
 for every  $t \in [0, T)$ .

# 2.2. Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs

Following [53], we fix a splitting  $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{WV}$  in terms of a couple  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  of homogeneous (i.e., invariant under dilations) and complementary (i.e.,  $\mathbb{W} \cap \mathbb{V} = \{0\}$  and  $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{WV}$ ) Lie subgroups of  $\mathbb{G}$ . In exponential coordinates,  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are linear subspaces of  $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{R}^d$ . Clearly, the splitting induces for every  $x \in \mathbb{G}$  a unique decomposition  $x = x_{\mathbb{W}} x_{\mathbb{V}}$  such that  $x_{\mathbb{W}} \in \mathbb{W}$  and  $x_{\mathbb{V}} \in \mathbb{V}$ ; we will sometimes refer to the maps  $x \mapsto x_{\mathbb{W}}$  and  $x \mapsto x_{\mathbb{V}}$  as the *projections* of  $\mathbb{G}$  on  $\mathbb{W}$  and on  $\mathbb{V}$ , respectively.

Given  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and a map  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$ , the *intrinsic graph* gr<sub> $\phi$ </sub> of  $\phi$  is the set

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} := \{ w \phi(w) : w \in A \} \subset \mathbb{G}.$$

The notion of intrinsic Lipschitz continuity for maps  $\phi$  from  $\mathbb{W}$  to  $\mathbb{V}$  was introduced by B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano [50] in terms of a cone property for  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ . The *intrinsic cone*  $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha}$  of aperture  $\alpha > 0$  and axis  $\mathbb{V}$  is

$$\mathcal{C}_{\alpha}:=\left\{x\in\mathbb{G}:\|x_{\mathbb{W}}\|_{\mathbb{G}}\leq\alpha\|x_{\mathbb{V}}\|_{\mathbb{G}}\right\}.$$

Observe that  $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha}$  is homogeneous (invariant under dilations) and that  $\mathbb{V} \subset \mathscr{C}_{\alpha}$ . For  $x \in \mathbb{G}$  we also introduce the cone  $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha}(x) := x\mathscr{C}_{\alpha}$  with vertex x.

**Definition 2.2.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ ; we say that  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  is *intrinsic Lipschitz* if there exists  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\forall x \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \qquad \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap \mathscr{C}_{\alpha}(x) = \{x\}. \tag{2.3}$$

The *intrinsic Lipschitz constant* of  $\phi$  is  $\inf\{\frac{1}{\alpha} : \alpha > 0 \text{ and } (2.3) \text{ holds}\}.$ 

Since all homogeneous distances on  $\mathbb{G}$  are equivalent, Definition 2.2 is clearly independent from the fixed distance d on the group. It was proved in [53, Theorem 3.9] that, if  $\phi: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is an entire intrinsic Lipschitz map, then the Hausdorff dimension of  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is the same as the Hausdorff dimension of the domain  $\mathbb{W}$ ; actually, the corresponding Hausdorff measure on  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is Ahlfors regular and then also locally finite on  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ . This implies that for entire intrinsic Lipschitz graphs one has

$$\mathcal{L}^d(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) = 0, \tag{2.4}$$

provided, of course, we are not in the trivial case  $\mathbb{W} = \mathbb{G}$ ,  $\mathbb{V} = \{0\}$ . As one can imagine, the equality (2.4) holds, however, for every intrinsic Lipschitz  $\phi : A \subset \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  provided  $\mathbb{W} \neq \mathbb{G}$ : one way of proving this fact is by noticing that  $\mathcal{L}^d(\mathscr{C}_\alpha(x) \cap B(x,r))$  is a fixed fraction of  $\mathcal{L}^d(B(x,r))$ ; hence,  $\operatorname{gr}_\phi$  cannot have points of density 1 and (2.4) follows by Lebesgue's differentiation theorem in doubling metric spaces (see, e.g., [59, Theorem 1.8]).

**Remark 2.3.** For the purpose of future references, we observe the following easy fact. Let  $S \subset \mathbb{G}$  and  $\alpha > 0$  be fixed; if

$$\forall x \in S$$
  $S \cap \mathscr{C}_{\alpha}(x) = \{x\},\$ 

then  $S = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  for suitable  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  (which is clearly intrinsic Lipschitz) and  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ . See, for example, [53, §2.2.3].

# 2.3. A level set definition of co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz graphs

From now on we assume that the splitting  $\mathbb{WV}$  of  $\mathbb{G}$  is fixed in such a way that  $\mathbb{V}$  is not trivial ( $\mathbb{V} \neq \{0\}$ ) and it is horizontal; that is,  $\mathbb{V} \subset \exp(\mathfrak{g}_1)$ . Of course, this poses some algebraic restrictions: for instance,  $\mathbb{V}$  is forced to be abelian. Moreover, it can be easily checked that *free* Carnot groups (of step at least 2) have no splitting such that  $\mathbb{V}$  is horizontal and dim  $\mathbb{V} \geq 2$ . Nonetheless, the theory we are going to

develop here is rich enough to include intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of codimension 1 in any Carnot group (in fact, every 1-dimensional horizontal subgroup  $\mathbb{V}$  of a Carnot group provides a splitting  $\mathbb{W}\mathbb{V}$  for some  $\mathbb{W}$ ) and intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of codimension at most n in the Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , which are the main object of study of the present article.

With such assumptions on the splitting  $\mathbb{WV}$ , intrinsic Lipschitz graphs  $\Phi: A \subset \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  will be called *co-horizontal* (see [6]). We denote by k the topological dimension of  $\mathbb{V}$  and we assume without loss of generality that the adapted basis  $X_1, \ldots, X_d$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  has been fixed in such a way that

$$\mathbb{V} = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_1, \dots, X_k\}).$$

We consequently identify  $\mathbb{V}$  with  $\mathbb{R}^k$  through the map

$$\mathbb{R}^k \ni (v_1, \dots, v_k) \longleftrightarrow \exp(v_1 X_1 + \dots + v_k X_k) \in \mathbb{V}, \tag{2.5}$$

and we accordingly write  $v = (v_1, \dots, v_k) \in \mathbb{V}$ . The map in (2.5) turns out to be a group isomorphism as well as a bi-Lipschitz map between  $(\mathbb{R}^k, |\cdot|)$  and  $(\mathbb{V}, d)$ : this proves that the Hausdorff dimension of  $\mathbb{V}$  equals the topological dimension k. We observe that, since the flow of a left-invariant vector field corresponds to right multiplication, we have

$$xv = \overrightarrow{\exp}(v_1X_1 + \cdots + v_kX_k)(x).$$

In particular, the projections on the factors W, V can be written as

$$x_{\mathbb{V}} = \exp(x_1 X_1 + \dots + x_k X_k), \qquad x_{\mathbb{W}} = x_{\mathbb{V}}^{-1} = \overrightarrow{\exp}(-(x_1 X_1 + \dots + x_k X_k))(x)$$

and are therefore smooth maps.

Our first goal is to provide the equivalent characterisation of co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz graphs stated in Theorem 1.4. However, we need some preparatory lemmata as well as some extra convention about notation. First, we introduce the homogeneous (pseudo)-norm

$$||x||_* := \left(\sum_{j=1}^s \sum_{i: X_i \in \mathfrak{g}_j} |x_i|^{\frac{2s!}{j}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2s!}}, \qquad x \in \mathbb{G},$$

which is equivalent to  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{G}}$  in the sense that there exists  $C_* \geq 1$  such that

$$||x||_{\mathbb{G}}/C_* \le ||x||_* \le C_* ||x||_{\mathbb{G}} \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{G}.$$
 (2.6)

Observe that  $x \mapsto ||x||_*$  is of class  $C^{\infty}$  in  $\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\}$ . Second, given  $i \in \{1, ..., k\}$ ,  $\beta > 0$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we introduce the homogeneous cone

$$\mathcal{C}_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} := \left\{ wv : w \in \mathbb{W}, \ v \in \mathbb{V}, \ |v_i| + \varepsilon \sum_{j \in \{1,\dots,k\} \setminus \{i\}} |v_j| \ge \beta ||w||_* \right\}$$

$$= \left\{ x \in \mathbb{G} : |x_i| + \varepsilon \sum_{j \in \{1,\dots,k\} \setminus \{i\}} |x_j| \ge \beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_* \right\},$$

where we used the fact that  $x_{\mathbb{V}} = (x_1, \dots, x_k)$ . Third, if  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $f : D \to \mathbb{R}$  is a real-valued function defined on some set D, we denote by  $\{f \ge t\}$  the set  $\{x \in D : f(x) \ge t\}$ . Similar conventions are understood when writing  $\{f > t\}$ ,  $\{f < t\}$ ,  $\{f = t\}$ ,  $\{t_1 < f < t_2\}$ , etc.

**Lemma 2.4.** For every  $i \in \{1, ..., k\}$ ,  $\beta > 0$  and  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  there exists a 1-homogeneous Lipschitz function  $f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon}(0) = 0 (2.7)$$

$$1 \le X_i f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} \le 3 \quad \mathcal{L}^d \text{-a.e. on } \mathbb{G}$$
 (2.8)

$$\varepsilon \le X_{\ell} f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} \le 3\varepsilon \quad \mathcal{L}^d$$
-a.e. on  $\mathbb{G} \quad \forall \ \ell \in \{1,\ldots,k\} \setminus \{i\}$  (2.9)

$$\{f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} \ge 0\} \subset \mathscr{C}_{i,\beta,\varepsilon}.$$
 (2.10)

Moreover, if  $0 < \beta \le \bar{\beta}$ , then the Lipschitz constant of  $f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon}$  can be controlled in terms of  $\varepsilon$  and  $\bar{\beta}$  only.

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we can assume that i = 1. For  $x \in \mathbb{G}$ , define

$$f(x) := \begin{cases} 2[x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k) - \beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*] & \text{if } |x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)| \le 2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_* \\ (x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)) & \text{if } x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k) > 2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_* \\ 3[x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)] & \text{if } x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k) < -2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*. \end{cases}$$

We prove that  $f_{1,\beta,\varepsilon} := f$  satisfies all of the claimed statements. Property (2.7) and the homogeneity of f are immediate. Property (2.10) is equivalent to the implication

$$|x_1| + \varepsilon(|x_2| + \cdots + |x_k|) < \beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_* \implies f(x) < 0,$$

which one can easily check. The function f is continuous on  $\mathbb{G}$  and smooth on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus D$ , where

$$D := \{x \in \mathbb{G} : |x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)| = 2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*\}.$$

Since D is  $\mathcal{L}^d$ -negligible, statements (2.8) and (2.9) follow if we prove that for every  $\ell = 2, ..., k$ ,

$$1 \le X_1 f \le 3$$
 and  $\varepsilon \le X_\ell f \le 3\varepsilon$  on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus D$ . (2.11)

Using (2.1) one gets

$$\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f(x) = (1, \varepsilon, \dots, \varepsilon, 0, \dots, 0) \quad \text{if } x_1 + \varepsilon (x_2 + \dots + x_k) > 2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_* \nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f(x) = (3, 3\varepsilon, \dots, 3\varepsilon, 0, \dots, 0) \quad \text{if } x_1 + \varepsilon (x_2 + \dots + x_k) < -2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_* .$$
 (2.12)

We now notice that, for any  $x \in \mathbb{G}$ , the map  $y \mapsto y_{\mathbb{W}}$  is constant on the coset  $x\mathbb{V}$ , which is a smooth submanifold tangent to  $X_1, \ldots, X_k$ . This implies that

$$(X_1 f, \dots, X_k f)(x) = (2, 2\varepsilon, \dots, 2\varepsilon)$$
 if  $|x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)| < 2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*$ 

which, together with (2.12), implies (2.11).

We have only to check that f is Lipschitz continuous on  $\mathbb{G}$  and that a bound on the Lipschitz constant can be given in terms of  $\varepsilon$  and  $\bar{\beta}$ . Taking into account (2.12) and the continuity of f on  $\mathbb{G}$ , by (2.2) it is enough to prove the function  $g:\mathbb{G}\to\mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$g(x) := 2[x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k) - \beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*]$$

satisfies

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}}g| \le C \quad \text{on } \{x \in \mathbb{G} : |x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)| < 2\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*\}$$
 (2.13)

for some positive C. Since  $x \mapsto x_{\mathbb{W}}$  is smooth on  $\mathbb{G}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_*$  is smooth on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\}$ , we get that g is smooth on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus \mathbb{V}$ . Moreover, g is 1-homogeneous; thus,  $\nabla_{\mathbb{G}}g$  is 0-homogeneous (i.e., invariant under

dilations) and continuous on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus \mathbb{V}$ . Inequality (2.13) will then follow if we prove that

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}}g| \leq C$$
 on  $\partial B(0,1) \cap \{x \in \mathbb{G} : |x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \cdots + x_k)| \leq \beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*\};$ 

in turn, this inequality and the bound (in terms of  $\varepsilon, \bar{\beta}$ ) on the Lipschitz constant of f follow by proving that

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}}g| \le C \quad \text{on } \partial B(0,1) \cap \{x \in \mathbb{G} : |x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)| \le \bar{\beta} ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*\}. \tag{2.14}$$

The set  $\mathbb{V}$  is closed, while  $\partial B(0,1) \cap \{x \in \mathbb{G} : |x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)| \leq \bar{\beta} ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_*\}$  is compact; since they are disjoint, they have positive distance and the continuity of  $\nabla_{\mathbb{G}}g$  on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus \mathbb{V}$  ensures that

$$\sup \left\{ |\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} g(x)| : x \in \partial B(0,1) \text{ and } |x_1 + \varepsilon(x_2 + \dots + x_k)| \le \bar{\beta} ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_* \right\} < +\infty,$$

which is (2.14) and allows us to conclude.

**Lemma 2.5.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  be nonempty and let  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz. Then for every  $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$  and  $i \in \{1,\ldots,k\}$  there exists a Lipschitz function  $f_{i,\varepsilon} : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \subset \{f_{i,\varepsilon} = 0\} \tag{2.15}$$

$$1 \le X_i f_{i,\varepsilon} \le 3$$
  $\mathcal{L}^d$ -a.e. on  $\mathbb{G}$  (2.16)

$$\varepsilon \le X_{\ell} f_{i,\varepsilon} \le 3\varepsilon$$
  $\mathscr{L}^d$ -a.e. on  $\mathbb{G}$   $\forall \ell \in \{1,\ldots,k\} \setminus \{i\}.$  (2.17)

Moreover, if the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$  is not greater than  $\bar{\alpha} > 0$ , then the Lipschitz constant of  $f_{i,\varepsilon}$  can be bounded in terms of  $\varepsilon$  and  $\bar{\alpha}$  only.

*Proof.* Assume that the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$  is not greater than some  $\bar{\Lambda} > 0$  and define  $\alpha := (2\Lambda)^{-1}$ ; then (2.3) holds for such  $\alpha$ . Recalling that the constant  $C_* > 0$  was introduced in (2.6), we set  $\beta := k C_*^2/\alpha$ . Taking into account the inequalities

$$|x_{i}| + \varepsilon \sum_{j \in \{1, \dots, k\} \setminus \{i\}} |x_{j}| \le |x_{1}| + \dots + |x_{k}| \le k ||x_{\mathbb{V}}||_{*} \le k C_{*} ||x_{\mathbb{V}}||_{\mathbb{G}},$$

$$\beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_{*} \ge \beta ||x_{\mathbb{W}}||_{\mathbb{G}} / C_{*}$$

we obtain the inclusion  $\mathscr{C}_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} \subset \mathscr{C}_{\alpha}$ . For  $y \in \mathbb{G}$ , set  $f_y(x) := f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon}(y^{-1}x)$ , where  $f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon}$  is the function provided by Lemma 2.4, and define

$$f(x) := \sup_{y \in gr_{\phi}} f_y(x).$$

We prove that  $f_{i,\varepsilon} := f$  satisfies the claimed statement.

Let  $x \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ ; then  $f(x) \ge f_x(x) = 0$ , while for every  $y \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \setminus \{x\}$  one has  $f_y(x) < 0$  because of (2.10) and

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap \{f_{y} \geq 0\} = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap y\{f_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} \geq 0\} \subset \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap y\mathscr{C}_{i,\beta,\varepsilon} \subset \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap y\mathscr{C}_{\alpha} = \{y\}.$$

This proves that f(x) = 0, which is (2.15).

The functions  $f_y$  are uniformly Lipschitz continuous; hence, f shares the same Lipschitz continuity. Let  $x \in \mathbb{G}$  be fixed; then for every  $\eta > 0$  there exists  $y \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  such that

$$f_{v}(x) \ge f(x) - \eta.$$

Since  $X_i f_y \ge 1$ , by Lemma 2.1 we have for every  $t \ge 0$ 

$$f(\overrightarrow{\exp}(tX_i)(x)) \ge f_{\mathcal{V}}(\overrightarrow{\exp}(tX_i)(x)) \ge f_{\mathcal{V}}(x) + t \ge f(x) + t - \eta.$$

By the arbitrariness of  $\eta$ , one obtains

$$f(\overrightarrow{\exp}(tX_i)(x)) \ge f(x) + t$$
 for every  $t \ge 0$ ;

that is,  $X_i f \ge 1$  a.e. on  $\mathbb{G}$ . A similar argument, using g := -f and the inequality  $X_i g \ge -3$ , shows that  $f(\overrightarrow{\exp}(tX_i)(x)) \le f(x) + 3t$  for every  $t \ge 0$ ; that is, that  $X_i f \le 3$  a.e. on  $\mathbb{G}$ . This proves (2.16).

The proof of (2.17) is completely analogous and we omit it.

The following lemma is most likely well-known; however, we provide a proof for the sake of completeness.

**Lemma 2.6.** Let  $f: \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k$  be a Lipschitz map such that there exists  $\delta > 0$  for which

$$\langle f(x+v) - f(x), v \rangle \ge \delta |v|^2$$
 for every  $x, v \in \mathbb{R}^k$ . (2.18)

Then there exists a unique  $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^k$  such that  $f(\bar{x}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* We reason by induction on k and leave the case k = 1 as an exercise to the reader. We assume that the lemma holds for some  $k \ge 1$  and we prove it for k + 1.

By the 1-dimensional case of the lemma, for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$  there exists a unique  $g(x) \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $f_{k+1}(x,g(x))=0$ ; we claim that g is Lipschitz continuous. Letting L denote the Lipschitz constant of f, we indeed have for every  $x,y \in \mathbb{R}^k$ 

$$f_{k+1}(y, g(x) + \frac{L}{\delta}|y - x|) \stackrel{(2.18)}{\geq} f_{k+1}(y, g(x)) + L|y - x|$$

$$\geq f_{k+1}(x, g(x)) - L|y - x| + L|y - x| = 0$$

and

$$f_{k+1}(y, g(x) - \frac{L}{\delta}|y - x|) \stackrel{(2.18)}{\leq} f_{k+1}(y, g(x)) - L|y - x|$$

$$\leq f_{k+1}(x, g(x)) + L|y - x| - L|y - x| = 0.$$

The last two displayed formulae imply that

$$g(x) - \frac{L}{\delta}|y - x| \le g(y) \le g(x) + \frac{L}{\delta}|y - x|,$$

and the Lipschitz continuity of g follows. In particular, the function  $h: \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k$  defined by  $h(z) := (f_1, \dots, f_k)(z, g(z))$  is Lipschitz continuous; since

$$\langle h(z+v) - h(z), v \rangle \ge \delta |v|^2$$
 for every  $z, v \in \mathbb{R}^k$ ,

by inductive assumption there is a unique  $\bar{z} \in \mathbb{R}^k$  such that  $h(\bar{z}) = 0$ . It follows that  $\bar{x} := (\bar{z}, g(\bar{z}))$  is the unique zero of f, which concludes the proof.

Before passing to the main proof of this section, we recall once more that V is identified with  $\mathbb{R}^k$  by

$$\mathbb{R}^k \ni (v_1, \dots, v_k) \longleftrightarrow \exp(v_1 X_1 + \dots + v_k X_k) \in \mathbb{V}.$$

This identification is understood, in particular, when considering scalar products between elements of  $\mathbb{R}^k$  and  $\mathbb{V}$  as in (1.2).

**Remark 2.7.** It is easily seen that, for a given Lipschitz map  $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ , statement (1.2) is equivalent to the uniform ellipticity (a.k.a. coercivity) of the matrix col  $[X_1 f] \dots [X_k f]$ ; that is, to the fact that

$$\operatorname{col}[X_1 f | \dots | X_k f](x) \ge \delta I \quad \text{for } \mathcal{L}^d \text{-a.e. } x \in \mathbb{G}$$
 (2.19)

in the sense of bilinear forms, where I denotes the  $k \times k$  identity matrix. Observe that such a matrix is defined a.e. on  $\mathbb{G}$  by Pansu's theorem [81, Théorème 2].

*Proof of Theorem 1.4. Step 1.* We prove the implication (a)  $\Rightarrow$  (b). Consider the map

$$f := (f_{1,\varepsilon}, \dots, f_{k,\varepsilon}) : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}^k,$$

where  $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$  will be determined later and the functions  $f_{i,\varepsilon}$  are provided by Lemma 2.5. The inclusion (1.1) follows from (2.15). In order to prove (1.2), we first observe that for  $\mathcal{L}^d$ -a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{G}$  and  $\mathcal{L}^k$ -a.e.  $v \in \mathbb{R}^k \equiv \mathbb{V}$  one has

$$\langle f(xv) - f(x), v \rangle = \int_0^1 \left\langle \sum_{i=1}^k v_i X_j f(x\delta_t v), v \right\rangle dt,$$

where we used the fact that  $x\delta_t v = \overrightarrow{\exp}(t(v_1X_1 + \cdots + v_kX_k))(x)$ . Therefore,

$$\langle f(xv) - f(x), v \rangle = \int_0^1 \sum_{i,j=1}^k v_i v_j X_j f_i(x\delta_t v) dt$$

$$= \int_0^1 \sum_{i=1}^k v_i^2 X_i f_i(x\delta_t v) dt + \int_0^1 \sum_{\substack{i,j=1,\dots,k\\i \neq j}} v_i v_j X_j f_i(x\delta_t v) dt$$

$$> (1 - 3(k^2 - k)\varepsilon) |v|^2.$$

where in the last inequality we used (2.16) and (2.17). If k = 1, this inequality is (1.2) with  $\delta = 1$ ; if  $k \ge 2$ , (1.2) follows with  $\delta = 1/2$  provided we choose  $\varepsilon = (6(k^2 - k))^{-1}$ . This proves the implication (a)  $\Rightarrow$ (b).

Step 2. We now prove the converse implication (b)  $\Rightarrow$ (a); it is enough to prove that  $Z_f := \{f = 0\}$  is the intrinsic graph of some intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$ . For every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ , define  $f_w : \mathbb{V} \equiv \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k$  as  $f_w(v) := f(wv)$ . By Lemma 2.6 there is a unique  $\bar{v} = \bar{v}(w)$  such that  $f_w(\bar{v}) = 0$ ; we define  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  by  $\phi(w) := \bar{v}$ . For  $\lambda \in (0,1)$ , which will be fixed later, we introduce the homogeneous cone

$$D_{\lambda} := \bigcup_{v \in \mathbb{V}} \overline{B(v, \lambda ||v||_{\mathbb{G}})} = \bigcup_{v \in \mathbb{V}} v \overline{B(0, \lambda ||v||_{\mathbb{G}})}.$$

By a simple topological argument (see, e.g., [39, Remark A.2]) there exists  $\alpha = \alpha(\lambda) > 0$  such that  $\mathscr{C}_{\alpha} \subset D_{\lambda}$ ; in order to prove that  $\phi$  is intrinsic Lipschitz, it is sufficient to show that

$$Z_f \cap xD_{\lambda} = \{x\} \qquad \forall \ x \in Z_f. \tag{2.20}$$

To this aim, for every  $x \in Z_f$  and every  $y \in xD_\lambda \setminus \{x\}$ , one has by definition

$$y = xvz$$
 for some  $v \in \mathbb{V} \setminus \{0\}$  and  $z \in \mathbb{G}$  such that  $d(0, z) \le \lambda d(0, v)$ .

Denoting by L the Lipschitz constant of f we obtain

$$\langle f(y), v \rangle = \langle f(xvz) - f(xv), v \rangle + \langle f(xv) - f(x), v \rangle$$

$$\geq -L d(0, z)|v| + \delta|v|^{2}$$

$$\geq -L \lambda d(0, v)|v| + \delta|v|^{2}$$

$$\geq -L \lambda C_{*} ||v||_{*} |v| + \delta|v|^{2}$$

$$\geq (\delta - L \lambda C_{*} c_{k})|v|^{2}$$

for some positive constant  $c_k$  depending on k only. It follows that, provided  $\lambda$  is chosen small enough, one has  $\langle f(y), v \rangle > 0$ ; hence,  $f(y) \neq 0$  and  $y \notin Z_f$ . This proves (2.20) and concludes the proof of the theorem.

**Remark 2.8.** In Step 2 of the previous proof we showed that, if f is as in Theorem 1.4 (b), then the level set  $\{f=0\}$  is an *entire* intrinsic Lipschitz graph; that is, it is the intrinsic graph of a  $\mathbb{V}$ -valued map  $\phi$  defined on the whole  $\mathbb{W}$ .

**Remark 2.9.** It is worth pointing out that, in the implication (b)  $\Rightarrow$ (a), the aperture  $\alpha$  depends, apart from geometric quantities, only on the Lipschitz and coercivity constants  $L, \delta$  of f. More precisely, if f is as in Theorem 1.4 (b), the Lipschitz constant L of f is not greater than some  $\bar{L} > 0$  and the coercivity constant  $\delta$  is not smaller than some  $\bar{\delta} > 0$ , then the aperture  $\alpha$  (and hence the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ ) can be controlled in terms of  $\bar{L}$  and  $\bar{\delta}$  only.

A similar remark applies at the level of the implication (a)  $\Rightarrow$ (b); in fact, if  $\phi$  is as in Theorem 1.4 (a) and the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$  is not greater than some positive  $\Lambda$ , then statement (b) in Theorem 1.4 holds with  $\delta = 1/2$  and (by the second part of Lemma 2.5) a function f with Lipschitz constant bounded in terms of  $\Lambda$  only.

## 2.4. Extension and smooth approximation of co-horizontal intrinsic Lipschitz maps

Given Remark 2.8, Theorem 1.5 is an immediate consequence of Theorem 1.4.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. Let  $S := \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  and consider  $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$  as given by Theorem 1.4 (b); by Remark 2.8, the level set  $Z_f := \{f = 0\}$  is the graph of an intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\tilde{\phi} : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  defined on the whole  $\mathbb{W}$ . Since  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} = S \subset Z_f = \operatorname{gr}_{\tilde{\phi}}$ ,  $\tilde{\phi}$  is an extension of  $\phi$ . The bound on the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\tilde{\phi}$  follows from Remark 2.9.

We now state a technical improvement of Theorem 1.4 that will provide the key tool in the proof of the approximation result stated in Theorem 1.6. In case k = 1, Proposition 2.10 should be compared with [93, Lemma 4.3].

**Proposition 2.10.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  be nonempty and  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz. Then there exist  $\delta > 0$  and a Lipschitz map  $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}^k$  such that (1.1) (with  $S := \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ ) and (1.2) hold together with

$$f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{ f = 0 \}). \tag{2.21}$$

Moreover, if the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$  is not greater than some positive  $\Lambda$ , then the statement holds with  $\delta = 1/4$  and a function  $f: \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}$  with Lipschitz constant bounded in terms of  $\Lambda$  only.

*Proof.* By Theorem 1.4 and Remark 2.7 there exist  $\delta > 0$  and a Lipschitz function  $g : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}^k$  such that S is contained in the level set  $Z_g := \{g = 0\}$  and

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mathbb{G}}g(x) := \operatorname{col}[X_1g|\dots|X_kg](x) \ge 2\delta I \quad \text{for } \mathcal{L}^d\text{-a.e. } x \in \mathbb{G}.$$
 (2.22)

By Remark 2.9, one can also assume  $\delta = 1/4$  and that the Lipschitz constant of g is bounded in terms of  $\Lambda$  only. For  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , choose

- (i) bounded open sets  $(U_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $\overline{U_j}\subset\mathbb{G}\setminus Z_g$  and  $\mathbb{G}\setminus Z_g=\cup_j U_j$ ;
- (ii) positive numbers  $\varepsilon_j$  such that  $\varepsilon_j < d(U_j, Z_g)$ ;
- (iii) nonnegative functions  $u_j \in C_c^{\infty}(U_j)$  forming a partition of the unity on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus Z_g$ ; that is,  $\sum_j u_j = 1$  on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus Z_g$ .

We can also assume that  $\sum_j \chi_{U_j} \leq M$  for some M > 0, where  $\chi_{U_j}$  denotes the characteristic function of  $U_j$ . Notice, in particular, that the sum in (iii) is locally finite.

We are going to use the group convolution  $\star$  (see, e.g., [43, Chapter 1]). Here we only recall that, given  $G: \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $H \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{G})$ , the group convolution

$$(G \star H)(x) := \int_{\mathbb{G}} G(y^{-1}x)H(y)d\mathcal{L}^d(y) = \int_{\mathbb{G}} G(y)H(xy^{-1})d\mathcal{L}^d(y)$$

is a smooth function satisfying

$$X(G \star H) = (XG) \star H$$
 for every  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ .

We fix a positive kernel  $K \in C_c^{\infty}(B(0,1))$  such that  $\int_{\mathbb{G}} K d\mathcal{L}^d = 1$  and, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we set  $K_{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{-Q} K \circ \delta_{1/\varepsilon}$ . Possibly reducing  $\varepsilon_j > 0$ , as specified later in (2.23), (2.25) and (2.26), define

$$f := \begin{cases} \sum_{j} u_{j}(g \star K_{\varepsilon_{j}}) & \text{on } \mathbb{G} \setminus Z_{g} \\ 0 & \text{on } Z_{g}. \end{cases}$$

Notice that the sum above is locally finite. We also observe that (1.1) holds because  $S \subset Z_g \subset \{f = 0\}$ ; actually, the equality  $Z_g = \{f = 0\}$  will come as a byproduct of what follows.

We first check that f is continuous on  $\mathbb{G}$ ; it is clearly smooth on  $\mathbb{G} \setminus Z_g$  and hence continuity has to be checked only at points of  $Z_g$ . Up to reducing  $\varepsilon_j$ , we can assume that

$$|(g \star K_{\varepsilon_j}) - g| \le d(U_j, Z_g) \qquad \text{on } U_j, \tag{2.23}$$

so that

$$|f(x)-g(x)| \leq \sum_{j} u_j(x) \; |(g \star K_{\varepsilon_j})(x)-g(x)| \leq d(x,Z_g) \qquad \forall \, x \in \mathbb{G} \setminus Z_g.$$

This implies that f is continuous also on  $Z_g = \{g = 0\}$  because, for every  $\bar{x} \in Z_g$ , one has

$$\lim_{x \to \bar{x}} |f(x) - f(\bar{x})| = \lim_{x \to \bar{x}} |f(x)| \le \lim_{x \to \bar{x}} |g(x)| + d(x, \bar{x}) = 0.$$

We prove that f is Lipschitz continuous on  $\mathbb{G}$ . Since  $Z_g$  is an intrinsic Lipschitz graph, by (2.4) we have  $\mathscr{L}^d(Z_g)=0$ ; by (2.2), it is then enough to prove that  $|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f|$  is bounded on  $\mathbb{G}\setminus Z_g$ . Using the properties of convolutions and the fact that  $\sum_j \nabla_{\mathbb{G}} u_j=0$ , one gets

$$\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} f = \sum_{j} (g \star K_{\varepsilon_{j}}) \otimes (\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} u_{j}) + \sum_{j} u_{j} ((\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} g) \star K_{\varepsilon_{j}})$$

$$= \sum_{j} (g \star K_{\varepsilon_{j}} - g) \otimes (\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} u_{j}) + \sum_{j} u_{j} ((\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} g) \star K_{\varepsilon_{j}}). \tag{2.24}$$

The second sum in (2.24) is bounded by  $\|\nabla_{\mathbb{G}}g\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{G})}$  and then by a multiple of the Lipschitz constant L of g; possibly reducing  $\varepsilon_i$ , we can assume that

$$|g \star K_{\varepsilon_j} - g| \le (\sup |\nabla_{\mathbb{G}} u_j|)^{-1}$$
 on  $U_j$  (2.25)

so that the first sum in (2.24) is bounded by M. This proves that f is Lipschitz continuous on  $\mathbb{G}$  with Lipschitz constant bounded in terms of the Lipschitz constant of g (and then in terms of  $\Lambda$  only).

Eventually, we have to check that f satisfies (1.2); we prove this by checking the equivalent inequality (2.19). Writing  $\widehat{\nabla}_{\mathbb{G}} f := \operatorname{col}[X_1 f | \dots | X_k f]$  and reasoning as in (2.24), we obtain

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mathbb{G}} f = \sum_j (g \star K_{\varepsilon_j} - g) \otimes (\widehat{\nabla}_{\mathbb{G}} u_j) + \sum_j u_j ((\widehat{\nabla}_{\mathbb{G}} g) \star K_{\varepsilon_j}) =: A + B.$$

By (2.22) we have  $B \ge 2\delta I$  a.e. on  $\mathbb{G}$ . Given  $\eta > 0$ , possibly reducing  $\varepsilon_i$  we can assume that

$$|g \star K_{\varepsilon_i} - g| \le \eta (\sup |\widehat{\nabla}_{\mathbb{G}} u_i|)^{-1}$$
 on  $U_i$  (2.26)

so that  $||A||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{G})} \leq M\eta$ . Inequality (2.19) immediately follows provided one chooses  $\eta = \eta(\delta)$  small enough. The proof is complete.

We have all of the tools needed for the proof of the approximation result stated in Theorem 1.6.

*Proof of Theorem 1.6.* By Theorem 1.5 we can assume without loss of generality that  $A = \mathbb{W}$ . Let  $f : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{R}^k$  be as in Proposition 2.10; for  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ , we consider

$$Z_i := \{ f = (1/i, 0, \dots, 0) \}.$$

By Theorem 1.4 (applied to the function f - (1/i, 0, ..., 0)) and Remark 2.8, for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  the level set  $Z_i$  is the graph of an intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\phi_i : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  defined on the whole  $\mathbb{W}$ . By Remark 2.9, the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi_i$  is bounded (uniformly in i) in terms of the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ . Recalling once more the identification  $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{R}^k$ , which gives the equality  $\phi_i(w) = \phi(w)(\phi_i(w) - \phi(w))$ , we have for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ 

$$\begin{split} \delta |\phi_i(w) - \phi(w)|^2 &\leq \langle f(w\phi_i(w)) - f(w\phi(w)), \phi_i(w) - \phi(w) \rangle \\ &\leq |f(w\phi_i(w)) - f(w\phi(w))| \, |\phi_i(w) - \phi(w)| \\ &= \frac{|\phi_i(w) - \phi(w)|}{i} \,, \end{split}$$

which proves that  $\phi_i \to \phi$  uniformly as  $i \to \infty$ .

We have only to show that each  $\phi_i$  is  $C^{\infty}$  smooth. The quickest way is probably to reason in exponential coordinates *of the second type*; that is, to identify  $\mathbb{G} \equiv \mathbb{R}^d$  by

$$\mathbb{R}^d \ni x = (x_1, \dots, x_d) \longleftrightarrow \exp(x_{k+1} X_{k+1} + \dots + x_d X_d) \exp(x_1 X_1 + \dots + x_k X_k) \in \mathbb{G}.$$

Since  $\mathbb{V}$  is abelian, we have for every  $j = 1, \dots, k$ ,

$$\begin{split} &\exp(x_{k+1}X_{k+1} + \dots + x_dX_d) \exp(x_1X_1 + \dots + x_kX_k) \\ &= \exp(x_{k+1}X_{k+1} + \dots + x_dX_d) \exp(x_1X_1 + \dots + \widehat{x_jX_j} + \dots + x_kX_k) \exp(x_jX_j) \\ &= \overrightarrow{\exp}(x_jX_j) \Big( \overrightarrow{\exp}(x_1X_1 + \dots + \widehat{x_jX_j} + \dots + x_kX_k) \Big( \overrightarrow{\exp}(x_{k+1}X_{k+1} + \dots + x_dX_d)(0) \Big) \Big), \end{split}$$

which proves that in these coordinates  $X_j = \partial_{x_j}$  for all j = 1, ..., k. Since  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{f = 0\})$ , the classical implicit function theorem ensures that the level set  $Z_i = \{f = (1/i, 0, ..., 0)\}$  is the graph of a  $C^{\infty}$  smooth function  $\psi_i = \psi_i(x_{k+1}, ..., x_d) : \mathbb{R}^{d-k} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ . Writing  $x = (x', x'') \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{d-k}$ , we observe that

$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_d) \in Z_i$$

$$\iff x' = (x_1, \dots, x_k) = \psi_i(x'')$$

$$\iff x = \overrightarrow{\exp} \Big( (\psi_i(x''))_1 X_1 + \dots + (\psi_i(x''))_k X_k) (\overrightarrow{\exp}(x_{k+1} X_{k+1} + \dots + x_d X_d)(0) \Big)$$

$$\iff x = \exp(x_{k+1} X_{k+1} + \dots + x_d X_d) \exp((\psi_i(x''))_1 X_1 + \dots + (\psi_i(x''))_k X_k),$$

which in turn proves that  $\phi_i$  and  $\psi_i$  coincide as maps from  $\mathbb{W}$  to  $\mathbb{V}$ . This proves that  $\phi_i$  is smooth, as wished.

## 3. The Heisenberg group

From now on we will always work in *Heisenberg groups*, which provide the most notable examples of Carnot groups; we refer to [26] for a thorough introduction. For every  $n \ge 1$ , the *n*th Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is the connected, simply connected and nilpotent Lie group  $\mathbb{H}^n$  associated with the (2n + 1)-dimensional stratified Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  generated by elements  $X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n, T$  whose Lie brackets vanish except for

$$[X_j, Y_j] = T$$
 for every  $j = 1, \dots, n$ .

The algebra stratification is given by  $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{h}_2$ , where

$$\mathfrak{h}_1 := \text{span}\{X_1, \dots, X_n, Y_1, \dots, Y_n\}, \qquad \mathfrak{h}_2 := \text{span}\{T\};$$

the second layer  $\mathfrak{h}_2$  is the center of the algebra.

We identify  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with  $\mathbb{R}^{2n+1} = \mathbb{R}^n_x \times \mathbb{R}^n_y \times \mathbb{R}_t$  by means of exponential coordinates

$$\mathbb{H}^n \ni \exp(x_1 X_1 + \dots + x_n X_n + y_1 Y_1 + \dots + y_n Y_n + tT) \longleftrightarrow (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}.$$

In these coordinates, the group law reads as

$$(x,y,t)(x',y',t')=(x+x',y+y',t+t'+\tfrac{1}{2}\langle x,y'\rangle-\tfrac{1}{2}\langle x',y\rangle),$$

and left-invariant vector fields have the form

$$X_j = \partial_{x_j} - \frac{y_j}{2} \partial_t, \qquad Y_j = \partial_{y_j} + \frac{x_j}{2} \partial_t, \qquad T = \partial_t.$$

We also observe that, in exponential coordinates, we have  $p^{-1} = -p$  for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$ . As in Section 2, a one-parameter family  $(\delta_{\lambda})_{\lambda>0}$  of group automorphisms is provided by the dilations  $\delta_{\lambda}(x, y, t) := (\lambda x, \lambda y, \lambda^2 t)$ .

We fix a homogeneous distance d on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and we denote by  $B(p,r), p \in \mathbb{H}^n, r > 0$ , the associated open balls; for  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  we also write  $||p||_{\mathbb{H}} := d(0,p)$ . It will be convenient to assume that d is rotationally invariant; that is, that

$$\|(x, y, t)\|_{\mathbb{H}} = \|(x', y', t)\|_{\mathbb{H}}$$
 whenever  $|(x, y)| = |(x', y')|$ . (3.1)

Relevant examples of rotationally invariant homogeneous distances are provided by the Carnot–Carathéodory distance  $d_{cc}$ ,

$$d_{cc}(p,q) := \inf \left\{ \begin{aligned} & \text{the curve } \gamma_h : [0,1] \to \mathbb{H}^n \text{ defined by} \\ \|h\|_{L^1([0,1],\mathbb{R}^{2n})} : & \gamma_h(0) = p, \ \dot{\gamma}_h = \sum_{j=1}^n (h_j X_j + h_{j+n} Y_j)(\gamma_h) \\ & \text{has final point } \gamma_h(1) = q \end{aligned} \right\},$$

by the left-invariant distance  $d_{\infty}$  (see [48, Proposition 2.1]) such that

$$d_{\infty}(0,(x,y,t)) := \max\{|(x,y)|,2|t|^{1/2}\}\tag{3.2}$$

and by the Korányi (or Cygan–Korányi; see [34]) distance  $d_K$  defined by

$$d_K(0,(x,y,t)) := ((|x|^2 + |y|^2)^2 + 16t^2)^{1/4}.$$
(3.3)

The Lebesgue measure  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1}$  is a Haar measure on  $\mathbb{H}^n \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$  and Q := 2n+2 is the homogeneous dimension of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ; in particular,

$$\mathscr{L}^{2n+1}(B(p,r)) = r^Q \mathscr{L}^{2n+1}(B(0,1))$$
 for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and  $r > 0$ .

Actually, the Hausdorff and spherical Hausdorff measures  $\mathcal{H}^Q$ ,  $\mathcal{S}^Q$  are also Haar measure in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ; hence,  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}^Q$  and  $\mathcal{S}^Q$  coincide up to multiplicative constants. Recall in particular that the spherical Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{S}^k$  of dimension  $k \geq 0$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{S}^k(E) := \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \inf \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (2r_i)^k : E \subset \bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} B(p_i, r_i) \text{ for some } p_i \in \mathbb{H}^n, r_i \in (0, \delta) \right\}.$$

One of the aims of this section is to introduce Rumin's complex of differential forms in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , for which we follow the presentations in [51, 86].

#### 3.1. Multilinear algebra

The Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is a contact manifold. The *contact form*  $\theta$  defined by  $\theta_{|\mathfrak{h}|} = 0$  and  $\theta(T) = 1$  satisfies  $\theta \wedge (d\theta)^n \neq 0$  and, actually, the 2n + 1-form  $\theta \wedge (d\theta)^n$  is a left-invariant volume form. In coordinates,

$$\theta = dt + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (y_j dx_j - x_j dy_j),$$

while

$$d\theta = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} dx_j \wedge dy_j$$

is the standard symplectic 2-form in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ , up to a sign. Notice that the basis  $dx_1, \ldots, dy_n, \theta$  is the dual basis to  $X_1, \ldots, Y_n, T$ ; observe also that here we are identifying the dual of  $\mathfrak{h}$  with left-invariant 1-forms on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , in the same way as the algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  can be identified with left-invariant vector fields.

It will sometimes be convenient to denote the family  $X_1, \ldots, Y_n, T$  by  $W_1, \ldots, W_{2n+1}$ , where

$$\begin{aligned} W_j &:= X_j & \text{if } 1 \leq j \leq n \\ W_j &:= Y_{j-n} & \text{if } n+1 \leq j \leq 2n \\ W_{2n+1} &:= T. \end{aligned} \tag{3.4}$$

Analogously, we use  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{2n+1}$  to denote, respectively,  $dx_1, \ldots, dy_n, \theta$ . Given a subset  $I \subset \{1, \ldots, 2n+1\}$ , we write  $I = \{i_1, \ldots, i_k\}$  for  $i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_k$  and we denote by  $W_I, \theta_I$  the (formal) exterior products

$$W_I := W_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge W_{i_k}, \qquad \theta_I := \theta_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \theta_{i_k}. \tag{3.5}$$

We also denote by |I| the cardinality of I. We can now introduce the exterior algebras  $\wedge_*\mathfrak{h}$  and  $\wedge^*\mathfrak{h}$  of (multi)vectors and (multi-)covectors as

$$\wedge_* \mathfrak{h} := \bigoplus_{k=0}^{2n+1} \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}, \qquad \wedge^* \mathfrak{h} := \bigoplus_{k=0}^{2n+1} \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}$$

where  $\wedge_0 \mathfrak{h} = \wedge^0 \mathfrak{h} = \mathbb{R}$  and

$$\wedge_k \mathfrak{h} := \text{span}\{W_I : I \subset \{1, \dots, 2n+1\} \text{ With } |I| = k\}$$
  
 $\wedge^k \mathfrak{h} := \text{span}\{\theta_I : I \subset \{1, \dots, 2n+1\} \text{ With } |I| = k\}.$ 

The elements of  $\land_k \mathfrak{h}$  and  $\land^k \mathfrak{h}$  are called, respectively, k-vectors and k-covectors. The inner product on  $\mathfrak{h}$  making  $W_1, \ldots, W_{2n+1}$  an orthonormal frame can be naturally extended to  $\land_k \mathfrak{h}$  in such a way that the elements  $W_I$  form an orthonormal frame. In this way, one can define an explicit isomorphism

$$\wedge_k \mathfrak{h} \ni v \longmapsto v^* \in \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}$$

by requiring  $\langle w \mid v^* \rangle := \langle w, v \rangle$  for every  $w \in \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}$ , where  $\langle \cdot \mid \cdot \rangle$  denotes duality pairing between vectors and covectors.

We analogously introduce the exterior algebras of horizontal vectors and covectors

$$\wedge_* \mathfrak{h}_1 := \bigoplus_{k=0}^{2n} \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1, \qquad \wedge^* \mathfrak{h}_1 := \bigoplus_{k=0}^{2n} \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1$$

where

$$\wedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1 := \operatorname{span}\{W_I : I \subset \{1, \dots, 2n\} \text{ With } |I| = k\}$$
$$\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1 := \operatorname{span}\{\theta_I : I \subset \{1, \dots, 2n\} \text{ With } |I| = k\}.$$

**Remark 3.1.** Given  $\tau \in \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}$  and  $\lambda \in \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}$ ,  $1 \le k \le 2n$ , we denote by  $\tau_{\mathfrak{h}_1}$  and  $\lambda_{\mathfrak{h}_1}$  their horizontal component; that is, the unique  $\tau_{\mathfrak{h}_1} \in \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1$  and  $\lambda_{\mathfrak{h}_1} \in \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1$  such that  $\tau = \tau_{\mathfrak{h}_1} + \sigma \wedge T$  and  $\lambda = \lambda_{\mathfrak{h}_1} + \mu \wedge \theta$  for some (unique)  $\sigma \in \wedge_{k-1} \mathfrak{h}_1$ ,  $\mu \in \wedge^{k-1} \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

Of special importance for us are vertical planes, which we now introduce. As is customary, given a nonzero simple k-vector  $\tau = \tau_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \tau_k$ , we denote by span  $\tau$  the linear space generated by  $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_k$ ; equivalently, span  $\tau = \{v : v \wedge \tau = 0\}$ .

**Definition 3.2.** A set  $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is a *vertical plane* of dimension k if there exists a nonzero  $\tau \in \wedge_{k-1}\mathfrak{h}_1$  such that

$$\mathcal{P} = \exp(\operatorname{span}(\tau \wedge T)).$$

In exponential coordinates, a vertical plane  $\mathscr{P}$  is a k-dimensional linear subspace of  $\mathbb{H}^n \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1} = \mathbb{R}^{2n} \times \mathbb{R}$  of the form  $V \times \mathbb{R}$  for some (k-1)-dimensional subspace  $V \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ . A vertical plane is always a normal subgroup of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

# 3.2. Differential forms and Rumin's complex

The spaces  $\mathfrak{h}$ ,  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ ,  $\wedge_k \mathfrak{h}$ ,  $\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}$ ,  $\wedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1$ ,  $\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1$ , as well as the spaces  $\mathcal{I}^k$  and  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  introduced in (3.6), canonically induce several bundles on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , which we will denote by using the same symbol. The same convention applies to dual and quotient spaces of such spaces. As is customary, we denote by  $\Omega^k$  the space of smooth differential k-forms on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ; that is, the space of smooth sections of  $\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}$  (seen as a bundle on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ).

We now recall some of the spaces of differential forms introduced by M. Rumin in [85, 86]. As before, we identify the left-invariant 2-form  $d\theta$  in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with a 2-covector in  $\wedge^2\mathfrak{h}$  and we define

$$\mathcal{I}^{k} := \{ \lambda \wedge \theta + \mu \wedge d\theta : \lambda \in \wedge^{k-1} \mathfrak{h}, \mu \in \wedge^{k-2} \mathfrak{h} \},$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{k} := \{ \lambda \in \wedge^{k} \mathfrak{h} : \lambda \wedge \theta = \lambda \wedge d\theta = 0 \},$$
(3.6)

where we adopted the convention that  $\wedge^i \mathfrak{h} = \{0\}$  if i < 0. Observe that  $\mathcal{I}^0 = \{0\}$ . The space  $\mathcal{I}^* := \bigoplus_{k=0}^{2n+1} \mathcal{I}^k$  is the graded ideal generated by  $\theta$ , while  $\mathcal{J}^* := \bigoplus_{k=0}^{2n+1} \mathcal{J}^k$  is the annihilator of  $\mathcal{I}^*$ . As observed in [86] (see also [51, page 166]), for  $1 \le k \le n$  we have  $\mathcal{J}^k = \{0\}$  and  $\mathcal{I}^{2n+1-k} = \wedge^{2n+1-k} \mathfrak{h}$ ; these equalities are, in essence, consequences of the fact that the *Lefschetz operator*  $L: \wedge^h \mathfrak{h}_1 \to \wedge^{h+2} \mathfrak{h}_1$  defined by  $L(\lambda) := \lambda \wedge d\theta$  is injective for  $h \le n-1$  and surjective for  $h \ge n-1$ ; see, for instance, the beautiful proof in [21, Proposition 1.1].

**Remark 3.3.** Recalling the notation introduced in Remark 3.1, it can be easily proved that  $\lambda_{\mathfrak{h}_1} = 0$  for every  $\lambda \in \mathcal{J}^k$ . In particular, there exists a unique  $\lambda_H \in \wedge^{k-1}\mathfrak{h}_1$  such that  $\lambda = \lambda_H \wedge \theta$ ; hence,

$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = 0$$
 for every  $\lambda \in \mathcal{J}^k, \tau \in \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

We also notice that  $\lambda_H \wedge d\theta = 0$ .

**Remark 3.4.** For  $k \ge n+1$  it is convenient to introduce the (formal) dual space  $\mathcal{J}_k := (\mathcal{J}^k)^*$ . Observe that every multivector  $\tau \in \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}$  canonically induces an element  $[\tau]_{\mathcal{J}} \in \mathcal{J}_k$  defined by

$$\langle [\tau]_{\mathcal{J}} | \lambda \rangle := \langle \tau | \lambda \rangle$$
 for every  $\lambda \in \mathcal{J}^k$ .

Equivalently,  $[\tau]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is the equivalence class of  $\tau$  in the quotient of  $\wedge_k \mathfrak{h}$  by its subspace  $(\mathcal{J}^k)^{\perp}$ .

Let us introduce the spaces  $\Omega^k_{\mathbb{H}}$  of Heisenberg differential k-forms

$$\Omega_{\mathbb{H}}^{k} := C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^{n}, \frac{\wedge^{k} \mathfrak{h}}{\mathcal{I}^{k}}) = \left\{ \text{smooth sections of } \frac{\wedge^{k} \mathfrak{h}}{\mathcal{I}^{k}} \right\}, \qquad \text{if } 0 \leq k \leq n$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbb{H}}^{k} := C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^{n}, \mathcal{J}^{k}) = \left\{ \text{smooth sections of } \mathcal{J}^{k} \right\}, \qquad \text{if } n+1 \leq k \leq 2n+1.$$

Clearly,  $\Omega^0_{\mathbb{H}} = C^\infty(\mathbb{H}^n)$ . Denoting exterior differentiation by d, we observe that, if  $k \geq n+1$ , then  $d(\Omega^k_{\mathbb{H}}) \subset \Omega^{k+1}_{\mathbb{H}}$ . If  $k \leq n-1$ , we have  $d(\mathcal{I}^k) \subset \mathcal{I}^{k+1}$ ; hence, d passes to the quotient. All in all, for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Our operator L actually differs by a sign from the Lefschetz one (wedge product by the standard symplectic form).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>We also use d to denote the distance on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ; of course, no confusion will ever arise.

 $k \in \{0, \dots, 2n\} \setminus \{n\}$  a well-defined operator  $d: \Omega_{\mathbb{H}}^k \to \Omega_{\mathbb{H}}^{k+1}$  is induced by exterior differentiation. The following fundamental result was proved by M. Rumin [86]; see also [51, Theorem 5.9].

**Theorem 3.5.** There exists a second-order differential operator  $D: \Omega^n_{\mathbb{H}} \to \Omega^{n+1}_{\mathbb{H}}$  such that the sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{R} \to \Omega^0_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{d}{\to} \Omega^1_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{d}{\to} \dots \overset{d}{\to} \Omega^n_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{D}{\to} \Omega^{n+1}_{\mathbb{H}} \overset{d}{\to} \dots \overset{d}{\to} \Omega^{2n+1}_{\mathbb{H}} \to 0$$

is exact.

The construction of the operator D is crucial for our purposes, and we recall it here. First, as already mentioned, the Lefschetz operator  $L: \wedge^{n-1}\mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \wedge^{n+1}\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  defined by  $L(\lambda) = \lambda \wedge d\theta$  is bijective. Second, observe that

$$\frac{\wedge^n \mathfrak{h}}{\mathcal{I}^n} = \frac{\wedge^n \mathfrak{h}_1}{\{\mu \wedge d\theta : \mu \in \wedge^{n-2} \mathfrak{h}_1\}}.$$
(3.7)

We are going to define an operator D on smooth sections of  $\wedge^n \mathfrak{h}_1$  and prove that it passes to the quotient modulo smooth sections of  $\{\mu \wedge d\theta : \mu \in \wedge^{n-2} \mathfrak{h}_1\}$ . Given a smooth section  $\alpha$  of  $\wedge^n \mathfrak{h}_1$ , we set

$$D\alpha := d(\alpha - \theta \wedge L^{-1}((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1})),$$
  
=  $d(\alpha + (-1)^n L^{-1}((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) \wedge \theta),$ 

where we used the notation in Remark 3.1. We have to prove that  $D(\beta \wedge d\theta) = 0$  for every smooth section  $\beta$  of  $\wedge^{n-2}\mathfrak{h}_1$ . Inasmuch as

$$L^{-1}((d(\beta \wedge d\theta))_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}}) = L^{-1}((d\beta \wedge d\theta)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}}) = L^{-1}((d\beta)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}} \wedge d\theta) = (d\beta)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}}$$
$$d(\beta \wedge d\theta) = (-1)^{n-1}d(d\beta \wedge \theta),$$

we deduce that

$$D(\beta \wedge d\theta) = d(\beta \wedge d\theta + (-1)^n (d\beta)_{\mathfrak{h}_1} \wedge \theta)$$
  
=  $(-1)^{n-1} d(d\beta \wedge \theta - (d\beta)_{\mathfrak{h}_1} \wedge \theta)$   
=  $(-1)^{n-1} d((d\beta)_{\mathfrak{h}_1} \wedge \theta - (d\beta)_{\mathfrak{h}_1} \wedge \theta) = 0,$ 

as wished.

This proves that D is well-defined as a linear operator  $\Omega^n_{\mathbb{H}} \to \Omega^{n+1}$ . We have to check that  $D(\Omega^n_{\mathbb{H}}) \subset \Omega^{n+1}_{\mathbb{H}}$ ; that is, that  $D\alpha \wedge \theta = D\alpha \wedge d\theta = 0$  for every  $\alpha \in \Omega^n_{\mathbb{H}}$ . To this aim, let us write  $(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{v}} := d\alpha - (d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}$  to denote the 'vertical' part of  $d\alpha$ , which can be written as  $(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{v}} = \theta \wedge \beta_{\alpha}$  for a suitable smooth section  $\beta_{\alpha}$  of  $\wedge^n\mathfrak{h}_1$ . Then

$$D\alpha = d(\alpha + (-1)^n L^{-1}((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) \wedge \theta)$$

$$= (d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1} + (d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{v}} + (-1)^n d(L^{-1}((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1})) \wedge \theta - L^{-1}((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) \wedge d\theta$$

$$= \theta \wedge (\beta_{\alpha} + d(L^{-1}((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}))).$$
(3.8)

This implies that  $D\alpha \wedge \theta = 0$  and, as a consequence,  $0 = d(D\alpha \wedge \theta) = (-1)^{n+1}D\alpha \wedge d\theta$ , as wished.

**Example 3.6.** Let us compute the operator  $D: \Omega^1_{\mathbb{H}} \to \Omega^2_{\mathbb{H}}$  in the first Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^1$ . Given  $\omega \in \Omega^1_{\mathbb{H}}$ , we choose a smooth section  $\alpha$  of  $\wedge^1\mathfrak{h}_1$  that is a representative of  $\omega$  in the quotient (3.7). Writing  $\alpha = f dx + g dy$ , we have

$$(d\alpha)_{h_1} = (Xg - Yf)dx \wedge dy = -(Xg - Yf)d\theta$$

and, clearly,  $L^{-1}((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) = Yf - Xg$ . Therefore,

$$D\omega = d(fdx + gdy - (Yf - Xg)\theta)$$

$$= \underbrace{(-Yf + Xg)dx \wedge dy}_{-} - (Tf)dx \wedge \theta - (Tg)dy \wedge \theta$$

$$- (XYf - XXg)dx \wedge \theta - (YYf - YXg)dy \wedge \theta - \underbrace{(Yf - Xg)d\theta}_{-}$$

$$= (-2XYf + YXf + XXg)dx \wedge \theta + (2YXg - XYg - YYf)dy \wedge \theta.$$

See also [13, Example B.2] and [12, Example 3.11].

We refer to [12, Example 3.12] for the computation of the operator D in  $\mathbb{H}^2$ .

**Remark 3.7.** It is sometimes convenient to have a unique symbol to denote the differential operators in Rumin's complex. Following [54], we then define  $d_C: \Omega^k_{\mathbb{H}} \to \Omega^{k+1}_{\mathbb{H}}$  by  $d_C = d$ , if  $k \neq n$ , and  $d_C = D$ , if k = n.

**Remark 3.8.** For  $k \le n$ , an interesting interpretation of  $\frac{\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}}{\mathcal{I}^k}$  and  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  as spaces of *integrable covectors* is provided in [51, Theorem 2.9].

#### 3.3. H-linear maps

We now introduce the notion of  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear maps in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , which are among the most simple examples of *contact maps* (see, e.g., [64]), and study their behaviour on Heisenberg forms. For a finer study of the relations between Heisenberg forms and contact maps, see, for example, [24, Chapter 3]. The results in this section will be applied especially, but not exclusively, to left-translations and dilations in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and their compositions.

**Definition 3.9.** A map  $\mathcal{L}: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear if it is a group homomorphism that is also homogeneous; that is,  $\delta_r(\mathcal{L}p) = \mathcal{L}(\delta_r p)$  for any  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and any r > 0.

It is not difficult to prove that  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear if and only if  $\mathfrak{l} := \exp^{-1} \circ \mathcal{L} \circ \exp : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$  is a Lie algebra homomorphism; see, for example, [67, §3.1] and the references therein. In particular,

$$\mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{h}_1) \subset \mathfrak{h}_1 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{h}_2) \subset \mathfrak{h}_2.$$
 (3.9)

Moreover, if for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  one canonically identifies  $T_p \mathbb{H}^n \equiv T_0 \mathbb{H}^n = \mathfrak{h}$  by means of the differential of the left-translation by  $p^{-1}$ , then the differential  $d\mathcal{L}$  of  $\mathcal{L}$  is constant; that is,

$$d\mathcal{L}_p = d\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathfrak{l} \qquad \forall \ p \in \mathbb{H}^n.$$

This easily follows by computing the differential at p of  $\mathcal{L}(q) = \mathcal{L}(p)\mathcal{L}(p^{-1}q)$ .

By abuse of notation, we use a unique symbol  $\mathcal{L}_*$  to denote any of  $d\mathcal{L}_p$ ,  $d\mathcal{L}_0$  and I. Similarly, the symbol  $\mathcal{L}^*$  denotes any of the associated pullback actions  $(d\mathcal{L}_p)^*: T^*_{\mathcal{L}(p)}\mathbb{H}^n \to T^*_p\mathbb{H}^n$ ,  $(d\mathcal{L}_0)^*: T^*_0\mathbb{H}^n \to T^*_0\mathbb{H}^n$  and  $\mathfrak{I}^*: \wedge^1\mathfrak{h} \to \wedge^1\mathfrak{h}$ . We also use the symbols  $\mathcal{L}_*, \mathcal{L}^*$  to denote the induced maps  $\mathcal{L}_*: \wedge_*\mathfrak{h} \to \wedge_*\mathfrak{h}$  and  $\mathcal{L}^*: \wedge^*\mathfrak{h} \to \wedge^*\mathfrak{h}$  defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_*(v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_k) := \mathcal{L}_*(v_1) \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathcal{L}_*(v_k), \qquad \forall v_1, \dots, v_k \in \mathfrak{h},$$

and

$$\mathcal{L}^*(\lambda_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \lambda_k) := \mathcal{L}^*(\lambda_1) \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathcal{L}^*(\lambda_k), \qquad \forall \lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_k \in \wedge^1 \mathfrak{h}.$$

**Proposition 3.10.** Let  $\mathcal{L}: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  be a  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism; then the pullbacks of  $\theta$  and  $d\theta$  satisfy

$$\mathcal{L}^*(\theta) = c_{\mathcal{L}}\theta \quad and \quad \mathcal{L}^*(d\theta) = c_{\mathcal{L}} d\theta,$$
 (3.10)

where  $c_{\mathcal{L}} \neq 0$  is defined 8 by  $\mathcal{L}_*(T) = c_{\mathcal{L}}T$ .

*Proof.* Since pullback and exterior derivative commute, it is sufficient to prove the first assertion in (3.10). It is proved in [95, §3.15] that, since  $\theta$  is left-invariant,  $d\mathcal{L}^*(\theta)$  is left-invariant as well. By (3.9), we have  $\mathcal{L}^*(\theta) = 0$  on  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ ; hence,  $\mathcal{L}^*(\theta)$  is a scalar multiple of  $\theta$ . The statement follows because  $\mathcal{L}^*(\theta)(T) = \theta(\mathcal{L}_*(T)) = \theta(\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{L}}) = \mathcal{L}$ .

**Proposition 3.11.** Let  $\mathcal{L}: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  be a  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism; then

- (i) if  $1 \le k \le n$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^* : \wedge^k \mathfrak{h} \to \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}$  passes to the quotient and defines an isomorphism  $\mathcal{L}^* : \wedge^k \mathfrak{h} / \mathcal{I}^k \to \wedge^k \mathfrak{h} / \mathcal{I}^k$ ;
- (ii) if  $n + 1 \le k \le 2n$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^*(\mathcal{J}^k) = \mathcal{J}^k$ .

*Proof.* (i) If  $1 \le k \le n$ , it is enough to show that  $\mathcal{L}^*(\mathcal{I}^k) = \mathcal{I}^k$ . For every  $\lambda \in \wedge^{k-1}\mathfrak{h}$  and  $\mu \in \wedge^{k-2}\mathfrak{h}$ , we have by Proposition 3.10

$$\mathcal{L}^*(\lambda \wedge \theta + \mu \wedge d\theta) = c_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{L}^*(\lambda) \wedge \theta + \mathcal{L}^*(\mu) \wedge d\theta);$$

hence,  $\mathcal{L}^*(\mathcal{I}^k) \subset \mathcal{I}^k$ . The equality  $\mathcal{L}^*(\mathcal{I}^k) = \mathcal{I}^k$  follows because  $\mathcal{L}^*$  is a isomorphism.

(ii) Given  $\lambda \in \mathcal{J}^k$  we have

$$\mathcal{L}^*(\lambda) \wedge \theta = c_{\mathcal{L}}^{-1} \mathcal{L}^*(\lambda \wedge \theta) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{L}^*(\lambda) \wedge d\theta = c_{\mathcal{L}}^{-1} \mathcal{L}^*(\lambda \wedge d\theta) = 0,$$

hence  $\mathcal{L}^*(\lambda) \in \mathcal{J}^k$ . This proves the inclusion  $\mathcal{L}^*(\mathcal{J}^k) \subset \mathcal{J}^k$ , and the equality follows again because  $\mathcal{L}^*$  is an isomorphism.

Proposition 3.11 has the following consequence that we will later use when  $\mathcal{L}$  is (a composition of) dilations and left-translations. Compare with [24, Theorem 3.2.1].

**Corollary 3.12.** Let  $\mathcal{L}: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  be a  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism; then the pullback  $\mathcal{L}^*$  commutes with the differential operators in Rumin's complex; that is, for every  $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2n\}$ ,

$$d_C(\mathcal{L}^*\omega) = \mathcal{L}^*(d_C\omega)$$
 for every  $\omega \in \Omega^k_{\mathbb{H}}$ .

*Proof.* When  $k \neq n$ , this is a simple consequence of Proposition 3.11 and the fact that  $\mathcal{L}^*$  commutes with exterior differentiation  $d = d_C$ .

When k = n, we have  $d_C = D$  and some computations are needed. For every  $\omega \in \Omega^k_{\mathbb{H}}$  we fix a representative  $\alpha \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n, \wedge^n \mathfrak{h}_1)$  of the equivalence class  $\omega$  in the quotient in the right-hand side of (3.7). By Proposition 3.11,  $\mathcal{L}^*\alpha$  is a representative of  $\mathcal{L}^*\omega$  and we can compute

$$\begin{split} D(\mathcal{L}^*\omega) &= d\big(\mathcal{L}^*\alpha - \theta \wedge L^{-1}((d\mathcal{L}^*\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1})\big) \\ &= d\big(\mathcal{L}^*\alpha - \theta \wedge L^{-1}((\mathcal{L}^*(d\alpha))_{\mathfrak{h}_1})\big) \\ &= d\big(\mathcal{L}^*\alpha - \mathcal{L}^*(\theta/c_{\mathcal{L}}) \wedge L^{-1}(\mathcal{L}^*((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}))\big), \end{split}$$

where we used Proposition 3.10. The latter also gives

$$\mathcal{L}^*((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) = \mathcal{L}^*(L^{-1}(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1} \wedge d\theta)$$
$$= \mathcal{L}^*(L^{-1}(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) \wedge \mathcal{L}^*(d\theta)$$
$$= c_{\mathcal{L}}\mathcal{L}^*(L^{-1}(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) \wedge d\theta$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The number  $c_{\mathcal{L}}$  is well-defined because of (3.9); it is not zero because  $\mathcal{L}_*$  is an isomorphism.

29

so that

$$L^{-1}(\mathcal{L}^*((d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1})) = c_{\mathcal{L}}\mathcal{L}^*(L^{-1}(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}).$$

Therefore,

$$D(\mathcal{L}^*\omega) = d(\mathcal{L}^*\alpha - \mathcal{L}^*(\theta/c_{\mathcal{L}}) \wedge c_{\mathcal{L}}\mathcal{L}^*(L^{-1}(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}))$$

$$= d(\mathcal{L}^*(\alpha - \theta \wedge (L^{-1}(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1})))$$

$$= \mathcal{L}^*(d(\alpha - \theta \wedge (L^{-1}(d\alpha)_{\mathfrak{h}_1})))$$

$$= \mathcal{L}^*(D\omega)$$

and the proof is concluded.

We recall that the notion of vertical plane was introduced in Definition 3.2. Given natural numbers a, b such that  $1 \le a + b \le n$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b} \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  the (2a + b + 1)-dimensional vertical plane

$$\mathcal{P}_{a,b} := \{ (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^n : x_i = y_j = 0 \text{ for all } a + b + 1 \le i \le n \text{ and } a + 1 \le j \le n \}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \{ (x_1, \dots, x_{a+b}, 0, \dots, 0, y_1, \dots, y_a, 0, \dots, 0, t) \} & \text{if } a \ge 1 \text{ and } a + b < n \\ \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n, y_1, \dots, y_a, 0, \dots, 0, t) \} & \text{if } a \ge 1 \text{ and } a + b = n \end{cases}$$

$$\{ (x_1, \dots, x_b, 0, \dots, 0, t) \} & \text{if } a = 0.$$

$$(3.11)$$

As shown by the following proposition, the planes  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  can be considered as canonical models for vertical planes in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

**Proposition 3.13.** Let  $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n+1} \equiv \mathbb{H}^n$  be a vertical plane; then there exist nonnegative integers a, b and an  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism  $\mathcal{L} : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  such that

$$a + b \le n$$
 and  $\dim \mathcal{P} = 2a + b + 1$   
 $\mathcal{L}^*(\theta) = \theta$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^*(d\theta) = d\theta$  and  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{P}) = \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ .

*Proof.* The set  $V := \exp^{-1}(\{(x, y, t) \in \mathcal{P} : t = 0\})$  is a vector subspace of  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ . If  $\mathfrak{l} : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$  is the Lie algebra isomorphism provided by the following Lemma 3.14, then  $\mathcal{L} := \exp \circ \mathfrak{l} \circ \exp^{-1}$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism, which, by Proposition 3.10, satisfies the statement of the present proposition.

**Lemma 3.14.** Let  $V \subset \mathfrak{h}_1$  be a linear subspace with  $\dim V \geq 1$ . Then there exist nonnegative integers a, b and a Lie algebra isomorphism  $\mathfrak{l} : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$  such that  $\dim V = 2a + b$ ,  $\mathfrak{l}(T) = T$  and

$$I(V) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{span}\{X_1, \dots, X_{a+b}, Y_1, \dots, Y_a\} & \text{if } a \ge 1\\ \operatorname{span}\{X_1, \dots, X_b\} & \text{if } a = 0. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, a = 0 if and only if  $[V, V] = \{0\}$ ; that is, if and only if V is an abelian subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

*Proof.* We first recall the canonical symplectic structure on  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ , which is provided by the bilinear skew-symmetric form

$$B(X,Y) := \langle [X,Y], T \rangle, \qquad X,Y \in \mathfrak{h}_1.$$

Notice that  $d\theta$  (seen as a 2-covector at 0; that is, as an element of  $\wedge^2\mathfrak{h}$ ) satisfies

$$\langle X \wedge Y \mid d\theta \rangle = -B(X, Y), \qquad \forall X, Y \in \mathfrak{h}_1 \subset \mathfrak{h} \equiv T_0 \mathbb{H}^n,$$

which can be easily checked by testing  $d\theta$  on a basis  $X_i \wedge X_j$ ,  $X_i \wedge Y_j$ ,  $Y_i \wedge Y_j$  of  $\wedge^2 \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

We borrow some language and notation from [10, Chapter 3]. Let

$$rad(V) := \{X \in V : B(X, X') = 0 \text{ for every } X' \in V\} = \{X \in V : [X, V] = 0\}$$

be the *radical* of V and let  $b := \dim \operatorname{rad}(V)$ . Choose a subspace U of V such that  $V = \operatorname{rad}(V) \oplus U$ ; U is clearly *nonsingular*; that is, for every  $X \in U$  there exists  $X' \in U$  such that  $[X, X'] \neq 0$ . By [10, Theorem 3.7], the dimension of U is even and we set  $\dim U = 2a$ .

If  $a \ge 1$ , by [10, Theorem 3.7] there exists a basis  $\widetilde{X}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{X}_a, \widetilde{Y}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{Y}_a$  of U such that

$$B(\widetilde{X}_i, \widetilde{X}_j) = 0$$
,  $B(\widetilde{Y}_i, \widetilde{Y}_j) = 0$  and  $B(\widetilde{X}_i, \widetilde{Y}_j) = \delta_{ij}$ ,  $i, j \in \{1, \dots, a\}$ ;

that is,

$$[\widetilde{X}_i, \widetilde{X}_i] = 0$$
,  $[\widetilde{Y}_i, \widetilde{Y}_i] = 0$  and  $[\widetilde{X}_i, \widetilde{Y}_i] = \delta_{ij}T$ ,  $i, j \in \{1, \dots, a\}$ .

If  $b \ge 1$ , fix a basis  $\widetilde{X}_{a+1}, \dots, \widetilde{X}_{a+b}$  of rad (V).

We can now define  $l': V \to \mathfrak{h}_1$  by

$$l'(\widetilde{X}_i) = X_i$$
 and  $l'(\widetilde{Y}_j) = Y_j$ 

for all integers  $1 \le i \le a + b$  and  $1 \le j \le b$ . Notice that I' is an *isometry* of V into  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ ; that is,

$$B(\mathfrak{l}'(X),\mathfrak{l}'(Y)) = B(X,Y)$$
 for every  $X,Y \in V$ .

By Witt's theorem (see [10, Theorem 3.9]), I' can be extended to an isometry  $\mathfrak{l}'':\mathfrak{h}_1\to\mathfrak{h}_1$ ; that is, a map satisfying  $[\mathfrak{l}''(X),\mathfrak{l}''(Y)]=[X,Y]$  for every  $X,Y\in\mathfrak{h}_1$ . Finally, we extend  $\mathfrak{l}''$  to  $\mathfrak{l}:\mathfrak{h}\to\mathfrak{h}$  by setting  $\mathfrak{l}_{|\mathfrak{h}_1}:=\mathfrak{l}''$  and  $\mathfrak{l}(T):=T$ . The map I provides the desired Lie algebra isomorphism.

**Remark 3.15.** Under the same assumptions of Lemma 3.14, if [V, V] = 0, then the Lie algebra isomorphism  $\mathfrak{l} : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$  provided by Lemma 3.14 can be chosen in such a way that  $\mathfrak{l}$  is an isometry of  $\mathfrak{h}$  when endowed with the scalar product making  $X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n, T$  orthonormal. Observe in particular that here the term *isometry* has a different meaning than in the proof of Lemma 3.14.

Let us prove our statement. As in the proof of Lemma 3.14, fix a basis  $\widetilde{X}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{X}_b$  of  $V = \operatorname{rad}(V)$ . Consider the linear isomorphism  $J : \mathfrak{h}_1 \to \mathfrak{h}_1$  defined by

$$J(X_i) = -Y_i$$
 and  $J(Y_i) = X_i$  for every  $i = 1, ..., n$ .

We observe that  $B(X,Y) = \langle X,JY \rangle$  for  $X,Y \in \mathfrak{h}_1$  and that J is an isometry of  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ . Set  $\widetilde{Y}_i := J(\widetilde{X}_i)$  and observe that, since  $V = \operatorname{rad}(V) \subset (J(V))^{\perp}$ , the elements  $\{\widetilde{X}_i,\widetilde{Y}_i : i = 1,\ldots,b\}$  form an orthonormal basis of  $V \oplus J(V)$ .

Consider  $W := (V \oplus J(V))^{\perp}$ ; then  $W = W' \oplus \operatorname{span}\{T\}$  where  $W' := (V \oplus J(V))^{\perp} \cap \mathfrak{h}_1$ . We claim that J(W') = W'; by dimensional reasons, it suffices to prove that  $J(W') \subset W'$ , and this follows because, for every  $X \in W'$  and  $Y \in V$ , there holds

$$\langle JX, Y \rangle = -\langle X, JY \rangle = 0$$
  
 $\langle JX, JY \rangle = \langle X, Y \rangle = 0.$ 

We can now exhibit a Lie algebra isomorphism  $\mathfrak{l}:\mathfrak{h}\to\mathfrak{h}$  that is also an isometry. First, we define  $\mathfrak{l}(T)=T$  and

$$\mathfrak{l}(\widetilde{X}_i) = X_i$$
 and  $\mathfrak{l}(\widetilde{Y}_i) = Y_i$  for every  $i = 1, \dots, b$ .

If  $W' = \{0\}$ , the proof is concluded. Otherwise, we fix a unit element  $\widetilde{X}_{b+1} \in W'$  and, defining  $\widetilde{Y}_{b+1} := J(\widetilde{X}_{b+1}) \in W'$ , we set

$$\mathfrak{l}(\widetilde{X}_{b+1}) = X_{b+1}$$
 and  $\mathfrak{l}(\widetilde{Y}_{b+1}) = Y_{b+1}$ .

If  $W' = \operatorname{span}\{\widetilde{X}_{b+1}, \widetilde{Y}_{b+1}\}$ , the proof is concluded; otherwise, we fix a unit element  $\widetilde{X}_{b+2} \in W' \cap \operatorname{span}\{\widetilde{X}_{b+1}, \widetilde{Y}_{b+1}\}^{\perp}$  and, defining  $\widetilde{Y}_{b+2} := J(\widetilde{X}_{b+2}) \in W' \cap \operatorname{span}\{\widetilde{X}_{b+1}, \widetilde{Y}_{b+1}\}^{\perp}$ , we set

$$\mathfrak{l}(\widetilde{X}_{b+2}) = X_{b+2}$$
 and  $\mathfrak{l}(\widetilde{Y}_{b+2}) = Y_{b+2}$ .

It is clear that this construction can be iterated and that it eventually stops providing as a final outcome the desired isometric Lie algebra isomorphism  $I : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$ .

**Remark 3.16.** Under the same assumptions of Proposition 3.13, if the vertical plane  $\mathcal{P}$  is an abelian subgroup of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  (i.e., if a=0), then the  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism  $\mathcal{L}$  provided by Proposition 3.13 can be chosen to be an isometry of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . This is an easy consequence of Remark 3.15 and the rotational invariance of the distance d.

In particular, if  $\mathbb{V} \subset \exp(\mathfrak{h}_1)$  is a horizontal (and necessarily abelian) subgroup of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , we can consider the vertical subgroup  $\mathscr{P}$  generated by  $\mathbb{V}$  and  $\exp(\operatorname{span}\{T\})$  and deduce that there exists an isometric  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism  $\mathscr{L}$  of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  such that

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{V}) = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_1,\ldots,X_k\}),$$

where  $k := \dim \mathbb{V}$ .

#### 3.4. A basis for Rumin's spaces

In this section we provide a basis for Rumin's spaces  $\mathcal{J}^{n+1}, \ldots, \mathcal{J}^{2n}$ ; since later in the article we will denote by k the codimension of the involved objects, we fix k such that  $1 \le k \le n$  and study  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$ . By Remark 3.3, this space coincides with  $\{\lambda \wedge \theta : \lambda \in \wedge^{2n-k}\mathfrak{h}_1, \lambda \wedge d\theta = 0\}$ ; hence, one is led to the study of the kernel of the Lefschetz operator  $\lambda \mapsto \lambda \wedge d\theta$ .

We write h := 2n - k and, identifying  $\mathfrak{h}_1 \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n} = \mathbb{R}^n_x \times \mathbb{R}^n_y$ , we denote by L the operator

$$L(\lambda) := \lambda \wedge d\theta = -\lambda \wedge (dx_1 \wedge dy_1 + \dots + dx_n \wedge dy_n), \qquad \lambda \in \wedge^* \mathbb{R}^{2n}.$$

Since  $h \ge n$ , the operator  $L: \wedge^h \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \wedge^{h+2} \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is surjective ([21, Proposition 1.1]).

We need some preliminary notation. For every  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  we use the compact notation  $dxy_i := dx_i \wedge dy_i$ , so that  $d\theta = -(dxy_1 + \cdots + dxy_n)$ . Moreover, for every  $I \subset \{1, ..., n\}$  we denote by |I| the cardinality of I and, if  $I = \{i_1, i_2, ..., i_{|I|}\}$  with  $i_1 < \cdots < i_{|I|}$ , we define

$$dx_{I} := dx_{i_{1}} \wedge dx_{i_{2}} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_{i_{|I|}} \in \wedge^{|I|} \mathbb{R}^{2n}$$

$$dy_{I} := dy_{i_{1}} \wedge dy_{i_{2}} \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_{i_{|I|}} \in \wedge^{|I|} \mathbb{R}^{2n}$$

$$dxy_{I} := dxy_{i_{1}} \wedge dxy_{i_{2}} \wedge \cdots \wedge dxy_{i_{|I|}} \in \wedge^{2|I|} \mathbb{R}^{2n}.$$

For  $I = \emptyset$  we agree that  $dx_{\emptyset} = dy_{\emptyset} = dxy_{\emptyset} = 1$ . It will also be convenient to set for  $i \in \{1, \dots, 2n\}$ 

$$dz_i := dx_i \text{ if } i \le n, \quad dz_i := dy_{i-n} \text{ if } i \ge n+1$$

and, accordingly,

$$dz_I := dz_{i_1} \wedge dz_{i_2} \wedge \dots \wedge dz_{i_{|I|}} \tag{3.12}$$

whenever  $I = \{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_{|I|}\}$  with  $1 \le i_1 < \dots < i_{|I|} \le 2n$ .

A basis of  $\wedge^h \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is given by the family  $\{dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge dxy_K\}_{(I,J,K)}$ , where (I,J,K) range among all (ordered) triples of pairwise disjoint subsets I,J,K of  $\{1,\ldots,n\}$  such that |I|+|J|+2|K|=h. In particular, one can write

$$\wedge^h \mathbb{R}^{2n} = \bigoplus_{(I,J)} dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \wedge^{h,I,J} \mathbb{R}^{2n},$$

where the sum ranges among all ordered pairs (I, J) of disjoint  $I, J \subset \{1, ..., n\}$  such that  $0 \le |I| + |J| \le h$  and  $\wedge^{h, I, J} \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is defined by

$$\wedge^{h,I,J}\mathbb{R}^{2n} := \text{span}\{dxy_K : K \subset \{1,\ldots,n\} \setminus (I \cup J) \text{ and } |I| + |J| + 2|K| = h\}.$$

The parity of |I| + |J| is necessarily the same of h. Observe also that

$$L(dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \wedge^{h,I,J} \mathbb{R}^{2n}) \subset dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \wedge^{h+2,I,J} \mathbb{R}^{2n};$$

more precisely, for every  $\alpha \in \wedge^{h,I,J} \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  one has

$$L(dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha) = -dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha \wedge \sum_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \setminus (I \cup J)} dx_i \wedge dy_i.$$

In particular,

$$\ker L = \bigoplus_{(I,J)} dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \ker L_{h,I,J}, \tag{3.13}$$

where  $L_{h,I,J}: \wedge^{h,I,J}\mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \wedge^{h+2,I,J}\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is defined by

$$L_{h,I,J}(\alpha) := -\alpha \wedge \sum_{i \in \{1,...,n\} \setminus (I \cup J)} dx_i \wedge dy_i.$$

There is a canonical isomorphism  $\iota: \wedge^{h,I,J}\mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \wedge^{2\ell}_D\mathbb{R}^{2m}$ , where

$$\ell := (h - |I| - |J|)/2, \qquad m := n - |I| - |J|,$$

$$\wedge_D^{2\ell} \mathbb{R}^{2m} := \text{span}\{dxy_K : K \subset \{1, \dots, m\}, |K| = \ell\},$$
(3.14)

according to which  $\iota \circ L_{h,I,J} = L \circ \iota$ . The study of ker  $L_{h,I,J}$  (which, by (3.13), determines ker L) is thus equivalent to the study of the kernel of the restriction

$$L_D := L_{\mid \wedge_D^{2\ell} \mathbb{R}^{2m}}.$$

**Remark 3.17.** The objects introduced so far are well-defined unless |I| + |J| = n; that is, if m = 0. This can happen only if h = n and gives that also  $\ell = 0$ . In this case, we agree that  $\wedge^{h,I,J}\mathbb{R}^{2n} = \wedge^{2\ell}\mathbb{R}^{2m} = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\wedge^{h+2,I,J}\mathbb{R}^{2n} = \wedge^{2\ell+2}\mathbb{R}^{2m} = \{0\}$  and  $L_D = 0$ . It is immediate to check that, for every such I,J, one has  $L(dx_I \wedge dy_J) = 0$ .

Observe that  $L(\wedge_D^{2\ell}\mathbb{R}^{2m})\subset \wedge_D^{2\ell+2}\mathbb{R}^{2m}$ ; hence,  $L_D$  maps  $\wedge_D^{2\ell}\mathbb{R}^{2m}$  on  $\wedge_D^{2\ell+2}\mathbb{R}^{2m}$ . It is understood that, when  $\ell=m, \wedge_D^{2\ell+2}\mathbb{R}^{2m}=\{0\}$  and  $L_D=0$ . Notice also that the inequality  $2\ell\geq m$  holds because  $h\geq n$ .

**Lemma 3.18.** The operator  $L_D: \wedge_D^{2\ell} \mathbb{R}^{2m} \to \wedge_D^{2\ell+2} \mathbb{R}^{2m}$  is surjective for every integer  $\ell$  such that  $m \leq 2\ell \leq 2m$ . In particular,

$$\dim \ker L_D = \dim \wedge_D^{2\ell} \mathbb{R}^{2m} - \dim \wedge_D^{2\ell+2} \mathbb{R}^{2m} = \binom{m}{\ell} - \binom{m}{\ell+1},$$

where we agree that  $\binom{m}{m+1} = 0$ .

*Proof.* When  $2\ell = 2m$ , there is nothing to prove. For the remaining cases, it suffices to prove that, for every i = 1, ..., m, the operator

$$L_D^i := \underbrace{L_D \circ \cdots \circ L_D}_{i \text{ times}} : \wedge_D^{m-i} \mathbb{R}^{2m} \to \wedge_D^{m+i} \mathbb{R}^{2m}$$

is bijective. Since  $\dim \wedge_D^{m-i}\mathbb{R}^{2m} = \dim \wedge_D^{m+i}\mathbb{R}^{2m}$ , this is an immediate consequence of the bijectivity of  $L^i: \wedge^{m-i}\mathbb{R}^{2m} \to \wedge^{m+i}\mathbb{R}^{2m}$ ; see [21, Proposition 1.1].

We now provide a basis of  $\ker L_D: \wedge_D^{2\ell}\mathbb{R}^{2m} \to \wedge_D^{2\ell+2}\mathbb{R}^{2m}$  for  $m \leq 2\ell \leq 2m$ . Assume that the numbers  $1,\ldots,m$  have been arranged (each number appearing exactly once) in a tableau R with two rows, the first row having  $\ell$  elements  $R_1^1,\ldots,R_\ell^1$  and the second having  $m-\ell$  elements  $R_1^2,\ldots,R_{m-\ell}^2$ , as follows:

$$R = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} R_1^1 & R_2^1 & \cdots & R_{m-\ell}^1 & R_{m-\ell+1}^1 & \cdots & R_{\ell}^1 \\ R_1^2 & R_2^2 & \cdots & R_{m-\ell}^2 \end{vmatrix}}{R_1^2 R_2^2 \cdots R_{m-\ell}^2}$$
(3.15)

where, clearly, R has to be read as a  $(2 \times \ell)$  rectangular matrix when  $2\ell = m$ . As is customary, we call *Young tableau* such a tableau; see [55]. When  $m = \ell = 0$ , we agree that the tableau is empty. When  $m = \ell \ge 1$ , we agree that R has one row only (the second row is empty).

Given such a Young tableau R, consider the covector  $\alpha_R \in \wedge_D^{2\ell} \mathbb{R}^{2m}$  defined by

$$\alpha_{R} := (dxy_{R_{1}^{1}} - dxy_{R_{1}^{2}}) \wedge (dxy_{R_{2}^{1}} - dxy_{R_{2}^{2}}) \wedge \cdots \wedge (dxy_{R_{m-\ell}^{1}} - dxy_{R_{m-\ell}^{2}}) \wedge dxy_{R_{m-\ell+1}^{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge dxy_{R_{\ell}^{1}}.$$
(3.16)

When  $m = \ell = 0$ , we agree that  $\alpha_R := 1$ , while if  $m = \ell \ge 1$  we set  $\alpha_R := dxy_{R_1^1} \land \cdots \land dxy_{R_m^1}$ . Using the equality  $(dxy_i - dxy_j) \land (dxy_i + dxy_j) = 0$ , valid for every  $i, j = 1, \ldots, m$ , one can easily check that

$$L(\alpha_R) = \alpha_R \wedge d\theta = 0. \tag{3.17}$$

It follows that, for every Young tableau R,  $\alpha_R$  belongs to ker  $L_D$ .

Consider now the set  $\mathcal{R}$  of *standard Young tableaux*; that is, of those Young tableaux R such that the entries in each row and in each column are in increasing order:

Notice that a standard Young tableau R always satisfies  $R_1^1 = 1$ . The following lemma shows that the family  $\{\alpha_R\}_{R \in \mathcal{R}} \subset \ker L_D$  is made by linearly independent covectors.

**Lemma 3.19.** Let  $m, \ell$  be integers such that  $0 \le m \le 2\ell \le 2m$  and let  $\mathcal{R}$  be the set of standard Young tableaux with two rows of width  $\ell$  and  $m - \ell$ , as in (3.15). Then the elements  $\{\alpha_R\}_{R \in \mathcal{R}}$  defined in (3.16) are linearly independent.

*Proof.* When m=0 also  $\ell=0$  and the family  $\{\alpha_R\}_{R\in\mathcal{R}}$  is made by a unique element  $\alpha_R=1$ ; there is nothing to prove. When  $\ell=m$ , the family  $\mathcal{R}$  is made by the single standard Young tableau  $R=\boxed{1\ 2\ \cdots\ m}$ . Therefore,  $\{\alpha_R\}_{R\in\mathcal{R}}=\{dxy_1\wedge\cdots\wedge dxy_m\}$  is made by linearly independent vectors, as wished.

We therefore assume that  $1 \le m \le 2\ell \le 2m - 2$ . Let us begin with some preliminary considerations. Given a Young tableau R, we denote by  $\sigma(R)$  the sum  $R_1^1 + R_2^1 + \cdots + R_\ell^1$  of the elements in the first row of R. Clearly, there exists an integer  $M = M(m, \ell)$  such that

$$1 + \cdots + \ell \le \sigma(R) \le M$$
 for every  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;

moreover, there is a unique  $R_{min} \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\sigma(R) = 1 + \cdots + \ell$ , namely,

Let  $\overline{R} \in \mathcal{R}$  be fixed and let  $\overline{K} := \{\overline{R}_1^1, \overline{R}_2^1, \dots, \overline{R}_\ell^1\}$  be the subset of  $\{1, \dots, m\}$  containing the  $\ell$  elements in the first row of  $\overline{R}$ . We claim that, if

$$R \in \mathcal{R}$$
 is such that each column of  $R$  contains one element of  $\overline{K}$  (3.18)

(in particular, by the pigeonhole principle, each column of R contains exactly one element of  $\overline{K}$ ), then

$$\sigma(R) \le \sigma(\overline{R})$$
, and equality holds if and only if  $R = \overline{R}$ . (3.19)

Indeed, for every tableau R as in (3.18) there exist a permutation  $\pi$  of  $\{1, \ldots, \ell\}$  and a function  $u: \{1, \ldots, \ell\} \to \{1, 2\}$  such that

$$R_j^{u(j)} = \overline{R}_{\pi(j)}^1$$
 for all  $j = 1, \dots, \ell$ .

Therefore,

$$\sigma(R) = \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} R_j^1 \le \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} R_j^{u(j)} = \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} \overline{R}_{\pi(j)}^1 = \sigma(\overline{R}); \tag{3.20}$$

notice that equality holds if and only if  $R_j^1 = R_j^{u(j)}$  for every  $j = 1, \dots, \ell$ ; that is, if and only if

$$\{R_1^1, R_2^1, \dots, R_{\ell}^1\} = \{\overline{R}_1^1, \overline{R}_2^1, \dots, \overline{R}_{\ell}^1\}.$$

Since a standard Young tableau is uniquely determined once one fixes the set of elements of the first row, equality in (3.20) holds if and only if  $R = \overline{R}$ .

We now prove the lemma. Assume that there are real coefficients  $(b_R)_{R\in\mathcal{R}}$ , such that  $\sum_{R\in\mathcal{R}} b_R \alpha_R = 0$ ; we prove that all of the coefficients  $b_R$  are null. We perform this task reasoning by induction on  $\bar{s} = 1 + \cdots + \ell, \ldots, M$  and showing that

$$b_R = 0$$
 for every R such that  $\sigma(R) = \bar{s}$ .

Consider first the case  $\bar{s}=1+\cdots+\ell$ ; we need to prove that  $b_{R_{min}}=0$ . For every  $R\in\mathcal{R}$  let us write  $\alpha_R=\sum_K c_{R,K}dxy_K$ , where the sum ranges among all  $K\subset\{1,\ldots,m\}$  with  $|K|=\ell$  and  $c_{R,K}$  are suitable real numbers. We claim that, defining  $\overline{K}:=\{1,2,\ldots,\ell\}$ , then

$$c_{R\overline{K}} = 0$$
 for every  $R \in \mathcal{R} \setminus \{R_{min}\}.$  (3.21)

This would be enough to conclude; indeed, one would have

$$0 = \sum_{R \in \mathcal{R}} b_R \alpha_R = \sum_K \sum_{R \in \mathcal{R}} b_R c_{R,K} dx y_K = b_{R_{min}} dx y_{\overline{K}} + \sum_{K \neq \overline{K}} \sum_{R \in \mathcal{R}} b_R c_{R,K} dx y_K,$$

which gives  $b_{R_{min}} = 0$ , as desired.

We prove (3.21): by the very definition (3.16) of  $\alpha_R$ , we see that for every K one has  $c_{R,K}=0$  unless each column of R contains (exactly) one element of K (in which case,  $c_{R,K} \in \{1, -1\}$ ). Using this observation with  $K = \overline{K}$ , (3.21) follows because, by the implication (3.18)  $\Rightarrow$  (3.19), the only standard Young tableau such that each of its columns contains one element of  $\overline{K}$  is  $R_{min}$  itself, because any other standard Young tableau R with such a property would satisfy  $\sigma(R) < 1 + \cdots + \ell$ .

Assume now that  $b_R = 0$  for every  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\sigma(R) \leq \overline{s} - 1$ ; we prove that  $b_R = 0$  for every (fixed)  $\overline{R}$  such that  $\sigma(\overline{R}) = \overline{s}$ . Let  $\overline{K} := {\overline{R}_1^1, \dots, \overline{R}_\ell^1}$  be the set formed by the elements in the first row of  $\overline{R}$ ; we claim that

$$c_{R\overline{K}} = 0$$
 for every  $R \in \mathcal{R} \setminus \{\overline{R}\}$  such that  $\sigma(R) \ge \overline{s}$ . (3.22)

This would be enough to conclude; indeed, one would have

$$0 = \sum_{R \in \mathcal{R}} b_R \alpha_R = \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{R} \\ \sigma(R) \geq \overline{s}}} b_R \alpha_R = \sum_K \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{R} \\ \sigma(R) \geq \overline{s}}} b_R c_{R,K} dx y_K = b_{\overline{R}} dx y_{\overline{K}} + \sum_{K \neq \overline{K}} \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{R} \\ \sigma(R) \geq \overline{s}}} b_R c_{R,K} dx y_K,$$

which would give  $b_{\overline{R}} = 0$ , as desired.

Claim (3.22) can be proved similarly as before: by the definition of  $\alpha_R$ , for a standard Young tableau R one has  $c_{R,\overline{K}} = 0$  unless each column of R contains (exactly) one element of  $\overline{K}$ ; in particular, (3.22) follows from the implication (3.18)  $\Rightarrow$ (3.19).

The cardinality of  $\mathcal{R}$  can be computed using the *hook length formula*, also known as *Frame–Robinson–Thrall formula*. We refer to [55, page 53]: such a formula states that the cardinality of  $\mathcal{R}$  equals

$$\frac{m!}{(\ell+1)\ell(\ell-1)\cdots(2\ell-m+2)\ 1\cdot (2\ell-m)\cdots 2\cdot 1\cdot (m-\ell)(m-\ell-1)\cdots 1}$$

$$=\frac{m!}{(\ell+1)!(m-\ell)!}(2\ell-m+1) = \frac{m!}{(\ell+1)!(m-\ell)!}(\ell+1-(m-\ell))$$

$$=\binom{m}{\ell} - \binom{m}{\ell+1}$$

provided  $\ell < m$ . If  $\ell = m$ , then the cardinality of  $\mathcal{R}$  is 1. In both cases, Lemma 3.18 implies that the cardinality of  $\mathcal{R}$  is equal to dim ker  $L_D$ . Together with Lemma 3.19, this proves that  $\{\alpha_R\}_{R\in\mathcal{R}}$  is a basis of ker  $L_D$ .

We can summarise the discussion above as follows.

**Proposition 3.20.** Consider integer numbers n, h such that  $n \ge 1$  and  $n \le h \le 2n$ . Then a basis of the kernel of  $L: \wedge^h \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \wedge^{h+2} \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is given by the elements of the form  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R$  where

- $\circ$  *I*, *J* are disjoint subsets of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ ;
- $\alpha_R$  is defined as in (3.16) and R is a standard Young tableau where the elements of  $\{1,\ldots,n\}\setminus (I\cup J)$  are arranged in two rows, the first one having (h-|I|-|J|)/2 elements and the second one having (2n-h-|I|-|J|)/2 elements.

**Remark 3.21.** It follows from (3.17) that, given  $I, J \subset \{1, ..., n\}$  disjoint and a (nonnecessarily standard) Young tableau Q containing the elements of  $\{1, ..., n\} \setminus (I \cup J)$ , the covector  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_Q$ 

is in the kernel of L. Moreover, by (3.13),  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_Q$  can be written as a linear combination of covectors of the form  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R$  where R ranges among all standard Young tableaux with the same shape and containing the same elements as Q.

Proposition 3.20 has the following immediate consequence.

**Corollary 3.22.** Let  $n \ge 1$  and  $1 \le k \le n$  be integers. Then a basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  is given by the elements of the form  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta$  where I, J, R are given by Proposition 3.20 with h := 2n - k.

*Proof.* We observed at the beginning of the section that

$$\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k} = \{\lambda \wedge \theta : \lambda \in \wedge^{2n-k} \mathfrak{h}_1 \text{ and } \lambda \wedge d\theta = 0\}.$$

The statement now easily follows from Proposition 3.20.

Proposition 1.10 is now an easy consequence of Corollary 3.22.

We feel it might be useful to provide some simple examples before continuing our analysis.

**Example 3.23.** When n=2, the space  $\mathcal{J}^{n+1}=\mathcal{J}^3$  in  $\mathbb{H}^2$  is 5-dimensional. The corresponding basis  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta$  provided by Proposition 1.10 is displayed on the left column of the following table, while on the right column the corresponding triple (I,J,R) appears:

$$dx_{1} \wedge dx_{2} \wedge \theta \qquad \longleftrightarrow \qquad (\{1,2\},\emptyset,\emptyset)$$

$$dx_{1} \wedge dy_{2} \wedge \theta \qquad \longleftrightarrow \qquad (\{1\},\{2\},\emptyset)$$

$$dx_{2} \wedge dy_{1} \wedge \theta \qquad \longleftrightarrow \qquad (\{2\},\{1\},\emptyset)$$

$$dy_{1} \wedge dy_{2} \wedge \theta \qquad \longleftrightarrow \qquad (\emptyset,\{1,2\},\emptyset)$$

$$(dx_{1} \wedge dy_{1} - dx_{2} \wedge dy_{2}) \wedge \theta \qquad \longleftrightarrow \qquad \left(\emptyset,\emptyset,\frac{1}{2}\right),$$

where  $\emptyset$  denotes either the empty set or the empty tableau. See also [12, Example 3.12].

**Example 3.24.** When n = 3, the space  $\mathcal{J}^5$  in  $\mathbb{H}^3$  is 14-dimensional; let us write the basis provided by Proposition 1.10. Observe that here n = 3, k = 2 and h = 4. We first determine the triples (I, J, R): since |I| + |J| is not greater than k = 2 and has the same parity as h = 4, either |I| + |J| = 0 or |I| + |J| = 2.

If |I| + |J| = 0, then m = 3,  $\ell = 2$  and all of the indices 1, 2, 3 appear in the tableau R, whose rows have lengths 2 and 1, respectively. It is immediate to check that R can be only one of the following two tableaux:

which, respectively, provide the elements

$$(dx_1 \wedge dy_1 - dx_3 \wedge dy_3) \wedge dx_2 \wedge dy_2 \wedge \theta, \qquad (dx_1 \wedge dy_1 - dx_2 \wedge dy_2) \wedge dx_3 \wedge dy_3 \wedge \theta \qquad (3.23)$$

of  $\mathcal{J}$ . If |I| + |J| = 2, then  $I \cup J = \{a, b\}$  for some  $a, b \in \{1, 2, 3\}$  and the tableau R contains the unique remaining index  $c \in \{1, 2, 3\} \setminus \{a, b\}$ ; in particular, the second row of R is empty (in fact, here  $\ell = m = 1$ ) and R = [c]. This produces the following elements of  $\mathcal{J}$ :

$$dx_{a} \wedge dx_{b} \wedge dx_{c} \wedge dy_{c} \wedge \theta \qquad \text{provided } a < b$$

$$dx_{a} \wedge dy_{b} \wedge dx_{c} \wedge dy_{c} \wedge \theta \qquad \text{provided } a < b$$

$$dy_{a} \wedge dy_{b} \wedge dx_{c} \wedge dy_{c} \wedge \theta \qquad \text{provided } a < b$$
(3.24)

and, as a, b, c vary in  $\{1, 2, 3\}$ , each of the covectors in (3.24) provides, respectively, three, six and three elements of  $\mathcal{J}^5$ . All in all, a basis of  $\mathcal{J}^5$  is provided by the 2+12 elements displayed in (3.23) and (3.24).

**Remark 3.25.** The difference between the lengths of the first and second rows of every standard Young tableau R appearing in Proposition 1.10 (respectively, in Proposition 3.20) is determined by k (respectively by h) and it is equal to n - k (respectively to k - k). In particular, the standard Young tableaux k appearing in Proposition 1.10 (respectively in Proposition 3.20) are rectangular (the two rows have the same length) if and only if k = k (respectively if k = k).

**Remark 3.26.** It follows from Remark 3.21 that, given  $I, J \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$  disjoint and a (nonnecessarily standard) Young tableau Q containing the elements of  $\{1, \ldots, n\} \setminus (I \cup J)$ , the covector  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_Q \wedge \theta$  belongs to  $\mathcal{J}^{|I|+|J|+2\ell+1}$ , where  $\ell$  denotes the length of the first row of Q, and it can be written as a linear combination of the elements  $dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \in \mathcal{J}^{|I|+|J|+2\ell+1}$  where R ranges among the standard Young tableaux with the same shape and containing the same elements as Q.

**Remark 3.27.** It is a good point to state, for future reference, the following property of the basis provided by Proposition 1.10.

Let a, b be fixed nonnegative integers such that  $a + b \le n$  and  $n \le 2a + b \le 2n$ . Let (I, J, R) range among the triples such that  $\{dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta\}_{(I,J,R)}$  is the basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2a+b+1}$  provided by Proposition 1.10; that is,

- I, J are disjoint subsets of  $\{1, ..., n\}$  such that  $|I| + |J| \le 2n 2a b$ ;
- ∘ R is a standard Young tableau where the elements of  $\{1, ..., n\} \setminus (I \cup J)$  are arranged in two rows, the first one having (2a + b |I| |J|)/2 elements and the second one having (2n 2a b |I| |J|)/2 elements.

Then either

$$\begin{cases} I = \{a+1, \dots, a+b\} \\ J = \emptyset \\ R = \boxed{ \begin{array}{c|cccc} 1 & 2 & \cdots & n-a-b & n-a+1 & \cdots & a \\ \hline a+b+1 & a+b+2 & \cdots & n \end{array}} \end{cases}$$
 (3.25)

or

$$\langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \wedge T \mid dx_I \wedge dy_I \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle = 0 \tag{3.26}$$

where, in (3.25)

- $\circ$   $I = \emptyset$  if b = 0,
- $\circ$  R is the empty tableau if a = 0,
- o R has to be interpreted as a rectangular  $2 \times a$  matrix if n = 2a + b and  $a \ge 1$ .

Let us prove what is claimed. If either  $I \neq \{a+1, \ldots, a+b\}$  or  $J \neq \emptyset$ , then (3.26) holds. If instead  $I = \{a+1, \ldots, a+b\}$  and  $J = \emptyset$ , then the shape of R (i.e., the lengths of its rows) is necessarily the same as the tableau displayed in (3.25) and R contains precisely the elements  $\{1, \ldots, a, a+b+1, \ldots, n\}$ . We have

$$\langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \wedge T \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle$$

$$= \pm \langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \mid \alpha_R \rangle,$$
(3.27)

where the sign is determined by a and b. By its definition (3.16),  $\alpha_R$  can be written as a sum  $\sum_S \sigma(S) dx y_S$ , where  $\sigma(S) \in \{1, -1\}$  is a proper sign and the sum ranges among all subsets  $S \subset \{1, \ldots, a, a+b+1, \ldots, n\}$  (i.e., S is a subset of the set of the entries of R) of cardinality a that contain exactly one element from each column of R. It is clear that

if 
$$S \neq \{1, \dots, a\}$$
, then  $\langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \mid dxy_S \rangle = 0$ .

If R is such that at least one of its columns contains no elements of  $\{1, ..., a\}$ , then none of the S's appearing in the sum  $\alpha_R = \sum_S \sigma(S) dx y_S$  is  $\{1, ..., a\}$ , and by (3.27)

$$\langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle = 0.$$

If all of the a columns of R contain at least one element of  $\{1, \ldots, a\}$ , then each of these columns contains exactly one such element. Since R is a standard Young tableau, the sum of the elements of the first row of R is at most  $1 + \cdots + a$ , but this sum is clearly also at least  $1 + \cdots + a$ . It follows that the first line of R is made by the elements  $1, \ldots, a$  (in increasing order) and that the remaining elements  $a + b + 1, \ldots, n$  (not belonging to I, J or the first line of R) have to be placed, in increasing order, in the second line of R. This proves that R must be the one in (3.25) and concludes the proof.

### 3.5. Heisenberg currents

For every  $k=0,\ldots,2n+1$ , we introduce the spaces  $\mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}}\subset\Omega^k_{\mathbb{H}}$  of compactly supported smooth Heisenberg k-forms; that is,

$$\mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}} := C^\infty_c \big( \mathbb{H}^n, \frac{\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}}{\mathcal{I}^k} \big) \qquad \qquad \text{if } 0 \le k \le n$$
 
$$\mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}} := C^\infty_c \big( \mathbb{H}^n, \mathcal{J}^k \big) \qquad \qquad \text{if } n+1 \le k \le 2n+1,$$

and we observe that  $d_C$  maps  $\mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}}$  to  $\mathcal{D}^{k+1}_{\mathbb{H}}$ . We endow the space  $\mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}}$  with the natural topology induced by the topology of the space  $\mathcal{D}^k$  of compactly supported k-forms on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

**Definition 3.28.** Given  $k \in \{0, ..., 2n+1\}$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H},k}$  the space of continuous linear functionals on  $\mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}}$ . An element of  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H},k}$  is called *Heisenberg k-dimensional current* or, for shortness, *Heisenberg k-current*.

For every  $k \in \{1, ..., 2n + 1\}$  and every Heisenberg k-current  $T \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}, k}$ , we denote by  $\partial T$  the Heisenberg (k - 1)-current defined, for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{k-1}$ , by  $\partial T(\omega) := T(d_C\omega)$  (recall Remark 3.7). Namely,

$$\partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) := \mathsf{T}(d\omega) \text{ if } k \neq n+1$$
  
 $\partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) := \mathsf{T}(D\omega) \text{ if } k = n+1.$ 

It is not our aim to introduce here the *mass* of a current (see [51, Definition 5.12] and [22, Definitions 2.5 and 2.6]), which would require introducing a notion of *comass* ([42, 4.1.7]) on Rumin's spaces of covectors. For our purposes, it will be enough to introduce the notion of *current with finite mass* (see Definition 3.29), and to this end any choice of (co)mass on covectors is equivalent. We denote by  $|\cdot|$  the standard norm on  $\wedge^*\mathfrak{h}$  (in particular,  $|\cdot|$  is defined on  $\mathcal{J}^k$  for  $k \ge n+1$ ) and we agree that, for every  $1 \le k \le n$  and  $\lambda \in \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}/\mathcal{I}^k$ ,

$$|\lambda| := \min\left\{ |\nu| : \nu \in \wedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1, \ [\nu] = \lambda \right\}$$
 (3.28)

where  $[\nu]$  is the equivalence class of  $\nu$  in the quotient  $\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}_1/\{\mu \wedge d\theta : \mu \in \wedge^{k-2} \mathfrak{h}_1\}$  (recall (3.7)). The quantity  $|\cdot|$  is a norm on  $\wedge^k \mathfrak{h}/\mathcal{I}^k$ .

**Definition 3.29.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., 2n\}$  be fixed. We say that a current  $T \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}, k}$  has *finite mass* if there exists  $M_T \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$|\mathsf{T}(\omega)| \le M_\mathsf{T} \sup_{p \in \mathbb{H}^n} |\omega(p)|$$
 for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}}$ .

The current T has *locally finite mass* if, for each compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{H}^n$ , there exists  $M_{T,K} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$|\mathsf{T}(\omega)| \le M_{\mathsf{T},K} \sup_{p \in \mathbb{H}^n} |\omega(p)|$$
 for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}}$  with support in  $K$ .

Finally, T is *normal* (respectively, *locally normal*) if both T and  $\partial$ T have finite mass (respectively locally finite mass).

**Remark 3.30.** The reader familiar with the theory of distributions will realise that a Heisenberg k-current has locally finite mass if and only if it has order 0 in the sense of distributions; equivalently, if it is a measure taking values in a proper space of k-vectors. More precisely, if T is a k-current with locally finite mass, then there exist a locally finite (nonnegative) measure  $\mu$  and a  $\mu$ -measurable function  $\tau$ , taking values in  $\mathcal{J}_k$  (if  $k \ge n + 1$ ; recall Remark 3.4) or in the dual space  $(\wedge^k \mathfrak{h})/\mathcal{I}^k$ )\* (if  $k \le n$ ), such that  $T = \tau \mu$ ; that is,

$$\mathsf{T}(\omega) = \int \langle \tau \mid \omega \rangle \, d\mu \qquad \text{for every } \omega \in \mathcal{D}^k_{\mathbb{H}}.$$

As done in the Introduction, one can also assume that  $|\tau| = 1$   $\mu$ -a.e. In this case, we denote  $\tau$  and  $\mu$  by, respectively,  $\vec{T}$  and ||T|| and write  $T = \vec{T}||T||$ .

As in Subsection 3.4, for the rest of the present section we denote by k the codimension, rather than the dimension, of a current or submanifold. We focus on the low-codimensional case and we fix  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ .

Recall that every  $C^1$ -regular oriented submanifold  $S \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  of codimension k naturally induces a (2n+1-k)-dimensional classical current (S) defined, for every smooth and compactly supported (2n+1-k)-form  $\omega$  in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , by

$$(S)(\omega) := \int_{S} \omega = \int_{S} \langle t_{S} \mid \omega \rangle \, d\text{vol}_{S},$$

where  $t_S$  is a unit (2n+1-k)-vector tangent to S and with positive orientation and dvol $_S$  is the surface measure on S induced by the left-invariant Riemannian metric on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  making  $X_1, \ldots, Y_n, T$  orthonormal. Using the notation in Remark 3.1, for every  $p \in S$  we can write

$$t_S(p) = (t_S(p))_{\mathfrak{h}_1} + \eta_S(p) \wedge T$$
 (3.29)

for a unique  $\eta_S(p) \in \wedge_{2n-k} \mathfrak{h}_1$ . Notice that  $\eta_S(p) = 0$  if and only if p is a *characteristic point of S*; that is,  $T_p S \subset \mathfrak{h}_1$ .

Assume now that  $p \in S$  is not a characteristic point; then, the intersection  $T_pS \cap \mathfrak{h}_1$  is a (2n - k)-dimensional plane and it is immediate to check that  $T_pS \cap \mathfrak{h}_1 = \operatorname{span} \eta_S(p)$ . Therefore, the unit vector

$$\tau_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := \frac{\eta_S(p)}{|\eta_S(p)|} \tag{3.30}$$

is canonically associated with the linear subspace  $T_pS \cap \mathfrak{h}_1$ . We denote by  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}} := \tau_S^{\mathbb{H}} \wedge T$  the (horizontal) tangent vector to S. Geometrically,  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  characterises the blow-up limit of S at p; in fact,

$$\lim_{r \to +\infty} \delta_r(p^{-1}S) = \exp(\operatorname{span} t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)),$$

where the limit is taken with respect to local Hausdorff convergence of sets. See, for example, [68]. With this notation, we define the Heisenberg current  $[S] \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H},2n+1-k}$  by

$$\llbracket S \rrbracket(\omega) := \int_S \langle t_S^{\mathbb{H}} \mid \omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}, \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}.$$

The definition is well-posed because the Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$  is locally finite on S (see, e.g., [68]) and the set of characteristic points of S, where in principle  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  is not defined, is  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -negligible ([15, 69]).

The next result, though very simple, has to our knowledge never been noticed in the literature. Lemma 3.31 and the subsequent Corollary 3.34 prove Proposition 1.9, which will play a crucial role in the sequel.

**Lemma 3.31.** Let  $n \ge 1$  and  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$  be fixed. Then there exists  $C_{n,k} > 0$  such that, for every oriented and  $C^1$ -smooth submanifold S of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  of dimension 2n + 1 - k, one has

$$[\![S]\!](\omega) = C_{n,k}(S)(\omega)$$
 for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n+1-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$ .

*Proof.* By [68, Theorem 1.2] (see also [71, Theorem 8.1 and Proposition 8.7]), there exists a positive constant  $C_{n,k}$  such that

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, \bot \, S = C_{n,k} | \eta_S \wedge T | \operatorname{vol}_S = C_{n,k} | \eta_S | \operatorname{vol}_S,$$

where  $\eta_S(p)$  is as in (3.29). We remark that one is allowed to apply [68, Theorem 1.2] because of the rotational invariance (3.1) of the distance d; see [68, Proposition 4.5]. Therefore,

$$\llbracket S \rrbracket(\omega) = \int_{S} \langle t_{S}^{\mathbb{H}} \mid \omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} = \int_{S} \left\langle \frac{\eta_{S}}{|\eta_{S}|} \wedge T \middle| \omega \right\rangle d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} = C_{n,k} \int_{S} \langle \eta_{S} \wedge T \mid \omega \rangle \, d\text{vol}_{S}$$

and by Remark 3.3,

$$\llbracket S \rrbracket(\omega) = C_{n,k} \int_{S} \langle (t_S)_{\mathfrak{h}_1} + \eta_S \wedge T \mid \omega \rangle \, d\text{vol}_S = C_{n,k} \int_{S} \langle t_S \mid \omega \rangle \, d\text{vol}_S.$$

This concludes the proof.

**Remark 3.32.** The constant  $C_{n,k}$  provided by Lemma 3.31 actually also depends on the distance d. However, we omit this dependence.

**Remark 3.33.** Let S be as in Lemma 3.31. The definition of the Heisenberg current [S] depends on  $S^{Q-k}$ ; that is, on the choice of the rotationally invariant distance d. On the contrary, the classical current (S) is a purely *differential* object – there is no metric involved. Therefore, Lemma 3.31 suggests that  $S_*^{Q-k} := S^{Q-k}/C_{n,k}$ , which does not depend on the choice of d, might be the correctly normalised spherical Hausdorff measure on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ .

The following result is very simple.

**Corollary 3.34.** Let  $n \ge 1$  and  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$  be fixed. If S is an oriented  $C^1$ -smooth submanifold of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  of codimension k and without boundary, then  $\partial \llbracket S \rrbracket = 0$ .

*Proof.* If k < n, by Lemma 3.31 and Stokes' theorem we have for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$ 

$$\partial \llbracket S \rrbracket(\omega) = \llbracket S \rrbracket(d\omega) = C_{n,k} \langle S \rangle(d\omega) = 0.$$

Similarly, when k = n we have for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^n_{\mathbb{H}}$ 

$$\partial \llbracket S \rrbracket(\omega) = \llbracket S \rrbracket(D\omega) = C_{n,k} (S)(D\omega) = 0$$

because, by definition of D, the form  $D\omega$  is exact.

# 3.6. Rank 1 connection and a property of tangent vectors to vertical planes

We conclude the present Section 3 by stating a technical result, Proposition 3.38, which will be of the utmost relevance in the proof of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1. Since the proof of Proposition 3.38 is quite long and involved, for the moment we only state it and postpone its proof to Appendix A.

Let us start with a preliminary definition.

**Definition 3.35.** Let V be a real vector space of dimension  $\ell$  and let m be an integer such that  $1 \le m < \ell$ . We say that two m-dimensional vector subspaces  $\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2$  of V are  $rank\ 1$  connected if dim  $\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2 \ge m-1$ 

The terminology chosen in Definition 3.35 is borrowed from some classical problems in the calculus of variations; see, for example, [14, 78]. Some motivations are provided by the following Remark 3.36, which we state for future reference and where we identify linear applications and matrices.

**Remark 3.36.** Let W, V be real vector spaces of dimensions  $m \ge 1$  and  $\ell \ge 1$ , respectively. Let also  $L_1, L_2 : W \to V$  be linear maps and, for i = 1, 2, let  $\mathcal{P}_i := \{(w, L_i(w)) \in W \times V : w \in W\}$  be the graph of  $L_i$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (a) the vector subspaces  $\mathcal{P}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_2$  of  $W \times V$  are rank 1 connected;
- (b) either  $L_1 = L_2$  or rank  $(L_1 L_2) = 1$ .

The subsequent Lemma 3.37 motivates the terminology in Definition 3.35: recall, in fact, that simple multivectors are sometimes called *rank 1* multivectors. Before stating Lemma 3.37, let us fix some standard language. If  $\mathcal{P} \subset V$  is a *m*-dimensional vector subspace and  $t \in \wedge_m V$  is not null, we say that t is *tangent* to  $\mathcal{P}$  if t is simple and it can be written as  $t = v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_m$  for some basis  $v_1, \ldots, v_m$  of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Equivalently, t is tangent to  $\mathcal{P}$  if and only if span  $t := \{v \in V : v \wedge t = 0\}$  coincides with  $\mathcal{P}$ . Needless to say, if t and t are both tangent to t, then t and t are linearly dependent; that is, t is a multiple of t (and vice versa).

**Lemma 3.37.** Let V be a real vector space of dimension  $\ell$  and let m be an integer such that  $1 \le m \le \ell$ ; let also  $\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2$  be fixed m-dimensional vector subspaces of V. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (a)  $\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2$  are rank 1 connected;
- (b) for every couple of simple vectors  $t_1, t_2 \in \wedge_m V$  tangent to  $\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2$  (respectively), the difference  $t_1 t_2$  is a simple m-vector;
- (c) there exists a couple of simple vectors  $t_1, t_2 \in \wedge_m V$  tangent to  $\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2$  (respectively) such that the difference  $t_1 t_2$  is a simple m-vector.

The proof of Lemma 3.37 is quite simple; nonetheless, it is provided in Appendix A for the sake of completeness.

After recalling Definition 3.2 (vertical planes) and the notation  $[\cdot]_{\mathcal{J}}$  introduced in Remark 3.4, we can eventually state the following result.

**Proposition 3.38.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$  and  $\zeta \in \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  be fixed with  $\zeta \neq 0$ . Then

- (i) if k < n, there exists at most one (2n + 1 k)-dimensional vertical plane  $\mathcal{P}$  whose unit tangent vector  $t_{\mathcal{P}} = t_{\mathcal{P}}^{\mathbb{H}}$  is such that  $[t_{\mathcal{P}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of  $\zeta$ ;
- (ii) if k = n, there exist at most two vertical (n + 1)-planes  $\mathcal{P}$  whose unit tangent vectors  $t_{\mathcal{P}} = t_{\mathcal{P}}^{\mathbb{H}}$  are such that  $[t_{\mathcal{P}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{I}}$  is a multiple of  $\zeta$ . Moreover, if  $\mathcal{P}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_2$  are two different such planes, then  $\mathcal{P}_1$  and  $\mathcal{P}_2$  are not rank 1 connected.

As we said, the long proof of Proposition 3.38 is postponed to Appendix A. It is, however, worth observing that the nonuniqueness phenomenon allowed for by statement (ii) above can indeed occur. In fact, consider the vertical 3-planes in  $\mathbb{H}^2$ ,

$$\mathcal{P}_1 := \{(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^2 : x_2 = y_2 = 0\} \text{ and } \mathcal{P}_2 := \{(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^2 : x_1 = y_1 = 0\}.$$

Unit tangent vectors are provided by

$$t_{\mathscr{P}_1}^{\mathbb{H}} = X_1 \wedge Y_1 \wedge T$$
 and  $t_{\mathscr{P}_2}^{\mathbb{H}} = -X_2 \wedge Y_2 \wedge T$ 

and, using, for instance, Example 3.23, one can easily check that  $[t_{\mathscr{P}_1}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathscr{J}} = [t_{\mathscr{P}_2}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathscr{J}}$ . Observe that  $\mathscr{P}_1$  and  $\mathscr{P}_2$  are not rank 1 connected, as stated by Proposition 3.38. The latter also guarantees that no vertical plane  $\mathscr{P} \neq \mathscr{P}_1$  such that  $[t_{\mathscr{P}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathscr{J}} = [t_{\mathscr{P}_1}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathscr{J}}$  exists other than  $\mathscr{P}_2$ . See also Remarks A.2 and A.4.

### 4. Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups

Though already introduced in Section 2, for the reader's convenience we now recall the notion of intrinsic Lipschitz graph. Assume that a splitting of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is fixed; namely, let  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  be homogeneous (i.e., invariant under dilations) and complementary (i.e.,  $\mathbb{W} \cap \mathbb{V} = \{0\}$  and  $\mathbb{H}^n = \mathbb{W} \mathbb{V}$ ) subgroups of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . Each  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  possesses a unique decomposition  $p = p_{\mathbb{W}} p_{\mathbb{V}}$  as a product of elements  $p_{\mathbb{W}} \in \mathbb{W}$ ,  $p_{\mathbb{V}} \in \mathbb{V}$ . For  $\alpha \geq 0$ , the homogeneous cone  $C_{\alpha}$  along  $\mathbb{V}$  is

$$C_{\alpha} := \{ p \in \mathbb{H} : ||p_{\mathbb{V}}||_{\mathbb{H}} \ge \alpha ||p_{\mathbb{W}}||_{\mathbb{H}} \} = \{ wv : w \in \mathbb{W}, v \in \mathbb{V}, ||v||_{\mathbb{H}} \ge \alpha ||w||_{\mathbb{H}} \}.$$

The set  $C_{\alpha}$  is homogeneous (i.e., invariant under dilations) and  $0 \in C_{\alpha}$ ; actually,  $\mathbb{V} \subset C_{\alpha}$ . For  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  we set  $C_{\alpha}(p) := pC_{\alpha}$ . Observe that  $C_{\alpha}$  coincides with the cone  $\mathscr{C}_{1/\alpha}$  defined in Subsection 2.2: the reason for this change in notation is that, from now on, we will more frequently deal with the intrinsic Lipschitz constants of maps rather than with the apertures of the associated cones.

Given  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and a map  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$ , the intrinsic graph of  $\phi$  is the set

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} := \{ w \phi(w) : w \in A \} \subset \mathbb{H}^n.$$

We hereafter adopt the convention that, whenever a map  $\phi:A\to \mathbb{V}$  is introduced, we denote by  $\Phi:A\to \mathbb{H}^n$  the associated graph map  $\Phi(w):=w\phi(w)$ ; in particular,  $\operatorname{gr}_\phi=\Phi(A)$ .

**Definition 4.1.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ ; we say that a map  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  is *intrinsic Lipschitz continuous* if there exists  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\forall p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \qquad \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap C_{\alpha}(p) = \{p\}. \tag{4.1}$$

We call *intrinsic Lipschitz constant* of  $\phi$  the infimum of those positive  $\alpha$  for which (4.1) holds.

Intrinsic Lipschitz maps of low dimension (  $\dim \mathbb{W} \leq n$ ) are Euclidean Lipschitz continuous and the Hausdorff dimension of their graphs equals the topological one; that is,  $\dim \mathbb{W}$ . See [50, Remark 3.11], [53, Proposition 3.7] or [8]. On the contrary, intrinsic Lipschitz maps of low codimension  $k = \dim \mathbb{V} \leq n$  are not better than Euclidean 1/2-Hölder continuous; see Remark 4.5. Despite this fractal behaviour (see also [63]), they enjoy good metric properties: for instance, the Hausdorff dimension of their graphs is the same, Q - k, as  $\mathbb{W}$ , and the (Q - k)-dimensional Hausdorff measure on their graph is even (Q - k)-Ahlfors regular; see Remark 4.6 and the references therein.

# 4.1. Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of low codimension

We are interested in intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of codimension at most n; we then assume that  $k := \dim \mathbb{V}$  is a positive integer not greater than n. It can be easily checked (see, e.g., [51, Remark 3.12]) that this forces  $\mathbb{V}$  to be abelian; by Remark 3.16, up to an isometric group isomorphism of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , one can always assume that

$$V = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_1, \dots, X_k\}). \tag{4.2}$$

Moreover, it follows from [53, Proposition 3.1] (alternatively, from Theorem 1.4) that, if  $\mathbb{W}, \mathbb{W}'$  are complementary to  $\mathbb{V}$  and  $S \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is such that  $S = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  for some intrinsic Lipschitz  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  with

43

 $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ , then there exists  $A' \subset \mathbb{W}'$  and an intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi' : A' \to \mathbb{V}$  such that  $S = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi'}$ . In particular, it will not be restrictive (see also Remark 6.1) to assume that

$$\mathbb{W} = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_{k+1}, \dots, X_n, Y_1, \dots, Y_n, T\}) \quad \text{if } 1 \le k \le n - 1$$

$$\mathbb{W} = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{Y_1, \dots, Y_n, T\}) \quad \text{if } k = n.$$

$$(4.3)$$

Hence, from now on we work with the subgroups  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  defined in (4.2) and (4.3). In coordinates

$$\mathbb{V} = \{(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : y = 0, \ x_{k+1} = \dots = x_n = t = 0\}$$
 if  $1 \le k \le n - 1$  
$$\mathbb{V} = \{(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : y = 0, \ t = 0\}$$
 if  $k = n$  (4.4) 
$$\mathbb{W} = \{(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} : x_1 = \dots = x_k = 0\}.$$

For simplicity, we will write  $v \in \mathbb{V}$  and  $w \in \mathbb{W}$  as

$$v = (x_1, ..., x_k) \in \mathbb{R}^k$$

$$w = (x_{k+1}, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_n, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+1-k}$$
if  $1 \le k \le n-1$ 

$$w = (y_1, ..., y_n, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$$
if  $k = n$ . (4.5)

Notice that, if p = (x, y, t), then  $p_{\mathbb{V}} = (x_1, \dots, x_k)$ . Observe also that the measure  $\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}$  induced on  $\mathbb{W}$  by the identification  $\mathbb{W} = \mathbb{R}^{2n+1-k}$  in (4.5) is a Haar measure on  $\mathbb{W}$  that is also (Q-k)-homogeneous; that is,

$$\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(B(w,r)\cap \mathbb{W})=r^{Q-k}\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(B(0,1)\cap \mathbb{W}) \qquad \forall \, w\in \mathbb{W}, r>0. \tag{4.6}$$

In particular,  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}$  coincides, up to multiplicative factors, with the Hausdorff  $\mathcal{H}^{Q-k}$  and spherical Hausdorff  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$  measures on  $\mathbb{W}$ .

We now write the intrinsic graph map  $\Phi$  in coordinates: writing  $w \in \mathbb{W} \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1-k}$  and  $\phi(w) \in \mathbb{V} \equiv \mathbb{R}^k$  as in (4.5), one gets

$$\Phi(w) = (\phi(w), x_{k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_1, \dots, y_n, t - \frac{1}{2} \langle \phi(w), (y_1, \dots, y_k) \rangle) \text{ if } 1 \le k \le n - 1 
\Phi(w) = (\phi(w), y_1, \dots, y_n, t - \frac{1}{2} \langle \phi(w), y \rangle) \text{ if } k = n,$$
(4.7)

where the scalar products appearing in (4.7) are those of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ . Let us write an equivalent analytic formulation for (4.1). Clearly, the latter is equivalent to require that

$$\Phi(w')^{-1}\Phi(w) = (-\phi(w'))(-w')w\phi(w) \notin C_{\alpha} \quad \text{for all } w, w' \in A, \ w \neq w'.$$
 (4.8)

Since  $\mathbb{W}$  is a normal subgroup and  $\mathbb{V}$  is commutative, we have

$$(-\phi(w'))(-w')w\phi(w) = \underbrace{(-\phi(w'))(-w')w\phi(w')}_{\in \mathbb{W}} \underbrace{(\phi(w) - \phi(w'))}_{\in \mathbb{V} \equiv \mathbb{R}^k}$$

and (4.8) is equivalent to

$$\|\phi(w) - \phi(w')\|_{\mathbb{H}} < \alpha \|(-\phi(w'))(-w')w\phi(w')\|_{\mathbb{H}}$$
 for all  $w, w' \in A, \ w \neq w'$ .

After a boring computation (which we omit) and writing  $w = (x_{k+1}, \dots, y_n, t)$  and  $w' = (x'_{k+1}, \dots, y'_n, t')$ , when k < n we obtain that (4.1) is equivalent to

$$|\phi(w) - \phi(w')| < \alpha \left\| \left( x_{k+1} - x'_{k+1}, \dots, y_n - y'_n, t - t' - \sum_{j=1}^k \phi_j(w')(y_j - y'_j) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=k+1}^n (x_j y'_j - x'_j y_j) \right) \right\|_{\infty}$$
(4.9)

for all points  $w = (x_{k+1}, \dots, y_n, t)$ ,  $w' = (x'_{k+1}, \dots, y'_n, t') \in A$  with  $w \neq w'$ . If k = n, the formula above reads as

$$|\phi(w) - \phi(w')| < \alpha \left\| \left( y_1 - y_1', \dots, y_n - y_n', t - t' - \sum_{j=1}^k \phi_j(w')(y_j - y_j') \right) \right\|_{\mathbb{H}}$$
 (4.10)

for all  $w = (y_1, \dots, y_n, t), w' = (y'_1, \dots, y'_n, t') \in A, w \neq w'.$ 

It is convenient to point out some basic facts about intrinsic Lipschitz functions.

**Remark 4.2.** Let  $\phi : A \subset \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz with intrinsic Lipschitz constant not greater than  $\alpha$  and assume that  $\phi(0) = 0$ ; then,  $|\phi(w)| \le \alpha ||w||_{\mathbb{H}}$  for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ . In order to prove this statement, it is enough to plug w' = 0 in (4.9) and (4.10).

**Remark 4.3.** Assume that  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is endowed with the distance  $d_\infty$  defined in (3.2) and let  $\alpha \leq 1/2$  be fixed. Then, for every intrinsic Lipschitz  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  with intrinsic Lipschitz constant not greater than  $\alpha$  there holds

$$|p_{\mathbb{V}} - q_{\mathbb{V}}| \le 2\alpha d_{\infty}(p, q)$$
 for every  $p, q \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ . (4.11)

We can assume without loss of generality that q = 0; using Remark 4.2,

$$|p_{\mathbb{V}}| = |\phi(p_{\mathbb{W}})| \le \alpha d_{\infty}(0, p_{\mathbb{W}})$$
  
 
$$\le \alpha (d_{\infty}(0, p) + d_{\infty}(p, p_{\mathbb{W}})) \le \alpha d_{\infty}(0, p) + \frac{1}{2}d_{\infty}(p_{\mathbb{V}}, 0) = \alpha d_{\infty}(0, p) + \frac{1}{2}|p_{\mathbb{V}}|,$$

which is (4.11).

**Remark 4.4.** Assume that  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is endowed with the distance  $d_{\infty}$  defined in (3.2). Then, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $\bar{\alpha} = \bar{\alpha}(\varepsilon, n, k) > 0$  such that the following holds: for every intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  with intrinsic Lipschitz constant not greater than  $\bar{\alpha}$ ,

$$(1-\varepsilon)|p_{\mathbb{V}} - \phi(p_{\mathbb{W}})| \le d_{\infty}(p, \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) \le |p_{\mathbb{V}} - \phi(p_{\mathbb{W}})| \qquad \forall p \in \mathbb{H}^{n}. \tag{4.12}$$

The second equality in (4.12) is trivial (and, actually, it holds for every  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$ ) because

$$d_{\infty}(p, \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) \leq d_{\infty}(p, \Phi(p_{\mathbb{W}})) = d_{\infty}(p_{\mathbb{W}}p_{\mathbb{V}}, p_{\mathbb{W}}\phi(p_{\mathbb{W}})) = d_{\infty}(0, (p_{\mathbb{V}})^{-1}\phi(p_{\mathbb{W}})) = |p_{\mathbb{V}} - \phi(p_{\mathbb{W}})|.$$

In order to prove the first inequality in (4.12), we argue by contradiction. Assume that there exists  $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$  such that, for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exist  $p_i \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and  $\phi_i : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that  $\phi_i$  is intrinsic Lipschitz with intrinsic Lipschitz constant not greater than 1/i and

for every 
$$i$$
  $d_{\infty}(p_i, \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_i}) < (1 - \bar{\varepsilon})|(p_i)_{\mathbb{V}} - \phi_i((p_i)_{\mathbb{W}})|.$  (4.13)

Up to a left translation we can assume that  $(p_i)_{\mathbb{W}} = 0$  and  $\phi_i(0) = 0$  for all i; in particular,  $p_i \in \mathbb{V}$  for all i and, up to a dilation, we can also assume that  $d_{\infty}(p_i, 0) = 1$ , so that (4.13) becomes

for every 
$$i$$
  $d_{\infty}(p_i, \bar{p}_i) = d_{\infty}(p_i, \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_i}) < 1 - \bar{\varepsilon},$  (4.14)

where the points  $\bar{p}_i \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_i}$  are chosen so that  $d_{\infty}(p_i, \bar{p}_i) = d_{\infty}(p_i, \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_i})$ . Observe that  $d_{\infty}(0, \bar{p}_i) \leq d_{\infty}(0, p_i) + d_{\infty}(p_i, \bar{p}_i) < 2$ ; in particular, up to extracting a subsequence there exist  $p \in \mathbb{V}$  and  $\bar{p} \in B(0, 2)$  such that  $p_i \to p \in \mathbb{V}$  and  $\bar{p}_i \to \bar{p}$  as  $i \to +\infty$ ; clearly,  $d_{\infty}(p, 0) = 1$ . By Remark 4.2 we have that  $\phi_i \to 0$  uniformly on compact sets of  $\mathbb{W}$  (equivalently,  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_i} \to \mathbb{W}$  with respect to the local Hausdorff convergence of closed sets in  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ), in particular,  $\bar{p} \in \mathbb{W}$ . Letting  $i \to +\infty$  in (4.14) provides

$$d_{\infty}(p,\bar{p}) \leq 1 - \bar{\varepsilon}$$
.

However, writing  $p = (p_1, \dots, p_k, 0, \dots, 0)$  and  $\bar{p} = (0, \dots, 0, \bar{p}_{k+1}, \dots, \bar{p}_{2n+1})$ , we notice that

$$d_{\infty}(p,\bar{p}) \ge |(p_1,\ldots,p_k)| = d_{\infty}(0,p) = 1,$$

a contradiction.

**Remark 4.5.** It follows from (4.9)–(4.10) that, if  $K \subset \mathbb{W}$  is compact and  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is intrinsic Lipschitz with intrinsic Lipschitz constant  $\alpha$ , then there exists  $M = M(\alpha, \phi(0), K)$  such that  $|\phi| \leq M$  on K.

In particular, one can apply [52, Proposition 4.8] to get the following: for every  $\alpha > 0$  and every compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{W}$  there exists  $C = C(\alpha, K) > 0$  such that, for every  $w, w' \in K$  and every intrinsic Lipschitz  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  with  $\phi(0) = 0$  and intrinsic Lipschitz constant not greater than  $\alpha$ , the 1/2-Hölder estimate

$$|\phi(w) - \phi(w')| \le C|w - w'|^{1/2}$$

holds, where  $|\cdot|$  denotes the Euclidean norm in  $\mathbb{W} \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1-k}$ .

**Remark 4.6.** It was proved in [53, Theorem 3.9] that the (Q - k)-dimensional Hausdorff measure on intrinsic Lipschitz graphs graphs is (Q-k)-Ahlfors regular; in particular, intrinsic Lipschitz graphs have the same Hausdorff dimension Q - k of the domain  $\mathbb{W}$ . Actually, the statement of [53, Theorem 3.9] is more quantitative; in fact, it states that for every  $\alpha > 0$  there exists  $C_1 = C_1(\alpha) > 0$  such that, for every intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  whose intrinsic Lipschitz constant is not greater than  $\alpha$ , one has

$$C_1^{-1}r^{Q-k} \le \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap B(p,r)) \le C_1r^{Q-k} \qquad \forall \, p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}, \, r > 0.$$
 (4.15)

Let us point out for future reference one further consequence that is implicitly proved in [53, Theorem 3.9]. Denote by  $\pi_{\mathbb{W}} : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{W}$  the projection  $\pi_{\mathbb{W}}(p) := p_{\mathbb{W}}$ ; by [53, formula (44)] there exists a constant  $C_2 = C_2(\alpha) \in (0, 1)$  such that, for every  $\phi$  as above,

$$\pi_{\mathbb{W}}(B(p, C_2 r)) \subset \pi_{\mathbb{W}}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap B(p, r)) \subset \pi_{\mathbb{W}}(B(p, r)) \qquad \forall p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}, r > 0.$$

By [53, Lemma 2.20], which states that there exists  $C_3 > 0$  such that

$$\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(\pi_{\mathbb{W}}(B(p,r)) = C_3 r^{Q-k} \qquad \forall \ p \in \mathbb{H}^n, \ r > 0,$$

we deduce that

$$C_4^{-1} \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, \bigsqcup \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \leq \Phi_{\#}(\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \, \bigsqcup \mathbb{W}) \leq C_4 \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, \bigsqcup \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$$

for a suitable  $C_4 = C_4(\alpha) > 0$ , where  $\Phi_\#$  denotes push-forward of measures. Since  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqsubseteq \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is a doubling measure, one can differentiate the measure  $\Phi_\#(\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \sqsubseteq \mathbb{W})$  with respect to  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqsubseteq \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  (see, e.g., [83]) to get the existence of  $g: \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \to [C_4^{-1}, C_4]$  such that  $\Phi_\#(\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \sqsubseteq \mathbb{W}) = g\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqsubseteq \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ . Equivalently, there exists a measurable function  $J_{\phi}: \mathbb{W} \to [C_4^{-1}, C_4]$  such that

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, \bigsqcup \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} = \Phi_{\#}(J_{\phi} \, \mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \, \bigsqcup \mathbb{W}).$$

Theorem 1.3 (proved later in Section 7) will show that  $J_{\phi}$  coincides with the intrinsic Jacobian determinant  $J^{\phi}\phi$  of  $\phi$  (see Definition 4.9) up to a multiplicative constant. We will, of course, need to consider  $J_{\phi}$  and  $J^{\phi}\phi$  as separate notions until Theorem 1.3 is proved, and we therefore ask the reader to remember that the two objects are distinguished even though quite similar in notation.

### 4.2. Intrinsic differentiability and blow-ups of intrinsic Lipschitz maps

Left-translations of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs are also intrinsic Lipschitz graphs. When  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ ,  $\bar{w} \in A$  and an intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  are fixed and one sets  $\bar{p} := \bar{w}\phi(\bar{w})$ ; then (see [9, Proposition 3.6] or [53, Proposition 2.21])  $\bar{p}^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is the intrinsic Lipschitz graph of the map  $\phi_{\bar{w}} : \bar{p}^{-1}A\phi(\bar{w}) \to \mathbb{V}$  defined by

$$\phi_{\bar{w}}(w) := \phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\phi(\bar{p}w\phi(\bar{w})^{-1}).$$

We observe that the domain  $\bar{p}^{-1}A\phi(\bar{w}) = \phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\bar{w}^{-1}A\phi(\bar{w})$  of  $\phi_{\bar{w}}$  is a subset of  $\mathbb{W}$  because  $\mathbb{W}$  is a normal subgroup; moreover,  $\phi_{\bar{w}}(0) = 0$  by construction. Clearly,  $\phi_{\bar{w}}$  has the same intrinsic Lipschitz constant as  $\phi$ .

Dilations of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs are intrinsic Lipschitz graphs too: if A and  $\phi$  are as above, r > 0 and  $\phi(0) = 0$ , then  $\delta_r(\operatorname{gr}_\phi)$  is the intrinsic Lipschitz graph of the function  $\phi^r : \delta_r A \to \mathbb{V}$  defined by

$$\phi^r(w) := \delta_r \phi(\delta_{1/r} w) = r \phi(\delta_{1/r} w).$$

The intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi^r$  equals the one of  $\phi$ .

**Definition 4.7.** Let  $\phi: A \to \mathbb{V}$  be a map defined on a (relatively) open subset  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ . We say that  $\bar{\phi}: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is a *blow-up* of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w} \in A$  if there exists a sequence  $(r_j)_j$  such that  $r_j \to +\infty$  as  $j \to +\infty$  and

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} (\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j} = \bar{\phi} \qquad \text{locally uniformly on } \mathbb{W}.$$

**Remark 4.8.** Clearly, every blow-up  $\bar{\phi}$  of  $\phi$  is such that  $\bar{\phi}(0) = 0$ . Blow-ups of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  are in general not unique. The functions  $(\phi_{\bar{w}})^r$ , r > 0, have the same intrinsic Lipschitz constant as  $\phi$ ; in particular, every blow-up of  $\phi$  is intrinsic Lipschitz continuous with intrinsic Lipschitz constant not greater than the one of  $\phi$ .

We say that  $\psi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is *intrinsic linear* if its graph  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  is a homogeneous subgroup of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ; in coordinates, this is equivalent to requiring that  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  is a vertical plane (recall Definition 3.2) of dimension 2n+1-k. Another characterisation can be given as follows. For every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$  define  $w_H \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+1-k}$  as

$$w_H := (x_{k+1}, \dots, y_n) \text{ if } k < n \text{ and } w = (x_{k+1}, \dots, y_n, t)$$
  
 $w_H := (y_1, \dots, y_n) \text{ if } k = n \text{ and } w = (y_1, \dots, y_n, t).$  (4.16)

Then,  $\psi$  is intrinsic linear if and only if there exists a  $k \times (2n-k)$  matrix M (here identified with a linear map  $M : \mathbb{R}^{2n-k} \to \mathbb{R}^k \equiv \mathbb{V}$ ) such that, for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ ,  $\psi(w) = M w_H$ .

We can now state the following definition.

**Definition 4.9.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  be open and  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  be given; we say that  $\phi$  is *intrinsically differentiable* at  $\bar{w} \in A$  if there exists an intrinsic linear map  $d\phi_{\bar{w}} : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that

$$\lim_{s\to 0} \left\{ \sup \left\{ \frac{d(\phi_{\bar{w}}(w), d\phi_{\bar{w}}(w))}{d(0, w)} : w \in \mathbb{W} \cap B(0, s) \right\} \right\} = 0.$$

The map  $d\phi_{\bar{w}}$  is called *intrinsic differential* of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$ ; the intrinsic graph of  $d\phi_{\bar{w}}$  is called *tangent plane* to  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  at  $\Phi(\bar{w})$  and is denoted by  $\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(\bar{w}))$ .

The *intrinsic gradient*  $\nabla^{\phi}\phi(\bar{w})$  is the unique  $k \times (2n-k)$  matrix such that  $d\phi_{\bar{w}}(w) = \nabla^{\phi}\phi(\bar{w}) w_H$  for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ . We also define the *intrinsic Jacobian determinant*  $J^{\phi}\phi(\bar{w})$  of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  as

$$J^{\phi}\phi(\bar{w}) := \left(1 + \sum_{M} (\det M)^2\right)^{1/2},$$

where the sum ranges on all minors (of any size) of the matrix  $\nabla^{\phi}\phi$ .

**Remark 4.10.** The notions introduced in Definition 4.9 (and, in particular, that of intrinsic Jacobian needed in Theorem 1.3) make sense also when the subgroups  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are orthogonal; that is, when they are orthogonal as linear subspaces of  $\mathbb{H}^n \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$ . In fact, as Remark 3.16 (see also [33, §2.4]) in this case there exists an isometric  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism sending  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  to the subgroups defined in (4.3) and (4.2).

**Remark 4.11.** It will be convenient to denote the components  $(\nabla^{\phi}\phi)_{ij}$  of the intrinsic gradient using indices that vary in the ranges  $i=1,\ldots,k$  and  $j=k+1,\ldots,2n$ . This choice might seem a bit unusual for what concerns the index j, but it is somehow suggested by the definition of  $w_H$ . Further justification is provided in Subsection 4.5.

In the following Proposition 4.12 we collect several statements that are equivalent to intrinsic differentiability: the equivalences among (a), (b) and (c) are straightforward, while for the equivalence with (d) we refer to [52, Theorem 4.15].

**Proposition 4.12.** Consider an open set  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ , a map  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  and a point  $\bar{w} \in A$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (a)  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at  $\bar{w}$ ;
- (b) there exists an intrinsic linear map  $\psi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that  $(\phi_{\bar{w}})^r \to \psi$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb{W}$  as  $r \to +\infty$ ;
- (c) the blow-up of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  is unique and it is an intrinsic linear map;
- (d) there exists a (2n+1-k)-dimensional vertical plane  $\mathcal{P}$  that is complementary to  $\mathbb{V}$  and such that, as  $r \to +\infty$ , the sets  $\delta_r(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_{\phi})$  converge to  $\mathcal{P}$  with respect to the local Hausdorff convergence of sets; that is,

$$\lim_{s \to 0^+} \left\{ \sup \left\{ \frac{d(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}p, \mathcal{P})}{d(\Phi(\bar{w}), p)} : p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap B(\Phi(\bar{w}), s) \right\} \right\} = 0. \tag{4.17}$$

Moreover, the plane  $\mathscr{P}$  in (d) coincides with  $\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\Phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(\bar{w}))$ .

It is worth observing that intrinsic graphs parametrising  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds are intrinsically differentiable; see Remark 4.18 for a precise statement.

As one can easily guess, intrinsic Lipschitz functions with small Lipschitz constant have small intrinsic gradient at differentiability points; the following lemma provides a quantitative version of this statement.

**Lemma 4.13.** Assume that  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is endowed with the distance  $d = d_{\infty}$  introduced in (3.2). Let  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  be an intrinsic Lipschitz function defined on an open set A of  $\mathbb{W}$  and let  $\alpha$  be the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ . Then for every point  $w \in A$  where  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable, we have

$$|(\nabla^{\phi}\phi(w))_{ij}| \le \alpha \qquad \forall i = 1, \dots, k, \ \forall j = k+1, \dots, 2n. \tag{4.18}$$

*Proof.* By Remark 4.8, the intrinsic differential  $d\phi_w$  is intrinsic Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant not greater than  $\alpha$ . Let i, j be as in (4.18); then, by Remark 4.2, we have

$$|(\nabla^{\phi}\phi(w))_{ij}| = |(d\phi_w(\exp(W_j)))_i| \le \alpha \|\exp(W_j)\|_{\mathbb{H}} = \alpha d_{\infty}(0, \exp(W_j)) = \alpha,$$

where  $(d\phi_w(\exp(W_i)))_i$  is the *i*-component of  $d\phi_w(\exp(W_i)) \in \mathbb{V} \equiv \mathbb{R}^k$ .

# 4.3. Blow-ups of intrinsic Lipschitz maps are almost always t-invariant

The aim of this section is the proof of the following Lemma 4.16, a very first step towards Theorem 1.1. Given  $h \in \mathbb{R}$ , we write  $\vec{h} := \exp(hT)$  and we observe that, in coordinates,  $(x, y, t)\vec{h} = (x, y, t + h)$ .

We say that  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is *t-invariant* if

$$\phi(w\vec{h}) = \phi(w)$$
 for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}, h \in \mathbb{R}$ .

With the notation introduced in (4.16),  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is *t*-invariant if and only if there exists  $f_{\phi} : \mathbb{R}^{2n-k} \to \mathbb{R}^k \equiv \mathbb{V}$  such that

$$\phi(w) = f_{\phi}(w_H)$$
 for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ . (4.19)

Clearly, every intrinsic linear map  $\psi: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is *t*-invariant; a simple consequence of this fact is contained in the following observation.

**Remark 4.14.** If  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at  $\bar{w}$ , then

$$|\phi(\bar{w}h) - \phi(\bar{w})| = o(|h|^{1/2})$$
 as  $h \to 0$ .

This is a simple consequence of the fact that, as  $r \to +\infty$ ,  $(\phi_{\bar{w}})^r$  converges to an intrinsic linear (and then *t*-invariant) map.

Let us collect some basic facts about intrinsic Lipschitz maps that are also *t*-invariant. Though very simple, they will be useful in the sequel.

**Lemma 4.15.** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz continuous and t-invariant and let  $f_{\phi}$  be as in (4.19). Then

- (i)  $f_{\phi}: \mathbb{R}^{2n-k} \to \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $\phi: \mathbb{W} \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n-k} \to \mathbb{V} \equiv \mathbb{R}^k$  are Euclidean Lipschitz continuous;
- (ii) the intrinsic graph  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  coincides with

$$\{(f_{\phi}(w), w, t) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{2n-k} \times \mathbb{R} \equiv \mathbb{H}^n : w \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-k}, t \in \mathbb{R}\};$$

- (iii)  $\phi$  is Euclidean differentiable at  $\bar{w}$  if and only if  $f_{\phi}$  is Euclidean differentiable at  $\bar{w}_H$ ;
- (iv)  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at  $\bar{w}$  if and only if it is Euclidean differentiable at  $\bar{w}$ . In this case,  $\nabla^{\phi}\phi(\bar{w}) = \nabla f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H})$ .

*Proof.* The second part of statement (i) is a direct consequence of the first one, which we now prove only in case k < n as the case k = n requires only minor adjustment in the notation. For every  $u = (x_{k+1}, \ldots, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-k}$  and  $u' = (x'_{k+1}, \ldots, y'_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-k}$ , consider  $w := (x_{k+1}, \ldots, y_n, 0) \in \mathbb{W}$  and  $w' := (x'_{k+1}, \ldots, y'_n, t') \in \mathbb{W}$ , where t' = t'(u, u') is defined by

$$t' := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=k+1}^{n} (x_j y_j' - x_j' y_j) - \sum_{j=1}^{k} (f_{\phi}(u'))_j (y_j - y_j').$$

From (4.9) we deduce that for a suitable  $\alpha > 0$  and a positive C depending on the distance d,

$$|f_{\phi}(u) - f_{\phi}(u')| = |\phi(w) - \phi(w')|$$

$$\leq \alpha ||(x_{k+1} - x'_{k+1}, \dots, y_n - y'_n, 0)||_{\mathbb{H}}$$

$$\leq C\alpha d_{\infty}(0, (x_{k+1} - x'_{k+1}, \dots, y_n - y'_n, 0))$$

$$= C\alpha ||u - u'||_{\mathbb{D}^{2n-k}}.$$

This proves (i).

Statements (ii) and (iii) are trivial. Concerning (iv), if  $f_{\phi}$  is Euclidean differentiable at  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W}$ , one has

$$\phi_{\bar{w}}(w) = \phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\phi(\bar{w}\phi(\bar{w})w\phi(\bar{w})^{-1}) = f_{\phi}((\bar{w}\phi(\bar{w})w\phi(\bar{w})^{-1})_{H}) - f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H})$$

$$= f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H} + w_{H}) - f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H}) = \nabla f_{\phi}(\bar{w})w_{H} + o(|w_{H}|)$$
(4.20)

and the intrinsic differentiability of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  follows because  $|w_H| \le d_\infty(0, w) \le Cd(0, w)$  for a suitable C > 0. Conversely, assume that  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at  $\bar{w}$ ; for every  $u \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-k}$  we define  $w = (u, 0) \in \mathbb{W}$  and, as in (4.20), we obtain

$$f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H} + u) - f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H}) = f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H} + w_{H}) - f_{\phi}(\bar{w}_{H})$$

$$= \phi_{\bar{w}}(w) = d\phi_{\bar{w}}(w) + o(d_{\infty}(0, w)) = \nabla^{\phi}\phi(\bar{w})w_{H} + o(|u|).$$

This proves that  $f_{\phi}$  is Euclidean differentiable at  $\bar{w}_H$  and, by (iii), that  $\phi$  is Euclidean differentiable at  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ .

We now state and prove the following result, which will play a distinguished role in the proof of Theorem 1.1.

**Lemma 4.16.** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz. Then there exists a  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}$ -negligible set  $E \subset \mathbb{W}$  such that, for every  $\bar{\psi} \in \mathbb{W} \setminus E$  and every blow-up  $\bar{\phi} : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{\psi}$ ,  $\bar{\phi}$  is t-invariant.

*Proof.* We prove the statement assuming k < n, the case k = n requiring only straightforward modifications in the notation.

We claim that

for a.e. 
$$\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W}$$
  $|\phi(\bar{w}h) - \phi(\bar{w})| = o(|h|^{1/2})$  as  $h \to 0$ . (4.21)

To prove this, we write  $\phi = (\phi_1, \dots, \phi_k) \in \mathbb{V} \equiv \mathbb{R}^k$  and, for every fixed  $i \in \{1, \dots, k\}$  and every fixed  $(\bar{x}_{k+1}, \dots, \bar{x}_n, \bar{y}_1, \dots, \bar{y}_{i-1}, \bar{y}_{i+1}, \dots, \bar{y}_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-k-1}$ , we consider the map  $\psi_i : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\psi_i(y,t) := \phi_i(\bar{x}_{k+1},\ldots,\bar{x}_n,\bar{y}_1,\ldots,\bar{y}_{i-1},y,\bar{y}_{i+1},\ldots,\bar{y}_n,t).$$

Using (4.9) we obtain that for every  $y, y', t, t' \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$|\psi_i(y,t) - \psi_i(y',t')| \le \alpha \|(0,\ldots,0,y-y',0,\ldots,0,t-t'-\psi_i(y',t')(y-y'))\|_{\mathbb{H}}$$

where  $\alpha$  is the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ . This ensures that  $\psi_i$  is intrinsic Lipschitz in  $\mathbb{H}^1$ ; that is, when seen as a map  $\psi_i : \mathbb{W}' \to \mathbb{V}'$  where  $\mathbb{W}' := \{(0, y, t) : y, t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  and  $\mathbb{V}' := \{(x, 0, 0) : x \in \mathbb{R}\}$ . By Rademacher's theorem for intrinsic Lipschitz graph of codimension 1 [52],  $\psi_i$  is intrinsically differentiable at  $\mathcal{L}^2$ -a.e.  $(y, t) \in \mathbb{W}'$  and, by Remark 4.14, for every such (y, t) one has

$$|\psi_i(y, t+h) - \psi_i(y, t)| = o(|h|^{1/2})$$
 as  $h \to 0$ .

The claim (4.21) easily follows.

In order to prove the statement of the lemma, it suffices to prove that, for every fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $E_{\varepsilon} \subset \mathbb{W}$  such that

- (a)  $\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(E_{\varepsilon}) < \varepsilon$  and
- (b) for every  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W} \setminus E_{\varepsilon}$  and every blow-up  $\bar{\phi} : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$ ,  $\bar{\phi}$  is *t*-invariant.

By (4.21) and the Severini–Egorov theorem, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $E_{\varepsilon} \subset \mathbb{W}$  such that

- 1.  $\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(E_{\varepsilon}) < \varepsilon$  and
- 2. there exists a sequence  $(\delta_i)_i$  such that

$$|\phi(\bar{w}\vec{h}) - \phi(\bar{w})| < \frac{|h|^{1/2}}{i}$$
 for every  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W} \setminus E_{\varepsilon}, i \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $h \in (-\delta_i, \delta_i)$ .

By (4.6), the Lebesgue measure  $\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}$  is doubling and the Lebesgue theorem holds in the metric measure space  $(\mathbb{W}, d, \mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k})$  (see, e.g., [91, Chapter 1]). Therefore, up to modifying  $E_{\varepsilon}$  on a negligible set, we can also assume that

(3) for every  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W} \setminus E_{\varepsilon}$ 

$$\lim_{s\to 0} \frac{\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(B(\bar{w},s)\cap \mathbb{W}\setminus E_{\varepsilon})}{\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(B(\bar{w},s)\cap \mathbb{W})} = 1.$$

By construction,  $E_{\varepsilon}$  satisfies (a) above; we are going to prove it also satisfies (b), thus completing the proof.

Let then  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W} \setminus E_{\varepsilon}$  and a blow-up  $\bar{\phi} : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  be fixed; up to a left-translation, we can assume without loss of generality that  $\bar{w} = 0$ . Let  $r_i \to +\infty$  be a sequence such that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \phi^{r_j} = \bar{\phi} \qquad \text{in } L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{W}).$$

Let R > 0 be fixed; we prove that

$$\bar{\phi}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_n,t) = \bar{\phi}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_n,0) \quad \forall \ (x_{k+1},\ldots,y_n,t) \in [-R,R]^{2n+1-k} \subset \mathbb{W} \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1-k},$$

which would immediately give (b). In turn, it is enough to prove that for every  $\eta > 0$  there exists  $\bar{j} \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$|\phi^{r_j}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_n,t) - \phi^{r_j}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_n,0)| < \eta \quad \forall \ j \ge \bar{j}, \forall \ (x_{k+1},\ldots,y_n,t) \in [-R,R]^{2n+1-k}.$$
(4.22)

Observe that, by property (3), for j large enough the set  $\delta_{r_j}(\mathbb{W}\setminus E_{\varepsilon})$  is  $\eta$ -dense in the box  $[-R,R]^{2n+1-k}$ ; namely, for every  $w=(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_n,t)\in [-R,R]^{2n+1-k}$  there exists  $w'\in \delta_{r_j}(\mathbb{W}\setminus E_{\varepsilon})\cap [-R,R]^{2n+1-k}$  such that  $|w-w'|<\eta$ . We write  $w'=(x'_{k+1},\ldots,y'_n,t')$ ; setting  $i:=\lfloor R^{1/2}/\eta\rfloor+1$ , for large enough j (and, namely, for  $r_j^2>R/\delta_i$ ) we have

$$\begin{split} |\phi^{r_j}(x'_{k+1},\ldots,y'_n,t') - \phi^{r_j}(x'_{k+1},\ldots,y'_n,0)| \\ &= r_j \left| \phi(\frac{x'_{k+1}}{r_j},\ldots,\frac{y'_n}{r_j},\frac{t'}{r_j^2}) - \phi(\frac{x'_{k+1}}{r_j},\ldots,\frac{y'_n}{r_j},0) \right| \ \leq \ r_j \ \frac{|t'|^{1/2}}{i \, r_j} \ \leq \frac{R^{1/2}}{i} \ < \ \eta, \end{split}$$

where we used  $\left|\frac{t'}{r_j^2}\right| \leq \frac{R}{r_j^2} < \delta_i$  and the fact that  $\left(\frac{x'_{k+1}}{r_j}, \dots, \frac{y'_n}{r_j}, \frac{t'}{r_j^2}\right) = \delta_{1/r_j}(w') \in \mathbb{W} \setminus E_{\varepsilon}$  satisfies (2). By Remark 4.5 there exists C > 0 (depending only on R and the Lipschitz constant of  $\phi^{r_j}$ , which is

the same as the Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$  and is thus independent of j) and we finally obtain for large enough j

$$\begin{split} |\phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_{n},t) - \phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_{n},0)| &\leq |\phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_{n},t) - \phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1}',\ldots,y_{n}',t')| \\ &+ |\phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1}',\ldots,y_{n}',t') - \phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1}',\ldots,y_{n}',0)| \\ &+ |\phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1}',\ldots,y_{n}',0) - \phi^{r_{j}}(x_{k+1},\ldots,y_{n},0)| \\ &\leq 2C|w-w'|^{1/2} + \eta \\ &\leq 2C\eta^{1/2} + \eta. \end{split}$$

Since the requirements made on j depend on  $\eta$  and R but not on  $(x_{k+1}, \ldots, y_n, t) \in [-R, R]^{2n+1-k}$ , we have proved the existence of  $\bar{j}$  such that (4.22) holds. This concludes the proof.

# 4.4. H-regular submanifolds and H-rectifiable sets

In this section we briefly introduce submanifolds with intrinsic  $C^1$  regularity in Heisenberg groups together with the notion of  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability. We refer to [51] for a more comprehensive presentation.

Given an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{H}^n$ , we say that  $f: U \to \mathbb{R}$  is of class  $C^1_{\mathbb{H}}$  if f is continuous and its horizontal derivatives

$$\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f := (X_1 f, \dots, X_n f, Y_1 f, \dots, Y_n f)$$

are represented by continuous functions on U. In this case, we write  $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(U)$ . We agree that, for every  $p \in U$ ,  $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(p) \in \mathbb{R}^{2k}$  is identified with the horizontal vector

$$\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(p) := X_1 f(p) X_1 + \cdots + Y_n f(p) Y_n \in \mathfrak{h}_1.$$

**Definition 4.17.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$  be fixed. We say that  $S \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold (or a  $C^1_{\mathbb{H}}$ -submanifold) of codimension k if, for every  $p \in S$ , there exist an open neighbourhood  $U \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  of p and  $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(U, \mathbb{R}^k)$  such that

$$S \cap U = \{q \in U : f(q) = 0\}$$
 and  $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q)$  has rank k for all  $q \in U$ .

We also define the  $horizontal\ normal\ n_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$  to S at p as the horizontal k-vector

$$n_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := \frac{\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_{1}(p) \wedge \cdots \wedge \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_{k}(p)}{|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_{1}(p) \wedge \cdots \wedge \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f_{k}(p)|} \in \wedge_{k} \mathfrak{h}_{1}$$

and the (horizontal) tangent  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := *n_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \in \wedge_{2n+1-k} \mathfrak{h}$ .

In the definition of the tangent multivector  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}$ , the symbol \* denotes the Hodge operator. The latter, recalling the notation introduced in (3.4) and (3.5), can be defined as the linear isomorphism  $*: \wedge_k \mathfrak{h} \to \wedge_{2n+1-k} \mathfrak{h}$  such that

$$*W_I := (-1)^{\sigma(I)} W_{I^*}$$
 for every  $I \subset \{1, ..., 2n + 1\}$  such that  $|I| = k$ ,

where  $I^* := \{1, \ldots, 2n+1\} \setminus I$  and  $\sigma(I)$  denotes the number of couples  $(i, i^*) \in I \times I^*$  such that  $i > i^*$ . Equivalently, the sign  $(-1)^{\sigma(I)}$  can be defined by requiring that  $W_I \wedge W_{I^*} = (-1)^{\sigma(I)} W_{\{1, \ldots, 2n+1\}}$  and, all in all, this amounts to requiring that

$$v \wedge *v = |v|^2 X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_n \wedge T \qquad \forall v \in \wedge_* \mathfrak{h}$$

where the norm  $|\cdot|$  is the one associated with the canonical scalar product on multivectors making the basis  $W_I$  orthonormal. Notice that, if  $v = v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_k \in \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1$  is a simple horizontal k-vector, then  $*v = w \wedge T$  for some  $w \in \wedge_{2n-k} \mathfrak{h}_1$ . In particular, the horizontal tangent  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$  is in fact a vertical multivector; that is, it can be written as  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) = \tau_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \wedge T$  for a unique unit vector in  $\tau_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \in \wedge_{2n-k} \mathfrak{h}_1$ . Observe that, when S is of class  $C^1$ , the definition of  $\tau_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  is consistent with (3.30).

Both  $n_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  and  $t_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  are unit simple vectors. Observe that they are well-defined (even though only up to a sign); that is, independent from the choice of the defining function f. One way of proving this fact is by considering the blow-up of S at p; indeed, one has

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \delta_{1/r}(p^{-1}S) = \operatorname{Tan}_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p), \tag{4.23}$$

where the limit is taken with respect to the local Hausdorff convergence and  $\operatorname{Tan}_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := \exp(\operatorname{span} t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p))$ . See, for example, [51]. The (2n+1-k)-plane  $\operatorname{Tan}_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$  is a vertical plane according to Definition 3.2 and it is called *tangent plane* to S at p. As a consequence of Theorem 4.19 (see also [61, Lemma 3.4]), we have the weak convergence of measures

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \delta_{1/r}(p^{-1}S) \to \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \operatorname{Tan}_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p). \tag{4.24}$$

Also, the vector  $\tau_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  is defined only up to a sign; its geometric meaning is provided by the equality

$$\exp(\operatorname{span} \ \tau_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)) = \operatorname{Tan}_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \cap \exp(\mathfrak{h}_1).$$

**Remark 4.18.** Proposition 4.12 implies that the notation  $\operatorname{Tan}_S^{\mathbb{H}}$  introduced in (4.23) is consistent with the notation  $\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}$  of Definition 4.9. As a consequence, if  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  is open and the function  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  parametrises an  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold  $S = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  such that  $\operatorname{Tan}_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$  is complementary to  $\mathbb{V}$  for every  $p \in S$ , then  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at every point of A.

It is well-known that  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds are locally intrinsic Lipschitz graphs and that an integral formula can be provided for their spherical Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ . We resume these facts in the following statement, which summarises several results available in the (quite vast) literature and, in particular, [9, Theorem 4.2], [51, Theorem 4.1] and [33, formula (43)]; see also [4, 17, 18, 29, 32, 36, 35, 61, 70, 76]. It is worth recalling that the intrinsic Jacobian determinant  $J^{\phi}\phi$  was introduced in Definition 4.9.

**Theorem 4.19.** Let  $S \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold of codimension  $k \leq n$ . Then for every  $p \in S$  there exist an open neighbourhood U of p, an open set  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and an intrinsic Lipschitz  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  such that, up to an isometric  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ,

$$S \cap U = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$$
  
 $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable on  $A$   
 $\nabla^{\phi} \phi$  is continuous.

Moreover,

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E) = C_{n,k} \int_{\Phi^{-1}(E)} J^{\phi} \phi \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \qquad \text{for every Borel set } E \subset S \cap U, \tag{4.25}$$

where  $\Phi(w) := w\phi(w)$  and  $C_{n,k} > 0$  is the same constant as in Proposition 1.9.

**Remark 4.20.** As pointed out in [33], the area formula (4.25) holds more generally when  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are orthogonal (recall Remark 4.10).

**Remark 4.21.** As explained in [71] and [33], the exact value of the constant  $C_{n,k}$  (which, from the philological point of view, in the present article is introduced for the first time in Lemma 3.31) in Proposition 1.9 and Theorem 4.19 is

$$C_{n,k} = \left(\sup\left\{\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(\mathbb{W}\cap B(p,1)): p\in B(0,1)\right\}\right)^{-1}.$$

The rotational invariance of the distance d plays an important role; see [33, Theorem 2.12].

We now introduce intrinsic rectifiable sets in Heisenberg groups.

**Definition 4.22.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ; we say that  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is a  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable set of codimension k if  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(R) < \infty$  and there exists a finite or countable family  $(S_j)_j$  of  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds of codimension k such that

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}\left(R\setminus\bigcup_{j}S_{j}\right)=0.$$

We say that  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is a *locally*  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable set of codimension k if  $R \cap B(0,r)$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable of codimension k for every r > 0.

Later we will use the well-known fact that sets that are rectifiable (see, e.g., [42]) in the Euclidean sense are also  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable. As a matter of terminology, we say that a set  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$  is *locally Euclidean rectifiable* of codimension k if  $\mathcal{S}_{|\cdot|}^{2n+1-k} \sqcup R$  is a locally finite measure and there exists a finite or countable family  $(S_i)_i$  of Euclidean Lipschitz submanifolds of codimension k such that

$$\mathcal{S}_{|\cdot|}^{2n+1-k}(R\setminus\bigcup_{j}S_{j})=0,$$

where  $\mathcal{S}_{|\cdot|}^{2n+1-k}$  denotes the spherical Hausdorff measure with respect to the Euclidean distance on  $\mathbb{H}^n \equiv \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$ . If  $\mathcal{S}_{|\cdot|}^{2n+1-k}(R) < \infty$ , we say that R is *Euclidean rectifiable*.

**Proposition 4.23.** Let  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^{2n+1}$  be locally Euclidean rectifiable of codimension k,  $1 \leq k \leq n$ . Then R is also locally  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable of codimension k.

A proof of Proposition 4.23 can be found, for instance, in [51, Proposition 5.4].

We also recall that classical rectifiable sets of dimension m in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  can be equivalently defined as those sets with finite  $\mathcal{S}^m_{|\cdot|}$ -measure that can be covered, up to  $\mathcal{S}^m_{|\cdot|}$ -negligible sets, by a countable family of (possibly rotated or translated) graphs of Lipschitz maps  $\mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^{n-m}$ . As we will prove later in Corollary 7.4, a similar statement holds in Heisenberg groups; namely,  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable of codimension  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  if and only if  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(R) < \infty$  and there exists a countable family  $(\phi_j)_j$  of intrinsic Lipschitz maps  $\phi_j : \mathbb{W}_j \to \mathbb{V}_j$ , where  $\mathbb{W}_j, \mathbb{V}_j$  are homogeneous complementary subgroups of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with dim  $\mathbb{V}_j = k$ , such that

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}\left(R\setminus\bigcup_{j}\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{j}}\right)=0.$$

**Definition 4.24.** If  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is locally  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable and  $(S_j)_j$  is a family of  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds as in Definition 4.22, we define the *horizontal normal*  $n_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \in \wedge_k \mathfrak{h}_1$  at  $p \in R$  by

$$n_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := n_{S_i}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$$
 if  $p \in R \cap S_j$ .

Accordingly, we set  $t_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := *n_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \in \wedge_{2n+1-k} \mathfrak{h}$  and  $\mathrm{Tan}_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := \exp(\mathrm{span}(t_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p)))$ . Eventually, we define  $\tau_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \in \wedge_{2n-k} \mathfrak{h}_1$  by requiring that  $t_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) = \tau_R^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \wedge T$ .

The objects introduced in Definition 4.24 are well-defined  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -a.e. on R (as usual, up to a sign) because of the following well-known lemma, whose proof we sketch for the sake of completeness.

**Lemma 4.25.** Let  $S_1, S_2 \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  be  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds of codimension  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ; then

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(\{p \in S_1 \cap S_2 : n_{S_1}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \notin \{\pm n_{S_2}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)\}\}) = 0.$$

*Proof.* Let  $E:=\{p\in S_1\cap S_2:n^{\mathbb{H}}_{S_1}(p)\notin \{\pm n^{\mathbb{H}}_{S_2}(p)\}\}$ . For every  $p\in E$ , we have

$$\limsup_{r\to 0^+} \delta_{1/r}(p^{-1}E) \subset \limsup_{r\to 0^+} \delta_{1/r}(p^{-1}(S_1\cap S_2)) \subset \operatorname{Tan}_{S_1}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \cap \operatorname{Tan}_{S_2}^{\mathbb{H}}(p),$$

where the lim sup are taken with respect to the local Hausdorff topology. Since the right-hand side is a vertical plane of dimension at most 2n - k, the statement now follows from [77, Lemma B.3].

# 4.5. Currents induced by $C^1$ intrinsic graphs

We now want to study currents induced by  $C^1$  regular intrinsic graphs of codimension k in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with  $1 \le k \le n$ . Assume that a  $C^1$  map  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  is fixed; we introduce the family  $\nabla^{\phi} = (\nabla^{\phi}_{k+1}, \dots, \nabla^{\phi}_{2n})$  of vector fields on  $\mathbb{W}$  defined by

$$\nabla_{i}^{\phi} := \begin{cases} X_{i} & \text{if } k+1 \leq i \leq n \\ Y_{i-n} + \phi_{i-n}T = \partial_{y_{i-n}} + \phi_{i-n}\partial_{t} & \text{if } n+1 \leq i \leq n+k \\ Y_{i-n} & \text{if } n+k+1 \leq i \leq 2n. \end{cases}$$
(4.26)

The vectors  $\nabla_i^{\phi}$  are tangent to  $\mathbb{W}$  because so are  $X_{k+1}, \dots, Y_n, T$ . The family  $\nabla^{\phi}$  was introduced in [4] in the case of codimension 1 and in [32, 88] for codimension  $k \leq n$ .

**Remark 4.26.** The notation introduced in (4.26) is consistent with the one in Definition 4.9; in fact (see, e.g., [32, Proposition 3.7]), when  $\phi$  is of class  $C^1$ , the components of the matrix  $\nabla^{\phi}\phi(w)$  associated with the intrinsic differential  $d\phi_w$  are precisely the derivatives  $\nabla_i^{\phi}\phi_j(w)$  of  $\phi=(\phi_1,\ldots,\phi_k)$  along the directions  $\nabla_i^{\phi}$ .

Recalling the notation  $W_i$  and  $\Phi$  introduced in (3.4) and (4.7), one can differentiate the graph map  $\Phi$  along the directions  $\nabla_i^{\phi}$  to obtain that, for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ , the vectors

$$\nabla_i^{\phi} \Phi(w) = \left( W_i + \sum_{h=1}^k \nabla_i^{\phi} \phi_h(w) X_h \right) (\Phi(w)), \qquad i = k+1, \dots, 2n$$
 (4.27)

(which should be thought of as vectors in  $\Phi(w)$  that are continuous with respect to w) are horizontal and tangent to the submanifold  $S := \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  at the point  $\Phi(w)$ . The equality in (4.27) comes from a boring computation that we omit. Since the vectors  $\nabla_i^{\phi}\Phi(w)$ ,  $i = k + 1, \ldots, 2n$ , are also linearly independent, they generate the (2n - k)-dimensional subspace  $T_{\Phi(w)}S \cap \mathfrak{h}_1$ ; hence, the multivector

$$\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w) := \nabla^{\phi}_{k+1}\Phi(w) \wedge \dots \wedge \nabla^{\phi}_{2n}\Phi(w) \in \wedge_{2n-k}\mathfrak{h}_{1}$$
(4.28)

is a multiple of the unit multivector  $\tau_S^\mathbb{H}(\Phi(w))$  defined in Subsection 3.5.

**Remark 4.27.** It is worth noticing that the intrinsic Jacobian determinant  $J^{\phi}\phi(w)$  equals the norm  $|\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)|$  of the multivector  $\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)$ . As usual, the norm on multivectors is the one induced by the left-invariant scalar product making  $X_1, \ldots, Y_n, T$  orthonormal.

We state for future reference the following result, which is essentially a restatement of Theorem 1.6.

**Proposition 4.28.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  and  $\phi : A \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz. Then there exists a sequence  $(\phi_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  of  $C^{\infty}$  smooth and uniformly intrinsic Lipschitz maps  $\phi_i : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that

$$\phi_i \to \phi$$
 uniformly in A as  $i \to \infty$ .

Moreover, there exists C > 0, depending only on the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$  and the distance d, such that

$$|\nabla^{\phi_i}\Phi_i(w)| \leq C$$
 for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ ,

where  $\Phi_i$  is the graph map  $\mathbb{W} \ni w \mapsto w \phi_i(w) \in \mathbb{H}^n$ .

*Proof.* The first part of the statement is Theorem 1.6, while the second one is a consequence of Lemma 4.13, Remark 4.26 and (4.27).

Similar to (4.27), one gets

$$T\Phi(w) = \left(T + \sum_{h=1}^{k} T\phi_h(w)X_h\right)(\Phi(w)). \tag{4.29}$$

The vector fields in (4.27) and (4.29) generate the tangent space to S at  $\Phi(w)$ . We then fix the orientation of S is such a way that

$$t_S(\Phi(w)) := \frac{\nabla^{\phi} \Phi \wedge T\Phi}{|\nabla^{\phi} \Phi \wedge T\Phi|} \quad \text{is positively oriented for every } w \in \mathbb{W}. \tag{4.30}$$

Observe that  $\langle t_S, W_{k+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge W_{2n} \wedge T \rangle \neq 0$  on S. Actually, our choice of the orientation for S corresponds to declaring that a unit tangent vector  $t_S$  is positively oriented if and only if  $\langle t_S, W_{k+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge W_{2n} \wedge T \rangle > 0$  on S.

Recalling the notation introduced in (3.29), we deduce from (4.27), (4.29) and (4.30) that

$$\eta_S(\Phi(w)) = \frac{\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)}{|\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w) \wedge T\Phi(w)|},$$

which implies  $\tau_S^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(w)) = \nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)/|\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)|$  and, eventually,

$$t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(w)) = \frac{\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)}{|\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)|} \wedge T. \tag{4.31}$$

The multivector  $\nabla^{\phi}\Phi$  also allows characterising the Heisenberg current associated with a  $C^1$  intrinsic graph. The following lemma is an important tool used in the proof of Theorem 1.1.

**Lemma 4.29.** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be a  $C^1$  map and let the graph  $S := \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  be oriented as in (4.30). Then

$$\llbracket S \rrbracket(\omega) = C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle \nabla^{\phi} \Phi(w) \wedge T \mid \omega(\Phi(w)) \rangle \ d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) \qquad \text{for every } \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k},$$

where the constant  $C_{n,k} > 0$  is the one provided by Proposition 1.9.

*Proof.* We have for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \llbracket S \rrbracket(\omega) &= C_{n,k} \int_{S} \langle [t_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}} \mid \omega(p) \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p) \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle t_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(w)) \mid \omega(\Phi(w)) \rangle \, J^{\phi}\phi(w) \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \left\langle \frac{\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)}{|\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w)|} \wedge T \middle| \omega(\Phi(w)) \right\rangle \, J^{\phi}\phi(w) \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle \nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w) \wedge T \mid \omega(\Phi(w)) \rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w), \end{split}$$

where the first equality comes from Theorem 4.19 and a change of variable; the second one is justified by (4.31) and the last one by Remark 4.27.

## 5. The constancy theorem for Heisenberg currents

The classical constancy theorem (see, e.g., [42, 4.1.7] or [90, Theorem 26.27]) states that, if T is an n-dimensional current in a connected open set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\partial T = 0$ , then T is constant; that is, there exists  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $T(\omega) = c \int_U \omega$  for every smooth n-form  $\omega$  with compact support in U. The constancy theorem can be generalised (see, e.g., [65, Proposition 7.3.5]) to currents supported on an m-dimensional plane  $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ : if T is an m-current with support in  $\mathscr{P}$  and such that  $\partial T = 0$ , then there exists  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $T(\omega) = c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega$  for every smooth m-form  $\omega$  with compact support.

As mentioned in the Introduction, the version for planes of the constancy theorem implies the following fact (see [89, Theorem 4.2]): if  $R \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is an *m*-rectifiable set and  $T = \tau \mu$  is a normal *m*-current, where  $\mu$  is a Radon measure and  $\tau$  is a locally  $\mu$ -integrable *m*-vectorfield with  $\tau \neq 0$   $\mu$ -a.e., then

- (i)  $\mu \, \square \, R$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{H}^m \, \square \, R$ , and
- (ii)  $\tau$  is tangent to R at  $\mu$ -almost every point of R.

See also [42, 4.1.31] and [57, Example 10 at page 146] for simpler cases and [1, §5] and [2] for similar-in-spirit results.

A similar program is developed in the present section for currents in Heisenberg groups. First, in Subsection 5.1 we prove Proposition 5.3, where a partial version of the Constancy Theorem 1.7 is proved. Proposition 5.3 can also be seen as a particular case of Theorem 1.8, but actually the proof of Theorem 1.8 follows from Proposition 5.3 by a blow-up argument. The proof of Theorem 1.8 is developed in Subsection 5.2: observe that we are not able to prove any 'absolute continuity' statement analogous to (i) above but only a 'tangency' statement corresponding to (ii). As we said in the Introduction, this is due to the absence of a good notion of projection on planes. The proof of the Constancy Theorem 1.7 for Heisenberg currents without boundary and supported on vertical planes is contained in Subsection 5.3. Observe that here we are able to prove not only the 'tangency' property (ii) but also the 'absolute continuity' one (i); in fact, by using group convolutions on vertical planes one can reduce to the case in which ||T|| is already absolutely continuous.

### 5.1. A partial version of Theorem 1.7

For the reader's convenience, we recall some preliminary notation. First, given a Radon measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and a locally  $\mu$ -integrable function  $\tau : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$ , we denote by  $\tau \mu$  the Heisenberg (2n+1-k)-current defined by

$$\tau\mu(\omega) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \langle \tau(p) \mid \omega(p) \rangle \, d\mu(p), \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}.$$

Given natural numbers a, b such that  $1 \le a + b \le n$ , the (2a + b + 1)-dimensional vertical plane  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  was introduced in (3.11) as

$$\mathcal{P}_{a,b} := \{ (x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}^n : x_i = y_j = 0 \text{ for all } a + b + 1 \le i \le n \text{ and } a + 1 \le j \le n \}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \{ (x_1, \dots, x_{a+b}, 0, \dots, 0, y_1, \dots, y_a, 0, \dots, 0, t) \} & \text{if } a \ge 1 \text{ and } a + b < n \\ \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n, y_1, \dots, y_a, 0, \dots, 0, t) \} & \text{if } a \ge 1 \text{ and } a + b = n \\ \{ (x_1, \dots, x_b, 0, \dots, 0, t) \} & \text{if } a = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

We are interested in the case in which the codimension 2n-2a-b of  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  equals a given  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ; hence, we also assume that  $n \le 2a + b \le 2n - 1$ . Observe that, if a = 0, then necessarily b = n. A unit tangent vector to  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  is

$$t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} = X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T,$$

and we agree that, when a = 0, this expression has to be read as  $X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_n \wedge T$ . We also notice that (5.1) induces a natural identification between the subgroup  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{2a+b+1}$  according to which the measures  $\mathcal{S}^{2a+b+2}$  and  $\mathcal{L}^{2a+b+1}$ , being Haar measures on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ , coincide up to a multiplicative constant.

Lemma 5.1 is stated in the setting of maximal codimension k = n; however, it holds also for  $1 \le k \le n-1$ , as shown later in Lemma 5.2. We use the following notation: given  $i, j \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ , by  $O(x_i)$ ,  $O(x_i^2)$ ,  $O(x_ix_i)$  we denote smooth differential forms that can be written, respectively, as  $x_i\alpha, x_i^2\beta, x_ix_j\gamma$  for suitable smooth differential forms  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma$ . When applying exterior differentiation we will freely use straightforward formulae like  $d(O(x_i^2)) = O(x_i)$ ,  $d(O(x_i x_j)) = O(x_i) + O(x_j)$  and similar ones. Eventually, the equivalence class  $[\cdot]_{\mathcal{T}}$  is as in Remark 3.4.

**Lemma 5.1.** Let a, b be natural numbers such that 2a + b = n and let  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  be the (n+1)-plane defined in (5.1). Assume there exists  $\tau \in \mathcal{J}_{n+1}$  such that the Heisenberg (n+1)-current  $T := \tau \mathcal{S}^{n+2} \sqcup \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  is such that  $\partial T = 0$ . Then there exists  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\tau = \eta \; [X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}.$$

In particular,  $\tau$  is a multiple of  $[t_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$ .

*Proof.* We assume that  $a \ge 1$ ; the case a = 0 requires only simple modifications at the level of notation. We have to prove that there exists  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that, for every  $\lambda \in \mathcal{J}^{n+1}$ ,

$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \eta \, \langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \wedge T \mid \lambda \rangle. \tag{5.2}$$

Clearly, it is enough to check (5.2) for  $\lambda$  ranging in the basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{n+1}$  provided by Proposition 1.10 (with k := n). Fix  $I, J \subset \{1, \dots, n\}$  and a standard Young tableau R such that

- $I \cap J = \emptyset$  and  $|I| + |J| \le n$  and R is a  $(2 \times \frac{n |I| |J|}{2})$ -rectangular (recall Remark 3.25) tableau that contains the integers in the set  $\{1,\ldots,n\}\setminus (\tilde{I}\cup J).$

Testing  $X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T$  against  $\lambda = dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta$ , one realises that it is enough to show that

either 
$$I = \{a+1, \dots, a+b\}, J = \emptyset \text{ and } R = \boxed{\begin{array}{c|c} 1 & 2 & \cdots & a \\ \hline a+b+1 & a+b+2 & \cdots & n \end{array}}$$
 or  $\langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_I \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle = 0.$  (5.3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The measure  $\mathcal{L}^{2a+b+1}$  is a Haar one because  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  is canonically isomorphic to  $\mathbb{H}^a \times \mathbb{R}^b$ .

We are going to prove (5.3) first under some additional assumptions on I, J or R; see the following Claims 1, 2 and 3. We fix an auxiliary function  $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$  such that

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \psi \ d\mathcal{S}^{n+2} = 1.$$

Claim 1: If  $I \cap \{a+b+1,\ldots,n\} \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle = 0$ . Fix  $\bar{\iota} \in I \cap \{a+b+1,\ldots,n\}$  and define

$$\omega(x,y,t) := x_{\bar{t}}^2 \psi(x,y,t) dx_{I \setminus \{\bar{t}\}} \wedge dy_{J \cup \{\bar{t}\}} \wedge \alpha_R.$$

By identifying  $\omega \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n, \wedge^n \mathfrak{h}_1)$  with its equivalence class  $[\omega]$  according to the quotient in the right-hand side of (3.7), we have  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^n_{\mathbb{H}}$ . One easily computes

$$d\omega = \pm 2x_{\bar{i}} \, \psi(x, y, t) \, dxy_{\bar{i}} \wedge dx_{I \setminus \{\bar{i}\}} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{R} + O(x_{\bar{i}}^{2})$$

where the sign  $\pm$  depends only on  $\bar{i}$  and I and, in the sequel, it can change from line to line. We obtain

$$L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) = \pm 2x_{\bar{\imath}} \, \psi(x,y,t) \, dx_{I\setminus\{\bar{\imath}\}} \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R + O(x_{\bar{\imath}}^2)$$

and, in turn,

$$D\omega = d(\omega + (-1)^n L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_1}) \wedge \theta)$$
  
=  $\pm 2 \psi(x, y, t) dx_I \wedge dy_I \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta + O(x_{\overline{I}}).$ 

Since  $O(x_{\bar{i}}) = 0$  on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \mathsf{T}(D\omega) = \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \langle \tau \mid D\omega \rangle d\mathcal{S}^{n+2} \\ &= \pm 2 \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \psi \langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle d\mathcal{S}^{n+2} \\ &= \pm 2 \langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle \end{split}$$

and Claim 1 follows.

Claim 2: If  $J \cap \{a+1,\ldots,n\} \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle = 0$ . The proof is analogous to that of Claim 1. Fix  $\bar{\jmath} \in J \cap \{a+1,\ldots,n\}$  and define  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^n_{\mathbb{H}}$  by

$$\omega(x,y,t) := y_{\bar{I}}^2 \, \psi(x,y,t) \, dx_{I \cup \{\bar{I}\}} \wedge dy_{J \setminus \{\bar{I}\}} \wedge \alpha_R.$$

A computation similar to the one in Claim 1 gives

$$D\omega = \pm 2 \, \psi(x, y, t) dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta + O(y_{\bar{I}})$$

and, again,

$$0 = \partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \langle \tau \mid D\omega \rangle d\mathcal{S}^{n+2} = \pm 2 \langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle$$

allows us to conclude.

Claim 3: If the first row of R contains an element  $\bar{\imath}$  such that  $\bar{\imath} \geq a+1$ , then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle = 0$ .

We observe that, since R is a standard Young tableau, the assumption of Claim 3 is equivalent to R containing a column made by two elements  $\bar{\iota}$ ,  $\bar{\jmath}$  such that  $a+1 \leq \bar{\iota} < \bar{\jmath} \leq n$ . Define  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^n_{\mathbb{H}}$  by

$$\omega(x, y, t) := y_{\bar{t}} y_{\bar{t}} \psi(x, y, t) dx_{I \cup \{\bar{t}, \bar{t}\}} \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_Q,$$

where Q is the standard Young tableau obtained by removing from R the column containing  $\bar{i}$ ,  $\bar{j}$  (for instance, Q is the empty tableau if R consists of the column  $\bar{i}$ ,  $\bar{j}$  only). One has

$$\begin{split} d\omega &= \psi(x,y,t) \big( y_{\bar{I}} \, dy_{\bar{I}} + y_{\bar{I}} \, dy_{\bar{J}} \big) \wedge dx_{I \cup \{\bar{I},\bar{J}\}} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} + O(y_{\bar{I}}y_{\bar{J}}) \\ &= \psi(x,y,t) \left[ (-1)^{c+1} y_{\bar{I}} \, dxy_{\bar{I}} \wedge dx_{I \cup \{\bar{I}\}} + (-1)^{d+2} y_{\bar{I}} \, dxy_{\bar{I}} \wedge dx_{I \cup \{\bar{I}\}} \right] \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} + O(y_{\bar{I}}y_{\bar{J}}) \end{split}$$

where

$$c := |\{i \in I : i < \bar{\imath}\}|$$

$$d := |\{i \in I : i < \bar{\imath}\}| = |\{i \in I \cup \{\bar{\imath}\} : i < \bar{\imath}\}| - 1.$$

Then

$$L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}}) = -\psi(x, y, t) \left[ (-1)^{c+1} y_{\bar{I}} dx_{I \cup \{\bar{I}\}} + (-1)^{d} y_{\bar{I}} dx_{I \cup \{\bar{I}\}} \right] \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{O} + O(y_{\bar{I}} y_{\bar{I}})$$

and, in turn,

$$D\omega = d(\omega + (-1)^{n}L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}}) \wedge \theta)$$

$$= (-1)^{n+1} \psi(x, y, t) \left[ (-1)^{c+1} dy_{\bar{j}} \wedge dx_{I \cup \{\bar{j}\}} + (-1)^{d} dy_{\bar{i}} \wedge dx_{I \cup \{\bar{i}\}} \right] \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} \wedge \theta$$

$$+ O(y_{\bar{i}}) + O(y_{\bar{j}})$$

$$= (-1)^{n+1} \psi(x, y, t) \left[ (-1)^{c+d+2} dxy_{\bar{j}} \wedge dx_{I} + (-1)^{c+d+1} dxy_{\bar{i}} \wedge dx_{I} \right] \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} \wedge \theta$$

$$+ O(y_{\bar{i}}) + O(y_{\bar{j}})$$

$$= \pm \psi(x, y, t) (dxy_{\bar{j}} - dxy_{\bar{i}}) \wedge dx_{I} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} \wedge \theta + O(y_{\bar{i}}) + O(y_{\bar{j}})$$

$$= \mp \psi(x, y, t) dx_{I} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{R} \wedge \theta + O(x_{\bar{i}}) + O(x_{\bar{i}}).$$

As before, we obtain

$$0 = \partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \langle \tau \mid D\omega \rangle d\mathcal{S}^{n+2} = \mp \langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle$$

and the claim is proved.

Claim 4: (5.3) holds.

We already know that (5.3) holds in case I, J, R satisfy any one of the assumptions in Claims 1, 2 and 3. We then assume that none of such assumptions hold; that is, that

$$I \subset \{1, \dots, a+b\}$$
and  $J \subset \{1, \dots, a\}$  (5.4)

and the elements in the first row of R are not greater than a,

and we prove that necessarily

$$I = \{a+1, \dots, a+b\}, \quad J = \emptyset \quad \text{and} \quad R = \boxed{\begin{array}{c|c} 1 & 2 & \cdots & a \\ \hline a+b+1 & a+b+2 & \cdots & n \end{array}}.$$
 (5.5)

This would be enough to conclude.

The first two conditions in (5.4) imply that all of the n-a-b=a integers  $a+b+1, \ldots, n$  appear in R. They all belong to the second row of R by the third condition in (5.4); hence, R has at least a columns. Therefore, the first row of R contains at least a elements, all of them not greater than a. It follows that the first row of R contains precisely  $1, \ldots, a$  (displayed in this order) and that, in turn, the second row of R contains precisely  $a+b+1, \ldots, n$  (displayed in this order). In particular, R is the one displayed in (5.5). The remaining integers  $a+1, \ldots, a+b$ , not appearing in R, have to belong to either I or I; the second condition in (5.4) implies that they all belong to I, and the proof is concluded.

Lemma 5.1 also holds for nonmaximal codimension k < n, as we now prove. The reader will easily notice the similarity between the two proofs, the main difference lying in the use of the standard exterior differentiation d in place of Rumin's operator D.

**Lemma 5.2.** Let a, b be natural numbers such that  $1 \le a + b \le n$  and  $n + 1 \le 2a + b \le 2n$ ; let  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  be the plane defined in (5.1). Assume there exists  $\tau \in \mathcal{J}_{2a+b+1}$  such that the Heisenberg (2a+b+1)-current  $T := \tau \mathcal{S}^{2a+b+2} \sqcup \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  is such that  $\partial T = 0$ . Then there exists  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\tau = \eta \; [X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}.$$

In particular,  $\tau$  is a multiple of  $[t_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$ .

*Proof.* Observe that necessarily  $a \ge 1$ . We assume also that  $b \ge 1$  and omit the simple modifications one has to perform in order to treat the case b = 0.

As in Lemma 5.1, we have to prove that (5.2) holds for every  $\lambda$  in the basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2a+b+1}$  provided by Proposition 1.10 (with k := 2n - 2a - b). To this aim, fix  $I, J \subset \{1, ..., n\}$  and a standard Young tableau R such that

- $I \cap J = \emptyset$  and  $|I| + |J| \le 2n 2a b$ ;
- *R* contains the integers in the set  $\{1, ..., n\} \setminus (I \cup J)$ ;
- the first row of R has length  $\ell := (2a + b |I| |J|)/2$  and the second one has length (2n 2a b |I| |J|)/2.

Let us observe that the lengths of the two rows of R are never equal; actually, the difference between these lengths is fixed and equal to  $2a + b - n \ge 1$ ; see also Remark 3.25. In particular, the rightmost element in the first row of R belongs to a column of height 1 (there is no element in the second row 'below it').

The proof will be accomplished if we prove that

either 
$$\begin{cases} I = \{a+1, \dots, a+b\} \\ J = \emptyset \end{cases}$$

$$R = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & \dots & n-a-b & n-a-b+1 & \dots & a \\ \hline a+b+1 & a+b+2 & \dots & n \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.6)

or 
$$\langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle = 0.$$
 (5.7)

In the following Claims 1, 2 and 3 we prove that (5.7) holds under some additional assumptions on I, J or R; the argument will be completed later in Claim 4. We again fix an auxiliary function  $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$  such that

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \psi \ d\mathcal{S}^{2a+b+2} = 1.$$

Claim 1: If  $I \cap \{a+b+1,\ldots,n\} \neq \emptyset$ , then (5.7) holds.

Fix  $\bar{\iota} \in I \cap \{a+b+1,\ldots,n\}$  and define  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2a+b}_{\mathbb{H}}$  by

$$\omega(x, y, t) := x_{\bar{t}} \psi(x, y, t) dx_{I \setminus \{\bar{t}\}} \wedge dy_{I} \wedge \alpha_{O} \wedge \theta,$$

where Q is the Young tableau whose first row is equal to that of R and whose second row is made by the second row of R with the addition of the extra element  $\bar{\imath}$  in the rightmost position. Namely, denoting by  $\ell$  and r, with  $\ell > r$ , the lengths of the first and second rows of R, respectively, we have

$$Q = \frac{R_1^1 \ \cdots \ R_r^1 \ R_{r+1}^1 \ \cdots \ R_{\ell}^1}{R_1^2 \ \cdots \ R_r^2 \ \bar{\iota}}.$$

The Young tableau Q is not necessarily a standard one; nonetheless,  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2a+b}$  by Remark 3.26. One can compute

$$d\omega = \pm \psi(x, y, t) \ dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_Q \wedge \theta + O(x_{\bar{i}})$$
  
= \pm \psi(x, y, t) \ dx\_I \wedge dy\_J \wedge \alpha\_R \wedge \theta + O(x\_{\bar{i}}),

where the second equality is justified by the fact that  $dx_I \wedge \alpha_Q$  contains a factor  $dx_{\bar{i}} \wedge (dxy_h - dxy_{\bar{i}}) = dx_{\bar{i}} \wedge dxy_h$  for a suitable h (namely,  $h = R_{r+1}^1$ ) appearing in the first row of R. Since  $O(x_{\bar{i}}) = 0$  on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ , one gets

$$0 = \partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \mathsf{T}(d\omega) = \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \langle \tau \mid d\omega \rangle d\mathcal{S}^{2a+b+2} = \pm \langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle$$

and Claim 1 follows.

Claim 2: If  $J \cap \{a+1,\ldots,n\} \neq \emptyset$ , then (5.7) holds.

The proof is similar to that of Claim 1. Fix  $\bar{j} \in J \cap \{a+1,\ldots,n\}$  and define  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2a+b}$  as

$$\omega(x, y, t) := y_{\bar{t}} \psi(x, y, t) dx_{\bar{t}} \wedge dy_{J \setminus \{\bar{t}\}} \wedge \alpha_{O} \wedge \theta,$$

where Q is the Young tableau whose first row is equal to that of R and whose second row is made by the second row of R with the addition of the extra element  $\bar{j}$  in the rightmost position. Again,  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2a+b}$  because of Remark 3.26. One can compute

$$d\omega = \pm \psi(x, y, t) dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_Q \wedge \theta + O(y_{\bar{J}})$$
  
=  $\pm \psi(x, y, t) dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta + O(y_{\bar{J}}),$ 

where, as before, the second equality is justified by the fact that  $dy_J \wedge \alpha_Q$  contains a factor  $dy_{\bar{J}} \wedge (dxy_h - dxy_{\bar{I}}) = dy_{\bar{I}} \wedge dxy_h$  for a suitable h appearing in the first row of R. We deduce that

$$0 = \partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \mathsf{T}(d\omega) = \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \langle \tau \mid d\omega \rangle d\mathcal{S}^{2a+b+2} = \pm \langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle$$

and Claim 2 follows.

Claim 3: If the first row of R contains an element  $\bar{j}$  such that  $\bar{j} \geq a+1$ , then (5.7) holds.

Since R is a standard Young tableau, the rightmost element in the first row of R is not smaller than a+1; we can then assume that  $\bar{\jmath}$  is precisely this element. As already noticed, there is no element in the second row of R 'below'  $\bar{\jmath}$ . Consider the form  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2a+b}_{\mathbb{R}}$  defined by

$$\omega(x, y, t) := y_{\bar{I}} \psi(x, y, t) \, dx_{I \cup \{\bar{I}\}} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} \wedge \theta,$$

where Q is the (possibly empty) tableau obtained from R by removing the rightmost entry (i.e.,  $\bar{J}$ ) of the first row. Since Q is a (possibly empty) standard Young tableau containing the same elements of R except for  $\bar{J}$ , we have  $\omega \wedge d\theta = 0$  and, in particular,  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2a+b}$ . Since

$$d\omega = \psi(x, y, t) dy_{\bar{J}} \wedge dx_{I \cup \{\bar{J}\}} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} \wedge \theta + O(y_{\bar{J}})$$
  
=  $\pm \psi(x, y, t) dx_{I} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{Q} \wedge dxy_{\bar{J}} \wedge \theta + O(y_{\bar{J}})$   
=  $\pm \psi(x, y, t) dx_{I} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{R} \wedge \theta + O(y_{\bar{J}}),$ 

we deduce as before that

$$0 = \partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \mathsf{T}(d\omega) = \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \langle \tau \mid d\omega \rangle d\mathcal{S}^{2a+b+2} = \pm \langle \tau \mid dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \rangle$$

and Claim 3 follows.

Claim 4: At least one between (5.6) and (5.7) holds.

We know that (5.7) holds if I, J, R satisfy any one of the assumptions of Claims 1, 2 and 3. We then assume that none of such assumptions holds; that is, that

$$I \subset \{1, \dots, a+b\}$$
 and  $J \subset \{1, \dots, a\}$  (5.8)

and the elements in the first row of R are not greater than a,

and we prove that (5.6) holds.

By (5.8), all of the integers  $a + b + 1, \ldots, n$  appear in the second row of R. The length of such a row is then at least n - a - b. Since the difference between the lengths of the rows of R is equal to 2a + b - n, the length of the first row of R is at least a. By the third condition in (5.8), the first row of R contains at most a elements; hence, it contains precisely the a elements  $1, \ldots, a$  (in this order). In turn, the second row contains n - a - b elements, which are forced to be the numbers  $a + b + 1, \ldots, n$  (in this order). In particular, R is the one displayed in (5.6). The remaining integers  $a + 1, \ldots, a + b$ , not appearing in R, have to belong to either I or J; the second condition in (5.8) implies that they all belong to I, and the proof is concluded.

Proposition 3.13 allows extending Lemmata 5.1 and 5.2 to general vertical planes (Definition 3.2).

**Proposition 5.3.** Let  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ,  $\tau \in \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  and a vertical (2n+1-k)-plane  $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  be fixed; assume that the current  $T := \tau \mathscr{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \mathscr{P}$  is such that  $\partial T = 0$ . Then there exists  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\tau = \eta \ [t_{\mathcal{P}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}.$$

*Proof.* By Proposition 3.13 there exists an  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism  $\mathcal{L}: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  such that  $\mathcal{L}(\mathscr{P}) = \mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  and  $\mathcal{L}^*(d\theta) = d\theta$ . Consider the push-forward  $\mathcal{L}_{\#}\mathsf{T}$  of  $\mathsf{T}$ ; that is, the Heisenberg (2n+1-k)-current defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\#}\mathsf{T}(\omega) := \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}^*(\omega)), \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}.$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\#}(\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, \sqcup \, \mathcal{P})(E) := \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(\mathcal{L}^{-1}(E) \cap \mathcal{P}), \qquad E \subset \mathbb{H}^n,$$

is a Haar measure on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  and, in particular,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\#}(\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, | \, \mathcal{P}) = \gamma \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, | \, \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$$

for a suitable  $\gamma > 0$ . It follows that for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n+1-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\#}\mathsf{T}(\omega) = \int_{\mathscr{P}} \langle \tau \mid \mathcal{L}^{*}(\omega) \rangle \; d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} = \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \langle \gamma \mathcal{L}_{*}(\tau) \mid \omega \rangle \; d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_*: \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k} \to \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  is the isomorphism defined by

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_*(\tau) \mid \lambda \rangle := \langle \tau \mid \mathcal{L}^*(\lambda) \rangle \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}.$$
 (5.9)

Observe that we are implicitly using Proposition 3.11. By Corollary 3.12, the current  $\mathcal{L}_{\#}T = \gamma \mathcal{L}_{*}(\tau) \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, | \, \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  has zero boundary; therefore, Lemma 5.1 (if k=n) or Lemma 5.2 (if  $1 \leq k < n$ ) implies that there exists  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\gamma \, \mathcal{L}_*(\tau) = \eta [t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}}]_{\mathcal{J}} = \eta \, C \, [\mathcal{L}_*(t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathcal{P}})]_{\mathcal{J}} = \eta \, C \, \mathcal{L}_*[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathcal{P}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$$

for a suitable  $C \neq 0$  depending on  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathscr{P}$ . Since  $\mathcal{L}_* : \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k} \to \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  is an isomorphism, we obtain that  $\tau = \eta C \gamma^{-1} [t_{\mathscr{D}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathscr{J}}$  and the proof is concluded.

## 5.2. Proof of Theorem 1.8

We now prove Theorem 1.8. Recall once again that, for  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , the space  $\mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  was introduced as the dual space to  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$ . However, we need to also introduce the dual space to Rumin's space  $\wedge^n \mathfrak{h}/\mathcal{I}^n$  and, for convenience of notation, we will denote such dual space by  $\mathcal{J}_n$ . The spaces  $\mathcal{J}_n$  and  $\mathcal{J}_{n+1}, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_{2n}$  are endowed, respectively, with the operator norm  $|\cdot|$  arising from either the norm on  $\wedge^n \mathfrak{h}/\mathcal{I}^n$  introduced in (3.28) or the standard norm on  $\mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k} \subset \wedge^{2n+1-k} \mathfrak{h}, k = 1, \ldots, n$ .

*Proof of Theorem 1.8.* Without loss of generality, we can assume that R is a  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold S. We have to prove that there exists  $\zeta: S \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) = \zeta(p)[t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}} \quad \text{for } ||\mathsf{T}||_a\text{-a.e. } p \in S. \tag{5.10}$$

Since  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup S$  is locally (Q-k)-Ahlfors regular, we can differentiate the measure  $\|\mathsf{T}\|$  with respect to  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup S$ ; see, for example, [90, Theorem 4.7 and Remark 4.5]. In particular, we can write  $\|\mathsf{T}\|_a = f\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup S$  for a suitable  $f \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup S)$  and, for  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -a.e.  $p \in S$ , one has

$$\int_{S \cap B(p,r)} |f \vec{\mathsf{T}} - f(p) \vec{\mathsf{T}}(p)| \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} = o\left(\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(S \cap B(p,r))\right) = o(r^{Q-k}) \tag{5.11}$$

and

$$\|\mathsf{T}\|_{s}(B(p,r)) = o(r^{Q-k}).$$
 (5.12)

Statement (5.10) (and then Theorem 1.8) reduces to proving that there exists  $\eta: S \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$f(p)\vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) = \eta(p)[t_S^{\mathbb{H}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}} \quad \text{for } \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}\text{-a.e. } p \in S.$$
 (5.13)

Since  $\partial T$  also has locally finite mass, by Riesz's theorem (recall also Remark 3.30) there exist a Radon measure  $\nu$  and a locally  $\nu$ -integrable function  $\sigma: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathcal{J}_{2n-k}$  such that  $|\sigma| = 1$   $\nu$ -a.e. and  $\partial T = \sigma \nu$ ; that is,

$$\partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \int \langle \sigma \mid \omega \rangle \, d\nu, \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n-k}_{\mathbb{H}}.$$

Differentiating  $\nu$  with respect to  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup S$ , we obtain that for  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -a.e.  $p \in S$ ,

$$\nu(B(p,r)) = O\left(\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(S \cap B(p,r))\right) = O(r^{Q-k}). \tag{5.14}$$

We claim that (5.13) holds for those  $p \in S$  for which (5.11), (5.12) and (5.14) hold. This would be enough to conclude.

Let such a p be fixed. For r > 0, consider the map  $\mathcal{L}_{p,r} : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  defined by  $\mathcal{L}_{p,r}(q) := \delta_{1/r}(p^{-1}q)$  and the push-forward  $T_{p,r} := \mathcal{L}_{p,r\#}T$ ; that is, the current

$$\mathsf{T}_{p,r}(\omega) := \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{p,r}^*\omega), \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}.$$

Observe that, by homogeneity and left-invariance, the equality  $\mathcal{L}_{p,r}^*\omega = r^{-(Q-k)}(\omega \circ \mathcal{L}_{p,r})$  holds for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}$ . If  $\bar{r} > 0$  is such that spt  $\omega \subset B(0,\bar{r})$ , one gets

$$\begin{split} \lim_{r \to 0^{+}} \mathsf{T}_{p,r}(\omega) &= \lim_{r \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{r^{Q-k}} \int_{B(p,r\bar{r})} \langle \vec{\mathsf{T}} \mid \omega \circ \mathcal{L}_{p,r} \rangle \, d \| \mathsf{T} \| \\ &\stackrel{(5.12)}{=} \lim_{r \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{r^{Q-k}} \int_{S \cap B(p,r\bar{r})} \langle f \vec{\mathsf{T}} \mid \omega \circ \mathcal{L}_{p,r} \rangle \, d \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \\ &\stackrel{(5.11)}{=} \lim_{r \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{r^{Q-k}} \int_{S \cap B(p,r\bar{r})} \langle f(p) \vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) \mid \omega \circ \mathcal{L}_{p,r} \rangle \, d \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \end{split}$$

and a change of variables gives

$$\begin{split} \lim_{r \to 0^+} \mathsf{T}_{p,r}(\omega) &= \lim_{r \to 0^+} \int_{\delta_{1/r}(p^{-1}S) \cap B(0,\bar{r})} \langle f(p) \vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) \mid \omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \\ &= \lim_{r \to 0^+} \int_{\delta_{1/r}(p^{-1}S)} \langle f(p) \vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) \mid \omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}. \end{split}$$

By (4.24) we can define the limit current  $T_{\infty}$  as

$$\mathsf{T}_{\infty}(\omega) := \lim_{r \to 0^{+}} \mathsf{T}_{p,r}(\omega) = \int_{\mathsf{Tan}_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)} \langle f(p) \vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) \mid \omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}, \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}.$$

The current  $T_{\infty}$  is supported on the plane  $\operatorname{Tan}_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$ . We now study its boundary and observe that for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n-k}$ ,

$$\partial \mathsf{T}_{\infty}(\omega) = \mathsf{T}_{\infty}(d_C\omega) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \mathsf{T}_{p,r}(d_C\omega) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{p,r}^* d_C\omega)$$

and by Corollary 3.12

$$, \partial \mathsf{T}_{\infty}(\omega) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \mathsf{T}(d_C \mathcal{L}_{p,r}^* \omega) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \partial \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{p,r}^* \omega) = \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \langle \sigma \mid \mathcal{L}_{p,r}^* \omega \rangle \, d\nu.$$

By homogeneity, we have  $\mathcal{L}_{p,r}^*\omega = r^{-\Delta}(\omega \circ \mathcal{L}_{p,r})$ , where  $\Delta$  is the homogeneity degree of  $\omega$  and

$$\Delta = Q - k - 2 = n$$
 if  $k = n$   

$$\Delta = Q - k - 1$$
 if  $1 \le k \le n - 1$ .

We then obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial \mathsf{T}_{\infty}(\omega)| &= \lim_{r \to 0^{+}} r^{-\Delta} \left| \int_{\mathbb{H}^{n}} \langle \sigma \mid \omega \circ \mathcal{L}_{p,r} \rangle \, d\nu \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{r \to 0^{+}} r^{-\Delta + Q - k} \, \frac{\nu(B(p, r\bar{r}))}{r^{Q - k}} \, \sup |\omega| = 0, \end{aligned}$$

the last equality following from (5.14) and the inequality  $\Delta < Q - k$ .

The current  $\mathsf{T}_{\infty} = f(p) \vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \mathsf{Tan}_{\mathsf{S}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)$  is such that  $\partial \mathsf{T}_{\infty} = 0$ . By Proposition 5.3 there exists  $\eta = \eta(p) \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$f(p)\vec{\mathsf{T}}(p) = \eta[t_{\mathrm{Tan}_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}} = \eta[t_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}}$$

and the proof is accomplished.

## 5.3. The constancy theorem in Heisenberg groups

In this section we prove Theorem 1.7. We start by establishing some standard facts inspired by classical results about mollification of distributions. Given  $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ , let a, b be fixed nonnegative integers such that  $1 \le a + b \le n$  and 2a + b = 2n - k. Consider the vertical plane  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  defined in (5.1); let us fix a mollification kernel  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathscr{P}_{a,b})$  such that

$$\int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \varphi \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{spt} \varphi \subset B(0,1) \cap \mathscr{P}_{a,b}.$$

As usual, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  we define the rescaled kernels  $\varphi_{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{k-Q} (\varphi \circ \delta_{1/\varepsilon})$  and, given a Heisenberg (2n+1-k)-current T with support in  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ , we define the Heisenberg (2n+1-k)-current  $T_{\varepsilon}$  as

$$\mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon}(\omega) := \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p) \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{p}^{*}\omega) \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p), \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k} \tag{5.15}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_p(q) := pq$  denotes left-translation by  $p \in \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ .

**Lemma 5.4.** Let T be a Heisenberg (2n+1-k)-current with support in  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  and with locally finite mass; for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , consider  $T_{\varepsilon}$  as in (5.15). Then the following statements hold:

- (i)  $T_{\varepsilon}$  has support in  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ ;
- (ii)  $T_{\varepsilon} \to T$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ ; that is,  $T_{\varepsilon}(\omega) \to T(\omega)$  for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}$ ; (iii) there exists a  $C^{\infty}$ -smooth map  $\tau_{\varepsilon} : \mathcal{P}_{a,b} \to \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  such that  $T_{\varepsilon} = \tau_{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ ;
- (iv) if  $\partial T = 0$ , then  $\partial T_{\varepsilon} = 0$ .

*Proof.* The statement in (i) is clear: in fact, if  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}$  is such that spt  $\omega \cap \mathscr{P}_{a,b} = \emptyset$ , then  $\operatorname{spt} \mathcal{L}_p^* \omega \cap \mathcal{P}_{a,b} = \emptyset \text{ for every } p \in \mathcal{P}_{a,b} \text{ and } \mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon}(\omega) = 0.$ 

Concerning (ii), let  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n+1-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$  be fixed and let R > 0 be such that spt  $\omega \subset B(0,R)$ . Writing  $T = \vec{T} ||T||$  as in Remark 3.30, we estimate

$$\begin{split} |\mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon}(\omega) - \mathsf{T}(\omega)| &= \left| \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p) \, \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_p^* \omega - \omega) \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p) \right| \\ &\leq \sup_{p \in \mathscr{P}_{a,b} \cap B(0,\varepsilon)} \|\mathcal{L}_p^* \omega - \omega\|_{C^0(B(0,R+\varepsilon))} \|\mathsf{T}\| (B(0,R+\varepsilon)) \end{split}$$

and, in particular,  $T_{\varepsilon}(\omega) \to T(\omega)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ .

Since  $\mathcal{L}_p^*\omega(q) = \omega(pq)$ , statement (iii) follows from

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon}(\omega) &= \int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p) \, \langle \vec{\mathsf{T}}(q) \mid \omega(pq) \rangle \, d \| \mathsf{T} \| (q) \, d \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \left\langle \int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(pq^{-1}) \vec{\mathsf{T}}(q) \, d \| \mathsf{T} \| (q) \, \Big| \, \omega(p) \right\rangle d \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p). \end{split}$$

Eventually, if  $\partial T = 0$  one has

$$\partial \mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon}(\omega) = \mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon}(d_{C}\omega) = \int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p) \mathsf{T}(d_{C}(\mathcal{L}_{p}^{*}\omega)) \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p) = 0, \tag{5.16}$$

where we used Corollary 3.12.

**Remark 5.5.** One can more generally observe that, as in (5.16),

$$\partial \mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon}(\omega) = \int_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(p) \; \partial \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{p}^{*}\omega) \; d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p);$$

that is,  $\partial \mathsf{T}_{\varepsilon} = (\partial \mathsf{T})_{\varepsilon}$ .

For the reader's convenience, we separate the proof of Theorem 1.7 in the cases k = n and  $1 \le k \le n - 1$ ; as one can expect, the former is computationally more demanding because of the use of the second-order operator D.

It is convenient to fix some notation. If R is a Young tableau and the elements displayed in R are all different, by abuse of notation we write  $\sum_{k \in R}$  to denote summation on all of the elements k displayed in R. Moreover, if R is rectangular and k is an element displayed in R, we denote by  $[R \setminus k]$  the (possibly empty) Young tableau obtained from R by removing the column containing k. For instance, if

$$R = \frac{1 \ | \ 2 \ | \ 3}{0 \ | \ 9 \ | \ 5}$$

then

Proof of Theorem 1.7, case k=n. Reasoning as in Proposition 5.3, by Proposition 3.13 one can assume without loss of generality that  $\mathscr{P}=\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  for some nonnegative integers a,b such that 2a+b=n. Moreover, by Lemma 5.4 it is not restrictive to assume that  $T=\tau\mathscr{S}^{n+2} \sqcup \mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  for a suitable  $C^{\infty}$ -smooth  $\tau:\mathscr{P}_{a,b}\to \mathcal{J}_{n+1}$ . By Theorem 1.8,  $\tau$  can be written as  $\tau=\varphi_{\tau}[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$  for some  $\varphi_{\tau}\in C^{\infty}(\mathscr{P}_{a,b})$ ; let us prove that  $\varphi_{\tau}$  is constant on  $\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$ .

We are going to utilise test *n*-forms  $\omega = f dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R$ , where  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$  and the triple (I, J, R) is as in Proposition 1.10 (with k = n); in particular, R is rectangular. As usual,  $\omega$  is a smooth section of  $\wedge^n \mathfrak{h}_1$ , but we identify  $\omega$  with an element in  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^n$  as in (3.7). By (3.8) we have

$$D\omega = (d\omega)_{\mathfrak{p}} + \theta \wedge d(L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}})). \tag{5.17}$$

Taking into account that

$$\begin{split} d\omega &= \sum_{i \in I} (Y_i f) dy_i \wedge dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R + \sum_{j \in J} (X_j f) dx_j \wedge dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \\ &+ \sum_{k \in R} ((X_k f) dx_k + (Y_k f) dy_k) \wedge dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R + (T f) \theta \wedge dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R, \end{split}$$

we obtain

$$(d\omega)_{\mathbf{p}} = (Tf)\theta \wedge dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \tag{5.18}$$

and

$$L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}}) = \sum_{i \in I} \pm (Y_{i}f) dx_{I \setminus \{i\}} \wedge dy_{J} \wedge \alpha_{R} + \sum_{j \in J} \pm (X_{j}f) dx_{I} \wedge dy_{J \setminus \{j\}} \wedge \alpha_{R}$$

$$+ \sum_{k \in R} \left( \pm (X_{k}f) dx_{I \cup \{k\}} \wedge dy_{J} \pm (Y_{k}f) dx_{I} \wedge dy_{J \cup \{k\}} \right) \wedge \alpha_{[R \setminus k]}.$$

$$(5.19)$$

The signs  $\pm$  appearing in (5.19) could be easily specified, but they are in fact irrelevant for our purposes. Let us fix

$$\overline{I} := \{a+1, \dots, a+b\}, \quad \overline{J} := \emptyset \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{R} := \boxed{ \begin{array}{c|cccc} 1 & 2 & \cdots & a \\ \hline a+b+1 & a+b+2 & \cdots & n \end{array} }.$$

If a=0, then b=n,  $\overline{I}=\{1,\ldots,n\}$  and  $\overline{R}$  is the empty tableau. If b=0, then a=n/2 and  $\overline{I}=\emptyset$ . Assume  $a\geq 1$ , fix a column of  $\overline{R}$  and let  $\alpha,\gamma$  be its elements, with  $\alpha<\gamma$ ; in particular,  $\gamma=\alpha+n-a$ . On choosing

$$I := \overline{I} \cup \{\alpha\}, \quad J := \{\gamma\} \quad \text{and} \quad R := [\overline{R} \setminus \alpha]$$
  
 $f(x, y, t) := x_{\gamma} g(x, y, t) \quad \text{for an arbitrary } g \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^{n})$ 

one gets from (5.18) and (5.19)

$$(d\omega)_{\mathfrak{v}} = O(x_{\gamma}) = 0$$
 on  $\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$ ,

where we used the notation introduced before Lemma 5.1, and

$$\theta \wedge d(L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}})) = \pm (Y_{\alpha}X_{\gamma}f)dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge dy_{\overline{J}} \wedge \alpha_{R} \wedge dxy_{\alpha} \wedge \theta + O(x_{\gamma}) + \sigma$$
$$= \pm (Y_{\alpha}g)dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge dy_{\overline{I}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta + O(x_{\gamma}) + \sigma$$

where, here and in the following,  $\sigma$  denotes a form (which may vary from line to line) in the annihilator of  $[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathcal{P}_{a,b}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$ ; equivalently,  $\langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T \mid \sigma \rangle = 0$ . In particular,  $\langle \tau \mid \sigma \rangle = 0$  and from (5.17) we obtain

$$0 = \mathsf{T}(D\omega) = \pm \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\tau}(Y_{\alpha}g) \, d\mathscr{L}^{n+1} \quad \text{for every } g \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^{n}). \tag{5.20}$$

In a similar way, on choosing

$$I := \overline{I} \cup \{\gamma\}, \quad J := \{\alpha\} \quad \text{and} \quad R := [\overline{R} \setminus \alpha]$$
  
  $f(x, y, t) := y_{\gamma} g(x, y, t) \quad \text{for an arbitrary } g \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^{n})$ 

one again gets  $(d\omega)_{\mathfrak{v}} = O(y_{\gamma}) = 0$  on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  and

$$\begin{split} \theta \wedge d(L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}})) &= \pm (X_{\alpha}Y_{\gamma}f)dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge dy_{\overline{J}} \wedge \alpha_{R} \wedge dxy_{\alpha} \wedge \theta + O(y_{\gamma}) + \sigma \\ &= \pm (X_{\alpha}g)dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge dy_{\overline{J}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta + O(y_{\gamma}) + \sigma \end{split}$$

where  $\sigma$  again denotes a form in the annihilator of  $[t_{\mathscr{P}_{a}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$ . From (5.17) we obtain

$$0 = \mathsf{T}(D\omega) = \pm \int_{\mathcal{P}_{\alpha,h}} \varphi_\tau(X_\alpha g) \; d\mathcal{L}^{n+1} \quad \text{for every } g \in C_c^\infty(\mathbb{H}^n),$$

which, together with (5.20), gives

$$X_{\alpha}\varphi_{\tau} = Y_{\alpha}\varphi_{\tau} = 0 \qquad \text{for every } \alpha = 1, \dots, a$$
  

$$T\varphi_{\tau} = X_1 Y_1 \varphi_{\tau} - Y_1 X_1 \varphi_{\tau} = 0.$$
(5.21)

We recall once again that the equalities in (5.21) are proved only under the assumption  $a \ge 1$ . If  $b \ge 1$ , we fix  $\beta \in \overline{I}$  and choose

$$I := \overline{I} \cup \{a+b+1\} \setminus \{\beta\}, \quad J := \emptyset \quad \text{and} \quad R := \boxed{ \begin{array}{c|c} 1 & 2 & \cdots & a \\ \hline \beta & a+b+2 & \cdots & n \end{array} }$$
 
$$f(x,y,t) := y_{a+b+1} \ g(x,y,t) \quad \text{for an arbitrary } g \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n).$$

The tableau *R* is obtained from  $\overline{R}$  on replacing the entry a + b + 1 with  $\beta$ . Then

$$(d\omega)_n = O(v_{a+b+1}) = 0$$
 on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ 

and

$$\theta \wedge d(L^{-1}((d\omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}})) = \pm (X_{\beta}Y_{a+b+1}f)dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge dy_{\overline{J}} \wedge \alpha_{R} \wedge \theta + O(y_{a+b+1}) + \sigma$$
$$= \pm (X_{\beta}g)dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge dy_{\overline{I}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta + O(y_{a+b+1}) + \sigma$$

where  $\sigma$  again denotes a form annihilating  $[t_{\mathscr{D}_{a,b}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$  and we used the fact that  $dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge dy_{\overline{J}} \wedge (\alpha_R - \alpha_{\overline{R}})$  annihilates  $[t_{\mathscr{D}_{a,b}}^{\mathbb{H}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$ . From (5.17) we obtain

$$0 = \mathsf{T}(D\omega) = \pm \int_{\mathscr{D}_{a,b}} \varphi_{\tau}(X_{\beta}g) \, d\mathscr{L}^{n+1} \quad \text{for every } g \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^{n})$$

so that

$$X_{\beta}\varphi_{\tau} = 0$$
 for every  $\beta = a + 1, \dots, a + b$ . (5.22)

If  $a \ge 1$ , (5.21) and (5.22) are enough to conclude that  $\varphi_{\tau}$  is constant on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ . If a = 0, (5.22) still holds and we have only to prove that

$$T\varphi_{\tau} = 0$$
 on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ . (5.23)

We then choose  $I = \overline{I} = \{1, ..., n\}$ ,  $J = \overline{J} = \emptyset$ ,  $R = \overline{R}$  (in this case, the empty tableau) and we fix an arbitrary  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ . By (5.17), (5.18) and (5.19),

$$D\omega = \theta \wedge \left( (Tf) dx_{\{1,\dots,n\}} + d\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \pm (Y_i f) dx_{\{1,\dots,n\} \setminus \{i\}}\right) \right)$$
$$= \left( Tf + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \pm X_i Y_i f \right) \theta \wedge dx_{\{1,\dots,n\}} + \sigma$$

for a suitable  $\sigma$  in the annihilator of  $[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}}]_{\mathcal{J}}$ . This gives

$$0 = \mathsf{T}(D\omega) = \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} \left( Tf + \sum_{i=1}^n \pm X_i Y_i f \right) \varphi_\tau \ d\mathscr{L}^{n+1} \stackrel{(5.22)}{=} \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} (Tf) \varphi_\tau \ d\mathscr{L}^{n+1}$$

and (5.23) follows from the arbitrariness of f. This concludes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 1.7, case  $1 \le k \le n-1$ . Reasoning as in Proposition 5.3, by Proposition 3.13 one can assume without loss of generality that  $\mathscr{P}=\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  for some nonnegative integers a,b such that  $1 \le a+b \le n$  and 2a+b=2n-k. Observe that  $a \ge 1$ . By Lemma 5.4 it is not restrictive to assume that  $T = \tau \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  for a suitable  $C^{\infty}$ -smooth  $\tau: \mathscr{P}_{a,b} \to \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$ . By Theorem 1.8,  $\tau$  can be written as  $\tau = \varphi_{\tau}[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}}]_{\mathscr{J}}$  for some  $\varphi_{\tau} \in C^{\infty}(\mathscr{P}_{a,b})$ ; let us prove that  $\varphi_{\tau}$  is constant on  $\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$ .

We are going to consider the Heisenberg (2n - k)-form  $\omega = f dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta$ , where

- $\circ \ f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n);$
- ∘  $I \subset \{1, ..., n\}, J \subset \{1, ..., n\}, |I| + |J| \le k + 1 \text{ and } I \cap J = \emptyset;$
- ∘ *R* is a (nonnecessarily standard) Young tableau that contains the elements of  $\{1, ..., n\} \setminus (I \cup J)$  arranged in two rows of length, respectively, (2n k 1 |I| |J|)/2 and (k + 1 |I| |J|)/2.

Observe that  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n-k}$  because of Remark 3.26. Then

$$d\omega = \sum_{i \in I} \pm (Y_i f) dx_{I \setminus \{i\}} \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge dx y_i \wedge \theta$$

$$+ \sum_{j \in J} \pm (X_j f) dx_I \wedge dy_{J \setminus \{j\}} \wedge \alpha_R \wedge dx y_j \wedge \theta$$

$$+ \sum_{k \in R} \left( \pm (X_k f) dx_{I \cup \{k\}} \wedge dy_J \pm (Y_k f) dx_I \wedge dy_{J \cup \{k\}} \right) \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta$$
(5.24)

where, again, the signs  $\pm$  will play no role.

We set

$$\overline{I} := \{a+1, \dots, a+b\}, \qquad \overline{J} := \emptyset$$

$$\overline{R} := \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 2 & \cdots & n-a-b & n-a-b+1 & \cdots & a \\ a+b+1 & a+b+2 & \cdots & n & \end{vmatrix}$$

and fix  $\alpha \in \{1, ..., a\}$ . Observe that  $\overline{R}$  is never rectangular, a fact that plays a role in the following construction. If  $\alpha \ge n - a - b + 1$ , we define R by removing  $\alpha$  from  $\overline{R}$ ; that is,

$$R:= \cfrac{1}{a+b+1} \cfrac{\cdots |n-a-b| \cdots |\alpha-1| \alpha+1 |\cdots |a|}{n};$$

otherwise, if  $\alpha \le n - a - b$ , we define a tableau R by removing from  $\overline{R}$  the column containing  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha + a + b$  and placing  $\alpha + a + b$  as the rightmost element in the second row; that is,

$$R := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \cdots & \alpha-1 & \alpha+1 & \cdots & n-a-b & n-a-b+1 & \cdots & a \\ a+b+1 & \cdots & \alpha-1+a+b & \alpha+1+a+b & \cdots & n & \alpha+a+b \end{bmatrix}$$

With this choice of R, we consider the Heisenberg form  $\omega = f dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \in \mathcal{D}^{2n-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$  associated with  $I := \overline{I}$  and  $J := \{\alpha\}$ ; by (5.24),

$$d\omega = \pm (X_{\alpha}f) \ dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge \alpha_R \wedge dxy_{\alpha} \wedge \theta + \sigma$$
$$= \pm (X_{\alpha}f) \ dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta + \sigma,$$

where  $\sigma$  is again a form annihilating  $t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}}$  that can vary from line to line. This gives

$$0 = \mathsf{T}(d\omega) = \pm \int_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}} (X_{\alpha} f) \varphi_{\tau} \, d\mathscr{L}^{2a+b+1} \quad \text{for every } f \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^{n})$$

and, in turn,

for every 
$$\alpha = 1, \dots, a$$
,  $X_{\alpha} \varphi_{\tau} = 0$  on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ . (5.25)

Using the same tableau R, but choosing  $I:=\overline{I}\cup\{\alpha\}$  and  $J:=\emptyset$ , one gets for  $\omega:=fdx_I\wedge dy_J\wedge\alpha_R\wedge\theta\in\mathcal{D}^{2n-k}_\mathbb{H}$  that

$$\begin{split} d\omega &= \pm (Y_{\alpha}f) \; dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge \alpha_R \wedge dxy_{\alpha} \wedge \theta + \sigma \\ &= \pm (Y_{\alpha}f) \; dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta + \sigma, \end{split}$$

for  $\sigma$  annihilating  $\ell_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}}^{\mathbb{H}}.$  Similar to before, we deduce that

for every 
$$\alpha = 1, \dots, a$$
,  $Y_{\alpha} \varphi_{\tau} = 0$  on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ , (5.26)

which, together with (5.25) and the inequality  $a \ge 1$ , implies

$$T\varphi_{\tau} = 0 \quad \text{on } \mathscr{P}_{a,b}.$$
 (5.27)

If b = 0, (5.25), (5.26) and (5.27) imply that  $\varphi_{\tau}$  is constant on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ . If  $b \ge 1$ , we have only to show that

for every 
$$\beta = a + 1, \dots, a + b$$
,  $X_{\beta}\varphi_{\tau} = 0$  on  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$ . (5.28)

Let  $\beta \in \{a+1,\ldots,a+b\}$  be fixed. We consider the test form  $\omega = f dx_I \wedge dy_J \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta \in \mathcal{D}^{2n-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$  where  $I := \overline{I} \setminus \{\beta\}, J := \emptyset$  and R is the tableau obtained from R on placing an extra entry equal to  $\beta$  as the rightmost element in the second row, namely,

Then

$$\begin{split} d\omega &= \pm (X_{\beta}f) dx_{I \cup \{\beta\}} \wedge \alpha_R \wedge \theta + \sigma \\ &= \pm (X_{\beta}f) dx_{\overline{I}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta + \sigma \end{split}$$

and, as before, the arbitrariness of f implies (5.28), as desired.

### 6. Proof of Rademacher's Theorem 1.1

This section is devoted to the proof of our main result. We start with a boring (but necessary) preliminary observation.

**Remark 6.1.** Let  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  be homogeneous complementary subgroups of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and let  $\phi: A \subset \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be fixed. By Remark 3.16 there exists an isometric  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism  $\mathcal{L}: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  such that  $\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{V}) = \mathbb{V}_0 := \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_1, \ldots, X_k\})$ . Let us write  $\mathbb{W}_1 := \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{W})$  and  $A_1 := \mathcal{L}(A)$ ; then  $\mathcal{L}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_1}$  for  $\phi_1 := \mathcal{L} \circ \phi \circ \mathcal{L}^{-1}: A_1 \to \mathbb{V}_0$ . Since also  $\mathbb{W}_0 := \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_{k+1}, \ldots, Y_n, T\})$  is complementary to  $\mathbb{V}_0$ , it follows from [53, Proposition 3.1] (or, alternatively, from Theorem 1.4 of the present article) that  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_1} = \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0}$  for some map  $\phi_0: A_0 \to \mathbb{V}_0$  defined on a suitable  $A_0 \subset \mathbb{W}_0$ .

Let us check that, if  $\phi$  is intrinsic Lipschitz, so is  $\phi_0$ . Since  $\mathcal{L}$  is an isometry,  $\phi_1$  is also intrinsic Lipschitz. Moreover,  $\mathbb{W}_1$  is complementary to  $\mathbb{V}_0$ ; hence,  $\mathbb{W}_1 = \operatorname{gr}_L$  for an intrinsic linear map  $L: \mathbb{W}_0 \to \mathbb{V}_0$ ; let C > 0 be such that  $\|L(w_0)\|_{\mathbb{H}} \le C\|w_0\|_{\mathbb{H}}$  for every  $w_0 \in \mathbb{W}_0$ . We prove that, for every  $\alpha > 0$ , the inclusion

$$\{w_0v_0 : w_0 \in \mathbb{W}_0, v_0 \in \mathbb{V}_0, \|v_0\|_{\mathbb{H}} \ge (\alpha C + \alpha + C)\|w_0\|_{\mathbb{H}}\}$$
  
$$\subset \{w_1v_0' : w_1 \in \mathbb{W}_1, v_0' \in \mathbb{V}_0, \|v_0'\|_{\mathbb{H}} \ge \alpha \|w_1\|_{\mathbb{H}}\}$$

holds. The intrinsic Lipschitz continuity of  $\phi_0$  will then easily follow from the intrinsic Lipschitz continuity of  $\phi_1$ . Let  $w_0 \in \mathbb{W}_0$  and  $v_0 \in \mathbb{V}_0$  be such that  $||v_0||_{\mathbb{H}} \ge (\alpha C + \alpha + C)||w_0||_{\mathbb{H}}$ ; then

$$w_0v_0 = w_1v_0'$$
 for  $w_1 := w_0L(w_0) \in \mathbb{W}_1$  and  $v_0' := L(w_0)^{-1}v_0 \in \mathbb{V}_0$ 

and

$$\alpha \|w_1\|_{\mathbb{H}} \leq \alpha (1+C) \|w_0\|_{\mathbb{H}} \leq \|v_0\|_{\mathbb{H}} - C \|w_0\|_{\mathbb{H}} \leq \|v_0\|_{\mathbb{H}} - \|L(w_0)\|_{\mathbb{H}} \leq \|v_0'\|_{\mathbb{H}},$$

as claimed.

Eventually, let us observe that  $\phi_0$  is intrinsically differentiable a.e. if and only if  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable a.e. This follows from the geometric characterisation of intrinsic differentiability provided by Proposition 4.12 (d) and by Remark 4.6, which imply that

 $\phi_0$  is intrinsically differentiable a.e. on  $\mathbb{W}_0$ 

- $\iff$  the blow-up of  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0}$  is a vertical plane at  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -almost every point of  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0}$
- $\Longleftrightarrow$  the blow-up of  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is a vertical plane at  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}\text{-almost every point of }\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$
- $\iff \phi$  is intrinsically differentiable a.e. on  $\mathbb{W}$ .

This discussion shows that, in order to prove Theorem 1.1 for intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of codimension at most n, it is not restrictive to assume that  $\mathbb{V}$  and  $\mathbb{W}$  are those defined in (4.2) and (4.3).

We can now prove our main result. For the reader's convenience, the proof is divided into several steps.

*Proof of Theorem 1.1.* As mentioned in the Introduction, thanks to [8] we have to deal only with the case of intrinsic Lipschitz graphs of low codimension; in particular,  $\mathbb{V}$  is an abelian horizontal subgroup of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  and  $k := \dim \mathbb{V}$  is at most n. By Remark 6.1, we can, without loss of generality, assume that  $\mathbb{V} = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_1, \ldots, X_k\})$  and  $\mathbb{W} = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_{k+1}, \ldots, Y_n, T\})$ . By Theorem 1.5 we can also assume that  $\phi$  is defined on the whole  $\mathbb{W}$ .

Step 1: Definition of a current T supported on  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ . By Proposition 4.28 we can consider a sequence of smooth functions  $\phi_i : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that

- $\phi \phi_i \rightarrow \phi$  uniformly on  $\mathbb{W}$  and
- there exists C > 0 such that  $|\nabla^{\phi_i} \Phi_i(w)| \leq C$  for all  $w \in \mathbb{W}$  and all  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

where  $\Phi_i$  is the graph map  $\Phi_i(w) := w\phi_i(w)$  and  $\nabla^{\phi_i}\Phi_i : \mathbb{W} \to \wedge_{2n-k}\mathfrak{h}_1$  is defined as in (4.28). By Lemma 4.29, the Heisenberg (2n+1-k)-current  $[\![S_i]\!]$  associated with the intrinsic graph  $S_i := \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_i}$  can be written as

$$\llbracket S_i \rrbracket(\omega) = C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle [\nabla^{\phi_i} \Phi_i(w) \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}} | \omega(\Phi_i(w)) \rangle d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) \qquad \text{for every } \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}.$$

Possibly passing to a subsequence, we can assume that there exists  $\zeta \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{W}, \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}) = (L^1(\mathbb{W}, \mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}))^*$  such that

$$[\nabla^{\phi_i}\Phi_i \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}} \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \zeta \quad \text{weakly-} * \text{ in } L^{\infty}(\mathbb{W}, \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}).$$

The uniform convergence  $\Phi_i \to \Phi$  implies that for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n+1-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$ ,

$$\mathsf{T}(\omega) := \lim_{i \to \infty} \left[ \!\! \left[ S_i \right] \!\! \right] \!\! \left( \omega \right) = C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle \zeta(w) \mid \omega(\Phi(w)) \rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w). \tag{6.1}$$

The Heisenberg current T is clearly supported on  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ . The boundary  $\partial T$  of T is the null current; in fact,

$$\partial \mathsf{T}(\omega) = \mathsf{T}(d_C \omega) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \llbracket S_i \rrbracket (d_C \omega) = 0$$
 for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n-k}$ ,

where  $d_C$  is as in Remark 3.7 and the last equality is due to Corollary 3.34. The equality  $\partial T = 0$  is the key geometric information we will exploit.

Let us prove that

$$\zeta(w) \neq 0$$
 for  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}$ -a.e.  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ . (6.2)

Let  $\beta \in \mathcal{J}^{2n+1-k}$  be defined by

$$\beta := dx_{k+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_n \wedge dy_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_n \wedge \theta \qquad \text{if } k < n$$

$$\beta := dy_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_n \wedge \theta \qquad \text{if } k = n.$$

Then, for every  $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{W})$  we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \chi(w) \langle \zeta(w) \mid \beta \rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) &= \lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \chi(w) \underbrace{\langle \nabla^{\phi_i} \Phi_i(w) \wedge T \mid \beta \rangle}_{\equiv 1} \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{W}} \chi(w) \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w). \end{split}$$

This implies that  $\langle \zeta(w) \mid \beta \rangle = 1$  for  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}$ -a.e.  $w \in \mathbb{W}$  and (6.2) follows.

Step 2: Statement of sufficient conditions for differentiability. Since  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is (Q-k)-Ahlfors regular (Remark 4.6), the Lebesgue differentiation theorem applies (see, e.g., [59, Theorem 1.8]) and we obtain for  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -a.e.  $\bar{p} \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ ,

$$\int_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap B(\bar{p},r)} \left| \zeta(\Phi^{-1}(p)) - \zeta(\Phi^{-1}(\bar{p})) \right| d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p) = o\left(\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap B(\bar{p},r))\right)$$

$$= o(r^{Q-k}) \quad \text{as } r \to 0^{+}.$$

$$(6.3)$$

73

By (6.2), (6.7) and Lemma 4.16, the following three properties

the condition (6.3) holds for 
$$\bar{p} := \Phi(\bar{w}) \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$$
 (6.4)

every blow-up of 
$$\phi$$
 at  $\bar{w}$  is *t*-invariant (6.5)

$$\zeta(\bar{w}) \neq 0 \tag{6.6}$$

hold for  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}$ -a.e.  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W}$ . We claim that  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at every  $\bar{w} \in \mathbb{W}$  such that (6.4), (6.5) and (6.6) hold. This will be enough to conclude. Let such a  $\bar{w}$  be fixed.

Step 3: Blow-up at  $\bar{w}$ . Let  $\phi_{\infty}$  be one of the (possibly many) blow-ups of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$ . Namely, there exists a sequence  $(r_i)_i$  of positive numbers such that  $r_i \to +\infty$  as  $j \to +\infty$  and

$$\lim_{j\to\infty}(\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j}=\phi_{\infty}\qquad \text{locally uniformly on }\mathbb{W},$$

where  $(\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j}(w) = \delta_{r_j}(\phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\phi(\bar{w}\phi(\bar{w})(\delta_{1/r_j}w)\phi(\bar{w})^{-1}))$  is as in Subsection 4.2. For r > 0 let us introduce the maps  $\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r} : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r}(q) := \delta_r(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}q), \qquad r > 0, \ q \in \mathbb{H}^n;$$

 $\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r}$  is defined in such a way that  $\operatorname{gr}_{(\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j}} = \delta_{r_j}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) = \mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r_j}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi})$ . Consider the push-forward  $\mathsf{T}_j := (\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r_j})_{\#}\mathsf{T}$ ; that is, the Heisenberg current defined by

$$\mathsf{T}_{j}(\omega) := \mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r_{i}}^{*}\omega) = \mathsf{T}(r_{i}^{Q-k}\ \omega \circ \mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r_{j}}), \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}^*_{\bar{w},r_j}$  denotes pullback of forms and the last equality comes from left-invariance and homogeneity. Observe that  $\partial T_i = 0$  for every j because

$$\mathsf{T}_{j}(d_{C}\omega)=\mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r_{j}}^{*}(d_{C}\omega))=\mathsf{T}(d_{C}(\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r_{j}}^{*}\omega))=\partial\mathsf{T}(\mathcal{L}_{\bar{w},r_{j}}^{*}\omega)=0.$$

By Remark 4.6 there exist a constant  $C \ge 1$ , depending only on the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ , and a measurable function  $J_{\phi} : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$C^{-1} \le J_{\phi} \le C$$
 and  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \sqcup \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} = \Phi_{\#}(J_{\phi} \mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}),$  (6.7)

where  $\Phi_{\#}$  denotes push-forward of measures. Using (6.1) and (6.7),

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{T}_{j}(\omega) &= C_{n,k} \ r_{j}^{Q-k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \left\langle \zeta(w) \ \left| \frac{\omega(\delta_{r_{j}}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\Phi(w)))}{J_{\phi}(w)} \right\rangle J_{\phi}(w) \ d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) \right. \\ &= C_{n,k} \ r_{j}^{Q-k} \int_{\mathsf{gr}_{\phi}} \left\langle \zeta(\Phi^{-1}(p)) \ \left| \frac{\omega(\delta_{r_{j}}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}p))}{J_{\phi}(\Phi^{-1}(p))} \right\rangle d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p) \right. \\ &= C_{n,k} \ r_{j}^{Q-k} \int_{\mathsf{gr}_{\phi}} \left[ \left\langle \zeta(\bar{w}) \ \left| \frac{\omega(\delta_{r_{j}}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}p))}{J_{\phi}(\Phi^{-1}(p))} \right\rangle d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p) + o(r_{j}^{-(Q-k)}) \right] \\ &= C_{n,k} \ r_{j}^{Q-k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \left[ \left\langle \zeta(\bar{w}) \ | \ \omega(\delta_{r_{j}}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\Phi(w))) \right\rangle \ d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(w) + o(r_{j}^{-(Q-k)}) \right], \end{split}$$

where, in the third equality, we used (6.4) and the fact that, if  $\omega$  is supported in  $B(0,\bar{r})$ , then  $p \mapsto \omega(\delta_{r_i}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}p))/J_{\phi}(\Phi^{-1}(p))$  is supported in  $B(\Phi(\bar{w}),\bar{r}/r_j)$ . Therefore,

$$\lim_{j\to\infty}\mathsf{T}_j(\omega)=C_{n,k}\lim_{j\to\infty}r_j^{\mathcal{Q}-k}\int_{\mathbb{W}}\left\langle\zeta(\bar{w})\mid\omega(\delta_{r_j}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\Phi(w)))\right\rangle\,d\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(w)$$

provided the limit in the right-hand side exists. We now perform the change of variable  $w = \bar{w}\phi(\bar{w})(\delta_{1/r_i}u)\phi(\bar{w})^{-1}, u \in \mathbb{W}$ , according to which

$$\delta_{r_j}(\Phi(\bar{w})^{-1}\Phi(w)) = \Phi_{\bar{w}}^{r_j}(u), \quad \text{where } \Phi_{\bar{w}}^{r_j}(u) := u \; (\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j}(u).$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{j \to \infty} \mathsf{T}_j(\omega) &= C_{n,k} \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \left\langle \zeta(\bar{w}) \mid \omega(\Phi^{r_j}_{\bar{w}}(u)) \right\rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(u) \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \left\langle \zeta(\bar{w}) \mid \omega(\Phi_{\infty}(u)) \right\rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(u) \end{split}$$

due to the uniform convergence of  $\Phi_{\bar{w}}^{r_j}(u) = u((\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j}(u))$  to the graph map  $\Phi_{\infty}(u) := u\phi_{\infty}(u)$ . We obtained that the Heisenberg (2n+1-k)-current  $\mathsf{T}_{\infty}$  defined by

$$\mathsf{T}_{\infty}(\omega) := \lim_{j \to \infty} \mathsf{T}_{j}(\omega) = C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle \zeta(\bar{w}) \mid \omega \circ \Phi_{\infty} \rangle \ d\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}, \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}$$

is supported on  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}$ . Since  $\partial \mathsf{T}_j = 0$  for every j, then also  $\partial \mathsf{T}_{\infty} = 0$ . Moreover,  $\phi_{\infty}$  is a uniform limit of uniformly intrinsic Lipschitz maps; hence, it is intrinsic Lipschitz and there exists a measurable function  $J_{\phi_{\infty}}: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$C^{-1} \leq J_{\phi_{\infty}} \leq C \quad \text{ and } \quad \mathscr{E}^{Q-k} \, \lfloor \, \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}} = \Phi_{\infty\#}(J_{\phi_{\infty}} \mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}).$$

In particular,

$$\mathsf{T}_{\infty}(\omega) = C_{n,k} \int_{\mathsf{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}} \left\langle \frac{\zeta(\bar{w})}{J_{\phi_{\infty}}(\Phi_{\infty}^{-1}(p))} \middle| \omega(p) \right\rangle d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(p), \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k};$$

that is,

$$\mathsf{T}_{\infty} = \frac{\zeta(\bar{w})}{J_{\phi_{\infty}} \circ \Phi_{\infty}^{-1}} \, \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \, \mathsf{Lgr}_{\phi_{\infty}}.$$

By (6.5), the intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi_{\infty}$  is *t*-invariant: by Lemma 4.15 and Proposition 4.23,  $\phi_{\infty}$  is Euclidean Lipschitz and  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}$  is locally  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable of codimension k. By Theorem 1.8 and (6.6) we deduce that there exists  $\eta: \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}} \to \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$\zeta(\bar{w}) = \eta(p)[t_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)]_{\mathcal{J}} \quad \text{for } \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}\text{-a.e. } p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}.$$

$$\tag{6.8}$$

Step 4: Every blow-up is linear. We claim that  $\phi_{\infty}$  is intrinsic linear. Let  $f_{\phi_{\infty}}: \mathbb{R}^{2n-k} \to \mathbb{R}^k$  be defined by  $\phi_{\infty}(w) = f_{\phi_{\infty}}(w_H)$  for every  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ , where the notation  $w_H$  is the one introduced in (4.16);  $f_{\phi_{\infty}}$  is Euclidean Lipschitz continuous by Lemma 4.15 (i). By Lemma 4.15 (iv), the gradient  $\nabla f_{\phi_{\infty}}(w_H)$  is defined for a.e.  $w \in \mathbb{W}$  and it uniquely determines  $\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi_{\infty}(w))$ ; since  $\phi_{\infty}$  is intrinsic linear if and only if  $f_{\phi_{\infty}}$  is constant on  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}$ . Assume that

 $\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_\infty}}^{\mathbb{H}}$  is not constant; then, by (6.8) and Proposition 3.38, there exist two vertical planes  $\mathscr{P}_1, \mathscr{P}_2$  that are not rank 1 connected and such that

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \in \{\mathscr{P}_1, \mathscr{P}_2\} \text{ for } \mathscr{S}^{Q-k}\text{-a.e. } p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{\infty}}.$$

In particular, there exist two  $k \times (2n-k)$  matrices  $M_1, M_2$  such that  $\nabla f_{\phi_{\infty}} \in \{M_1, M_2\}$ . By Lemma 4.15 (ii) and Remark 3.36, the rank of the matrix  $M_1 - M_2$  is at least 2. However, a well-known result proved in [14, Proposition 1] (see also [78, Proposition 2.1]) states that, if a Lipschitz map has only two possible gradients  $M_1, M_2$  and rank  $(M_1 - M_2) \ge 2$ , then the map is affine. This proves that  $f_{\phi_{\infty}}$  is linear and, actually, that

either 
$$f_{\phi_m} \equiv M_1$$
 or  $f_{\phi_m} \equiv M_2$ . (6.9)

Step 5: Uniqueness of blow-ups. We have proved that every blow-up  $\phi_{\infty}$  is intrinsic linear. We now prove that the blow-up of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  is unique: by Proposition 4.12 (c), this is equivalent to the intrinsic differentiability of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$ . Assume, on the contrary, that there exist two different blow-ups  $\phi_{\infty}^1$ ,  $\phi_{\infty}^2$  of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$ ; observing that the matrices  $M_1$ ,  $M_2$  introduced in Step 4 are uniquely determined by  $\zeta(\bar{w})$  (via the vertical planes  $\mathcal{P}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_2$  provided by Proposition 3.38), we deduce from (6.9) that, possibly renaming  $M_1$  and  $M_2$ ,

$$\phi_{\infty}^{1}(w) = M_1 w_H$$
 and  $\phi_{\infty}^{2}(w) = M_2 w_H$   $\forall w \in \mathbb{W}$ .

Let  $w \in \mathbb{W}$  be such that  $\phi_{\infty}^1(w) \neq \phi_{\infty}^2(w)$ ; that is,  $M_1 w_H \neq M_2 w_H$ . By definition of blow-up, there exist two diverging sequences  $(r_i^1)_j$ ,  $(r_i^2)_j$  such that

$$(\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j^1} \to \phi_{\infty}^1$$
 and  $(\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j^2} \to \phi_{\infty}^2$ 

and, up to passing to suitable subsequences, we can assume without loss of generality that  $r_j^1 < r_j^2 < r_{j+1}^1$  for every j. Let  $\delta := d(\phi_\infty^1(w), \phi_\infty^2(w)) > 0$ ; since the map  $r \mapsto (\phi_{\bar{w}})^r(w)$  is continuous and bounded (see Remark 4.5), for every large enough j we can find  $r_j^3 \in (r_j^1, r_j^2)$  such that  $d((\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j^3}(w), \phi_\infty^1(w)) \ge \delta/3$  and  $d((\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j^3}(w), \phi_\infty^2(w)) \ge \delta/3$ . By Remark 4.5 and Ascoli–Arzelà's theorem, up to passing to a subsequence we have that  $(\phi_{\bar{w}})^{r_j^3} \to \psi$  locally uniformly on  $\mathbb W$  for some  $\psi: \mathbb W \to \mathbb V$ . Observe that  $d(\psi(w), \phi_\infty^1(w)) \ge \delta/3$  and  $d(\psi(w), \phi_\infty^2(w)) \ge \delta/3$ ; thus,  $\psi$  is a blow-up of  $\phi$  at  $\bar{w}$  (in particular, it is t-invariant) that is different from both  $\phi_\infty^1$  and  $\phi_\infty^2$ . This contradicts (6.9), and the proof is concluded.  $\square$ 

We conclude this section with an observation. Let  $\phi:A\subset\mathbb{W}\to\mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz. Theorem 1.1, together with Remark 4.6, implies that a tangent 10 plane  $\mathrm{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}}$  to  $\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}$  exists  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -a.e. on  $\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}$ : let us denote by  $t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}}(p)\in\wedge^{2n+1-k}\mathfrak{h}$  the unit tangent vector associated with  $\mathrm{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}}(p)$  at  $p\in\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}$ . Again,  $t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}}(p)$  is defined only up to a sign; hence,  $p\mapsto t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}}(p)$  could be not even measurable with respect to  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}\sqcup\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}$ . As one can expect, there are, however, two canonical choices for the orientation: we present below one of the two, the other being of course the opposite one. See also [23] for some related issues. With this consistent choice of orientation for  $\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}$ , one will be allowed to define the (2n+1-k)-Heisenberg current  $[\![\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}]\!]$  canonically associated with  $\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}$  by

$$\llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \rrbracket(\omega) := \int_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}} \langle t_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}} \mid \omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}, \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}. \tag{6.10}$$

As a further property, we will prove in Proposition 7.5 that for entire graphs  $(A = \mathbb{W})$  the equality  $\partial \llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \rrbracket = 0$  holds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>In the sense of blow-up limits as in Proposition 4.12 (d).

Let us fix our choice of  $t_{gr_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}$ . As in Remark 6.1, up to an  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear map  $\mathcal{L}$  we can assume that  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are as in (4.2) and (4.3). In this case, our choice for the orientation of  $gr_{\phi}$  is (compare with (4.31))

$$t_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) := \frac{\nabla^{\phi} \Phi(\Phi^{-1}(p))}{|\nabla^{\phi} \Phi(\Phi^{-1}(p))|} \wedge T$$

where, remembering (4.27) and (4.28), we set

$$\nabla^{\phi}\Phi(w) := \nabla^{\phi}_{k+1}\Phi(w) \wedge \cdots \wedge \nabla^{\phi}_{2n}\Phi(w) \in \wedge_{2n-k}\mathfrak{h}_1$$

and

$$\nabla_i^{\phi} \Phi(w) := \left( W_i + \sum_{h=1}^k (\nabla^{\phi} \phi(w))_{hi} X_h \right) (\Phi(w)), \qquad i = k+1, \dots, 2n.$$

For general subgroups  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$ , our choice corresponds to fixing a unit tangent vector  $t_{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathbb{H}}$  and declaring that  $\langle t_{\mathrm{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p), t_{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathbb{H}} \rangle > 0$  for  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}$ -a.e.  $p \in \mathrm{gr}_{\phi}$ , where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the canonical scalar product on multivectors.

Let us point out that, when  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are those in (4.2) and (4.3), as in Remark 4.27 we have  $J^{\phi}\phi = |\nabla^{\phi}\Phi|$ ; this equality and Theorem 1.3, which we will prove in Section 7, provide the alternative representation

$$\llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \rrbracket(\omega) = C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle \nabla^{\phi} \Phi \wedge T \mid \omega \circ \Phi \rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}, \qquad \omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n+1-k}. \tag{6.11}$$

## 7. Applications

In this section we provide some consequences of Theorem 1.1. For computational reasons it is useful to fix a convenient distance on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ ; therefore, in the present section d denotes the distance  $d_{\infty}$  introduced in (3.2).

We need to fix some notation. When M is a matrix, we denote by |M| its Hilbert–Schmidt norm. When  $M_1, M_2$  are square matrices, inequalities of the form  $M_1 \ge M_2$  are understood in the sense of bilinear forms; I denotes the identity matrix. Recall also the notation  $W_1, \ldots, W_{2n}$  introduced in (3.4) to denote horizontal left-invariant vector fields. Eventually, if A and B are given sets,  $A \triangle B := (A \setminus B) \cup (B \setminus A)$  denotes their symmetric difference.

The proof of the following lemma closely follows the one of the classical Whitney's extension theorem; see, for example, [40, Theorem 6.10]. A version of Whitney's extension theorem in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  has been proved in [48, Theorem 6.8]; see also [92, Theorem 3.2.3].

**Lemma 7.1.** For all integers  $n \ge 1$  and  $1 \le k \le n$  there exist positive constants  $\alpha_0 = \alpha_0(n, k)$  and  $c_0 = c_0(n, k)$  with the following property. For every  $\delta > 0$  and every intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  whose intrinsic Lipschitz constant  $\alpha$  is not greater than  $\alpha_0$ , there exists  $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H}^n, \mathbb{R}^k)$  such that

$$|W_i f(p)| \le c_0 \alpha$$
 for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and  $i = k + 1, \dots, 2n$  (7.1)

$$\left|\operatorname{col}\left[X_{1}f(p)\right|\dots\left|X_{k}f(p)\right]-I\right| \leq c_{0}\alpha \quad \text{for every } p \in \mathbb{H}^{n}$$

$$\tag{7.2}$$

the level set 
$$S := \{ p \in \mathbb{H}^n : f(p) = 0 \}$$
 is a  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold (7.3)

$$S = \operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$$
 for an intrinsic Lipschitz  $\psi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  with Lipschitz constant at most  $c_0 \alpha$  (7.4)

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}((\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}\Delta S) \cup \{p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap S : \operatorname{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{S}(p)\}) < \delta \tag{7.5}$$

$$\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(\mathbb{W}\setminus\{\phi=\psi\ and\ \nabla^{\phi}\phi=\nabla^{\psi}\psi\})<\delta. \tag{7.6}$$

*Proof.* As in Remark 6.1, it is not restrictive to assume that  $\mathbb{W}$  and  $\mathbb{V}$  are the subgroups defined in (4.2) and (4.3). Fix  $\delta > 0$  and an intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  whose intrinsic Lipschitz constant  $\alpha$  is not greater than  $\alpha_0$ ; the number  $\alpha_0 > 0$  will be chosen later. We organise the proof in several steps.

Step 0. We establish some notation and preliminary facts. By Theorem 1.1 there exists a measurable set  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  such that  $\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(\mathbb{W} \setminus A) = 0$  and  $\phi$  is intrinsically differentiable at every point of A. For every  $w \in A$ , let us introduce the homogeneous homomorphism  $L_w : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{R}^k$ ,

$$L_w(p) := (p_1, \dots, p_k) - \nabla^{\phi} \phi(w)(p_{k+1}, \dots, p_{2n}), \qquad p = (p_1, \dots, p_{2n+1}) \in \mathbb{H}^n, \tag{7.7}$$

where  $\nabla^{\phi}\phi(w)$  is the intrinsic gradient (identified with a  $k \times (2n-k)$  matrix) introduced in Definition 4.9. Notice that  $L_w$  is constructed in such a way that

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(w)) = \ker L_w. \tag{7.8}$$

Moreover, for every  $w \in A$ ,

$$\operatorname{col}[X_1 L_w | \dots | X_k L_w] = I$$

$$|W_j(L_w)_i| = |(\nabla^{\phi} \phi(w))_{ij}| \le \alpha \qquad \forall i = 1, \dots, k, \ \forall j = k+1, \dots, 2n$$
(7.9)

where, as usual,  $\Phi(w) := w\phi(w)$  is the graph map and, in the last formula, we used Lemma 4.13. By abuse of notation, in the sequel we will identify each  $L_w$  with the  $k \times 2n$  matrix  $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} L_w = [I \mid -\nabla^{\phi} \phi(w)]$ , I being the  $k \times k$  identity matrix. We also introduce the homogeneous homomorphism  $\overline{L} : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{R}^k$  defined by

$$\overline{L}(p) = (p_1, \dots, p_k), \qquad p = (p_1, \dots, p_{2n+1}) \in \mathbb{H}^n$$

and we identify  $\overline{L}$  and the  $k \times 2n$  matrix  $[I \mid 0]$ . We can estimate the Hilbert–Schmidt norm of  $L_w - \overline{L}$  by

$$|L_w - \overline{L}| \le \sqrt{k(2n-k)} \alpha$$
 for every  $w \in A$ . (7.10)

Let us observe that (7.8), the Lipschitz continuity of  $L_w$  and Proposition 4.12 (and, in particular, (4.17)) imply that for every  $w \in A$ ,

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \left\{ \sup \left\{ \frac{L_w(\Phi(w)^{-1}p)}{d(\Phi(w), p)} : p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap B(\Phi(w), r) \right\} \right\} = 0.$$
 (7.11)

By Lusin's theorem there exists a closed set  $B \subset A$  such that  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(\mathbb{W} \setminus B) < \eta$  and  $\nabla^{\phi}\phi|_B$  is continuous; the number  $\eta$  will be chosen later in Step 8 depending on  $\delta$ , n and k. By the Severini–Egorov theorem, there exists a closed set  $C \subset B$  such that  $\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(\mathbb{W} \setminus C) < \eta$  and the convergence in (7.11) is uniform on compact subsets of C.

Step 1. Define the closed set  $F := \Phi(C)$  and let U be the open set  $U := \mathbb{H}^n \setminus F$ ; for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  we set

$$r_p := \frac{1}{20}d(p,F) = \frac{1}{20}\inf\{d(p,q): q \in F\}.$$

We are going to use a variant of the classical 5r-covering argument (see, e.g., [59, Theorem 1.2]), which cannot be utilised here since the radii of the balls we use are not uniformly bounded. By Zorn's lemma, there exists a maximal set  $\mathscr{C} \subset U$  such that the family of balls  $\{B(p,r_p): p \in \mathscr{C}\}$  is pairwise disjoint; we claim that

$$U = \bigcup_{p \in \mathscr{C}} B(p, 5r_p).$$

The inclusion  $\supset$  in the formula above is clear by the definition of  $r_p$ ; assume that the reverse inclusion does not hold; that is, that there exists  $q \in U \setminus \bigcup_{p \in \mathscr{C}} B(p, 5r_p)$ . By maximality of  $\mathscr{C}$ , there exists  $p \in \mathscr{C}$  and  $p' \in U$  such that  $p' \in B(p, r_p) \cap B(q, r_q)$  and, in particular,

$$20r_q = d(q, F) \le d(q, p') + d(p', p) + d(p, F) \le r_q + 21r_p.$$

It follows that  $r_q \leq \frac{21}{19} r_p$  and, in turn,

$$q \in B(q,r_q) \subset B(p,r_p+r_q) \subset B(p,\tfrac{40}{19}r_p) \subset B(p,5r_p),$$

a contradiction.

Step 2. For every  $q \in U$  we define

$$\mathscr{C}_q := \{ p \in \mathscr{C} : B(q, 10r_q) \cap B(p, 10r_p) \neq \emptyset \}.$$

We claim that  $\#\mathscr{C}_q \le 129^Q$  and  $1/3 \le r_q/r_p \le 3$  for every  $p \in \mathscr{C}_q$ . In fact, if  $p \in \mathscr{C}_q$ , one has

$$|r_p - r_q| \le \frac{1}{20}d(p,q) \le \frac{1}{20}(10r_p + 10r_q) = \frac{1}{2}(r_p + r_q).$$

This implies that  $r_p \le 3r_q$  and  $r_q \le 3r_p$ , and the bounds on  $r_q/r_p$  follow.

In addition, for every  $p \in \mathcal{C}_q$  we have

$$d(p,q) + r_p \le 10(r_p + r_q) + r_p \le 43r_q$$

and, in particular,  $B(p, r_q/3) \subset B(p, r_p) \subset B(q, 43r_q)$ . The balls  $\{B(p, r_q/3) : p \in \mathcal{C}_q\}$  are then pairwise disjoint and contained in  $B(q, 43r_q)$ ; therefore,

$$\#\mathcal{C}_q \le \frac{\mathcal{L}^{2n+1}(B(q, 43r_q))}{\mathcal{L}^{2n+1}(B(0, r_q/3))} = 129^Q,$$

as claimed.

Step 3. Now let  $\mu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a smooth nonincreasing function such that

$$0 \le \mu \le 1$$
,  $\mu(t) = 1$  for  $t \le 2^{1/4}$ ,  $\mu(t) = 0$  for  $t \ge 2$ .

For every  $p \in \mathscr{C}$  define

$$g_p(q) := \mu\left(\frac{d_K(p,q)}{5r_p}\right),$$

where, as in (3.3),  $d_K$  is the homogeneous Korányi (or Cygan–Korányi) distance. Observe that  $d_K(p,\cdot)$  is smooth on  $\mathbb{H}^n \setminus \{p\}$ . Being a homogeneous distance (see [34]),  $d_K$  is globally equivalent to d and, more precisely,

$$d(p^\prime,p^{\prime\prime}) \leq d_K(p^\prime,p^{\prime\prime}) \leq 2^{1/4} d(p^\prime,p^{\prime\prime}) \qquad \forall \, p^\prime,p^{\prime\prime} \in \mathbb{H}^n.$$

It follows that  $g_p \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ ,  $0 \le g_p \le 1$  and

$$g_p \equiv 1$$
 on  $B(p, 5r_p)$   
 $g_p \equiv 0$  on  $\mathbb{H}^n \setminus B(p, 10r_p)$ . (7.12)

Moreover, there is a constant M=M(n)>0 such that  $|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}g_p|\leq M/r_p$ ; by Step 2,  $|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}g_p(q)|\leq 3M/r_q$  whenever  $p\in\mathscr{C}_q$ . Thanks to (7.12), one has  $g_p(q)=0$  if  $p\in\mathscr{C}\setminus\mathscr{C}_q$ ; hence,

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}g_p(q)| \le 3M/r_q$$
 for all  $q \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and  $p \in \mathscr{C}$ . (7.13)

Define  $\sigma(q) := \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}} g_p(q)$  for every  $q \in \mathbb{H}^n$ . By (7.12) again, one obtains that  $g_p \equiv 0$  on  $B(q, 10r_q)$  whenever  $p \notin \mathscr{C}_q$ , so

$$\sigma(q') = \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_q} g_p(q') \qquad \text{for every } q \in U \text{ and } q' \in B(q, 10r_q).$$

Observe that  $\sigma \ge 1$  on U; in fact, for every  $q \in U$  there exists  $\tilde{p}$  such that  $q \in B(\tilde{p}, 5r_{\tilde{p}})$  and, in particular,  $\sigma(q) \ge g_{\tilde{p}}(q) = 1$ . Using (7.13) and the inequality  $\#\mathscr{C}_q < 129^Q$ , we deduce that  $\sigma \in C^\infty(U)$  and there is a constant M' = M'(n) > 0 such that

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}\sigma(q)| \leq \frac{M'}{r_q} \qquad \text{for all } q \in U.$$

Now we define a partition of the unity  $\{v_p\}_{p\in\mathscr{C}}$  on U subordinate to the covering  $\{B(p,10r_p):p\in\mathscr{C})\}$  by setting

$$v_p(q) \coloneqq \frac{g_p(q)}{\sigma(q)}.$$

Notice that  $v_p \in C_c^{\infty}(U)$  and  $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_p = \frac{\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} g_p}{\sigma} - \frac{g_p \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} \sigma}{\sigma^2}$ ; eventually, we deduce that for a suitable M'' = M''(n) > 0,

$$\sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}} v_p(q) = 1, \qquad \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}} \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_p(q) = 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_p(q)| \le \frac{M''}{r_q}$$
 (7.14)

for every  $q \in U$  and every  $p \in \mathscr{C}$ .

Step 4. For every  $p \in \mathcal{C}$ , choose  $\bar{q}_p \in F$  such that  $d(p, \bar{q}_p) = d(p, F)$ ; we then define  $f : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  as

$$f(q) := \begin{cases} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{C}} v_p(q) L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)}(\bar{q}_p^{-1}q) = \sum_{p \in \mathcal{C}_q} v_p(q) L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)}(\bar{q}_p^{-1}q) \text{ if } q \in F. \end{cases}$$

Notice that  $f \in C^{\infty}(U)$  and

$$\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q) = \sum_{p \in \mathcal{C}_q} \left[ L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)}(\bar{q}_p^{-1}q) \otimes \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} \nu_p(q) + \nu_p(q) L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)} \right] \quad \text{on } U,$$
 (7.15)

where we recall the identification between homogeneous homomorphisms  $L_w$  and  $k \times 2n$  matrices. Step 5. We claim that  $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q) = L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}$  for every  $q \in F$ . For every such q we define the compact set  $H := F \cap \overline{B(q, 1)}$  and, for  $\eta > 0$ ,

$$\nu(\eta) := \sup \left\{ \left| \frac{L_{\Phi^{-1}(p)}(p^{-1}p')}{d(p,p')} \right| : p, p' \in H, \ 0 < d(p,p') \le \eta \right\} + \sup \left\{ |L_{\Phi^{-1}(p)} - L_{\Phi^{-1}(p')}| : p, p' \in H, \ d(p,p') \le \eta \right\}.$$

The map  $p \mapsto L_{\Phi^{-1}(p)}$  is uniformly continuous on H; in fact,  $\Phi^{-1}: H \to C$  is uniformly continuous and, since  $\nabla^{\phi} \phi$  is continuous on  $C, w \mapsto L_w$  is also uniformly continuous on the compact set  $\Phi^{-1}(H)$ . This,

together with the fact that the convergence in (7.11) is uniform on compact subsets of C, implies that

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \nu(\eta) = 0. \tag{7.16}$$

For every  $q' \in H$ , one has

$$\left| f(q') - f(q) - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}(q^{-1}q') \right| = \left| L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}(q^{-1}q') \right| \le \upsilon(d(q, q')) \ d(q, q'). \tag{7.17}$$

Instead, for every  $q' \in U$ , one has

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| f(q') - f(q) - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}(q^{-1}q') \right| \\ &= \left| f(q') - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}(q^{-1}q') \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v_{p}(q') |L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q') - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}(q^{-1}q')| \\ &\leq \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v_{p}(q') \Big[ |L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q') - L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})}(q^{-1}q')| + |(L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})} - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)})(q^{-1}q')| \Big] \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.18)$$

$$\leq \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v_{p}(q') \Big[ |L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q)| + |L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})} - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}|d(q,q') \Big].$$

Since  $20 r_{q'} \le d(q, q')$ , for every  $p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}$  we obtain

$$d(q, \bar{q}_p) \le d(q, p) + d(p, \bar{q}_p) \le 2d(q, p) \le 2(d(q, q') + d(q', p))$$

$$\le 2(d(q, q') + 10(r_{q'} + r_p)) \le 2(d(q, q') + 40r_{q'}) \le 6d(q, q').$$
(7.19)

Therefore, when  $d(q, q') \le 1/6$ , we have  $\bar{q}_p \in H$  for every  $p \in \mathcal{C}_{q'}$ ; using (7.18) and Step 2 we then obtain

$$\left| f(q') - f(q) - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}(q^{-1}q') \right| \le 7 \, \upsilon(6 \, d(q, q')) \, d(q, q').$$

Recalling (7.16), this inequality and (7.17) eventually give

$$|f(q') - f(q) - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}(q^{-1}q')| = o(d(q, q'))$$
 as  $q' \to q$ 

and the claim follows.

Step 6. Let us prove that  $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ ; since  $f \in C^\infty(U)$ , it suffices to prove that  $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f$  is continuous on F. We fix  $q \in F$  and  $q' \in \mathbb{H}^n$  with  $d(q,q') \le 1/6$  and we define H and v as in Step 5. If  $q' \in F$ , we have by Step 5

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q') - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q)| = |L_{\Phi^{-1}(p)} - L_{\Phi^{-1}(p')}| \le \upsilon(d(q, q')).$$

If  $q' \in U$  we choose  $\bar{q} \in F$  such that  $d(q', \bar{q}) = d(q', F) = 20r_{q'}$  to get

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q') - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q)| &\leq |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q') - L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})}| + |L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})} - L_{\Phi^{-1}(q)}| \\ &\leq |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q') - L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})}| + \nu(2d(q, q')), \end{aligned}$$
(7.20)

where in the last inequality we used the estimate

$$d(a,\bar{a}) < d(a,a') + d(a',\bar{a}) < 2d(a,a')$$

and, in particular, the fact that  $\bar{q} \in H$ . Using (7.14) and (7.15), we estimate

$$\begin{split} &|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q') - L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})}| \\ &= \left| \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} \left[ L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)}(\bar{q}_p^{-1} q') \otimes \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_p(q') + v_p(q') L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)} \right] - \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v_p(q') L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} \left| L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)}(\bar{q}_p^{-1} \bar{q}) \otimes \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_p(q') \right| + \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} \left| \left( L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)} - L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})} \right) (\bar{q}^{-1} q') \otimes \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_p(q') \right| \\ &+ \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v_p(q') |L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)} - L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})}| \\ &\leq \frac{M''}{r_{q'}} \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v(d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p)) d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p) + \frac{M''}{r_{q'}} \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v(d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p)) d(q', \bar{q}) + \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} v(d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p)) d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p) \right] \end{split}$$
(7.21)

where, in the last inequality, we used the fact that, as in (7.19),  $\bar{q}_p \in H$ . Recall that  $r_p \leq 3r_{q'}$  for all  $p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}$ ; therefore, for every such p one can estimate

$$d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p) \le d(\bar{q}, q') + d(q', p) + d(p, \bar{q}_p) \le 20r_{q'} + 10(r_{q'} + r_p) + 20r_p \le 120r_{q'}$$
(7.22)

and, in particular,

$$d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p) \le 6d(q', \bar{q}) \le 6d(q', q)$$
 (7.23)

for every  $p \in \mathcal{C}_{q'}$ . Combining (7.21), (7.22) and (7.23) one finds

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q') - L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q})}| \leq (120\,M'' + 20M'' + 1) \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q'}} \upsilon(d(\bar{q}, \bar{q}_p)) \leq (140\,M'' + 1)(129)^Q \upsilon(6d(q', q)),$$

which, together with (7.20), gives

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q') - \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q)| \to 0$$
 as  $q' \to q$ .

as claimed.

Step 7. Let  $\alpha_1 := \min\{1/2, \bar{\alpha}(1/2, n, k)\}$ , where  $\bar{\alpha}(1/2, n, k)$  is the number provided by Remark 4.4. We claim that there exists  $c_1 = c_1(n, k) > 0$  such that, if  $\alpha \le \alpha_1$ , then

$$|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q) - \overline{L}| \le c_1 \alpha$$
 for every  $q \in \mathbb{H}^n$ . (7.24)

We will later choose  $\alpha_0$  and  $c_0$  in such a way that  $\alpha_0 \le \alpha_1$  and  $c_0 \ge c_1$ ; in this way, statements (7.1) and (7.2) are immediate consequences of (7.24).

If  $q \in F$ , (7.24) follows from Step 5 and (7.10); hence, we can assume  $q \in U$ . By (7.15) and (7.14),

$$\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(q) - \overline{L} = \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q}} L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q) \otimes \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_{p}(q) + \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q}} v_{p}(q)(L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})} - \overline{L})$$

$$= \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q}} \left( L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q) - (q_{\mathbb{V}} - \phi(q_{\mathbb{W}})) \right) \otimes \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} v_{p}(q)$$

$$+ \sum_{p \in \mathscr{C}_{q}} v_{p}(q)(L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})} - \overline{L}),$$

$$(7.25)$$

where we recall that, for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$ , we write  $p = p_{\mathbb{W}} p_{\mathbb{V}}$  for suitable (unique)  $p_{\mathbb{W}} \in \mathbb{W}$  and  $p_{\mathbb{V}} \in \mathbb{V}$ . From (7.10) we obtain

$$\left| \sum_{p \in \mathcal{C}_q} v_p(q) (L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_p)} - \overline{L}) \right| \le \sqrt{k(2n-k)} \alpha. \tag{7.26}$$

We now estimate the first addend in the rightmost side of (7.25). First, we notice that for every  $p \in \mathcal{C}_q$ ,

$$|L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q) - \overline{L}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q)| \leq |L_{\Phi^{-1}(\bar{q}_{p})} - \overline{L}| d(q, \bar{q}_{p})$$

$$\leq \sqrt{k(2n-k)} \alpha (d(q,p) + d(p, \bar{q}_{p}))$$

$$\leq \sqrt{k(2n-k)} \alpha (10(r_{p} + r_{q}) + 20r_{p})$$

$$\leq 100\sqrt{k(2n-k)} \alpha r_{q}.$$
(7.27)

Noticing that  $\overline{L}(\bar{q}_p^{-1}q) = (\bar{q}_p^{-1}q)_{\mathbb{V}}$ , we deduce that

$$|\overline{L}(\bar{q}_p^{-1}q)-(q_{\mathbb{V}}-\phi(q_{\mathbb{W}}))|=|q_{\mathbb{V}}-(\bar{q}_p)_{\mathbb{V}}+\phi(q_{\mathbb{W}})-q_{\mathbb{V}}|=|\phi(q_{\mathbb{W}})-(\bar{q}_p)_{\mathbb{V}}|=|\phi(q_{\mathbb{W}})-\phi((\bar{q}_p)_{\mathbb{W}})|$$

and by Remark 4.3,

$$\begin{split} |\overline{L}(\bar{q}_{p}^{-1}q) - (q_{\mathbb{W}} - \phi(q_{\mathbb{W}}))| &\leq 2\alpha d(\bar{q}_{p}, \Phi(q_{\mathbb{W}})) \\ &\leq 2\alpha (d(\bar{q}_{p}, p) + d(p, q) + d(q, \Phi(q_{\mathbb{W}}))) \\ &= 2\alpha (d(\bar{q}_{p}, p) + d(p, q) + |q_{\mathbb{W}} - \phi(q_{\mathbb{W}})|) \\ &\leq 2\alpha (20r_{p} + 10(r_{p} + r_{q}) + 2d(q, \operatorname{gr}_{\phi})), \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality we used Remark 4.4 with  $\varepsilon = 1/2$ . Recalling that  $r_p \le 3r_q$  for every  $p \in \mathscr{C}_q$ , we deduce

$$|\overline{L}(\bar{q}_p^{-1}q) - (q_{\mathbb{V}} - \phi(q_{\mathbb{W}}))| \le 280 \,\alpha \,r_q$$
 (7.28)

and the claim (7.24) is now a consequence of (7.25), (7.26), (7.27), (7.28) and the last statement in (7.14). Step 8. Denote by K > 0 a constant with the property (see, e.g., [56]) that

$$|g(p)-g(q)| \leq K \Big(\sup_{\mathbb{H}^n} |\nabla_{\mathbb{H}} g| \Big) d(p,q) \qquad \text{ for every } g \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H}^n,\mathbb{R}^k) \text{ and } p,q \in \mathbb{H}^n.$$

We now fix  $c_0 := \max\{c_1, 2Kc_1\}$  and  $\alpha_0 := \min\{\alpha_1, (2c_1)^{-1}\}$ . The inequality (7.24) now implies that, if  $\alpha \le \alpha_0$ , then col  $[X_1f(p)|\dots|X_kf(p)] \ge \frac{1}{2}I$ ; hence,  $\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f(p)$  has rank k for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$ . In particular, the level set  $S = \{p \in \mathbb{H}^n : f(p) = 0\}$  is a  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold and statement (7.3) follows.

Theorem 1.4 ensures that  $S = \operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  for an intrinsic Lipschitz  $\psi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$ . We claim that the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\psi$  is at most  $2Kc_1\alpha$ . To this aim, fix  $w \in \mathbb{W}$  and  $v \in \mathbb{V} \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\|w\|_{\mathbb{H}} < \|v\|_{\mathbb{H}}/(2Kc_1\alpha)$ , so that  $wv \in C_{\beta}$  for some  $\beta > 2Kc_1\alpha$ . For every  $q \in \mathbb{H}^n$  we have  $\overline{L}(qw) = \overline{L}(q)$  and, in particular,

$$|f(qw)-f(q)|=|(f-\overline{L})(qw)-(f-\overline{L})(q)|\leq K\Big(\sup_{\mathbb{H}^n}|\nabla_{\mathbb{H}}f-\overline{L}|\Big)||w||_{\mathbb{H}}<||v||_{\mathbb{H}}/2,$$

the last inequality following from (7.24). Now, for every  $p \in S = \operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  we have f(p) = 0; hence,

$$|f(pwv)| = |f(pwv) - f(p)| \ge |f(pwv) - f(pw)| - |f(pw) - f(p)| > \left\langle f(pwv) - f(pw), \frac{v}{|v|} \right\rangle - \frac{||v||_{\mathbb{H}}}{2} \ge 0,$$

where we used Remark 2.7. This proves that  $f(pwv) \neq 0$ ; hence,  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi} \cap pC_{\beta} = \{p\}$  for every  $p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  and all  $\beta > 2Kc_1\alpha$ . This implies that the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\psi$  is at most  $2Kc_1\alpha$  and statement (7.4) follows because  $c_0 \geq 2Kc_1$ .

Step 9. By construction, for every  $w \in C$  we have  $\Phi(w) \in F \subset \{f = 0\}$ ; hence,  $\phi(w) = \psi(w)$  and

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{\mathcal{S}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(w)) = \ker \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(\Phi(w)) = \ker L_w \stackrel{(7.8)}{=} \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Phi(w)).$$

In particular, the inclusion

$$C \subset \{w \in \mathbb{W} : \phi(w) = \psi(w) \text{ and } \nabla^{\phi}\phi(w) = \nabla^{\psi}\psi(w)\}$$

holds, and (7.6) follows provided  $\eta < \delta$ . The inclusion above also guarantees that

$$(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \Delta S) \cup \{ p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap S : \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \} \subset \Phi(\mathbb{W} \setminus C) \cup \Psi(\mathbb{W} \setminus C), \tag{7.29}$$

where  $\Psi$  is the graph map  $\Psi(w) := w\psi(w)$ . The intrinsic Lipschitz constants of  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  are both bounded by max $\{\alpha_0, c_0\alpha_0\}$ , which depends only on n and k; then, by Remark 4.6, there exists  $\kappa = \kappa(k, n) > 0$  such that

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \bigsqcup \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \leq \kappa \, \Phi_{\#}(\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \bigsqcup \mathbb{W}) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \bigsqcup \operatorname{gr}_{\psi} \leq \kappa \, \Psi_{\#}(\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \bigsqcup \mathbb{W}). \tag{7.30}$$

Statements (7.29) and (7.30) imply that

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}((\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}\Delta S) \cup \{p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap S : \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}_{S}^{\mathbb{H}}(p)\}) \leq 2\kappa\eta,$$

and (7.5) follows provided we also impose  $\eta < (2\kappa)^{-1}\delta$ . This concludes the proof.

Theorem 7.2 is one of the main results of this section; recall that it implies Theorem 1.2.

**Theorem 7.2.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$  be an open set and  $\phi: A \to \mathbb{V}$  an intrinsic Lipschitz function. Then, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists an intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\psi: A \to \mathbb{V}$  such that  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold and

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}((\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \Delta \operatorname{gr}_{\psi}) \cup \{ p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap \operatorname{gr}_{\psi} : \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \}) < \varepsilon \tag{7.31}$$

$$\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(A \setminus \{w \in A : \phi(w) = \psi(w) \text{ and } \nabla^{\phi}\phi(w) = \nabla^{\psi}\psi(w)\}) < \varepsilon. \tag{7.32}$$

*Proof.* As in Remark 6.1, it is not restrictive to assume that  $\mathbb{W}$  and  $\mathbb{V}$  are the subgroups defined in (4.2) and (4.3). By Theorem 1.5, without loss of generality, we can assume that  $A = \mathbb{W}$ . Let  $\alpha_0, c_0$  be the constants provided by Lemma 7.1; up to reducing  $\alpha_0$ , we can assume that  $\alpha_0 c_0 \le 1/2$ .

Let  $\alpha$  be the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ ; if  $\alpha \leq \alpha_0$ , the statement directly follows from Lemma 7.1. We then assume  $\alpha > \alpha_0$  and define  $\lambda := \alpha_0/\alpha < 1$ . Let us consider the  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism  $\mathcal{L} : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$  defined (if k < n) by

$$\mathcal{L}(x',x'',y',y'',t) := \left(\lambda x',x'',\frac{y'}{\lambda},y'',t\right)$$

for every  $(x', x'', y', y'', t) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R} \equiv \mathbb{H}^n$ , and (if k = n) by  $\mathcal{L}(x, y, t) := (\lambda x, y/\lambda, t)$  for every  $(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \equiv \mathbb{H}^n$ . We discuss only the case k < n, as the case k = n can be treated with some modification in the notation only.

We claim that  $C_{\alpha_0} \subset \mathcal{L}(C_{\alpha})$ . To this aim, fix  $w = (0, x'', y', y'', t) \in \mathbb{W}$  and  $v = (x', 0, 0, 0, 0) \in \mathbb{V}$  such that  $wv \in C_{\alpha_0}$ ; that is,  $\|w\|_{\mathbb{H}} \leq \|v\|_{\mathbb{H}}/\alpha_0$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{L}^{-1}(w)\|_{\mathbb{H}} &= \left\| \left( 0, x'', \lambda y', y'', t \right) \right\|_{\mathbb{H}} \le \| (0, x'', y', y'', t) \|_{\mathbb{H}} = \| w \|_{\mathbb{H}} \\ &\le \frac{1}{\alpha_0} \| v \|_{\mathbb{H}} = \frac{1}{\alpha_0} \| (x', 0, 0, 0, 0, 0) \|_{\mathbb{H}} = \frac{\lambda}{\alpha_0} \left\| \left( \frac{x'}{\lambda}, 0, 0, 0, 0 \right) \right\|_{\mathbb{H}} = \frac{1}{\alpha} \| \mathcal{L}^{-1}(v) \|_{\mathbb{H}}. \end{split}$$

This proves that  $wv \in \mathcal{L}(C_{\alpha})$ , as claimed.

For every  $p \in \mathcal{L}(gr_{\phi})$  we have

$$\mathcal{L}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) \cap pC_{\alpha_0} \subset \mathcal{L}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}) \cap p\mathcal{L}(C_{\alpha}) = \mathcal{L}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap \mathcal{L}^{-1}(p)C_{\alpha}) = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{L}^{-1}(p)) = p;$$

hence (see Remark 2.3), the set  $\mathcal{L}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi})$  is the intrinsic Lipschitz graph of some function  $\phi_0 : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  with intrinsic Lipschitz constant at most  $\alpha_0$ . By Lemma 7.1, there exists  $f_0 \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H}^n, \mathbb{R}^k)$  such that

$$|W_i f_0(p)| \le 1/2$$
 for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and  $i = k + 1, \dots, 2n$  (7.33)

$$\operatorname{col}\left[X_{1}f_{0}(p)|\dots|X_{k}f_{0}(p)\right] \geq \frac{1}{2}I \quad \text{for every } p \in \mathbb{H}^{n}$$
 (7.34)

the level set  $S_0 := \{ p \in \mathbb{H}^n : f_0(p) = 0 \}$  is a  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold

 $S_0 = \operatorname{gr}_{\psi_0}$  for an intrinsic Lipschitz  $\psi_0 : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$ 

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}((\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0} \Delta S_0) \cup \{p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0} \cap S_0 : \operatorname{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}^{\mathbb{H}}_{S_0}(p)\}) < \varepsilon/M^{Q-k}$$
 (7.35)

$$\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}(\mathbb{W}\setminus\{w\in\mathbb{W}:\phi_0(w)=\psi_0(w)\text{ and }\nabla^{\phi_0}\phi_0(w)=\nabla^{\psi_0}\psi_0(w)\})<\varepsilon/M^{Q-k},$$
 (7.36)

where M > 0 denotes the Lipschitz constant of  $\mathcal{L}^{-1}: \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}^n$ . The function  $f := f_0 \circ \mathcal{L}$  is of class  $C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H}^n, \mathbb{R}^k)$  and

$$X_i f(p) = \lambda(X_i f_0)(\mathcal{L}(p))$$
 for every  $i = 1, \dots, k$   
 $Y_i f(p) = \frac{1}{\lambda}(Y_i f_0)(\mathcal{L}(p))$  for every  $i = 1, \dots, k$   
 $W_i f(p) = (W_i f_0)(\mathcal{L}(p))$  whenever  $k + 1 \le i \le n$  or  $n + k + 1 \le i \le 2n$ 

so that, by (7.33) and (7.34),

$$|W_i f(p)| \le \frac{1}{2\lambda}$$
 for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$  and  $i = k + 1, \dots, 2n$   
 $\operatorname{col}\left[X_1 f(p)| \dots |X_k f(p)\right] \ge \frac{\lambda}{2} I$  for every  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n$ .

By Theorem 1.4 and Remarks 2.7 and 2.8, the level set  $\{f=0\}$ , which is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold, is the intrinsic graph of an intrinsic Lipschitz function  $\psi: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  whose Lipschitz constant can be estimated in terms of  $\lambda$  (i.e., of  $\alpha$ ) only; see Remark 2.9. Moreover, the equalities

$$\begin{split} (\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \Delta \operatorname{gr}_{\psi}) & \cup \{ p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap \operatorname{gr}_{\psi} : \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \} \\ & = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \big( (\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0} \Delta \operatorname{gr}_{\psi_0}) \cup \{ p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0} \cap \operatorname{gr}_{\psi_0} : \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_0}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi_0}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \} \big) \end{split}$$

and

$$\{\phi = \psi \text{ and } \nabla^{\phi}\phi = \nabla^{\psi}\psi\} = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(\{\phi_0 = \psi_0 \text{ and } \nabla^{\phi_0}\phi_0 = \nabla^{\psi_0}\psi_0\})$$

hold. Statements (7.31) and (7.32) now follow from (7.35) and (7.36), and the proof is accomplished.

**Remark 7.3.** Taking (7.4) into account, a further outcome of the proof of Theorem 7.2 is the existence of a function  $u:(0,+\infty)\to(0,+\infty)$  such that, if A,  $\phi$  and  $\varepsilon$  are as in the statement of Theorem 7.2 and the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$  is  $\alpha>0$ , then the function  $\psi$  provided by Theorem 7.2 has intrinsic Lipschitz constant at most  $u(\alpha)$ .

A first consequence of Theorem 7.2 is the equivalence between the two possible notions of  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiability; this was already stated in Subsection 4.4.

**Corollary 7.4.** Let  $\phi: A \to \mathbb{V}$  be an intrinsic Lipschitz map defined on some subset  $A \subset \mathbb{W}$ ; then  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable.

In particular, a set  $R \subset \mathbb{H}^n$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -rectifiable of codimension  $k, k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , if and only if  $\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(R) < \infty$  and there exists a countable family  $(\phi_j)_j$  of intrinsic Lipschitz maps  $\phi_j : \mathbb{W}_j \to \mathbb{V}_j$  where  $\mathbb{W}_j, \mathbb{V}_j$  are homogeneous complementary subgroups of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with  $\dim \mathbb{V}_j = k$  and

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}\left(R\setminus\bigcup_{j}\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_{j}}\right)=0.$$

*Proof.* We can assume  $A = \mathbb{W}$  because of Theorem 1.5. By Theorem 7.2, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $\phi_j : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi_j}$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular and

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \setminus \operatorname{gr}_{\phi_i}) < 1/j.$$

The first part of the statement follows as well as one implication of the second part of the statement. The other implication is a simple consequence of the fact that (Theorem 4.19)  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifolds are locally intrinsic Lipschitz graphs.

A second consequence of Theorem 7.2 is the area formula of Theorem 1.3, which we now prove. Recall that the intrinsic Jacobian determinant  $J^{\phi}\phi$  was introduced in Definition 4.9.

*Proof of Theorem 1.3.* Recalling Remark 4.10, it is not restrictive to assume that  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are the subgroups in (4.3) and (4.2). By Theorem 1.5, one can assume that  $A = \mathbb{W}$ . Since every Borel nonnegative function h can be written as a series of characteristic functions of Borel subsets of  $\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ , we can, without loss of generality, assume that  $h = \chi_E$  for some Borel subset  $E \subset \operatorname{gr}_{\phi}$ , and we must prove that

$$\mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E) = C_{n,k} \int_{\Phi^{-1}(E)} J^\phi \phi \; d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k}.$$

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be fixed; by Theorem 7.2 we can find an intrinsic Lipschitz map  $\psi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  such that  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -regular submanifold and, defining the graph map  $\Psi(w) := w\psi(w)$  and  $D := \{w \in \mathbb{W} : \phi(w) = \psi(w) \text{ and } \nabla^{\phi}\phi(w) = \nabla^{\psi}\psi(w)\}$ , one has

$$\mathscr{L}^{2n+1-k}(\mathbb{W}\setminus D)<\varepsilon\quad\text{and}\quad\mathscr{S}^{Q-k}(E\setminus\Psi(D))<\varepsilon. \tag{7.37}$$

Using Theorem 4.19,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E) &= \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E \cap \Psi(D)) + \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E \setminus \Psi(D)) \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\Psi^{-1}(E \cap \Psi(D))} J^{\psi} \psi \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} + \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E \setminus \Psi(D)) \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\Phi^{-1}(E) \cap D} J^{\phi} \phi \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} + \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E \setminus \Psi(D)) \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\Phi^{-1}(E)} J^{\phi} \phi \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} - C_{n,k} \int_{\Phi^{-1}(E) \setminus D} J^{\phi} \phi \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} + \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E \setminus \Psi(D)) \end{split}$$

so that

$$\left| \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E) - C_{n,k} \int_{\Phi^{-1}(E)} J^{\phi} \phi \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \right| \leq C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W} \setminus D} J^{\phi} \phi \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} + \mathcal{S}^{Q-k}(E \setminus \Psi(D))$$

$$\leq (C_{n,k}C + 1)\varepsilon,$$

where, in the last inequality, we used (7.37) and the fact that, by Lemma 4.13,  $J^{\phi}\phi \leq C$  for some positive C depending only on the intrinsic Lipschitz constant of  $\phi$ . The arbitrariness of  $\varepsilon$  concludes the proof.  $\Box$ 

Eventually, as a further consequence of Theorem 7.2 we prove the fact that, as anticipated in Section 6, the canonical current associated with an entire intrinsic Lipschitz graph has zero boundary. We will use (6.11), whose validity is now guaranteed by Theorem 1.3.

**Proposition 7.5.** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be intrinsic Lipschitz. Then the (2n+1-k)-Heisenberg current  $[\![\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}]\!]$  introduced in (6.10) is such that  $\partial[\![\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}]\!] = 0$ .

*Proof.* As in Remark 6.1 we can assume without loss of generality that the subgroups  $\mathbb{W}$ ,  $\mathbb{V}$  are those defined in (4.3) and (4.2). Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be fixed and let  $\psi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{V}$  be the map provided by Theorem 7.2. It was shown in the proof of Theorem 7.2 that there exists  $f \in C^1_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{H}^n, \mathbb{R}^k)$  such that  $\operatorname{gr}_{\psi} = \{f = 0\}$ ; moreover, the construction performed in Lemma 7.1 ensures that  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n \setminus \operatorname{gr}_{\psi})$ . As in the proof of Theorem 1.6, for every positive integer i there exists  $\psi_i \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{W}, \mathbb{V})$  such that

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\psi_i} = \{ f = (1/i, 0, \dots, 0) \}.$$

Moreover, defining the graph maps  $\Psi(w) := w\psi(w)$  and  $\Psi_i(w) := w\psi_i(w)$ , as  $i \to +\infty$ , one has

$$\psi_i \to \psi, \ \Psi_i \to \Psi \text{ and } \nabla^{\psi_i} \psi_i \to \nabla^{\psi} \psi \quad \text{locally uniformly on } \mathbb{W}.$$
 (7.38)

The last convergence stated in (7.38) follows from the local uniform (with respect to  $w \in \mathbb{W}$ ) convergence

$$\operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi_i}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Psi_i(w)) = \ker \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(\Psi_i(w)) \to \ker \nabla_{\mathbb{H}} f(\Psi(w)) = \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(\Psi(w)).$$

Using Proposition 1.9, Lemma 4.29 and formulae (7.38) and (6.11) we deduce that for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{H}}^{2n-k}$ ,

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \lim_{i \to \infty} \llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\psi_i} \rrbracket (d_C \omega) \\ &= \lim_{i \to \infty} C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle \nabla^{\psi_i} \Psi_i \wedge T \mid (d_C \omega) \circ \Psi_i \rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \\ &= C_{n,k} \int_{\mathbb{W}} \langle \nabla^{\psi} \Psi \wedge T \mid (d_C \omega) \circ \Psi \rangle \, d\mathcal{L}^{2n+1-k} \\ &= \llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{th} \rrbracket (d_C \omega). \end{split}$$

П

In particular,

$$\begin{split} |\partial \llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \rrbracket(\omega)| &= |\llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \rrbracket(d_{C}\omega) - \llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\psi} \rrbracket(d_{C}\omega)| \\ &= \left| \int_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}} \langle t_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}} \mid d_{C}\omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} - \int_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}} \langle t_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}}^{\mathbb{H}} \mid d_{C}\omega \rangle \, d\mathcal{S}^{Q-k} \right| \\ &\leq \mathcal{S}^{Q-k} ((\operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \Delta \operatorname{gr}_{\psi}) \cup \{ p \in \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \cap \operatorname{gr}_{\psi} : \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\phi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \neq \operatorname{Tan}_{\operatorname{gr}_{\psi}}^{\mathbb{H}}(p) \}) \sup_{\mathbb{H}^{n}} |d_{C}\omega| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \sup_{\mathbb{H}^{n}} |d_{C}\omega|. \end{split}$$

The arbitrariness of  $\varepsilon$  implies that  $\partial \llbracket \operatorname{gr}_{\phi} \rrbracket(\omega) = 0$  for every  $\omega \in \mathcal{D}^{2n-k}_{\mathbb{H}}$ , as desired.

## A. Proof of Proposition 3.38

We provide here the proofs of Lemma 3.37 and Proposition 3.38 that were only stated in Subsection 3.6. The proof of Lemma 3.37 is quite simple.

Proof of Lemma 3.37. Assume that (a) holds; then either dim  $\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2 = m$ , in which case  $\mathcal{P}_1 = \mathcal{P}_2$  and (b) trivially holds or dim  $\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2 = m - 1$ . Let  $v_1, \ldots, v_{m-1}$  be a basis of  $\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2$  and choose  $w_1 \in \mathcal{P}_1 \setminus \mathcal{P}_2$  and  $w_2 \in \mathcal{P}_2 \setminus \mathcal{P}_1$ ; then, for every  $t_1, t_2$  as in statement (b) there exist  $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$t_1 = c_1 w_1 \wedge v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_{m-1}$$
  
$$t_2 = c_2 w_2 \wedge v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_{m-1}.$$

The difference  $t_1 - t_2$  is clearly a simple vector and (b) follows.

Statement (b) implies (c); hence, we have only to show that (c) implies (a). Assume there exist  $t_1, t_2$  as in (c). Let  $h := \dim \mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2$ ; we assume  $h \ge 1$ , but the following argument can be easily adapted to the case h = 0. By assumption,  $t := t_1 - t_2$  is simple; moreover, we have  $\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2 \subset \operatorname{span} t$ , because for every  $v \in \mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2$  we have  $v \wedge t = v \wedge (t_1 - t_2) = 0$ . In particular, after fixing a basis  $v_1, \ldots, v_h$  of  $\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{P}_2$ , we can find  $v_{h+1}, \ldots, v_m \in \operatorname{span} t$ ,  $e_1, \ldots, e_{m-h} \in \mathcal{P}_1 \setminus \mathcal{P}_2$  and  $e_{m-h+1}, \ldots, e_{2(m-h)} \in \mathcal{P}_2 \setminus \mathcal{P}_1$  such that

$$t = v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_h \wedge v_{h+1} \wedge \dots \wedge v_m$$
  

$$t_1 = v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_h \wedge e_1 \wedge \dots \wedge e_{m-h}$$
  

$$t_2 = v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_h \wedge e_{m-h+1} \wedge \dots \wedge e_{2(m-h)}.$$

Then, on the one side,  $t' := e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{m-h} - e_{m-h+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{2(m-h)}$  equals the simple vector  $v_{h+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge v_m$ ; hence, dim span t' = m - h. On the other side,  $e_1, \ldots, e_{2(m-h)}$  are linearly independent and one can easily check that, in case  $m - h \ge 2$ , one would have

$$\operatorname{span} t' = \{ v \in V : v \wedge t' = 0 \} = \{ v \in \operatorname{span} \{ e_1, \dots, e_{2(m-h)} \} : v \wedge t' = 0 \} = \{ 0 \}.$$

This implies that  $h \ge m - 1$ , which is statement (a).

On the contrary, the proof of Proposition 3.38 is long and technical: there might well be a simpler one but the author was not able to find it. The proof provided here is based on Lemmata A.1 and A.3, where one essentially studies the model cases of the planes  $\mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  introduced in (3.11). Proposition 3.38 will then follow by a quite standard use of Proposition 3.13.

Remark 3.27 will be utilised several times.

**Lemma A.1.** Let  $a \ge 1$  be an integer such that  $n \le 2a \le 2n - 1$ ; assume that  $\tau \in \wedge_{2a}\mathfrak{h}_1$  is a simple 2a-vector such that

$$[\tau \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}} = [X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}$$

Then the following statements hold:

- (i) if 2a > n, then  $\tau = X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a$ ;
- (ii) if 2a = n, then either

$$\tau = X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a$$

or

$$\tau = (-1)^a X_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{2a} \wedge Y_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_{2a}.$$

**Remark A.2.** When 2a = n one can use computations analogous to those in Remark 3.27 to check the action of  $(-1)^a X_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{2a} \wedge Y_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_{2a} \wedge T$  in duality with elements of the basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2a+1} = \mathcal{J}^{n+1}$  provided by Proposition 1.10. As a matter of fact, the equality

$$[X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{T}} = [(-1)^a X_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{2a} \wedge Y_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_{2a} \wedge T]_{\mathcal{T}}$$

does hold.

For instance, recalling Example 3.23. it can be easily checked that in  $\mathbb{H}^2$ .

$$\langle X_1 \wedge Y_1 \wedge T \mid \lambda \rangle = -\langle X_2 \wedge Y_2 \wedge T \mid \lambda \rangle$$
 for every  $\lambda \in \mathcal{J}$ .

*Proof of Lemma A.1.* Let us write  $\tau = \tau^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \tau^{2a}$  for suitable horizontal vectors  $\tau^i \in \mathfrak{h}_1$ . Writing

$$\tau^{i} = \tau_{1}^{i} X_{1} + \dots + \tau_{2n}^{i} Y_{n}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, 2a$$

we introduce the matrix

$$M := \operatorname{col}\left[\tau^{1} \mid \dots \mid \tau^{2a}\right] = \begin{bmatrix} \tau_{1}^{1} \mid \dots \mid \tau_{1}^{2a} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \tau_{2n}^{1} \mid \dots \mid \tau_{2n}^{2a} \end{bmatrix} = \operatorname{row}\left[\frac{M_{1}}{\vdots \\ M_{2n}}\right],$$

where for every  $i=1,\ldots,2n$  we denoted by  $M_i=(\tau_i^1,\ldots,\tau_i^{2a})\in\mathbb{R}^{2a}$  the *i*th row of M. It is worth noticing that for every  $I\subset\{1,\ldots,2n\}$  with |I|=2a the equality

$$\langle \tau \mid dz_I \rangle = \det[M_i]_{i \in I}$$

holds, where we used notation (3.12) and denoted by  $[M_i]_{i \in I}$  the  $2a \times 2a$  matrix formed by the rows  $M_i$ ,  $i \in I$ , arranged in the natural order.

We now fix a subset  $I \subset \{1, ..., 2n\}$  of indices having maximal cardinality among all subsets  $\mathcal{F} \subset \{1, ..., 2n\}$  satisfying the two properties

$$\forall i, j \in \mathcal{F} \quad i \not\equiv j \mod n$$

$$(M_i)_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \text{ are linearly independent.} \tag{A.1}$$

We also define

$$J := \{ j \in \{1, \dots, 2n\} : \exists i \in I \text{ such that } j \equiv i \bmod n \} \setminus I$$
$$K := \{1, \dots, 2n\} \setminus (I \cup J).$$

Clearly,  $I \cap J = \emptyset$ .

Claim 1:  $a \leq |I| \leq n$  and |J| = |I|.

Let us prove the first claimed inequality. We have  $\tau \neq 0$ , for otherwise we would obtain the contradiction

$$0 = \langle \tau \wedge T \mid \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta \rangle = \langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T \mid \alpha_{\overline{R}} \wedge \theta \rangle = 1$$

where

$$\overline{R} := \frac{1}{a+1} \frac{2}{a+2} \frac{\cdots |n-a|}{n} \frac{|n-a+1|}{n} \cdots |a| \quad \text{if } 2a > n$$

$$\overline{R} := \frac{1}{a+1} \frac{2}{a+2} \frac{\cdots |a|}{n} \quad \text{if } 2a = n.$$
(A.2)

In particular, the rank of M is 2a and we can find distinct numbers  $i_1, \ldots, i_{2a}$  in  $\{1, \ldots, 2n\}$  such that  $M_{i_1}, \ldots, M_{i_{2a}}$  are linearly independent. It is then obvious that we can find a subset of  $\{i_1, \ldots, i_{2a}\}$  made by at least a elements that are never congruent modulo n; this proves that  $|I| \ge a$ .

The remaining part of the claim  $(|I| \le n \text{ and } |J| = |I|)$  is clear from the definitions of I and J.

Claim 2: For every  $k \in K$ ,  $M_k \in \text{span}\{M_i : i \in I\}$ .

Assume, on the contrary, that there exists  $k \in K$  such that  $(M_i)_{i \in I \cup \{k\}}$  are linearly independent; then  $\mathcal{I} := I \cup \{k\}$  would satisfy the two properties in (A.1) and this would contradict the maximality of I.

Claim 3: There exists  $J' \subset J$  such that |J'| = 2a - |I| and  $(M_i)_{i \in I \cup J'}$  are linearly independent. In particular,  $(M_i)_{i \in I \cup J'}$  form a basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{2a}$ .

We are going to implicitly use the facts that  $I \cap J = \emptyset$  and |I| = |J|. Let  $j_1, j_2, \dots, j_{|I|}$  be an enumeration of all of the elements of J; for  $\ell = 0, 1, \dots, |I|$  we inductively define  $J'_{\ell}$  by  $J'_{0} := \emptyset$  and

if 
$$M_{j_{\ell}} \notin \text{span}\{M_i : i \in I \cup J'_{\ell-1}\}$$
, then  $J'_{\ell} := J'_{\ell-1} \cup \{j_{\ell}\}$  if  $M_{j_{\ell}} \in \text{span}\{M_i : i \in I \cup J'_{\ell-1}\}$ , then  $J'_{\ell} := J'_{\ell-1}$ .

Setting  $J' := J'_{|I|}$ , the elements  $(M_i)_{i \in J \cup J'}$  are linearly independent by construction; let us prove that they span the whole  $\mathbb{R}^{2a}$ , which will also imply the equality |J'| = 2a - |I|. Assume, on the contrary, that the dimension of

$$\mathcal{M} := \operatorname{span}\{M_i : i \in I \cup J'\} = \operatorname{span}\{M_i : i \in I \cup J\}$$

(the second equality holding by construction) is less than 2a; recalling Claim 2 and the fact that  $I \cup J \cup K = \{1, ..., 2n\}$ , this would imply that

$$\forall i \in \{1, \ldots, 2n\} \quad M_i \in \mathcal{M},$$

and the rank of M would not be 2a. This is a contradiction, and Claim 3 is proved.

We now introduce

$$A := \{i \in \{1, \dots, n\} : \{i, i + n\} \subset I \cup J'\}$$

$$B := (I \cup J') \setminus (A \cup (n + A)) = I \setminus (A \cup (n + A))$$

$$C := K \cap \{1, \dots, n\},$$

where for  $E \subset \{1, ..., n\}$  we write n + E for  $\{i \in \{n + 1, ..., 2n\} : i - n \in E\}$ . We notice the following properties:

- (i) if  $i \in A$ , then either  $(i \in I \text{ and } i + n \in J')$ , or  $(i \in J' \text{ and } i + n \in I)$ ;
- (ii) |I| = |J| = |A| + |B| and 2|A| + |B| = |I| + |J'| = 2a;
- (iii)  $K = C \cup (n + C)$ .

In particular,

$$|A| - |C| = |A| - \frac{1}{2}|K| = |A| - \frac{1}{2}(2n - |I| - |J|) = 2|A| + |B| - n = 2a - n \ge 0$$

and we can define the (nonnecessarily standard) Young tableau

$$R := \frac{a_1 |a_2| \cdots |\cdots |a_{|A|}}{c_1 |c_2| \cdots |c_{|C|}}$$

where  $a_1, \ldots, a_{|A|}$  is the increasing enumeration of the elements of A and  $c_1, \ldots, c_{|C|}$  is the increasing enumeration of the elements of C; of course, when |A| = |C| (or, which is the same, 2a = n) the tableau R is a  $2 \times |A|$  matrix.

We now consider the covector  $\lambda := dz_B \wedge \alpha_R$ ; it can be easily checked that  $\lambda \wedge \theta \in \mathcal{J}^{2a+1}$ .

Claim 4:  $\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle \neq 0$ .

It is enough to check that

$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \langle \tau \mid dz_B \wedge dx y_A \rangle; \tag{A.3}$$

in fact, if (A.3) were true one would get

$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \langle \tau \mid dz_B \wedge dx y_A \rangle = \pm \det[M_i]_{i \in A \cup (n+A) \cup B} = \pm \det[M_i]_{i \in I \cup I'} \neq 0, \tag{A.4}$$

as claimed. The signs  $\pm$  in (A.4) are not relevant and depend on A and B only.

Let us prove (A.3). By definition of  $\alpha_R$ , the covector  $\lambda$  can be written as

$$\lambda = dz_B \wedge \alpha_R = dz_B \wedge dxy_A + \tilde{\lambda}$$

where  $\tilde{\lambda}$  is a sum of covectors of the form  $\pm dz_B \wedge dxy_{A' \cup C'}$ , where  $A' \subset A$  and  $C' \subset C$  satisfy

$$|A'| + |C'| = |A|$$
 and  $|C'| \ge 1$ 

(in particular, |A'| < |A|). We have

$$\langle \tau \mid dz_B \wedge dx y_{A' \cup C'} \rangle = \pm \det[M_i]_{i \in B \cup A' \cup C' \cup (n+A') \cup (n+C')} \tag{A.5}$$

and we claim that this determinant vanishes. Choose indeed  $\bar{a} \in A \setminus A'$  and let  $\bar{j} \in J'$  be such that  $\bar{j} \equiv \bar{a} \mod n$  (recall property (i) above); by Claim 2 we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{span}(M_i)_{i \in B \cup A' \cup C' \cup (n+A') \cup (n+C')} &\subset \operatorname{span}(M_i)_{i \in B \cup A' \cup (n+A')} + \operatorname{span}(M_i)_{i \in C' \cup (n+C')} \\ &\subset \operatorname{span}(M_i)_{i \in B \cup A' \cup (n+A')} + \operatorname{span}(M_i)_{i \in I} \\ &\subset \operatorname{span}(M_i)_{i \in I \cup J' \setminus \{\bar{\imath}\}}. \end{aligned}$$

In particular, span $(M_i)_{i \in B \cup A' \cup C' \cup (n+A') \cup (n+C')}$  cannot be of maximal dimension 2a. This implies that the determinant in (A.5) is null, as claimed. The equality  $\langle \tau \mid \tilde{\lambda} \rangle = 0$  then immediately follows and, since  $\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \langle \tau \mid dz_B \wedge dxy_A + \tilde{\lambda} \rangle$ , equality (A.3) follows.

Claim 5:  $B = \emptyset$ .

By Remark 3.21, the covector  $\alpha_R$  can be written as a finite linear combination  $\alpha_R = \sum_{\ell} c_{\ell} \alpha_{S_{\ell}}, c_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}$ , of covectors  $\alpha_{S_{\ell}}$  associated to standard Young tableaux  $S_{\ell}$  containing the elements of  $A \cup C$ . In particular, if  $B \neq \emptyset$ , one would have

$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \sum_{\ell} c_{\ell} \langle \tau \mid dz_{B} \wedge \alpha_{S_{\ell}} \rangle = \sum_{\ell} c_{\ell} \langle X_{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a} \wedge Y_{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_{a} \mid dz_{B} \wedge \alpha_{S_{\ell}} \rangle = 0,$$

the last equality due to Remark 3.27 (with b := 0) and the fact that  $dz_B$  contains no factors of the form  $dx_i$ . This would contradict Claim 4; hence,  $B = \emptyset$  as claimed.

Claim 5 implies that |A| = a and

$$I \cup J' = A \cup (n+A) = I \cup J$$
 and  $C = \{1, \dots, n\} \setminus A$ .

Without loss of generality, we can assume that I = A and J = J' = n + A.

Claim 6:  $M_k = 0$  for every  $k \notin A \cup (n + A)$ .

Assume that, on the contrary, there exists  $k \notin A \cup (n+A)$  (i.e.,  $k \in K = C \cup (n+C)$ ) such that  $M_k \neq 0$ . By Claim 3,  $(M_i)_{i \in A \cup (n+A)}$  form a basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{2a}$ ; hence,

$$span\{M_i : i \in A\} \cap span\{M_i : i \in n + A\} = \{0\},\$$

which gives that

either 
$$M_k \notin \text{span}\{M_i : i \in A\}$$
 or  $M_k \notin \text{span}\{M_i : i \in n + A\}$ .

This would contradict the choice of I, because  $\mathcal{F} := A \cup \{k\}$  (in the first case) or  $\mathcal{F} := (n+A) \cup \{k\}$  (in the second one) would satisfy both conditions in (A.1), but  $|\mathcal{F}| > |I|$ .

Claim 7: 
$$\langle \tau \mid dxy_D \rangle = 0$$
 for every  $D \subset \{1, ..., n\}$  such that  $|D| = |A|$  and  $D \neq A$ .

This is an immediate consequence of the equality  $\langle \tau \mid dxy_D \rangle = \pm \det[M_i]_{i \in D \cup (n+D)}$  together with Claim 6.

Claim 8: 
$$\{n-a+1, n-a+2, ..., a\} \subset A$$
.

Here we are understanding that the claim is empty when n=2a. Denoting by  $\overline{R}$  the Young tableau defined in (A.2), one can easily check that the covector  $\alpha_{\overline{R}}$  can be written as a sum of elements of the form  $\pm dxy_D$  where the subsets  $D \subset \{1,\ldots,n\}$  have cardinality |D| = |A| = a and all contain  $\{n-a+1,\ldots,a\}$ . If one had  $\{n-a+1,\ldots,a\} \not\subset A$ , then one would get the contradiction

$$1 = \langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \mid \alpha_{\overline{R}} \rangle = \langle \tau \mid \alpha_{\overline{R}} \rangle = 0,$$

the last equality following from Claim 7.

Claim 9: If 2a > n, then  $A = \{1, ..., a\}$ .

The condition 2a > n implies that |C| = n - |A| = n - a < a = |A|. Let  $a_1 < a_2 < \cdots < a_{|A|}$  be the elements of A and  $c_1 < \cdots < c_{|C|}$  those of C and define

$$R_1 := \begin{bmatrix} a_1 & a_2 & \cdots & a_{|C|} & a_{|C|+1} & \cdots & a_{|A|} \\ c_1 & c_2 & \cdots & c_{|C|} \end{bmatrix}$$

The Young tableau  $R_1$  is not necessarily a standard one, as it might happen that  $a_i > c_i$  for some i; however, it can be easily seen that the tableau

$$R_2 := \frac{m_1 \ m_2 \ \cdots \ m_{|C|} \ a_{|C|+1} \ \cdots \ a_{|A|}}{\mu_1 \ \mu_2 \ \cdots \ \mu_{|C|}}$$

defined by setting  $m_i := \min\{a_i, c_i\}$ ,  $\mu_i := \max\{a_i, c_i\}$  (or, equivalently, by switching the positions of  $a_i, c_i$  in case  $a_i > c_i$ ) is a standard one. Notice that, since the *i*th column of  $R_1$  and the *i*th column of  $R_2$  contain the same elements  $a_i, c_i$ , we have  $\alpha_{R_2} = \pm \alpha_{R_1}$ . Using Claim 7 we obtain

$$\langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \mid \alpha_{R_2} \rangle = \langle \tau \mid \alpha_{R_2} \rangle = \pm \langle \tau \mid \alpha_{R_1} \rangle$$

$$= \pm \langle \tau \mid dx y_A \rangle = \pm \det[M_i]_{i \in A \cup (n+A)} \neq 0,$$
(A.6)

which, by Remark 3.27, implies that  $R_2 = \overline{R}$ . Therefore, the rightmost entry in the first row of  $R_2$  must be a, but this coincides with the rightmost entry in the first row of  $R_1$ ; that is, with max A. Therefore,  $A \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$  is such that |A| = a and max A = a, and the claim  $A = \{1, \ldots, a\}$  follows.

Claim 10: If 2a = n, then either  $A = \{1, ..., a\}$  or  $A = \{a + 1, ..., 2a\}$ .

The proof is similar to that of Claim 9. Notice that now |C| = |A| = a; let  $a_1 < a_2 < \cdots < a_{|A|}$  be the elements of A and  $c_1 < \cdots < c_{|A|}$  those of C and define

$$R_1 := \frac{a_1 |a_2| \cdots |a_{|A|}}{c_1 |c_2| \cdots |c_{|A|}}$$

as before. Again, let

$$R_2 := \frac{|m_1| |m_2| \cdots |m_{|A|}|}{|\mu_1| |\mu_2| \cdots |\mu_{|A|}|}$$

be defined by  $m_i := \min\{a_i, c_i\}$ ,  $\mu_i := \max\{a_i, c_i\}$ ;  $R_2$  is a standard Young tableau,  $\alpha_{R_2} = \pm \alpha_{R_1}$ , and as in (A.6), we can conclude that  $R_2 = \overline{R}$ . We now distinguish two cases:

- o if  $1 \in A$ , then  $a_1 = m_1 = 1$  and, since  $R_2 = \overline{R}$ , we have  $\mu_1 = c_1 = a + 1$ . In particular,  $C \subset \{1, \dots, n\} = \{1, \dots, 2a\}$  is such that |C| = a and min C = a + 1. This implies  $C = \{a + 1, \dots, n\}$  and in turn  $A = \{1, \dots, a\}$ ;
- ∘ if 1 ∉ A, then 1 =  $m_1$  =  $c_1$  and a + 1 =  $\mu_1$  =  $a_1$ . In particular, A ⊂ {1, . . . , n} = {1, . . . , a} is such that |A| = a and min A = a + 1, which implies  $A = \{a + 1, . . . , n\}$ .

The conclusion of the proof now follows easily. If 2a > n, by Claims 6 and 9 we have that  $M_i = 0$  for every  $i \in \{a+1, \ldots, n, n+a+1, \ldots, 2n\}$ . This implies that  $\tau = tX_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a$  for some  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and t is forced to be 1 because  $\langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \mid \alpha_{R_2} \rangle \neq 0$  and

$$\langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \mid \alpha_{\overline{R}} \rangle = \langle \tau \mid \alpha_{\overline{R}} \rangle = t \langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \mid \alpha_{\overline{R}} \rangle.$$

This concludes the proof in case n > 2a. The case n = 2a follows analogously on considering Claims 6 and 10.

We now use Lemma A.1 to prove the following, more general, result, of which Lemma A.1 represents the case b = 0.

**Lemma A.3.** Let  $a \ge 0$  and  $b \ge 1$  be integers such that  $n \le 2a + b \le 2n - 1$ ; assume that  $\tau \in \wedge_{2a+b}\mathfrak{h}_1$  is a simple (2a + b)-vector such that

$$[\tau \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}} = [X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}. \tag{A.7}$$

Then, the following statements hold:

- (i) if 2a + b > n, then  $\tau = X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a$ ;
- (ii) if 2a + b = n, then either

$$\tau = X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a$$

or

$$\tau = (-1)^{a(b+1)} X_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_n \wedge Y_{a+b+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_n.$$

**Remark A.4.** As a matter of fact, if 2a + b = n, the equality

$$[X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}} = [(-1)^{a(b+1)} X_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_n \wedge Y_{a+b+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_n \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}$$

holds. This can be proved by using Remark 3.27 and checking the action of  $X_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_n \wedge Y_{a+b+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_n \wedge T$  in duality with elements of the basis of  $\mathcal{J}^{2a+b+1} = \mathcal{J}^{n+1}$  provided by Proposition 1.10.

For instance, in  $\mathbb{H}^3$  one has the equality  $[X_1 \wedge X_2 \wedge Y_1 \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}} = [X_2 \wedge X_3 \wedge Y_3 \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}$ .

*Proof of Lemma A.3.* Let us write  $\tau = \tau^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \tau^{2a+b}$  for suitable horizontal vectors  $\tau^i \in \mathfrak{h}_1$ ; writing

$$\tau^{i} = \tau_{1}^{i} X_{1} + \dots + \tau_{2n}^{i} Y_{n}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, 2a + b$$

we introduce the matrix

$$M := \operatorname{col}\left[\tau^{1} \mid \dots \mid \tau^{2a+b}\right] = \begin{bmatrix} \tau_{1}^{1} \mid \dots \mid \tau_{1}^{2a+b} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \tau_{2n}^{1} \mid \dots \mid \tau_{2n}^{2a+b} \end{bmatrix} = \operatorname{row}\left[\frac{M_{1}}{\vdots}\right]_{M_{2n}},$$

where for every i = 1, ..., 2n we denoted by  $M_i = (\tau_i^1, ..., \tau_i^{2a+b}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2a+b}$  the *i*th row of *M*. Again, for every  $I \subset \{1, ..., 2n\}$  with |I| = 2a + b the equality

$$\langle \tau \mid dz_I \rangle = \det[M_i]_{i \in I}$$

holds, where we used notation (3.12).

Claim 1:  $M_{a+1}, \ldots, M_{a+b}$  are linearly independent.

Assume not: then, for every  $I \subset \{1, \dots, 2n\}$  with |I| = 2a we would get

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}} \wedge dz_I \rangle = 0.$$

In particular,

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}} \wedge \alpha_R \rangle = 0$$
 for  $R := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & \cdots & n-a-b & \cdots & a \\ \hline a+b+1 & a+b+2 & \cdots & n \end{bmatrix}$ 

which would provide a contradiction since

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}} \wedge \alpha_R \rangle = \langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \mid dx_{a+1,\dots,a+b} \wedge \alpha_R \rangle = \pm 1$$

by assumption.

Claim 2: Up to a proper choice of  $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$ , the  $b \times (2a+b)$  subblock  $\widetilde{M}$  of M determined by the rows  $M_{a+1}, \ldots, M_{a+b}$  satisfies

$$\widetilde{M} = \begin{bmatrix} M_{a+1} \\ \vdots \\ M_{a+b} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{b \times 2a} | I_b \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $0_{b\times 2a}$  denotes a  $b\times 2a$  block with null entries and  $I_b$  is the  $b\times b$  identity matrix.

By Claim 1, the matrix  $\widetilde{M}$  has rank b; up to a permutation of  $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$ , we can assume that the rightmost  $b \times b$  minor of  $\widetilde{M}$  has nonzero determinant. Namely, calling  $\widetilde{M}^j = (\tau^j_{a+1}, \ldots, \tau^j_{a+b})^T$  the jth

column of  $\widetilde{M}$  (the superscript T denoting transposition), the rightmost minor  $\overline{M} := [\widetilde{M}^{2a+1} | \dots | \widetilde{M}^{2a+b}]$  of  $\widetilde{M}$  satisfies det  $\overline{M} \neq 0$ . For  $i = 2a+1, \dots, 2a+b$  we define

$$\sigma^i := \sum_{j=1}^b (\overline{M}^{-1})_i^j \, \tau^{2a+j}$$

and we notice that  $\operatorname{span}\{\tau^1,\ldots,\tau^{2a+b}\}=\operatorname{span}\{\tau^1,\ldots,\tau^{2a},\sigma^{2a+1},\ldots,\sigma^{2a+b}\}$ , because of the equality  $\operatorname{span}\{\tau^{2a+1},\ldots,\tau^{2a+b}\}=\operatorname{span}\{\sigma^{2a+1},\ldots,\sigma^{2a+b}\}$ . Notice that

$$\sigma_{a+j}^{2a+i} = \delta_j^i \quad \text{for all } i, j \in \{1, \dots, b\};$$
 (A.8)

in particular, when in the matrix M the rightmost b columns  $\tau^{2a+1}, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$  are replaced by  $\sigma^{2a+1}, \ldots, \sigma^{2a+b}$ , the block  $\widetilde{M}$  is replaced by a block of the form

$$\left[ *_{b \times 2a} \middle| I_b \right]$$

where  $*_{b\times 2a}$  denotes a  $b\times 2a$  matrix. Define

$$\sigma^{i} := \tau^{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{b} \tau_{a+j}^{i} \sigma^{2a+j}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, 2a$$

so that

$$\sigma_j^i = 0$$
 for all  $i = 1, \dots, 2a, j = a + 1, \dots, a + b$ . (A.9)

It is easily seen that  $\operatorname{span}\{\tau^1,\ldots,\tau^{2a+b}\}=\operatorname{span}\{\sigma^1,\ldots,\sigma^{2a+b}\}$ ; in particular,  $\sigma:=\sigma^1\wedge\cdots\wedge\sigma^{2a+b}$  is a nonzero multiple of  $\tau$ . Upon multiplying  $\sigma^1$  by a nonzero factor, we can assume that  $\sigma=\tau$ . In this way, if one replaces  $\tau^1,\ldots,\tau^{2a+b}$  by  $\sigma^1,\ldots,\sigma^{2a+b}$ , then the new matrix M is such that the block  $\widetilde{M}$  has the form

$$\left[ \left. 0_{b\times 2a} \right| I_b \right]$$

as wished.

In the following, we will keep on using the notation  $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$  for the new family  $\sigma^1, \ldots, \sigma^{2a+b}$ .

Claim 3a: If n > 2a + b, then up to a proper choice of  $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$ , we can assume that the matrix M is of the form

$$M = (-1)^{ab} \begin{bmatrix} I_a & 0 & A_1 \\ 0 & 0 & I_b \\ \hline 0 & 0 & D_1 \\ \hline 0 & I_a & A_2 \\ \hline B_1 & B_2 & C \\ \hline 0 & 0 & D_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.10)

where

- (i) the 2a + b columns of M have been arranged into three blocks of size, respectively, a, a and b;
- (ii) the 2n rows of M have been arranged into six blocks of size, respectively, a, b, n a b, a, b and n a b;

- (iii) 0 denotes null matrices of the proper size;
- (iv)  $I_a$ ,  $I_b$  denote identity matrices of size a, b;
- (v)  $A_1, A_2, B, C_1, C_2, D_1, D_2$  denote generic matrices of the proper size.

Claim 3b: If n = 2a + b, then up to a proper choice of  $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$ , we can assume that

either 
$$M = (-1)^{ab} \begin{bmatrix} I_a & 0 & A_1 \\ 0 & 0 & I_b \\ \hline 0 & 0 & D_1 \\ \hline 0 & I_a & A_2 \\ \hline B_1 & B_2 & C \\ \hline 0 & 0 & D_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
 or  $M = (-1)^{a(b+1)} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & D_1 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & I_b \\ \hline I_a & 0 & A_1 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & D_2 \\ \hline B_1 & B_2 & C \\ \hline 0 & I_a & A_2 \end{bmatrix}$  (A.11)

where the notation is similar to Claim 3a, (i)–(v).

We prove Claims 3a and 3b simultaneously; notice that there is nothing to prove in case a = 0. Using the block subdivision of M as in (A.10) and (A.11), we already know by Claim 2 that the second block of rows is of the form  $[0|0|I_b]$ . Let us prove that we can choose  $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$  so that null and identity blocks 0 and  $I_a$  appear where claimed in (A.10) and (A.11).

We consider now a (n-b)th Heisenberg group and we agree that all objects associated with it will be overlined; in particular, we denote by  $\overline{X}_1, \ldots, \overline{X}_{n-b}, \overline{Y}_1, \ldots, \overline{Y}_{n-b}, \overline{T}$  the standard basis of left-invariant vector fields in  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^{n-b}$ . Define

$$\overline{\tau}^i := \sum_{j=1}^a (\tau^i_j \overline{X}_j + \tau^i_{n+j} \overline{Y}_j) + \sum_{j=a+1}^{n-b} (\tau^i_{b+j} \overline{X}_j + \tau^i_{n+b+j} \overline{Y}_j), \qquad i = 1, \dots, 2a.$$

Consider  $\overline{\tau} := \overline{\tau}^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \overline{\tau}^{2a}$ ; we prove that

$$\langle \overline{\tau} \wedge \overline{T} \mid \overline{\lambda} \rangle = (-1)^{ab} \langle \overline{X}_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \overline{X}_a \wedge \overline{Y}_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \overline{Y}_a \wedge \overline{T} \mid \overline{\lambda} \rangle \quad \text{for all } \overline{\lambda} \in \overline{\mathcal{J}}^{2a+1}, \tag{A.12}$$

where the symbol  $\overline{\mathcal{J}}^{2a+1}$  stands for Rumin's space of (2a+1)-covectors in  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^{n-b}$ . Lemma A.1 then implies  $\overline{\tau}=\overline{X}_1\wedge\cdots\wedge\overline{X}_a\wedge\overline{Y}_1\wedge\cdots\wedge\overline{Y}_a$  (unless 2a+b=n, in which case we also have the possibility  $\overline{\tau}=(-1)^a\overline{X}_{a+1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\overline{X}_{n-b}\wedge\overline{Y}_{a+1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\overline{Y}_{n-b}$ ) and this implies Claims 3a–3b up to some tedious arguments.

Consider  $\overline{I} \subset \{1, \dots, 2(n-b)\}$  such that  $|\overline{I}| = 2a$ ; calling  $\overline{M}$  the  $(2n-2b) \times 2a$  matrix whose columns are  $\overline{\tau}^1, \dots, \overline{\tau}^{2a}$  and using for forms in  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^{n-b}$  the notation  $d\overline{z}_{\overline{I}}$  analogous to that in (3.12), we have

$$\langle \overline{\tau} \mid d\overline{z}_{\overline{I}} \rangle = \det[\overline{M}_i]_{i \in \overline{I}},$$

where, of course,  $\overline{M}_i$  is the *i*th row of  $\overline{M}$ . Since  $\overline{M}$  is obtained from M by cancelling the third block of columns and the second and fifth blocks of rows (according to the arrangement in (A.10) and (A.11)) and since the second block of rows of M is  $[0|0|I_b]$ , it is clear that

$$\begin{split} \langle \overline{\tau} \mid d\overline{z}_{\overline{I}} \rangle = & \det[\overline{M}_i]_{i \in \overline{I}} = (-1)^{ab} \det[M_i]_{\iota(\overline{I}) \cup \{a+1, \dots, a+b\}} \\ = & (-1)^{ab} \langle \tau \mid dz_{\iota(\overline{I}) \cup \{a+1, \dots, a+b\}} \rangle, \end{split}$$

where  $\iota: \{1, \ldots, 2(n-b)\} \rightarrow \{1, \ldots, 2n\}$  is defined by

$$\iota(i) := \begin{cases} i & \text{if } 1 \le i \le a \\ i+b & \text{if } a+1 \le i \le n-b+a \\ i+2b & \text{if } n-b+a+1 \le i \le 2n-2b. \end{cases}$$

This implies that, for every disjoint subsets  $\overline{I}, \overline{J} \subset \{1, \dots, n-b\}$  and every standard Young tableau  $\overline{R}$ , with rows of the proper lengths  $\frac{1}{2}(2a-|\overline{I}|-|\overline{J}|)$  and  $n-b-\frac{1}{2}(2a+|\overline{I}|+|\overline{J}|)$  and whose entries are precisely the numbers in  $\{1, \dots, n-b\} \setminus (\overline{I} \cup \overline{J})$ , we have

$$\langle \overline{\tau} \mid d\overline{x}_{\overline{I}} \wedge d\overline{y}_{\overline{J}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}} \rangle = (-1)^{ab} \langle \tau \mid dx_{\iota(\overline{I}) \cup \{a+1, \dots, a+b\}} \wedge dy_{\overline{J}} \wedge \alpha_{\iota(\overline{R})} \rangle, \tag{A.13}$$

where  $\iota(\overline{R})$  denotes the tableau of the same form of R, obtained on replacing each entry, say i, of  $\overline{R}$  with  $\iota(i)$ . Observe that  $\iota(R)$  is also a standard Young tableau because  $\iota$  is increasing. Taking Remark 3.27 and assumption (A.7) into account, equality (A.13) now implies (A.12).

From now on we assume that, if n = 2a + b, we are in the first case between the two displayed in (A.11); indeed, the following arguments can be easily 11 generalised to the other possible case.

Claim 4: Up to a proper choice of  $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^{2a+b}$ , we can assume that the blocks  $A_1, A_2$  in (A.10)–(A.11) are 0.

It is enough to replace  $\tau^i$ , for  $i = 2a + 1, \dots, 2a + b$ , with

$$\tau^{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{a} (\tau_{j}^{i} \tau^{j} + \tau_{n+j}^{i} \tau^{a+j}).$$

We are using in a key way the two blocks of the form  $I_a$  appearing in (A.10)–(A.11).

From now on the vectors  $\tau$  are fixed; we are going to prove that the remaining blocks B,  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  in (A.10)–(A.11) are 0.

Claim 5: The blocks  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  in (A.10)–(A.11) are 0. We need to prove that

$$\tau_{n+a+j}^{i} = 0$$
 for all  $i = 1, ..., 2a, \ j = 1, ..., b$ .

Fix then such i and j. Let  $\overline{R}$  be the standard Young tableau

$$\overline{R} := \frac{1}{a+b+1} \frac{2}{a+b+2} \frac{\cdots |n-a-b| \cdots |a|}{n} \quad \text{if } n < 2a+b$$

$$\overline{R} := \frac{1}{a+b+1} \frac{2}{a+b+2} \frac{\cdots |a|}{n} \quad \text{if } n = 2a+b.$$
(A.14)

We define a new tableau Q in the following way:

if 1 ≤ i ≤ a, Q is the tableau obtained from R on replacing, in the first row, the entry i with a + j;
if a + 1 ≤ i ≤ 2a, Q is the tableau obtained from R on replacing, in the first row, the entry i - a with a + j.

Consider

$$\lambda := dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j\}} \wedge dy_i \wedge \alpha_Q \qquad \text{if } 1 \le i \le a$$

$$\lambda := dx_{\{i-a\}\cup\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j\}} \wedge \alpha_Q \qquad \text{if } a+1 \le i \le 2a.$$

The tableau Q is not a standard Young one; nonetheless,  $\lambda \wedge \theta \in \mathcal{J}^{2a+b+1}$  and, using Remark 3.21 and the assumption (A.7), we have

$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = 0. \tag{A.15}$$

<sup>&</sup>quot;One elegant way is to apply the  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphism associated with the Lie algebra isomorphism  $\mathcal{L}_*(X_i) = X_{a+b+i}, \ \mathcal{L}_*(Y_i) = Y_{a+b+i} \ \text{if} \ 1 \leq i \leq a, \ \mathcal{L}_*(X_i) = X_i, \ \mathcal{L}_*(Y_i) = Y_i \ \text{if} \ a+1 \leq i \leq a+b, \ \mathcal{L}_*(X_i) = X_{i-a-b}, \ \mathcal{L}_*(Y_i) = Y_{i-a-b} \ \text{if} \ a+b+1 \leq i \leq n=2a+b.$ 

97

Assume that  $1 \le i \le a$ ; we can write

$$\lambda = dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j\}} \wedge dy_i \wedge \sum_{S} \sigma(S) \ dxy_{S}$$
 (A.16)

where  $\sigma(S) \in \{1, -1\}$  is a suitable sign and the sum varies among the  $2^{n-a-b}$  subsets  $S \subset \{1, \dots, a, a+j, a+b+1, \dots, n\} \setminus \{i\}$  (i.e., S is a subset of the entries of Q) of cardinality a and containing exactly one element from each column of Q. For any such S we have

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j\}} \land dy_i \land dxy_S \rangle = \det[M_{\ell}]_{\ell \in (\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j\}) \cup \{n+i\} \cup S \cup (n+S)}$$

$$= \pm \det[N_{\ell}]_{\ell \in S \cup (n+S) \cup \{n+i\}},$$
(A.17)

where

- the sign  $\pm$  depends only on S, i, j,
- o  $N_{\ell} := (\tau_{\ell}^{1}, \dots, \tau_{\ell}^{2a}, \tau_{\ell}^{2a+j})$  is obtained from the  $\ell$ th row  $M_{\ell}$  of M on cancelling the last b components except for the (2a+j)th one,
- we used that the second block of rows in (A.10)-(A.11) is  $[0|0|I_b]$ .

Using Claim 4, one finds

if 
$$S = \{1, ..., a, a + j\} \setminus \{i\}$$
, then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\} \setminus \{a+j\}} \wedge dy_i \wedge dxy_S \rangle = \pm \tau_{n+a+j}^i$ . (A.18)

Notice that the case  $S = \{1, \ldots, a, a+j\} \setminus \{i\}$  corresponds to S containing the elements in the first row of Q. Instead, if  $S \neq \{1, \ldots, a, a+j\} \setminus \{i\}$ , then there exists an element  $\bar{\ell} \in S$  belonging to the second row of Q; that is,  $\bar{\ell} \in S \cap \{a+b+1,\ldots,n\}$ . In this case,  $N_{\bar{\ell}}$  and  $N_{n+\bar{\ell}}$  are linearly dependent, because by Claim 3 all of their entries are null except (possibly) for the last one; in particular,

if 
$$S \neq \{1, \dots, a, a+j\} \setminus \{i\}$$
, then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}} \setminus \{a+i\} \land dy_{a+i} \land dxy_S \rangle = 0$ . (A.19)

By (A.15), (A.16), (A.18) and (A.19) we obtain

$$0 = \langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \pm \tau_{n+a+j}^{i} \tag{A.20}$$

and the claim is proved in case  $1 \le i \le a$ . If  $a + 1 \le i \le 2a$ , (A.20) can be proved by a completely analogous argument that we omit. The claim is proved.

Claim 6: The block C in (A.10)–(A.11) is O.

The block C is a square one, with size  $b \times b$ ; we start by proving that the elements on the diagonal of C are all null; that is, that

$$\tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+i} = 0$$
 for any  $i = 1, \dots, b$ . (A.21)

Let then  $i \in \{1, ..., b\}$  be fixed; consider

$$\lambda := dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+i\}} \wedge dy_{a+i} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}},$$

where  $\overline{R}$  is as in (A.14). We can write

$$\lambda = dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+i\}} \wedge dy_{a+i} \wedge \sum_{S} \sigma(S) dxy_{S}$$
(A.22)

where  $\sigma(S) \in \{1, -1\}$  is a suitable sign and the sum varies among the  $2^{n-a-b}$  subsets  $S \subseteq \{1, \dots, a, a+b+1, \dots, n\}$  of cardinality a and containing exactly one element from each column of  $\overline{R}$ . For any such S we have

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+i\}} \land dy_{a+i} \land dxy_S \rangle = \det[M_j]_{j \in (\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+i\}) \cup \{n+a+i\} \cup S \cup (n+S)}$$

$$= \pm \det[N_i]_{i \in S \cup (n+S) \cup \{n+a+i\}},$$
(A.23)

where

- $\circ$  the sign  $\pm$  depends only on S and i,
- $\circ N_j := (\tau_j^1, \dots, \tau_j^{2a}, \tau_j^{2a+i})$  is obtained from the *j*th row  $M_j$  of M on cancelling the last b components except for the (2a+i)th one,
- we used that the second block of rows in (A.10)–(A.11) is  $[0|0|I_b]$ .

Using Claims 4 and 5, one finds

if 
$$S = \{1, ..., a\}$$
, then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus \{a+i\}} \land dy_{a+i} \land dxy_S \rangle = \pm \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+i}$ . (A.24)

On the contrary, if  $S \neq \{1, ..., a\}$ , then there exists an element  $\bar{\ell} \in S$  belonging to the second row of  $\overline{R}$ ; that is,  $\bar{\ell} \in S \cap \{a+b+1, ..., n\}$ . In this case,  $N_{\bar{\ell}}$  and  $N_{n+\bar{\ell}}$  are linearly dependent, because by Claim 3 all of their entries are null except (possibly) for the last one; in particular, (A.23) gives

if 
$$S \neq \{1, \dots, a\}$$
, then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+i\}} \wedge dy_{a+i} \wedge dxy_S \rangle = 0.$  (A.25)

By (A.22), (A.24) and (A.25) we obtain

$$0 = \langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \mid \lambda \rangle = \langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \pm \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+i},$$

and (A.21) is proved.

We now prove that the off-diagonal entries of C are null as well. We then fix  $i, j \in \{1, ..., b\}$  with j < i and prove that

$$\tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+i} = \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} = 0. \tag{A.26}$$

Let us consider

$$\lambda_1 := dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus \{a+j,a+i\}} \wedge dy_{\{n+a+j,n+a+i\}} \wedge \alpha_{\overline{R}}$$
$$\lambda_2 := dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus \{a+j,a+i\}} \wedge \alpha_Q$$

where  $\overline{R}$  is as in (A.14) and Q is the tableau obtained by adding a column (a + j, a + i) on the left of  $\overline{R}$ ; that is,

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} a+j & 1 & \cdots & n-a-b & n-a-b+1 & \cdots & a \\ a+i & a+b+1 & \cdots & n & & & \\ Q := \begin{bmatrix} a+j & 1 & \cdots & a \\ a+i & a+b+1 & \cdots & n & & \\ \end{bmatrix}$$
 if  $n < 2a+b$ .

Notice that Q is not a standard Young tableau; however,  $\lambda_1 \wedge \theta$  and  $\lambda_2 \wedge \theta$  belong to  $\mathcal{J}^{2a+b+1}$  and, using Remark 3.21 and the assumption (A.7), one obtains

$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda_1 \rangle = \langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \mid \lambda_1 \rangle = 0$$
  
$$\langle \tau \mid \lambda_2 \rangle = \langle X_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Y_a \mid \lambda_2 \rangle = 0.$$
 (A.27)

The argument that follows is pretty much similar to the previous one as well as to that of Claim 5. We write

$$\lambda_{1} = dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j,a+i\}} \wedge dy_{\{n+a+j,n+a+i\}} \wedge \sum_{S} \sigma(S) dxy_{S}$$

$$\lambda_{2} = dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j,a+i\}} \wedge \sum_{T} \sigma(T) dxy_{T}$$
(A.28)

where  $\sigma(S)$ ,  $\sigma(T) \in \{1, -1\}$  are suitable signs and the sums vary among the subsets S, T of the sets of entries of  $\overline{R}$ , Q (respectively) with cardinality (respectively) a, a + 1 and containing exactly one element from each column of (respectively)  $\overline{R}$ , Q. For any such S, T we have

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j,a+i\}} \land dy_{\{n+a+j,n+a+i\}} \land dxy_{S} \rangle$$

$$= \det[M_{\ell}]_{\ell \in (\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j,a+i\}) \cup \{n+a+j,n+a+i\} \cup S \cup (n+S)}$$

$$= \pm \det[O_{\ell}]_{\ell \in S \cup (n+S) \cup \{n+a+j,n+a+i\}},$$
(A.29)

and

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j,a+i\}} \land dxy_T \rangle = \det[M_{\ell}]_{\ell \in (\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+j,a+i\}) \cup T \cup (n+T)}$$

$$= \pm \det[O_{\ell}]_{\ell \in T \cup (n+T)},$$
(A.30)

where

- the signs  $\pm$  depend only on S, T, i and j,
- o  $O_{\ell} := (\tau_{\ell}^{1}, \dots, \tau_{\ell}^{2a}, \tau_{\ell}^{2a+j}, \tau_{\ell}^{2a+i})$  is obtained from the  $\ell$ th row  $M_{\ell}$  of M on cancelling the last b components except for the (2a+j)th and (2a+i)th ones,
- we used that the second block of rows in (A.10)–(A.11) is  $[0|0|I_b]$ .

Using Claims 4 and 5 and the fact that the diagonal of C is null, one finds that

(i) if  $S = \{1, ..., a\}$ , then

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\} \setminus \{a+j,a+i\}} \land dy_{n+a+j,n+a+i} \land dxy_{S} \rangle$$

$$= \pm \det \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+j} & \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i} \\ \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+j} & \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+i} \\ \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} & \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} \end{pmatrix} = \pm \det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i} \\ \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \pm \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i};$$

(ii) if  $T = \{1, ..., a, a + j\}$ , then

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}\setminus \{a+j,a+i\}} \wedge dxy_T \rangle$$

$$= \pm \det \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{a+j}^{2a+j} & \tau_{a+j}^{2a+i} \\ \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+j} & \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i} \end{pmatrix} = \pm \det \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i} \end{pmatrix} = \pm \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i};$$

(iii) if  $T = \{1, ..., a, a + i\}$ , then

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,...,a+b\}} \setminus \{a+j,a+i\} \land dxy_T \rangle$$

$$= \pm \det \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{a+i}^{2a+j} & \tau_{a+i}^{2a+i} \\ \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} & \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} \end{pmatrix} = \pm \det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \pm \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j},$$

where the  $\pm$  signs will be irrelevant. If  $S \neq \{1, \ldots, a\}$ , then there exists an element  $\bar{\ell} \in S \cap \{a+b+1, \ldots, n\}$ ; it follows that  $O_{\bar{\ell}}, O_{n+\bar{\ell}}, O_{n+a+j}, O_{n+a+i}$  are linearly dependent, because by Claims 3 and 5

all of their entries are null except (possibly) for the last two ones. In particular, (A.29) gives

if 
$$S \neq \{1, \dots, a\}$$
,  
then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+i,a+i\}} \land dy_{n+a+i,n+a+i} \land dxy_S \rangle = 0$ . (A.31)

If  $T \neq \{1, \ldots, a, a+j\}$  and  $T \neq \{1, \ldots, a, a+i\}$ , then there exists an element  $\bar{\ell} \in T \cap \{a+b+1, \ldots, n\}$ ; notice also that either  $a+j \in T$  or  $a+i \in T$ . If  $a+j \in T$ , then  $O_{\bar{\ell}}, O_{n+\bar{\ell}}, O_{a+j}, O_{n+a+j}$  are linearly dependent, again because by Claims 3 and 5 all of their entries are null except (possibly) for the last two. Similarly, when  $a+i \in T$  one has that  $O_{\bar{\ell}}, O_{n+\bar{\ell}}, O_{a+i}, O_{n+a+i}$  are linearly dependent. We deduce by (A.30) that

if 
$$T \neq \{1, \dots, a, a+j\}$$
 and  $T \neq \{1, \dots, a, a+i\}$ ,  
then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus \{a+i,a+i\}} \land dxy_T \rangle = 0$ . (A.32)

By (A.27), (A.28), (A.31) and (i)-(ii)-(iii) above we finally achieve

$$\tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j}\tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i} = 0$$
 and  $\pm \tau_{n+a+i}^{2a+j} \pm \tau_{n+a+j}^{2a+i} = 0$ ,

and (A.26) is proved.

Claim 7: The blocks  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  in (A.10)–(A.11) are 0.

The claim amounts to showing that

$$\tau_j^{2a+i} = 0 = \tau_{n+j}^{2a+i}$$
 for any  $1 \le i \le b$  and  $a+b+1 \le j \le n$ . (A.33)

Fix i, j as in (A.33) and consider the Young tableau Q obtained from  $\overline{R}$  on replacing, in the second row, the entry j with a + i. Set

$$\lambda := dx_{\{i\} \cup \{a+1, a+b\} \setminus \{a+i\}} \wedge \alpha_{O}$$

and write

$$\lambda = dx_{\{j\} \cup \{a+1,\dots,a+b\} \setminus \{a+i\}} \wedge \sum_{S} \sigma(S) \ dxy_{S}$$
(A.34)

where  $\sigma(S) \in \{1, -1\}$  is a suitable sign and the sum varies among the  $2^{n-a-b}$  subsets  $S \subset \{a+i\} \cup \{1, \ldots, a, a+b+1, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{j\}$  (i.e., S is a subset of the set of entries of Q) with cardinality a and containing exactly one element from each column of Q. For any such S we have

$$\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{j\} \cup \{a+1,...,a+b\} \setminus \{a+i\}} \land dxy_S \rangle = \det[M_{\ell}]_{\ell \in (\{j\} \cup \{a+1,...,a+b\} \setminus \{a+i\}) \cup S \cup (n+S)}$$

$$= \pm \det[N_{\ell}]_{\ell \in \{j\} \cup S \cup (n+S)},$$
(A.35)

where

- the sign  $\pm$  depends only on S, j and i,
- o  $N_{\ell} := (\tau_{\ell}^1, \dots, \tau_{\ell}^{2a}, \tau_{\ell}^{2a+i})$  is obtained from the  $\ell$ th row  $M_{\ell}$  of M on canceling the last b components except for the (2a+i)th one,
- we used that the second block of rows in (A.10)–(A.11) is  $[0|0|I_b]$ .

Using the previous claims, we obtain

if 
$$S = \{1, ..., a\}$$
, then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{j\} \cup \{a+1, ..., a+b\} \setminus \{a+i\}} \land dxy_S \rangle = \pm \tau_j^{2a+i}$ . (A.36)

If  $S \neq \{1, \ldots, a\}$ , then there exists an element  $\bar{\ell} \in S$  belonging to the second row of Q; that is,  $\bar{\ell} \in S \cap (\{a+i\} \cup \{a+b+1, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{j\})$ . In this case,  $N_{\bar{\ell}}$  and  $N_{n+\bar{\ell}}$  are linearly dependent, because by

Claims 3, 4 and 5 all of their entries are null except (possibly) for the last one; in particular, (A.35) gives

if 
$$S \neq \{1, \dots, a\}$$
, then  $\langle \tau \mid dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}} \setminus \{a+i\} \land dy_{a+i} \land dxy_S \rangle = 0.$  (A.37)

By (A.34), (A.36), (A.37) and Remark 3.21 we obtain

$$0 = \langle X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \mid \lambda \rangle = \langle \tau \mid \lambda \rangle = \pm \tau_i^{2a+i}$$

and the first equality in (A.33) is proved.

We are left to show that also  $\pm \tau_{n+j}^{2a+i} = 0$  for any i, j as in (A.33); this can be done by considering (for the same Q above)

$$\lambda = dx_{\{a+1,\dots,a+b\}\setminus\{a+i\}} \wedge dy_i \wedge \alpha_O$$

and following a similar argument, which we omit. The proof of Claim 7 is then complete.

The proof of Lemma A.3 now follows from the equality  $\tau = \tau^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \tau^{2a+b}$ ; the fact that the blocks  $A_1, A_2, B_1, B_2, C, D_1, D_2$  in (A.10)–(A.11) are all null; and the equality

$$X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a$$

$$= (-1)^{ab} X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_a \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge X_{a+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b}.$$

*Proof of Proposition 3.38.* Assume that there exists a (2n+1-k)-dimensional vertical plane  $\mathscr{P}_1$  whose unit tangent vector  $t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_1}$  is such that  $[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_1}]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of  $\zeta$ . By Proposition 3.13 there exist nonnegative integers a and b and an  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear isomorphim  $\mathcal{L}:\mathbb{H}^n\to\mathbb{H}^n$  such that  $a+b\leq n$ , dim  $\mathscr{P}_1=2a+b+1$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^*(\theta)=\theta$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^*(d\theta)=d\theta$  and

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathscr{P}_1) = \mathscr{P}_{a,b},$$

where  $\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  is defined as in (3.11). Let us denote by  $\mathcal{L}_*: \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k} \to \mathcal{J}_{2n+1-k}$  the isomorphism defined in (5.9). Clearly,  $\mathcal{L}_*([t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_1}]_{\mathcal{J}}) = [\mathcal{L}_*(t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_1})]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of

$$[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_{a,b}}]_{\mathcal{J}} = [X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}};$$

hence,  $\mathcal{L}_*\zeta$  is a multiple of  $[X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{a+b} \wedge Y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Y_a \wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}$ .

Assume that  $\mathscr{P}_2$  is another vertical (2n+1-k)-plane in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  such that  $[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_2}]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of  $\zeta$ . The vertical plane  $\mathscr{P}_3:=\mathcal{L}(\mathscr{P}_2)$  is such that  $t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_3}$  is a multiple of  $\mathcal{L}_*(t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_2})$ ; hence,  $[t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_3}]_{\mathcal{J}}$  is a multiple of  $\mathcal{L}_*([t^{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathscr{P}_2}]_{\mathcal{J}})$ ; that is, of  $\mathcal{L}_*\zeta$  and eventually of  $[X_1\wedge\cdots\wedge X_{a+b}\wedge Y_1\wedge\cdots\wedge Y_a\wedge T]_{\mathcal{J}}$ . If k< n, Lemma A.3 implies that  $\mathscr{P}_3=\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$ ; hence,  $\mathscr{P}_2=\mathscr{P}_1$ . This proves part (i) of the statement.

If instead k = n, Lemma A.3 implies that either  $\mathcal{P}_3 = \mathcal{P}_{a,b}$  or

$$\mathcal{P}_3 = \exp(\operatorname{span}\{X_{a+1}, \dots, X_n, Y_{a+b+1}, \dots, Y_n, T\}).$$

Observe that, if a=0, then  $\mathscr{P}_3=\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$ . On the contrary, if  $a\geq 1$ , then either  $\mathscr{P}_3=\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  or  $\mathscr{P}_3$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{a,b}$  are not rank 1 connected, because

$$\dim \mathcal{P}_3 \cap \mathcal{P}_{a,b} = b+1 \le (2a+b+1)-2 = \dim \mathcal{P}_3 - 2.$$

All in all, we deduce that either  $\mathcal{P}_2 = \mathcal{P}_1$ , or

$$\mathcal{P}_2 = \mathcal{L}^{-1}(\exp(\text{span}\{X_{a+1}, \dots, X_n, Y_{a+b+1}, \dots, Y_n, T\}))$$

and  $\mathcal{P}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_2$  are not rank 1 connected. This concludes the proof.

**Acknowledgements.** We are grateful to G. Alberti and A. Marchese for pointing out reference [89] to us. The author thankd F. Boarotto, A. Julia and S. Nicolussi Golo for their patience and for providing a pleasant environment during the long preparation of this work.

**Funding statement:** This research was supported by the University of Padova, in particular through the STARS Project SUG-GESTION, and by GNAMPA of INdAM (Italy).

Ethical standards: The research meets all ethical guidelines, including adherence to the legal requirements of the study country.

Conflicts of interest: None.

## References

- [1] G. Alberti and A. Marchese, 'On the differentiability of Lipschitz functions with respect to measures in the Euclidean space', Geom. Funct. Anal. 26 (2016), 1–66.
- [2] G. Alberti, A. Massaccesi and E. Stepanov, 'On the geometric structure of currents tangent to smooth distributions', J. Differential Geom., In press.
- [3] L. Ambrosio and B. Kirchheim, 'Rectifiable sets in metric and Banach spaces', Math. Ann. 318 (2000), 527-555.
- [4] L. Ambrosio, F. Serra Cassano and D. Vittone, 'Intrinsic regular hypersurfaces in Heisenberg groups', J. Geom. Anal. 16 (2006), 187–232.
- [5] G. Antonelli, D. Di Donato and S. Don, 'Distributional solutions of Burgers' type equations for intrinsic graphs in Carnot groups of step 2', Preprint, 2020, arXiv:2008.00519.
- [6] G. Antonelli, D. Di Donato, S. Don and E. Le Donne, 'Characterizations of uniformly differentiable co-horizontal intrinsic graphs in Carnot groups', Preprint, 2020, arXiv:2005.11390.
- [7] G. Antonelli and E. Le Donne, 'Pauls rectifiabile and purely Pauls unrectifiable smooth hypersurfaces', Nonlinear Anal. 200 (2020), 111983.
- [8] G. Antonelli and A. Merlo, 'Intrinsically Lipschitz functions with normal targets in Carnot groups', Ann. Fenn. Math. 46(1) (2021), 571–579.
- [9] G. Arena and R. Serapioni, 'Intrinsic regular submanifolds in Heisenberg groups are differentiable graphs', Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 35 (2009), 517–536.
- [10] E. Artin, Geometric Algebra (Interscience Publishers, New York, 1957).
- [11] A. Baldi, M. Barnabei and B. Franchi, 'A recursive basis for primitive forms in symplectic spaces and applications to Heisenberg groups', *Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.)* 32 (2016), 265–285.
- [12] A. Baldi and B. Franchi, 'Sharp a priori estimates for div-curl systems in Heisenberg groups', J. Funct. Anal. 265 (2013), 2388–2419.
- [13] A. Baldi, B. Franchi, N. Tchou and M. C. Tesi, 'Compensated compactness for differential forms in Carnot groups and applications', Adv. Math. 223 (2010), 1555–1607.
- [14] J. M. Ball and R. D. James, 'Fine phase mixtures as minimizers of energy', Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 100 (1987), 13-52.
- [15] Z. M. Balogh, 'Size of characteristic sets and functions with prescribed gradient', J. Reine Angew. Math. 564 (2003), 63-83.
- [16] F. Bigolin, L. Caravenna and F. Serra Cassano, 'Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups and continuous solutions of a balance equation', Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 32 (2015), 925–963.
- [17] F. Bigolin and F. Serra Cassano, 'Distributional solutions of Burgers' equation and intrinsic regular graphs in Heisenberg groups', J. Math. Anal. Appl. 366 (2010), 561–568.
- [18] F. Bigolin and F. Serra Cassano, 'Intrinsic regular graphs in Heisenberg groups vs. weak solutions of non-linear first-order PDEs', Adv. Calc. Var. 3 (2010), 69–97.
- [19] F. Bigolin and D. Vittone, 'Some remarks about parametrizations of intrinsic regular surfaces in the Heisenberg group', Publ. Mat. 54 (2010), 159–172.
- [20] A. Bonfiglioli, E. Lanconelli and F. Uguzzoni, Stratified Lie Groups and Potential Theory for Their Sub-Laplacians, Springer Monographs in Mathematics (Springer, Berlin, 2007).
- [21] R. Bryant, P. Griffiths and D. Grossman, Exterior Differential Systems and Euler-Lagrange Partial Differential Equations, Chicago Lectures in Mathematics (University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 2003).
- [22] G. Canarecci, 'Sub-Riemannian currents and slicing of currents in the Heisenberg group ℍ<sup>n</sup>', J. Geom. Anal. 31(5) (2021), 5166–5200.
- [23] G. Canarecci, 'Notion of  $\mathbb{H}$ -orientability for surfaces in the Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^{n}$ ', Differ. Geom. Appl. 74 (2021), 101701.
- [24] G. Canarecci, Insight in the Rumin cohomology and orientability properties of the Heisenberg group, *Lic. Thesis* (Univ. Helsinki), https://helda.helsinki.fi/handle/10138/260962.
- [25] L. Capogna, D. Danielli and N. Garofalo, 'The geometric Sobolev embedding for vector fields and the isoperimetric inequality', *Commun. Anal. Geom.* 2 (1994), 203–215.
- [26] L. Capogna, D. Danielli, S. D. Pauls and J. T. Tyson, An Introduction to the Heisenberg Group and the Sub-Riemannian Isoperimetric Problem, Vol. 259 of Progress in Mathematics (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2007).
- [27] V. Chousionis, K. Fässler and T. Orponen, 'Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs and vertical β-numbers in the Heisenberg group', Amer. J. Math. 141 (2019), 1087–1147.
- [28] V. Chousionis, V. Magnani and J. T. Tyson, 'On uniform measures in the Heisenberg group', Adv. Math. 363 (2020), 106980, 42 pp.
- [29] G. Citti and M. Manfredini, 'Implicit function theorem in Carnot-Carathéodory spaces', Commun. Contemp. Math. 8 (2006), 657–680.

- [30] G. Citti, M. Manfredini, A. Pinamonti and F. Serra Cassano, 'Smooth approximation for intrinsic Lipschitz functions in the Heisenberg group', Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 49 (2014), 1279–1308.
- [31] D. R. Cole and S. D. Pauls, 'C<sup>1</sup>hypersurfaces of the Heisenberg group are N-rectifiable', Houston J. Math. 32 (2006), 713–724.
- [32] F. Corni, 'Intrinsic regular surfaces of low co-dimension in Heisenberg groups', Ann. Fenn. Math. 46(1) (2021), 79–121.
- [33] F. Corni and V. Magnani, 'Area formula for regular submanifolds of low codimension in Heisenberg groups', Preprint, 2020, arXiv:2002.01433.
- [34] J. Cygan, 'Subadditivity of homogeneous norms on certain nilpotent Lie groups', Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 83 (1981), 69-70.
- [35] D. Di Donato, 'Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Carnot groups of step 2', Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 45(2) (2020), 1013–1063.
- [36] D. Di Donato, 'Intrinsic differentiability and intrinsic regular surfaces in Carnot groups', *Potential Anal.* **54**(1) (2021), 1–39.
- [37] D. Di Donato, K. Fässler and T. Orponen, 'Metric rectifiability of ℍ-regular surfaces with Hölder continuous horizontal normal', Preprint, 2019, arXiv:1906.10215.
- [38] S. Don, E. Le Donne, T. Moisala and D. Vittone, 'A rectifiability result for finite-perimeter sets in Carnot groups', *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, Preprint, 2019, arXiv:1912.00493.
- [39] S. Don, A. Massaccesi and D. Vittone, 'Rank-one theorem and subgraphs of BV functions in Carnot groups', J. Funct. Anal. 276 (2019), 687–715.
- [40] L. C. Evans and R. F. Gariepy, Measure Theory and Fine Properties of Functions, revised edition, Textbooks in Mathematics (CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2015).
- [41] K. Fässler, T. Orponen and S. Rigot, 'Semmes surfaces and intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in the Heisenberg group', Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 373(8) (2020), 5957–5996.
- [42] H. Federer, Geometric Measure Theory, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 153 (Springer, New York, 1969).
- [43] G. B. Folland and E. M. Stein, Hardy Spaces on Homogeneous Groups, Vol. 28 of Mathematical Notes (Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1982).
- [44] B. Franchi, M. Marchi and R. P. Serapioni, 'Differentiability and approximate differentiability for intrinsic Lipschitz functions in Carnot groups and a Rademacher theorem', *Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces* 2 (2014), 258–281.
- [45] B. Franchi, V. Penso and R. Serapioni, 'Remarks on Lipschitz domains in Carnot groups', in Geometric Control Theory and Sub-Riemannian Geometry, Vol. 5 of Springer INdAM Ser. (Springer, Cham, Switzerland, 2014), 153–166.
- [46] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'Meyers-Serrin type theorems and relaxation of variational integrals depending on vector fields', *Houston J. Math.* 22 (1996), 859–890.
- [47] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'Approximation and imbedding theorems for weighted Sobolev spaces associated with Lipschitz continuous vector fields', *Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B* (7) **11** (1997), 83–117.
- [48] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'Rectifiability and perimeter in the Heisenberg group', *Math. Ann.* 321 (2001), 479–531.
- [49] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'On the structure of finite perimeter sets in step 2 Carnot groups', *J. Geom. Anal.* 13 (2003), 421–466.
- [50] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs in Heisenberg groups', J. Nonlinear Convex Anal. 7 (2006), 423–441.
- [51] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'Regular submanifolds, graphs and area formula in Heisenberg groups', *Adv. Math.* 211 (2007), 152–203.
- [52] B. Franchi, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'Differentiability of intrinsic Lipschitz functions within Heisenberg groups', J. Geom. Anal. 21 (2011), 1044–1084.
- [53] B. Franchi and R. P. Serapioni, 'Intrinsic Lipschitz graphs within Carnot groups', J. Geom. Anal. 26 (2016), 1946–1994.
- [54] B. Franchi and F. Tripaldi, 'Differential forms in Carnot groups after M. Rumin: an introduction', in *Topics in Mathematics, Quaderni dell'Unione Matematica Italiana* (Pitagora, Bologna, Italy, 2015), 75–122. Available at manet.dm.unibo.it/papers/FT.pdf.
- [55] W. Fulton, Young Tableaux, Vol. 35 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997)
- [56] N. Garofalo and D.-M. Nhieu, 'Lipschitz continuity, global smooth approximations and extension theorems for Sobolev functions in Carnot-Carathéodory spaces', J. Anal. Math. 74 (1998), 67–97.
- [57] M. Giaquinta, G. Modica and J. Souček, Cartesian Currents in the Calculus of Variations. I. Cartesian Currents., Vol. 37 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics (Springer, Berlin, 1998).
- [58] M. Gromov, 'Carnot-Carathéodory spaces seen from within', in Sub-Riemannian Geometry, Vol. 144 of Progr. Math. (Birkhäuser, Basel, Switzerland, 1996, 79–323).
- [59] J. Heinonen, Lectures on Analysis on Metric Spaces, Universitext (Springer, New York, 2001).
- [60] A. Julia, S. Nicolussi Golo and D. Vittone, 'Nowhere differentiable intrinsic Lipschitz graphs', Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. (2021). https://doi.org/10.1112/blms.12540.
- [61] A. Julia, S. Nicolussi Golo and D. Vittone, 'Area of intrinsic graphs and coarea formula in Carnot groups', *Math. Z.*, Preprint, (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00209-021-02916-2.

- [62] A. Julia, S. Nicolussi Golo and D. Vittone, 'Lipschitz functions on submanifolds in Heisenberg groups', Preprint, 2021, arXiv:2107.00515.
- [63] B. Kirchheim and F. Serra Cassano, 'Rectifiability and parameterization of intrinsic regular surfaces in the Heisenberg group', Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 3 (2004), 871–896.
- [64] A. Korányi and H. M. Reimann, 'Quasiconformal mappings on the Heisenberg group', Invent. Math. 80 (1985), 309–338.
- [65] S. G. Krantz and H. R. Parks, Geometric Integration Theory, Cornerstones (Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, 2008).
- [66] E. Le Donne, 'A primer on Carnot groups: homogenous groups, Carnot-Carathéodory spaces, and regularity of their isometries', Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces 5 (2017), 116–137.
- [67] V. Magnani, Elements of Geometric Measure Theory on Sub-Riemannian Groups (Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, Italy, 2002).
- [68] V. Magnani, 'Blow-up of regular submanifolds in Heisenberg groups and applications', Cent. Eur. J. Math. 4 (2006), 82-109.
- [69] V. Magnani, 'Characteristic points, rectifiability and perimeter measure on stratified groups', J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 8 (2006), 585–609.
- [70] V. Magnani, 'Towards differential calculus in stratified groups', J. Aust. Math. Soc. 95 (2013), 76–128.
- [71] V. Magnani, 'Towards a theory of area in homogeneous groups', Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 58 (2019), Paper No. 91.
- [72] P. Mattila, Geometry of Sets and Measures in Euclidean Spaces, Vol. 44 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995).
- [73] P. Mattila, R. Serapioni and F. Serra Cassano, 'Characterizations of intrinsic rectifiability in Heisenberg groups', *Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci.* (5) **9** (2010), 687–723.
- [74] A. Merlo, 'Geometry of 1-codimensional measures in Heisenberg groups', Invent. Math. 227 (2022) 27–148.
- [75] A. Merlo, 'Marstrand-Mattila rectifiability criterion for 1-codimensional measures in Carnot groups', Preprint, 2020, arXiv:2007.03236.
- [76] R. Monti and D. Vittone, 'Sets with finite H-perimeter and controlled normal', Math. Z. 270 (2012), 351–367.
- [77] R. Monti and D. Vittone, 'Height estimate and slicing formulas in the Heisenberg group', Anal. PDE 8 (2015), 1421–1454.
- [78] S. Müller, 'Variational models for microstructure and phase transitions', in Calculus of Variations and Geometric Evolution Problems (Cetraro, 1996), Vol. 1713 of Lecture Notes in Math. (Springer, Berlin, 1999), 85–210.
- [79] A. Naor and R. Young, 'Vertical perimeter versus horizontal perimeter', Ann. Math. (2) 188 (2018), 171–279.
- [80] S. Nicolussi Golo and F. Serra Cassano, 'The Bernstein problem for Lipschitz intrinsic graphs in the Heisenberg group', Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 58 (2019), Paper No. 141.
- [81] P. Pansu, 'Métriques de Carnot-Carathéodory et quasiisométries des espaces symétriques de rang un', Ann. Math. (2) 129 (1989), 1–60.
- [82] H. Rademacher, 'Über partielle und totale differenzierbarkeit von Funktionen mehrerer Variabeln und über die Transformation der Doppelintegrale', Math. Ann. 79 (1919), 340–359.
- [83] S. Rigot, 'Differentiation of measures in metric spaces', Preprint, 2018, arxiv:1802.02069.
- [84] S. Rigot, 'Quantitative notions of rectifiability in the Heisenberg groups', Preprint, 2019, arxiv:1904.06904.
- [85] M. Rumin, 'Un complexe de formes différentielles sur les variétés de contact', C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 310 (1990), 401–404.
- [86] M. Rumin, 'Formes différentielles sur les variétés de contact', J. Differ. Geom. 39 (1994), 281-330.
- [87] R. P. Serapioni, 'Intrinsic difference quotients', in Harmonic Analysis, Partial Differential Equations and Applications, Appl. Numer. Harmon. Anal. (Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, Switzerland, 2017), 165–192.
- [88] F. Serra Cassano, 'Some topics of Geometric Measure Theory in Carnot groups', in Geometry, Analysis and Dynamics on Sub-Riemannian Manifolds. Vol. 1, EMS Ser. Lect. Math. (Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, Switzerland, 2016), 1–121.
- [89] M. Šilhavý, 'Normal currents: structure, duality pairings and div-curl lemmas', Milan J. Math. 76 (2008), 275-306.
- [90] L. Simon, Lectures on Geometric Measure Theory, Vol. 3 of Proceedings of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis (Australian National University, Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Canberra), 1983.
- [91] E. M. Stein, Harmonic Analysis: Real-Variable Methods, Orthogonality, and Oscillatory Integrals, Vol. 43 of Princeton Mathematical Series (Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993).
- [92] D. Vittone, Submanifolds in Carnot Groups, Vol. 7 of Tesi. Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa (Nuova Series) [Theses of Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa (New Series)] (Edizioni della Normale, Pisa, Italy, 2008).
- [93] D. Vittone, 'Lipschitz surfaces, perimeter and trace theorems for BV functions in Carnot-Carathéodory spaces', Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 11(5) (2012), 939–998.
- [94] S. K. Vodop'yanov and I. M. Pupyshev, 'Whitney-type theorems on the extension of functions on Carnot groups', Siberian Math. J. 47 (2006), 601–620.
- [95] F. W. Warner, Foundations of Differentiable Manifolds and Lie Groups, Vol. 94 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics (Springer, New York, 1983). Corrected reprint of the 1971 edition.
- [96] H. Whitney, 'Analytic extensions of differentiable functions defined in closed sets', Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 36 (1934), 63–89.